Biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships in degraded and recovering ecosystems

Philip A. Martin

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Bournemouth University

May 2014

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and due acknowledgement must always be made of the use of any material contained in, or derived from, this thesis.

Abstract

Biodiversity loss is occurring at an unprecedented rate and most of this loss is due to human induced pressure. This loss in biodiversity had led to concerns that the provision of ecosystem services that humans depend upon might be negatively affected. As such much modern conservation science focusses on preserving biodiversity whilst protecting priority ecosystem services. However, there may be spatial and temporal trade-offs between these services and the biodiversity that is considered important. Characterisation of such the relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem services is vital in order to improve management and policies which aim to protect and restore both biodiversity and ecosystem services.

The broad aims of the thesis were to explore biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships in (1) ecosystems invaded by non-native plant species and (2) tropical forests affected by human exploitation and disturbance. Specifically this thesis aimed to answer the questions:

- 1. What effect do non-native plant invasions have on aboveground carbon storage, belowground carbon storage, carbon sequestration, water quality and water provision?
- 2. How do changes in species richness affect this ecosystem service provision?
- 3. How do these changes relate to the woodiness and traits of invasive and native dominant species, and the type of ecosystem invaded?
- 4. What factors drive differences in residual stand damage, biomass loss and species richness change following selective logging?
- 5. After deforestation how long do carbon stocks and plant biodiversity take to recover in tropical forests?
- 6. Do carbon and plant biodiversity differ in their recovery rates?
- 7. Which areas are priorities for restoration of tropical carbon?

All chapters in this thesis make use of large datasets that I collated from the literature and other authors in order to draw broad conclusions about trade-offs and relationships between services and biodiversity

In the section concentrating on invasive species my results suggest that non-native invasive plants generally increase the storage of carbon, whilst reducing water quality and availability. This may indicate a fundamental trade-off between services where increased biomass of plants results in higher evapotranspiration and thus water loss, while also enhancing the carbon cycle and nitrogen production of microorganisms. In addition my

results suggest that aboveground carbon storage increases as species richness is reduced, showing the opposite relationship to that shown in many biodiversity ecosystem functioning experiments. This is the first time any such relationship has been found between community change and ecosystem level impacts in the context of species invasions. However, it seems likely that this relationship depends on the identity and traits of the species, with invasions in open habitats by woody species likely to drive a negative relationship between richness change and biomass change with the opposite true when grassy species invade woodlands. This result presents a trade-off between conservation priorities that managers will need to consider.

In Chapter 3 I investigated the possibility of predicting the impact of non-native invasive plant impacts on ecosystem services by using characteristics and functional traits of both invasive and native species. This work suggested that aboveground carbon storage is most easily predicted by traits and characteristics of native and non-native species, with few other ecosystem services well explained by models. Results suggested that transition from woody to non-woody dominant species resulted in most dramatic changes in aboveground carbon storage. However, interestingly aboveground carbon storage also tended to increase where native species were replaced by species of similar woodiness. Similarly, given that woodiness and size of species are related, there was a positive relationship between the invasive species height and increases in aboveground carbon storage. However, all other ecosystem services were poorly predicted by species traits and characteristics. This work suggests that the most dramatic changes in carbon storage may result from shifts in ecosystems that resemble regime shifts. Future work addressing invasive species from this perspective is warranted as many invasions resemble such shifts.

In Chapter 4 I investigated the relationships between logging intensity and methods and residual stem damage, biomass loss and species richness change in tropical logged forests. Many syntheses of the logging literature have made little distinction between logged sites, and only one has explored any of the mechanisms that may drive heterogeneity in logging impacts. This is particularly surprising given that Reduced Impact Logging (RIL) has been implemented relatively widely principally to reduce carbon loss from logged forests. My results from this chapter suggest that the principal driver of logging impacts is the intensity at which logging is carried out, showing broadly negative relationships with biomass and tree species richness change and a positive relationship with residual stem damage. Interestingly, RIL appeared to reduce residual stem damage slightly but evidence for this effect was weaker in other analyses. These analyses also suggest a slight increase in tree species richness at low logging intensities, showing some similarities to intermediate disturbance hypothesis type relationships. This is suggestive of a complex relationship between tree species richness and biomass changes during logging that deviated

4

substantially from that suggested in grassland biodiversity-ecosystem function experiments. This is as far as I know the first time this relationship has been suggested in the context of logged forests. The result from this chapter also suggest that there is weak support that RIL reduces logging damage at low intensities but little evidence that this is reflected by changes in biomass. Further studies are needed to discern the effect of RIL over a wide range of logging intensities.

Chapter 5 investigates tropical forest recovery following agricultural clearance. In this chapter I aimed to identify the recovery times of different above and belowground carbon pools and tree and epiphyte species richness as well as tree species composition using studies that had paired mature forest sites as comparators. Surprisingly this chapter represents the first attempt to generalise about this recovery rate. The results suggest that following clearance carbon and species richness of plants recovers relatively quickly (<100 years), but species indicative of old forests are rarely present in recovering forests and show few signs of recovery. Thus, while carbon recovery goals may be achievable full recovery of plant biodiversity may require centuries. This slow recovery may be aided by active restoration.

Finally in Chapter 6 I investigated which areas should be considered as priorities when restoring tropical forests for carbon storage and bird biodiversity. In this chapter I found evidence of spatial trade-offs between carbon storage and bird species recovery. Empirical models suggested that carbon is accumulated most rapidly in forests with long growing seasons, while probability of bird species presence was primarily driven by habitat specificity, range size and forest cover. Model projections suggested that areas that should be considered a priority for restoration targeting carbon storage are found in the wet tropics while priorities for restoration of bird biodiversity are found in mountainous areas. These analyses indicated that there was no relationship between the two goals, but that by using model projections it was possible to identify areas that maximised both.

In summary work in this thesis provides the best synthesis of the relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem services in the context of non-native invasive plants, and selective logging and recovery from tropical forest clearance to date. This is of particular value because such relationships have rarely been explored in these contexts despite widespread and of global importance for conservation.

5

Table of contents

LIST O LIST O AUTHC 1 INT	F TAB F ILLU R'S D RODU	SLE JST DEC JC	S TRATIONS CLARATION TION	10 12 16 1
	1.1	Ηι	JMAN DEGRADATION OF NATURAL ECOSYSTEMS AND BIODIVERSITY LOSS	1
	1.1	.1	Why do species' extinction risks differ?	2
	1.1	.1	How do species losses affect ecological communities?	3
	1.2	Bi	ODIVERSITY-ECOSYSTEM FUNCTION RELATIONSHIPS	4
	1.2	.1	Why should species richness affect ecosystem function?	5
	1.2	.2	Relevance of BEF experiments for biodiversity conservation	6
	1.3	Bi	ODIVERSITY-ECOSYSTEM SERVICE RELATIONSHIPS	7
	1.4	E٧	VIDENCE FOR BIODIVERSITY-ECOSYSTEM SERVICE RELATIONSHIPS	9
	1.4	.1	Functional links	. 10
	1.4	.2	Spatial concordance	. 10
	1.4	.3	Lack of linkage	. 11
	1.4	.4	The importance of spatial scale	. 14
	1.5	Us	SING SYSTEMIC REVIEWS AND META-ANALYSIS TO ASSESS EVIDENCE	.15
	1.6	Aıı	MS OF THIS THESIS	.16
	1.1	.2	Invasive species (Chapters 2 and 3)	. 18
	1.1	.3	Tropical forest degradation and recovery (Chapters 4,5 and 6)	.20
	1.7	Re	FERENCES	.21
2 PO ECOSY META-	SITIVI STEN ANAL	E A I S YS	ND NEGATIVE EFFECTS OF PLANT INVASIONS ON ERVICES AND INTERACTIONS WITH NATIVE SPECIES LOSS IS	: A 33
	2.1	Ae	STRACT	. 33
	2.2	IN	TRODUCTION	.34
	2.3	MA	ATERIALS AND METHODS	. 36
	2.3	.1	Systematic review	. 36
	2.3	.2	Data extraction and analysis	. 37
	2.4	Re	ESULTS	. 39
	2.4	.1	Effect of invasive plants on ecosystem services	. 40
	2.4	.2	Relationship between changes in species richness and ecosystem services	.41
	2.5	DI	SCUSSION	.42
	2.5	.1	Effects of invasive plant species on ecosystem services	. 42
	2.5	.2	Relationships between changes in species richness and ecosystem services	.43
	2.5	.3	Caveats in analysing invasion studies	. 45
	2.6	Сс	DNCLUSIONS	.46
	27	RF	FERENCES	46

3 CA SERVI	N THE I	MPACT OF INVASIVE PLANT SPECIES ON ECOSYSTEM PREDICTED USING SPECIES AND ECOSYSTEM	50
CHAR/			52
	3.1 A		52
	3.2 IN		
	3.3 IV		50
	3.4 R	Using woodingss and accounter type to predict impact	59
	3.4.1	Using invasive species traits to predict impact	
	343	Predictive ability of trait differences between invasive and native species	02 64
	35 D		04
	3.51	Relationships between invasive and native woodiness and impact	66
	352	Relationships between height and carbon storage	67
	3.5.3	Relationships between traits and nutrient and water cycles	68
	354	Lising characteristics and traits of invasive and native species to predict im	nacts
	0.0.1	69	54010
	3.5.5	Lack of relationships	69
	3.5.6	How this work informs theory	71
	3.5.7	Implications for invasive species management	73
	3.6 R	FFERENCES	73
DRIVE	N BY IN STS: A N	TREE DAMAGE, CARBON STORAGE AND SPECIES RICHN FENSITY AND METHOD OF SELECTIVE LOGGING IN TROPI IETA-ANALYSIS	CAL 78
	4.1 In	ITRODUCTION	78
	4.2 N	IETHODS	81
	4.2.1	Statistical analyses	82
	4.3 R	ESULTS	84
	4.3.1	Scaling coefficients for measures of stem damage and logging intensity	86
	4.3.2	Logging damage to residual trees	87
	4.3.3	Impacts of logging intensity and method on biomass and species richness.	88
	4.4 D	ISCUSSION	90
	4.4.1	Effects of logging on non-target trees	90
	4.4.2	Effects of logging on aboveground biomass	91
	4.4.3	Effects of logging on tree species richness	93
	4.4.4	Tree biodiversity-biomass relationships in logged tropical forests	94
	4.4.5	Improving assessment of logging impacts	95
	4.4.6	Reducing the negative impacts of logging	97
	4.4.7	Opportunities for further research	99
	4.5 R	EFERENCES	99

5 IN	CARBON TROPICAI	I P L S	OOLS RECOVER MORE QUICKLY THAN PLANT BIODIVERSI SECONDARY FORESTS	ITY 104
	5.1	A	BSTRACT	.104
	5.2	IN	TRODUCTION	.104
	5.3	Μ	ETHODS	.106
	5.3	8.1	Systematic review	. 106
	5.3	8.2	Statistical analysis	. 108
	5.4	R	ESULTS	.109
	5.5	D	ISCUSSION	.113
	5.5	5.1	Recovery of carbon pools	. 113
	5.5	5.2	Recovery of species richness and community composition	. 115
	5.5	5.3	Comparative rates of carbon and biodiversity recovery	. 118
	5.6	С	ONCLUSION	.118
	5.7	R	EFERENCES	.119
6 TR	IDENTIF	yin S e	IG PRIORITY AREAS FOR TROPICAL FOREST RESTORATIO BETWEEN CARBON AND BIODIVERSITY	N: 126
	6.1	A	BSTRACT	.126
	6.2	IN	TRODUCTION	.126
	6.3	Μ	ETHODS	.129
	6.3	8.1	Data sources	. 129
	6.3	8.2	Analyses	. 132
	6.4	R	ESULTS	.134
	6.4	!.1	Biomass accumulation	. 134
	6.4	[!] .2	Probability of bird species presence	. 135
	6.4	.3	Identifying priority areas for forest restoration	. 137
	6.5	D	ISCUSSION	.141
	6.5	5.1	Biomass accumulation	. 141
	6.5	5.2	Probability of bird presence	. 142
	6.5	5.3	Identification of priority areas	. 143
	6.5	5.4	Caveats and priorities for future research	. 144
	6.6	С	ONCLUSIONS	.147
	6.7	R	EFERENCES	.147
7	DISCUSS	SIC)N	155
	7.1	Μ	AJOR FINDINGS OF THIS THESIS	. 155
	7.1	.1	Impacts of invasive non-native plant species on ecosystem services	. 156
	7.1	.2	Impacts of logging on carbon storage and biodiversity	. 157
	7.1	.3	Recovery of carbon and biodiversity in tropical secondary forests	. 158
	7.2	С	OMMON THEMES ACROSS CHAPTERS	.159
	7.2	.1	How does ecosystem degradation affect ecosystem services?	. 160
	7.2	.2	How are ecosystem services and biodiversity related in degraded systems?	. 162

7.2.3	What mechanisms explain these biodiversity-ecosystem service relati	onships?
	164	
7.3 Co	DMMON THEMES ACROSS CHAPTERS THAT I HAVE NOT DEALT WITH DIRECTLY.	
7.3.1	Gradients of degradation	
7.3.2	Need for work investigating trade-offs in ecosystem services and biod	iversity at
the site scale	167	
7.3.3	The value of meta-analysis and potential for improvements	
7.4 T⊦	IEMES MARGINAL TO THIS THESIS BUT THAT NEED MORE ATTENTION	171
7.4.1	Loss of large trees	
7.4.2	Improving generalisation in ecology	
7.5 BF	ROAD CONTRIBUTION TO KNOWLEDGE OF THIS THESIS	176
7.6 Re	FERENCES	176
APPENDIX I – II	NFORMATION IN SUPPORT OF CHAPTERS 2 AND 3	186
EFFECT S	IZE CALCULATION	
STUDIES	USED IN CHAPTER 2	
STATISTIC	CAL TABLES FOR CHAPTER 3	
APPENDIX II – I	INFORMATION IN SUPPORT OF CHAPTER 4	200
PAPERS U	JSED IN META-ANALYSES OF LOGGING	
APPENDIX III –	INFORMATION IN SUPPORT OF CHAPTER 5	207
PEER-RE	/IEWED STUDIES FROM WHICH DATA WERE COLLATED FOR THE META-ANALYS	IS OF
RECOVERY OF CAR	BON POOLS AND PLANT BIODIVERSITY IN TROPICAL SECONDARY FORESTS	
STUDIES I	FROM WHICH DATA WERE ON BIRD BIODIVERSITY WERE COLLECTED	

List of Tables

Table 1 – Potential topics to be covered by this thesis
Table 2 – Classification of ecosystem measures as proxies for ecosystem services 36
Table A1 – The number of sites used in the study classified by broad ecosystem type170
Table A2 - Model comparison for models of change in aboveground carbon that included
only invasive height and the model intercept180
Table A4 - Model comparison for models of change in water provision that included only
invasive height and the model intercept
Table A5 - Model comparison for models of change in water provision that included only
invasive root depth and the model intercept181
Table A6 - Model comparison for models of change in water quality that included only
invasive height and the model intercept
Table A7 - Model comparison for models of change in aboveground carbon that included
invasive height, differences between invasive and native species and the model intercept
Table A8 - Model comparison for models of change in belowground carbon that included
invasive height, differences between invasive and native species and the model intercept
Table A9 - Model comparison for models of change in water quality that included invasive
height, differences between invasive and native species and the model intercept 182
Table A10 - Models explaining changes in aboveground biomass following selective logging
Table A11 – Models explaining changes in species richness following selective logging 184
Table A12 – Models explaining changes in aboveground biomass following selective logging
Table A13 – Models explaining changes in species richness following selective logging 184
Table A14 – Importance values for variables assessed during modelling of changes in
aboveground biomass and species richness following selective logging
Table A15 – Number of sites for each metric used in this study including the number of sites
shared between different metrics
Table A16 – Variables included in models of aboveground biomass recovery 199
Table A17 – Variables included in models of belowground biomass recovery 199
Table A18 – Variables included in models of soil carbon recovery
Table A19 – Variables included in models of tree species richness
Table A20 – Variables included in models of epiphyte species richness recovery 200

Table A21 – Variables included in models of primary forest species recovery201
Table A22- Parameter estimates for models of aboveground biomass
Table A23- Parameter estimates for models of belowground biomass 202
Table A24- Parameter estimates for models of soil carbon 202
Table A25- Parameter estimates for models of tree species richness 203
Table A25- Parameter estimates for models of epiphyte species richness
Table A27- Parameter estimates for models of primary forest species 204
Table A28– Importance values for explanatory variables in corresponding models204

List of illustrations

Figure 1 – Conceptual relationship between ecosystem process, final ecosystem services
and ecosystem goods and the values they generate8
Figure 2 –Potential trade-offs and synergies between biodiversity conservation and
ecosystem service priorities13
Figure 3 – Map of sites providing data for the meta-analysis
Figure 4 – Weighted mean effect of non-native plant species invasion on ecosystem
services
Figure 5 – Relationship between changes in species richness and those in ecosystem services
Figure 6 – Locations used for analysis of each ecosystem service that had invasive plant species for which traits were available
Figure 7 – Changes in aboveground carbon storage following woody or non-woody invasion
in systems dominated by woody or non-woody species native species
Figure 8 – Changes in belowground carbon storage as a result of invasion by non-woody or
woody non-native species61
Figure 9 – Changes in water quality following non-native plant invasion by non-woody or
woody non-native species, in ecosystems previously dominated by woody or non-woody
species62
species
species 62 Figure 10 – Relationship between changes in aboveground carbon storage and the height of invasive non-native plant species 63 Figure 11 - Relationship between changes in water quality indicator and the height of invasive non-native plant species 63 Figure 12 – Changes in water provision plotted against the height of invasive non-native 64 Figure 13 – Relationship between changes in belowground carbon storage and the 64 Figure 13 – Relationship between the height of invasive non-native plant species and native 65 Figure 14 – Location of sites used in logging meta-analysis 85 Figure 15 – Relationship between the number of trees extracted per hectare and the volume
species 62 Figure 10 – Relationship between changes in aboveground carbon storage and the height of 63 Figure 11 - Relationship between changes in water quality indicator and the height of 63 Figure 11 - Relationship between changes in water quality indicator and the height of 63 Figure 12 - Changes in water provision plotted against the height of invasive non-native 64 Figure 13 - Relationship between changes in belowground carbon storage and the 64 Figure 13 - Relationship between the height of invasive non-native plant species and native 65 Figure 14 - Location of sites used in logging meta-analysis 85 Figure 15 - Relationship between the number of trees extracted per hectare and the volume 86
species
species
species

Figure 18 – Impacts of logging intensity on changes in aboveground biomass89 Figure 19 – Impacts of logging intensity in tree species richness following logging.90 Figure 21 – Examples of pseudoreplicated and non-pseudoreplicated study designs for Figure 22 – Locations of studies from which data on aboveground biomass, belowground biomass, soil carbon, plant species richness and proportion of primary froest species were Figure 23 – Recovery of aboveground biomass, belowground biomass and soil carbon in Figure 24 – Recovery of epiphyte and tree species richness in secondary tropical forests. Figure 25 – Recovery of species associated with undisturbed tropical forest in secondary Figure 26 – Location of sites used for aboveground biomass and bird biodiversity models. Figure 27 – Relationship between total accumulated growing season hours and Figure 28 – Relationship between probability of presence of bird species and percentage Figure 29 – Relationship between probability of presence of bird species and species' global Figure 30 – Priority areas for forest restoration targeting biomass accumulation and bird Figure 31 - Relationship between priority of area for biomass accumulation and its priority Figure 33 – Effect of difference types of ecosystem degradation on aboveground carbon Figure 34 – Relationship between reductions in aboveground biomass and plant or tree Figure 35- Conceptual model of the drivers of recruitment failure and increased loss of large Figure A1 - Variation in the volume of logged wood in forests with differing non-logged Figure A3 – Distribution of forest ages by metric for the 678 sites represented in the meta-

Figure A4 – Relationship between relative above and relative belowground biom	ass in
locations where both measures were available	198
Figure A5 – Change of aboveground biomass over time since disturbance show	ing relative
difference between studies that had information on belowground biomass and th	ose that did
not	198
Figure A6 –Data used in aboveground biomass model	205
Figure A7 – Data used in model of species presence	206

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I am indebted to my supervisory team: James Bullock and Adrian Newton. James always encouraged me to explore the ideas that I was most interested in, make my own mistakes and learn from them. He was always there to support when I was having a rough time with an umpteenth redraft or getting my head around a new idea and for that I am thankful. Adrian's enthusiasm when I had a good idea was inspiring and I'm really grateful for his attempts to convince me that ecological theory is the most important thing – I'm getting there slowly.

I'm also grateful to those from CEH and Bournemouth University who helped me along the way during my PhD. Gary Powney, Rory O'Connor, Tom August, Louise Barwell/Colwell (or whatever you're calling yourself these days) and Nick Golding are due particular thanks for their help with R, statistics and general tomfoolery, I am in no doubt that their productivity must have skyrocketed since my departure. Thanks are also due to the long-suffering residents of student offices 1 and 2: Leah and Carolin for their friendship and willingness to listen to my PhD gripes. In truth Will Hentley and Scott McKenzie probably delayed this thesis by a month or two but given how they treat their friends I'd rather have them with me than against me. At Bournemouth I am thankful for the discussions with Carolina, Natalia, Alex, Kathryn, Ivis, Clare and Greg who helped me to develop my ideas and think differently, both in work and in the 'real world.'

I'd also like to thank those who went out of their way to provide data for this thesis particularly Erika Marin Spiotta, Alfredo Cascante Marin, Marion Pfeifer, Kristina Anderson-Teixeira, Phillippe Saner and Andy Symes. I used the primary research of hundreds of scientists for all of my chapters and without this data the thesis would have been impossible to complete, so it goes without saying that I'm extremely thankful to them as well. Particular thanks are due to the TRY network and Sandra Lavorel who gave me access to their large plant trait database which I used in Chapter 3. I am also grateful for the helpful advice I have received from reviewers of my chapters I have sent for publication, particularly Robin Chazdon and Mark Vellend who provided useful, if challenging, advice on how to improve my work. Thanks are also due to my examiners Andy Hector and Ross Hill whose comments have improved this thesis markedly.

Un abrazo enorme a mis amigos españoles: Laura, Emilie, Aima, Josune, Enrique, Toni, Susana – os quiero mucho y vuestro apoyo me ha ayudado mucho durante este viaje larga. A la familia de Sara estoy muy agradecido por toda vuestra ayuda con camiones, casas, y calcetines. Para Sara, no tengo palabras para expresar cuanto mi has ayudado cumplir esto, espero que siempre estas orgullosa de ser a mi lado, no siempre ha sido fácil y te debo mucho. Este tesis es tanto tu trabajo que el mío.

Finally thanks to my family, though you are no longer nearby our chats on the phone and Skype always help immensely. They always say that the best way to learn how to explain science simply is to practice with your family and you have always been willing to listen to me ramble on about my work. Anna's ability to help me forget about work and just act like we used to when we were kids is second-to-none and always recharges my batteries. My longsuffering mum is due massive thanks for our weekly chats, practical things like moving house and along with my dad inspiring me with curiosity and fascination in science without which I would never have ended up doing a PhD.

Author's declaration

I confirm that this thesis is my own work, with the exceptions of the manuscripts below. As senior author on all the papers below, I led all aspects, including idea development, data collection, analysis and interpretation. I also led the preparation of these manuscripts. The only exception to this is the collection of data on bird biodiversity for Chapter 6 that was undertaken by Catherine Sayer as part of an MSc project I supervised. Where other sources of data were used in this thesis this is acknowledged and referenced accordingly.

Chapter 2 is in review and was written in collaboration with my supervisors as: Martin, P.A., Newton, A.C. & Bullock, J.M. Positive and negative effects of plant invasions on ecosystem services and interactions with native species loss: a meta-analysis, Global Ecology and Biogeography.

Chapter 4 is in review and was written in collaboration with my supervisors and two other co-authors as: Martin, P.A., Newton, A.C. Pfeifer, M., Khoo, M.S., & Bullock, J.M. Species richness and carbon storage responses to conventional selective and reduced impact logging in tropical forests: a meta-analysis, Forest Ecology and Management

Chapter 5 is published in collaboration with my supervisors as Martin, P.A., Newton, A.C. & Bullock, J.M. (2013) Carbon recovers more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society Proceedings B* 280 (1773) , doi: 10.1098/rspb.2013.2236

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

This thesis explores the effects of ecosystem degradation on biodiversity and ecosystem services and the relationship between the two in these systems. In this introduction I briefly discuss the impact of human induced ecosystem change on biodiversity, how these changes may relate to changes in ecosystem function and services, the evidence base for this and finally how my research aims to address identified research gaps.

1.1 Human degradation of natural ecosystems and biodiversity loss

Over the past century humans have altered ecosystems massively as a result of rapid population growth and consumption (CBD 2010). Much recent loss of biodiversity¹ has been driven by conversion of natural ecosystems², largely as a result of the expansion of agriculture (Foley et al. 2005; Gibbs et al. 2010). However, a significant number of ecosystems have been degraded³ either as a direct result of human exploitation, such as selective logging (Sodhi et al. 2004) or hunting (Bennett and Robinson 2000), or as an indirect result of human activity, such as by climate change (Heller and Zavaleta 2009) or invasion of non-native species (Sanders et al. 2003). The combined pressures of habitat loss and degradation have resulted in steep declines in a large number species' populations

¹ Biodiversity in this thesis refers to the broad definition by the Conventional on Biological Diversity (CBD) as ' the variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems' (CBD 2010).

² In this thesis ecosystem conversion refers transformation of an ecosystem into a human land use such as agricultural fields, mines or urban areas. This transformation involves the complete loss of biota considered characteristic to the given ecosystem (Keith et al. 2013).

³ Degradation in this thesis refers to the reduction in conservation value or ecosystem service provision up until the point at which the ecosystem is considered as converted to human land use, such as agriculture (Sasaki and Putz 2009) over the last century, with only few showing increases during the same period (Fuller et al. 1995; Houlahan et al. 2000; Craigie et al. 2010). Consequently approximately a quarter of all species are considered to be threatened with global extinction (CBD 2010).

Biodiversity changes following degradation tend to be less dramatic than those following ecosystem conversion (Sasaki and Putz 2009; Thomas 2013), but understanding their causes and consequences is vitally important given that: (i) much species conservation is now undertaken in degraded ecosystems (Chazdon et al. 2009); (ii) these degraded systems are often home to human populations that may rely on them for provision of ecosystem services⁴ (Cincotta et al. 2000; Bateman et al. 2013); and (iii) positive feedbacks between drivers of degradation show the potential to cause widespread species extinction (Sodhi et al. 2004).

1.1.1 Why do species' extinction risks differ?

The long-term persistence of a species in an ecosystem ultimately depends on the survival of individuals and their ability to reproduce and their ability to recolonise if they become locally extinct. Not all species have an equal likelihood of persistence following ecosystem degradation, and these differences may be related to functional traits⁵ (Sodhi et al. 2008). For example relatively large species tend to be more likely to become locally extinct because they usually have smaller populations, lower reproductive rates and can be targeted directly by humans, e.g. large trees during selective logging (Sodhi et al. 2004) or large animals as a result of hunting (Bennett and Robinson 2000). The traits that influence survival of plants following degradation are relatively poorly understood (Stork et al. 2009), but work on the response of woody plants to disturbances suggests that the ability of species to resprout may be key to their survival (Bond and Midgley 2001; Poorter et al. 2010). Providing that species are still present following the initial degradation of a system their long-term persistence depends on their ability to reproduce. Species which have generally high rates of reproduction per generation and short generation times appear to be the most likely to recruit successfully in degraded ecosystems (Gaston and Blackburn 1995; Newbold et al. 2013), but successional theory

⁴ In this thesis ecosystem services are considered to be the elements of ecosystems used to generate human well-being (Fisher et al. 2009)

⁵ In this thesis functional traits are defined as measures of the morphological, physiological or phenological characteristics of an organism affecting its individual performance (Violle et al. 2007)

suggests that over time without further disruption these species should be replaced by those with longer generation times (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001). At a larger scale the long-term persistence of species in a landscape depends on the ability of individuals or seeds to disperse to new areas, particularly in fragmented landscapes (Thomas 2000; Van Dyck and Baguette 2005).

1.1.1 How do species losses affect ecological communities?

These losses in individuals or populations result in changes in the composition of ecological communities. Losses of large numbers of populations will result in ecological communities having very different structure to communities found prior to degradation, and more intense degradation probably leads to greater changes in community structure (Cleary et al. 2006; Moura et al. 2013). These changes have been shown to lead to a reduction in the distinctiveness – i.e. decreased β diversity – of a wide range of ecological communities (McKinney and Lockwood 1999; Keith et al. 2009). In addition to community structure the number of species in a given area, the species richness, can also change as a result of degradation (Murphy and Romanuk 2014, but see Vellend et al. 2013). However, in the case of species richness the effects of degradation are not always negative, with some suggestions that slight degradation can lead to increases in species richness (Bongers et al. 2009; but see Fox 2013).

Since the structure and richness of communities can be altered by degradation it logically follows that the abundance and variety of functional traits found in a community can change. This can lead to alteration in functional diversity, which put simply, is diversity described in terms of what species do in an ecosystem rather than their taxonomy (Petchey and Gaston 2006). There are numerous metrics of functional diversity, which can include trait differentiation between individuals within a population, between species within communities, or between functional groups (Hillebrand and Matthiessen 2009) as well as mean per capita weighted trait values (Lavorel and Garnier 2002; Lavorel et al. 2011; Lavorel and Grigulis 2012). Much as community composition is more sensitive to degradation when compared to species richness, functional composition⁶ changes appear to be

⁶ Functional composition refers to measure used by Baraloto et al. (2012) in which multiple traits were used to produce a measure equivalent to those used for community composition

more readily detected than changes to functional richness⁷ (Baraloto et al. 2012). Such changes in functional diversity are thought to have possible consequences for ecosystem function (Díaz et al. 2007; Díaz et al. 2013).

1.2 Biodiversity-ecosystem function relationships

Pacala and Kinzig (2002) distinguish between 3 different groups of ecosystem function: stocks of energy and materials (e.g. biomass), fluxes of energy (e.g. productivity, decomposition) and stability of rates or stocks over time. All ecosystem functions depend upon various aspects of biodiversity for their maintenance though the exact relationships for specific functions differs. It has been suggested that the dramatic alteration of biodiversity by humans over the past century may have far reaching consequences for these functions, as well as the aspects of ecosystems on which humans depend, termed ecosystem services (Cardinale et al. 2012; Mace et al. 2012). There is experimental evidence for relationships between species or functional richness, and primary productivity, resource use, decomposition, multifunctionality and ecosystem stability in numerous systems (Cardinale et al. 2012). These results underpin the theory of how changes in biodiversity can impact ecosystem function and ultimately ecosystem services.

The most widely tested of the 'biodiversity-ecosystem functioning' (hereafter referred to as BEF) relationships is that between plant species richness and primary productivity (Hooper et al. 2005). Large numbers of controlled experiments conducted in grasslands suggest that as plant richness increases, productivity also tends to increase, plateauing in rich communities (Hooper et al. 2012). A recent large synthesis of the topic suggests that on average diverse polycultures attain ca. 1.4 times the biomass of monocultures, with aquatic ecosystems and grasslands showing most pronounced responses (Cardinale et al. 2011). However, the same synthesis by Cardinale et al. (2011) also indicated that effects of richness on forest productivity were less obvious, partly because of a relative lack of studies.

Similarly, Cardinale et al. (2011) also indicated that in 86% of experiments in which the impact of changes in producer species richness on nutrient concentration was tested, net diversity effects were negative. In addition, nutrient concentrations in the most diverse polycultures were on average 48% lower than those in monocultures (Cardinale et al. 2011). Approximately 94% of the information on the

⁷ Functional richness is the number of different functional groups found in an area of interest (Petchey et al. 2009)

resource use efficiency of communities identified by Cardinale et al. (2011) comes from temperate grasslands. It has been suggested that this effect may be mediated both by direct uptake as well as the effects of plants on soil microbial dynamics (Hooper and Vitousek 1997; Hooper and Vitousek 1998).

In addition to the impacts of species richness on productivity and resource use, there is also some suggestion that increases in diversity result in increased rates of decomposition. 62% of 84 experiments showed lower litter mass in polycultures than monocultures (Cardinale et al. 2011). However, when compared to productivity and resource use impacts appear to be relatively modest with only a 5% increase in decomposition in the most diverse polycultures compared to monocultures (Cardinale et al. 2011).

As well as increasing primary productivity, resource use and decomposition rates there is increasing evidence that species richness is positively related to stability of these through time (Isbell et al. 2011; Cardinale et al. 2012). Similarly, more species are needed to maximise multiple ecosystem functions (Isbell et al. 2011). This suggests that as the number of contexts, functions and temporal scale increase the number of species needed to maximise functions also increases (Isbell et al. 2011).

Though the patterns of BEF relationships are clear for aquatic and grassland ecosystems they are relatively uncertain for many other ecosystems (Waide et al. 1999) because of the relative difficulty in manipulating species rich assemblages, especially those that contain shrubs or trees. As such, the nature of BEF relationships is poorly characterised for most ecosystems, particularly for assemblages that are naturally very species rich such as those found in the tropics (but see Hector et al. 2011; Bruelheide et al. 2014 for examples of this).

1.2.1 Why should species richness affect ecosystem function?

Given that some ecosystem functions co-vary with plant species richness, there has been much debate on the likely reasons for this pattern. Current research suggests that these relationships are likely to be attributable to differences among species expressed in terms of their traits (Hillebrand and Matthiessen 2009). Since trait diversity can be correlated with species diversity, this helps to explain some of the observed relationships in BEF experiments. A number of hypotheses have been suggested which aim to explain the relationships seen between plant species richness and ecosystem functions, all of which rely on assumed trait variation between species. The 'complementarity effect' hypothesis states that resource partitioning leads to greater total resource use (Loreau and Hector 2001) and has been suggested as a means of explaining the relationship between species richness and ecosystem functions. However, this relationship does not rely on species richness *per se*, but rather is driven by differences in the species traits which determine resource uptake and conversion to biomass. The 'selection effect' hypothesis has also been suggested as means of explaining the relationship between species richness richness and productivity, and states that species rich communities have a greater chance of containing more productive species (Loreau and Hector 2001). Mechanistically, this relationship must again rely on trait differences between species since it presumes that some species are more productive than others.

There are three different hypotheses that concerning the effects of species richness on temporal stability of ecosystem productivity: over-yielding, statistical averaging and compensatory dynamics (Cardinale et al. 2012). Over-yielding occurs when species mixtures perform better than expected and as a result in increases in productivity relative to variability (Hector et al. 2010). Statistical averaging occurs when stochastic variation in species populations reduces variability of ecosystem functions (Doak et al. 1998). Compensatory dynamics are the result of competition between species and/or differences in the response of species to changes in environmental conditions, which lead to asynchrony of species responses to changes. Though these three different mechanisms have been suggested as a means of explaining diversity-stability relationships, their relative importance is currently unclear (Cardinale et al. 2012).

1.2.2 Relevance of BEF experiments for biodiversity conservation

Though both species and functional richness, as well as particular traits, are likely to aid the maintenance of particular ecosystem services, the relevance of experimental BEF work for real world systems has been questioned by some (Schwartz et al. 2000; Srivastava and Vellend 2005; Thompson and Starzomski 2007). Firstly, the assemblages used in these experiments are often relatively species poor and bear little resemblance in composition to real world systems (Schwartz et al. 2000). This is of particular concern since BEF relationships in experiments are more likely to be log-linear than linear (Srivastava and Vellend 2005), meaning that increases in species richness result in increases in productivity before plateauing (Cardinale et al. 2006). This suggests that even in relatively species poor assemblages many species could be lost before function is appreciably reduced (Wardle 2002). However, when multiple functions, and

6

contexts are considered this relationship tends to plateau later suggesting a greater number of species are needed to maintain a wide variety of functions (Isbell et al. 2011).

Secondly, alterations in species diversity are generally random in BEF experiments, whereas in natural systems extinctions are not random and are often linked to particular traits (Cardillo and Bromham 2001; Duncan et al. 2011). Research has indicated that realistic extinction scenarios can produce very different effects on ecosystem functions to those seen in random extinctions, and are likely to be driven by the degree to which the roles of species lost can be replaced by other similar species (Gross and Cardinale 2005; Larsen et al. 2005; Schläpfer et al. 2005).

1.3 Biodiversity-Ecosystem service relationships

Much BEF research has informed the relatively new area of ecosystem services. Fisher et al. (2009) define ecosystem services as the elements of ecosystems used directly and indirectly to produce human well-being, and the concept is seen as a powerful advocacy tool for biodiversity conservation (e.g. Daily et al. 2009) . Though there are other definitions, that of the United Kingdom's National Ecosystem Assessment (UK NEA, 2011), which adapted the framework of Fisher et al. (2009), is amongst the most practical since it also defines a conceptual supply-chain for ecosystem services (Figure 1). Using this definition ecosystem processes underpin final services which are those used directly by humans (UK National Ecosystem Assessment 2011). Ecosystem goods are considered to be the result of these final services and normally require some input from human infrastructure (UK National Ecosystem Assessment 2011). For example, maintenance of bee populations could be considered an ecosystem process, pollination of almond crop a final service and almonds to be the good (Fisher et al. 2009; UK National Ecosystem Assessment 2011). This makes it easier to define different stages which could be important in supplying the ecosystem benefits on which humans depend, although it obviously greatly simplifies relationships.



Figure 1 – Conceptual relationship between ecosystem process, final ecosystem services and ecosystem goods and the values they generate adapted from Mace et al. (2012). Final ecosystem services are the outcomes of ecosystems that directly lead to the good(s) that are valued by people, the full value is not only generated by the ecosystem but depends on the addition of inputs from society and the value is often context dependant. The final value of a good is therefore attributable to both the ecosystem and human inputs. The final value of the good is therefore attributable to both the ecosystem and human inputs. Values may be monetary (£), quantitative and non-monetary (+/-) or non-monetary (@I@). Using this framework biodiversity can have roles as (1) a regulator of ecosystem services e.g. a pollinator, (2) a final ecosystem service e.g. crops or trees (3) as a good that has its own value e.g. wild bird species that have cultural or aesthetic value.

In practice many ecosystem functions can be considered as ecosystem services, provided that humans benefit from them in some way. For example, soil carbon storage can be considered as an ecosystem service as well as an ecosystem function since this storage results in avoided carbon emissions which might otherwise accelerate global climate change (Lal 2004). However, the key issue of defining beneficiaries for a potential ecosystem service based on the scale at which they are provided has meant that measuring ecosystem services is generally difficult (Fisher et al. 2009; Peh et al. 2013), and proxy measures are often employed. The exceptions to the use of proxies are ecosystem services which provide tangible benefits such as food, timber, firewood and water, which are relatively easy to measure as well as to define beneficiaries (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). In addition climate regulation through carbon storage and sequestration is also relatively easily assessed, since the scale of the provision of this service is global and thus it is argued that all humans benefit from it (Fisher et al. 2009).

The relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem services is a complex one. Early work on ecosystem services emphasised that biodiversity underpins many ecosystem services, using BEF experiments as evidence for this (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). However, recent work has suggested that biodiversity has key roles at all levels of the ecosystem service hierarchy: as a regulator underpinning ecosystem function, as a final ecosystem service and as a good (Figure 1; Mace et al. 2012). As discussed above, biodiversity has an obvious role in ecosystem functions that underpin ecosystem services by promoting greater productivity, more efficient resource use, greater stability and multi-functionality (Cardinale et al. 2012). However, biodiversity can also be a final ecosystem service such in the case of genetic diversity of plants for use in medicine or for improvement of crop cultivars (Mace et al. 2012). Finally, biodiversity can also be a good itself, either in the form of direct use via harvesting or because of cultural (Clark et al. 2014) and aesthetic appreciation (Lindemann-Matthies et al. 2010).

The complexity of this relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem services has sometimes been glossed over by conservation biologists and the perceived positive relationship between has been widely used as means of promoting biodiversity conservation, despite warnings against this (Schwartz et al. 2000; Thompson and Starzomski 2007). With the recent move in conservation towards a focus on ecosystem services many of the debates stemming from BEF research have been re-framed to argue that greater species richness results in greater ecosystem service provision (e.g. Balvanera et al. 2006). However, as I show below, it is clear that this is not true for all ecosystem services and we lack information on such relationships for most services in most ecosystems.

1.4 Evidence for biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships

Biodiversity conservation is becoming more holistic, attempting to maintain and enhance ecosystem service provision, whilst, at the same time, limiting species declines and extinctions (Soulé 2013; Doak et al.). As such, determining the linkages between different elements of biodiversity, ecosystem functions, final services and ecosystem goods are vitally important issues (Cardinale et al. 2012). However, we currently know relatively little about these relationships in many ecosystems (Mace et al. 2012) and it seems unlikely that they will be characterised in the near future. Ultimately the degree to which changes in biodiversity are linked to changes in ecosystem service provision depends how the two are linked. As such relationships are highly sensitive to how ecosystem service and biodiversity priorities are defined. To explore this I will focus on three key ways that biodiversity may be linked to changes in ecosystem service provision.

1.4.1 Functional links

One way in which biodiversity can be related to ecosystem service provision is via a functional link, where changes in the measure of biodiversity results in a change in the ecosystem service. The most tangible functional links are BEF relationships, such as primary productivity and nutrient cycling (Cardinale et al. 2012). While increasing productivity is of little importance to most biodiversity conservation, such relationships are potentially important in contexts where productivity for fodder (Cardinale et al. 2012) or carbon sequestration are goals (Srivastava and Vellend 2005). Pollination services are also widely seen as an example of such functional relationships, where increasing pollinator species richness, functional diversity and abundance appears to result in greater fruit set that is also less variable, and better quality fruit for a wide number of crops (Klein et al. 2003; Hoehn et al. 2008). In addition there is some evidence that decreases in species richness can result in increased disease transmission between animals and humans (Keesing et al. 2010; Johnson et al. 2013), as a result of increased encounters between infected and susceptible hosts, though this relationship is hotly debated (Lafferty and Wood 2013; Ostfeld and Keesing 2013; Salkeld et al. 2013). Thus in cases where the biodiversity that is of conservation concern shows a strong functional link to ecosystem service priorities, targeting one is likely to benefit the other. However, many relationships between ecosystem services and conservation priorities are not like this, given that humans tend to favour the conservation of large, charismatic, vertebrate species (Morse-Jones et al. 2010; Morse-Jones et al. 2012) that are not necessarily important for service provision. However, there can still be apparent relationships and spatial overlaps between biodiversity and ecosystem service priorities, even when there is no function linkage.

1.4.2 Spatial concordance

Ecosystem services and biodiversity priorities can appear to be related when they are in fact driven by different processes due to spatial overlaps of areas considered important for the two. For example, it has long been observed that the tropics exhibit high species richness and endemism when compared to temperate and boreal regions (Pianka 1966; Gaston 1996). The reasons for this pattern are unclear but hypotheses include greater energy availability, and more stable climate during ice-ages (Davies et al. 2007). As a result of recent increases in human population growth in the tropics many of these species are now threatened with global extinction (CBD 2010; Gibbs et al. 2010). The tropics also contain some of the most carbon dense forests in the world (Saatchi et al. 2011), largely as a result of hot, wet climate enabling in high productivity (Slik et al. 2013). Many projects have attempted to target vertebrate biodiversity conservation priorities and retention of carbon stocks in locations where the two coincide (Strassburg et al. 2010; Thomas et al. 2013). For example, a recent study showed a strong relationship between areas of high priority for jaguar conservation and carbon stock in Brazil (De Barros et al. 2014). However, the two are not directly related to each other but are purely linked because of overlap of jaguar range and forests that are highly carbon dense. There are many similar cases when spatial concordance of patterns leads to apparent relationships which form the basis of a number of schemes to protect both biodiversity and ecosystem service priorities (Venter et al. 2009). However, because they are not based on a functional relationship, such patterns are likely to be idiosyncratic.

1.4.3 Lack of linkage

Finally, it is possible that there is no functional linkage between biodiversity and ecosystem service provision and drivers of the two differ in their spatial concordance. The best examples of this come from spatial analyses such as that of Anderson et al. (2009) who showed that the recreational value of an area in the UK had very little to do with the number of species considered a national conservation priority. Further work has suggested that this is because in the UK recreational value is largely driven by the presence of streams and lakes as well as proximity to the public (Bateman et al. 2013). Biodiversity priority areas on the other hand tended to be located in areas of low human population (Anderson et al. 2009). Similar weak geographic concordance between biodiversity and ecosystem service priorities have been noted in California (Chan et al. 2006), British Colombia (Chan et al. 2011) and South Africa (Egoh et al. 2009). Thus while the functional role of biodiversity may be important in some cases, many biodiversity priorities do not show these functional links.

In cases where provision of ecosystem services and conservation of biodiversity priorities are goals it is important to identify potential trade-offs as well

11

as situations in which both goals can be achieved. This is analogous to the idea that not all ecosystem services can be maximised in any given landscape and that tradeoffs between them are inherent (Foley et al. 2005). Examples of the potential mechanisms by which these trade-offs between ecosystem services and biodiversity priorities can occur are given in Figure 2. Win-win situations will occur either when there is some functional link between the biodiversity managers are aiming to conserve and provision of the ES or when there are common drivers which positively influence both the biodiversity and the ecosystem service in question. Trade-offs can occur when there is no functional link between the biodiversity and ecosystem service objectives, or where aiming to reach one objective harms the ability of managers to achieve the other objective (Bullock et al. 2011). Acknowledgement of these trade-offs has been used by some in the conservation community as an argument for the abandonment of the ES concept since it may potentially endanger species conservation efforts (Redford and Adams 2009; Gómez-Baggethun and Ruiz-Pérez 2011; Büscher et al. 2012). As such, for the ES concept to be integrated with more traditional conservation goals investigation of these potential trade-offs is vitally important.



Figure 2 –Potential trade-offs and synergies between biodiversity conservation and ecosystem service priorities. In each diagram (a-e) arrows represent interactions between driver of change (top box), and biodiversity priorities (bottom left box) and ecosystem services (bottom right box), or interactions between biodiversity priorities and ecosystem services. Blue, red and purple arrows represent positive, negative and a mixture of negative and positive impacts respectively. In (a) forest restoration has a positive effect on mammal species richness but has no effect on the provision of medicinal plants. In (b) grassland restoration leads to an increase in plant species richness but a decrease in carbon storage. In (c) grassland restoration leads to an increase in plant species richness which in turn has a positive effect on primary productivity. In (d) increased rights of way for the public leads to an increase in recreation but this has a negative impact on plant populations as a result of increased disturbance. In (e) building of a forest lodge negatively effects endemic bird species richness but leads to an increase in tourism, however this increase has further negative impacts on bird richness which may result in a reduction in tourism.

1.4.4 The importance of spatial scale

A key issue when examining almost any relationship between variables in ecology is that of spatial scale, both at the level of the sample unit (termed 'grain') and at the level of the area of interest of a study ('extent'). Both of these elements of scale influence the relationships observed between biodiversity priorities and ecosystem service provision. Below this is illustrated using the examples of biodiversity relationships with carbon, at local, regional and global scales.

To explore biodiversity-carbon relationships I will use the example of relationships between bird biodiversity and aboveground carbon storage. This relationship is relatively well characterised, but determining their relationships at different grains and extents reveals how relationships can apparently change when the scale at which they are examined changes. While there is no causal relationship between the two, at a local scale there is likely to be a statistical relationship due to common drivers where there is a gradient of forest degradation/deforestation (Moura et al. 2013; Ferreira 2014). Both biomass and species richness are strongly affected degradation and deforestation, and thus the two are linked via this driver (Moura et al. 2013; Ferreira 2014). However, in landscapes with large areas of undisturbed forest there appears to be little relationship between bird species richness and carbon storage since because of the negligible effect of the common driver of human disturbance (Ferreira 2014).

As the extent of study increases the importance of larger scale environmental drivers in governing such relationships will become more important. For example, at global and regional scales vegetation biomass appears to be highest in areas with high rainfall and high annual temperatures (Slik et al. 2013) since these allow high rates of primary productivity and biomass is less likely to be constrained by water stress (Stegen et al. 2011). In addition biomass is likely to be highest in areas with less human disturbance. In contrast, global scale patterns of bird biodiversity appear to be driven by heterogeneity in elevation and energy availability (Davies et al. 2007). However, at a global scale biomass and bird species richness show a weak positive relationship because of congruence of areas with these features (Strassburg et al. 2010). Examining the relationships between bird biodiversity and carbon storage at these two different scales indicates the variety of different ways in which ecosystem services and biodiversity can be interrelated.

Almost all studies that have assessed trade-offs between biodiversity and ecosystem services have done so using spatial data to identify overlaps between the two (Anderson et al. 2009; Egoh et al. 2009; Chan et al. 2011; Thomas et al. 2013). Very few however, have attempted to identify such trade-offs at a finer grain. By determining these relationships a more nuanced view of trade-offs between priorities is possible, revealing mechanisms that may not be apparent in coarser scale analyses. This thesis aims to deal with such trade-offs between biodiversity and ecosystem service priorities at a variety of different scales using previously published data, as well as identifying mechanisms for links where they exist.

1.5Using systemic reviews and meta-analysis to assess evidence

Systematic review and formal meta-analysis is an objective way to assess the evidence for relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem services. Systematic review is seen as the 'gold standard' by which evidence is synthesised in medicine since it is a transparent, repeatable and unbiased assessment of treatment effectiveness (Borenstein et al. 2009). Prior to the widespread use of meta-analyses in ecology, statistical significance of treatments was often used in reviews to assess evidence for or against a theory (Hillebrand and Cardinale 2010). This approach, termed vote-counting, is statistically invalid since significance is purely a product of sample size, variability and differences between groups (Koricheva et al. 2013). Meta-analysis aims to improve synthesis by weighting studies, where possible, such that more accurate studies provide more weight (Koricheva et al. 2013). In addition the use of effect sizes, a measure of the magnitude of changes between control and treatment groups, represents an important progression from the arbitrary use of P values in vote counting approaches (Koricheva et al. 2013). In ecology meta-analysis has been used to address questions as diverse as impacts of land-use on soil carbon (Guo and Gifford 2002a), the effect of warming on arctic plant communities (Arft et al. 1999) and the relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem service provision during restoration (Rey Benayas et al. 2009).

Despite its numerous benefits for synthesising evidence, meta-analysis has been heavily criticised by some (Lindenmayer and Likens 2011; Whittaker 2011; Lindenmayer and Likens 2013). However, though some implementation of metaanalysis has been naïve, the movement of ecology away from a focus on individual case studies has aided immensely our ability to generalise (Hillebrand and Cardinale 2010; Koricheva et al. 2013). Meta-analyses can provide us with baselines against which future studies can be compared, they can aid debate by indicating reasons for differences in results between similar studies and in many cases they can identify what we do not know, thereby stimulating further research

15

(Hillebrand and Cardinale 2010). This thesis aims to do all of the above in the context of biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships in degraded ecosystems, using meta-analysis and related techniques to draw broad generalisations.

1.6 Aims of this thesis

The broad aims of this thesis are to explore the general research questions:

- (i) How does degradation and recovery from degradation affect ecosystem service provision?
- (ii) How are biodiversity and ecosystem service provision related in degraded ecosystems?
- (iii) What are the mechanisms explaining these relationships?

Prior to starting work on the thesis I undertook an assessment of the evidence base for changes in biodiversity and ecosystem services for a wide range of drivers of degradation to identify cases in which evidence was lacking and whether it was feasible to conduct a meta-analysis to address questions related to the broad aims of the thesis based on the quantity of data available (Table 1)

Table 1 – Potential topics to be covered by this thesis addressed prior to commencement of work, detailing the potential availability of data from primary studies, any previous reviews or syntheses on the topic and the novelty of a topic and feasibility of undertaking a quantitative synthesis

Type of	Data availability	Previous	Novelty	Feasibility
degradation		syntheses		
Nitrogen deposition	Lots of data from nitrogen addition experiments.	Meta-analysis of nitrogen addition (Lu <i>et al.</i> 2011)	Low	Medium
Harvesting of species	Relatively few studies looking at the consequences of hunting.	Estes et al (2011) review trophic downgrading consequences for ecosystems.	High	Low
Invasive species	Lots of work looking at ecosystem consequences of invasive species	Some reviews (Pejchar and Mooney 2009) but no quantitative syntheses	High	High
Climate change	Lots of data on experimental manipulation of CO ₂ and temperature.	Meta-analysis of ecosystem consequences of CC (Wu <i>et al.</i> 2011).	Low	Medium
Connectivity & networks	Little work empirically testing this. (Staddon <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2010).	None	High	Very low
Land use change	Potentially lots of data	Syntheses on carbon (Don, Schumacher, & Freibauer 2011) and on pollinators (Kremen <i>et al.</i> 2004)	Low	Medium

Type of degradation	Data availability	Previous syntheses	Novelty	Feasibility
Recovery following degradation land/use change	Lots of work on recovery in forests, especially the tropics (Chazdon et al. 2009)	Meta-analysis of wetland recovery (Moreno-Mateos et al. 2012) and reviews of forest recovery (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001)	High	High
Forest degradation	Lots of work on carbon and biodiversity impacts of different types of degradation in forests	Large synthesis of tropical forest degradation impacts on biodiversity (Gibson et al. 2011), but nothing on carbon or other ecosystem services	High	High

Following this assessment I identified two areas that lacked evidence of the effects on ecosystem services and the relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem services in these degraded systems. These were (i) degradation of ecosystems as a result of non-native plant invasion and (ii) degradation and recovery in tropical forests. These were specifically selected because they lacked syntheses of their impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity and there were an adequate number of studies from which to extract data.

The specific research questions that I address in this thesis relating to these topics are:

1.1.2 Invasive species (Chapters 2 and 3)

Table 1 - Continued

8. What effect do non-native plant invasions have on aboveground carbon storage, belowground carbon storage, carbon sequestration, water quality and water provision?

H0. Non-native species invasions do not have a consistent effect on any of these ecosystem services.

H1. Non-native plant invasions lead to increases in aboveground and belowground carbon, and carbon sequestration.

H2. Water quality is reduced by non-native plant invasions.

H3. Water provision is reduced by non-native plant invasions.

9. How do changes in species richness affect this ecosystem service provision?

H0. Changes in species richness as a result of non-native plant invasion are not related to changes in aboveground or belowground carbon storage or changes in water quality.

H1. Reductions in species richness lead to increases in aboveground and belowground carbon storage and reduced water quality.

H2. Reductions in species richness lead to reductions in aboveground and belowground carbon storage and increased water quality.

10. How do these changes relate to the woodiness and traits of invasive and native dominant species, and the type of ecosystem invaded?

H1. Where invasions involve transition from woody to non-woody dominant species change in aboveground and belowground carbon storage, water provision and water quality will be more pronounced than where invasion is by a species of similar woodiness.

H2. Where there is invasion by a species with similar woodiness there will be no change in ecosystem service provision

H3. Where there is invasion by a species with similar woodiness some ecosystem service provision will be altered

H4. Inclusion of detail on native ecosystem type along with that of invader woodiness result in a more parsimonious model.

H5. Invasive plant height is positively related to change in aboveground carbon storage and belowground carbon storage, and negatively related to water provision and water quality.

H6. Root depth of invasive plant species is negatively related to water provision changes.

H7. Accounting for differences in effect trait values improves predictive ability of models when compared to those that only consider invasive species traits

1.1.3 Tropical forest degradation and recovery (Chapters 4,5 and 6)

11. What factors drive differences in residual stand damage following selective logging of tropical forests?

H1. Residual stand damage increases with logging intensity.

H2. Residual stand damage increases with logging intensity but begins to plateau at higher intensities

H3. Residual stand damage increases with logging intensity but when forests are logged using RIL they cause lower damage for a given intensity.

H4. Residual stand damage increases with non-linearly with logging intensity but when forests are logged using RIL they cause lower damage for a given intensity.

12. What factors drive the differences in biomass loss following selective logging?

H1. Biomass loss increases with logging intensity.

H2. Biomass loss increases with logging intensity but forests logged using RIL have a less steep slope than those of conventionally logged forests.

13. What factors drive changes in tree species richness following selective logging?

H0. Tree species richness change is not related to logging intensity or method.

H1. Tree species richness loss increases with logging intensity.

H2. Tree species loss increases with logging intensity but forests logged using RIL show a less steep slope.

H3. Tree species richness increases at low intensities and decreases at higher intensities.

14. After deforestation how long do carbon stocks and plant biodiversity take to recover in tropical forests?

15. Do carbon and plant biodiversity differ in their recovery rates?

16. Which areas are priorities for restoration of tropical carbon?
Which areas are priorities for restoration of tropical bird biodiversity? Are these areas complementary or are there signs of a spatial trade-off?

1.7 References

- Anderson, B. J., Armsworth, P. R., Eigenbrod, F., Thomas, C. D., Gillings, S., Heinemeyer, A., Roy, D. B. and Gaston, K. J., 2009. Spatial covariance between biodiversity and other ecosystem service priorities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46 (4), 888-896.
- Arft, A., Walker, M., Gurevitch, J. et a., Alatalo, J., Bret-Harte, M., Dale, M., Diemer, M., Gugerli, F., Henry, G. and Jones, M., 1999. Responses of tundra plants to experimental warming: meta-analysis of the international tundra experiment. *Ecological Monographs*, 69 (4), 491-511.
- Balvanera, P., Pfisterer, A. B., Buchmann, N., He, J.-S., Nakashizuka, T., Raffaelli,D. and Schmid, B., 2006. Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. *Ecology Letters*, 9 (10), 1146-1156.
- Baraloto, C., Hérault, B., Paine, C. E. T., Massot, H., Blanc, L., Bonal, D., Molino, J.F., Nicolini, E. A. and Sabatier, D., 2012. Contrasting taxonomic and functional responses of a tropical tree community to selective logging. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 49 (4), 861-870.
- Bateman, I. J., Harwood, A. R., Mace, G. M., Watson, R. T., Abson, D. J., Andrews,
 B., Binner, A., Crowe, A., Day, B. H. and Dugdale, S., 2013. Bringing
 ecosystem services into economic decision-making: land use in the United
 Kingdom. *Science*, 341 (6141), 45-50.
- Bennett, E. L. and Robinson, J. G., 2000. Hunting of wildlife in tropical forests: implications for biodiversity and forest peoples. Vol. 76. International Bank for Reconstruction/The World Bank.
- Bond, W. J. and Midgley, J. J., 2001. Ecology of sprouting in woody plants: the persistence niche. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 16 (1), 45-51.
- Bongers, F., Poorter, L., Hawthorne, W. D. and Sheil, D., 2009. The intermediate disturbance hypothesis applies to tropical forests, but disturbance contributes little to tree diversity. *Ecology Letters*, 12 (8), 798-805.
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T. and Rothstein, H. R., 2009. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. Wiley Online Library.
- Bruelheide, H., Nadrowski, K., Assmann, T., Bauhus, J., Both, S., Buscot, F., Chen,X.-Y., Ding, B., Durka, W., Erfmeier, A., Gutknecht, J. L. M., Guo, D., Guo,L.-D., Härdtle, W., He, J.-S., Klein, A.-M., Kühn, P., Liang, Y., Liu, X.,

Michalski, S., Niklaus, P. A., Pei, K., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Scholten, T., Schuldt, A., Seidler, G., Trogisch, S., von Oheimb, G., Welk, E., Wirth, C., Wubet, T., Yang, X., Yu, M., Zhang, S., Zhou, H., Fischer, M., Ma, K. and Schmid, B., 2014. Designing forest biodiversity experiments: general considerations illustrated by a new large experiment in subtropical China. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5 (1), 74-89.

- Bullock, J. M., Aronson, J., Newton, A. C., Pywell, R. F. and Rey-Benayas, J. M., 2011. Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. *Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition)*, 26 (10), 541-549.
- Büscher, B., Sullivan, S., Neves, K., Igoe, J. and Brockington, D., 2012. Towards a synthesized critique of neoliberal biodiversity conservation. *Capitalism Nature Socialism*, 23 (2), 4-30.
- Cardillo, M. and Bromham, L., 2001. Body size and risk of extinction in Australian mammals. *Conservation Biology*, 15 (5), 1435-1440.
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G. M., Tilman, D. and Wardle, D. A., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, 486 (7401), 59-67.
- Cardinale, B. J., Matulich, K. L., Hooper, D. U., Byrnes, J. E., Duffy, E., Gamfeldt,
 L., Balvanera, P., O'Connor, M. I. and Gonzalez, A., 2011. The functional role of producer diversity in ecosystems. *American journal of botany*, 98 (3), 572-592.
- Cardinale, B. J., Srivastava, D. S., Duffy, J. E., Wright, J. P., Downing, A. L.,Sankaran, M. and Jouseau, C., 2006. Effects of biodiversity on the functioning of trophic groups and ecosystems. *Nature*, 443 (7114), 989-992.
- CBD, 2010. Global Biodiversity Outlook 3. Montréal, Canada
- Chan, K. M., Shaw, M. R., Cameron, D. R., Underwood, E. C. and Daily, G. C., 2006. Conservation planning for ecosystem services. *PLoS biology*, 4 (11), e379.
- Chan, K. M. A., Hoshizaki, L. and Klinkenberg, B., 2011. Ecosystem Services in Conservation Planning: Targeted Benefits vs. Co-Benefits or Costs? *PLoS ONE*, 6 (9), e24378.
- Chazdon, R. L., Peres, C. A., Dent, D., Sheil, D., Lugo, A. E., Lamb, D., Stork, N. E. and Miller, S. E., 2009. The potential for species conservation in tropical secondary forests. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (6), 1406-1417.

- Cincotta, R. P., Wisnewski, J. and Engelman, R., 2000. Human population in the biodiversity hotspots. *Nature*, 404 (6781), 990-992.
- Clark, N. E., Lovell, R., Wheeler, B. W., Higgins, S. L., Depledge, M. H. and Norris,K., 2014. Biodiversity, cultural pathways, and human health: a framework.*Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 29 (4), 198-204.
- Cleary, D. F. R., Suharsono and Hoeksema, B. W., 2006. Coral diversity across a disturbance gradient in the Pulau Seribu reef complex off Jakarta, Indonesia. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 15 (11), 3653-3674.
- Craigie, I. D., Baillie, J. E., Balmford, A., Carbone, C., Collen, B., Green, R. E. and Hutton, J. M., 2010. Large mammal population declines in Africa's protected areas. *Biological conservation*, 143 (9), 2221-2228.
- Daily, G. C., Polasky, S., Goldstein, J., Kareiva, P. M., Mooney, H. A., Pejchar, L., Ricketts, T. H., Salzman, J. and Shallenberger, R., 2009. Ecosystem services in decision making: time to deliver. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 7 (1), 21-28.
- Davies, R. G., Orme, C. D. L., Storch, D., Olson, V. A., Thomas, G. H., Ross, S. G., Ding, T.-S., Rasmussen, P. C., Bennett, P. M., Owens, I. P. F., Blackburn, T. M. and Gaston, K. J., 2007. Topography, energy and the global distribution of bird species richness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274 (1614), 1189-1197.
- De Barros, A. E., Macdonald, E. A., Matsumoto, M. H., Paula, R. C., Nijhawan, S., Malhi, Y. and Macdonald, D. W., 2014. Identification of Areas in Brazil that Optimize Conservation of Forest Carbon, Jaguars, and Biodiversity. *Conservation Biology*, 28 (2), 580-593.
- Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., De Bello, F., Quétier, F., Grigulis, K. and Robson, T. M., 2007. Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (52), 20684.
- Díaz, S., Purvis, A., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Mace, G. M., Donoghue, M. J., Ewers, R.
 M., Jordano, P. and Pearse, W. D., 2013. Functional traits, the phylogeny of function, and ecosystem service vulnerability. *Ecology and Evolution*, 3 (9), 2958-2975.
- Doak, D. F., Bakker, V. J., Goldstein, B. E. and Hale, B., 2014. What is the future of conservation? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 29 (2), 77-81.

- Doak, D. F., Bigger, D., Harding, E., Marvier, M., O'malley, R. and Thomson, D.,
 1998. The statistical inevitability of stability-diversity relationships in
 community ecology. *The American Naturalist*, 151 (3), 264-276.
- Duncan, R. P., Clemants, S. E., Corlett, R. T., Hahs, A. K., McCarthy, M. A.,
 McDonnell, M. J., Schwartz, M. W., Thompson, K., Vesk, P. A. and Williams,
 N. S. G., 2011. Plant traits and extinction in urban areas: a meta-analysis of 11 cities. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 20 (4), 509-519.
- Egoh, B., Reyers, B., Rouget, M., Bode, M. and Richardson, D. M., 2009. Spatial congruence between biodiversity and ecosystem services in South Africa. *Biological conservation*, 142 (3), 553-562.
- Ferreira, J., 2014. Relationships between biodiveristy and carbon in the Amazon. *In prep*.
- Fisher, B., Turner, R. K. and Morling, P., 2009. Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. *Ecological Economics*, 68 (3), 643-653.
- Foley, J. A., DeFries, R., Asner, G. P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S. R., Chapin, F. S., Coe, M. T., Daily, G. C. and Gibbs, H. K., 2005. Global consequences of land use. *Science*, 309 (5734), 570-574.
- Fox, J. W., 2013. The intermediate disturbance hypothesis should be abandoned. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 28 (2), 86-92.
- Fuller, R., Gregory, R., Gibbons, D., Marchant, J., Wilson, J., Baillie, S. and Carter, N., 1995. Population declines and range contractions among lowland farmland birds in Britain. *Conservation Biology*, 9 (6), 1425-1441.
- Gaston, K. J., 1996. Species-range-size distributions: patterns, mechanisms and implications. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 11 (5), 197-201.
- Gaston, K. J. and Blackburn, T. M., 1995. Birds, body size and the threat of extinction. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 347 (1320), 205-212.
- Gibbs, H., Ruesch, A., Achard, F., Clayton, M., Holmgren, P., Ramankutty, N. and Foley, J., 2010. Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107 (38), 16732-16737.
- Gibson, L., Lee, T. M., Koh, L. P., Brook, B. W., Gardner, T. A., Barlow, J., Peres,
 C. A., Bradshaw, C. J. A., Laurance, W. F., Lovejoy, T. E. and Sodhi, N. S.,
 2011. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. *Nature*, 478 (7369), 378-381.

- Gómez-Baggethun, E. and Ruiz-Pérez, M., 2011. Economic valuation and the commodification of ecosystem services. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 35 (5), 613-628.
- Gross, K. and Cardinale, B. J., 2005. The functional consequences of random vs. ordered species extinctions. *Ecology Letters*, 8 (4), 409-418.
- Guariguata, M. R. and Ostertag, R., 2001. Neotropical secondary forest succession: changes in structural and functional characteristics. *Forest ecology and management*, 148 (1-3), 185-206.
- Guo, L. B. and Gifford, R., 2002. Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis. *Global Change Biology*, 8 (4), 345-360.
- Hector, A., Hautier, Y., Saner, P., Wacker, L., Bagchi, R., Joshi, J., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Spehn, E., Bazeley-White, E. and Weilenmann, M., 2010.
 General stabilizing effects of plant diversity on grassland productivity through population asynchrony and overyielding. *Ecology*, 91 (8), 2213-2220.
- Hector, A., Philipson, C., Saner, P., Chamagne, J., Dzulkifli, D., O'Brien, M.,
 Snaddon, J. L., Ulok, P., Weilenmann, M., Reynolds, G. and Godfray, H. C.
 J., 2011. The Sabah Biodiversity Experiment: a long-term test of the role of tree diversity in restoring tropical forest structure and functioning. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 366 (1582), 3303-3315.
- Heller, N. E. and Zavaleta, E. S., 2009. Biodiversity management in the face of climate change: a review of 22 years of recommendations. *Biological conservation*, 142 (1), 14-32.
- Hillebrand, H. and Cardinale, B. J., 2010. A critique for meta-analyses and the productivity-diversity relationship. *Ecology*, 91 (9), 2545-2549.
- Hillebrand, H. and Matthiessen, B., 2009. Biodiversity in a complex world: consolidation and progress in functional biodiversity research. *Ecology Letters*, 12 (12), 1405-1419.
- Hoehn, P., Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J. and Steffan-Dewenter, I., 2008. Functional group diversity of bee pollinators increases crop yield. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275 (1648), 2283.
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E., Hungate, B. A., Matulich,
 K. L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J. E., Gamfeldt, L. and O'Connor, M. I., 2012. A
 global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem
 change. *Nature*, 486 (7401), 105-108.

- Hooper, D. U., Chapin, F. S., Ewel, J. J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S.,
 Lawton, J. H., Lodge, D. M., Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Schmid, B., Setälä, H.,
 Symstad, A. J., Vandermeer, J. and Wardle, D. A., 2005. Effects of
 biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs*, 75 (1), 3-35.
- Hooper, D. U. and Vitousek, P. M., 1997. The Effects of Plant Composition and Diversity on Ecosystem Processes. *Science*, 277 (5330), 1302-1305.
- Hooper, D. U. and Vitousek, P. M., 1998. Effects of plant composition and diversity on nutirent cycling. *Ecological Monographs*, 68 (1), 121-149.
- Houlahan, J. E., Findlay, C. S., Schmidt, B. R., Meyer, A. H. and Kuzmin, S. L.,2000. Quantitative evidence for global amphibian population declines.*Nature*, 404 (6779), 752-755.
- Isbell, F., Calcagno, V., Hector, A., Connolly, J., Harpole, W. S., Reich, P. B.,
 Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schmid, B., Tilman, D., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A.,
 Wilsey, B. J., Zavaleta, E. S. and Loreau, M., 2011. High plant diversity is
 needed to maintain ecosystem services. *Nature*, 477 (7363), 199-202.
- Johnson, P. T., Preston, D. L., Hoverman, J. T. and Richgels, K. L., 2013. Biodiversity decreases disease through predictable changes in host community competence. *Nature*, 494 (7436), 230-233.
- Keesing, F., Belden, L. K., Daszak, P., Dobson, A., Harvell, C. D., Holt, R. D., Hudson, P., Jolles, A., Jones, K. E. and Mitchell, C. E., 2010. Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. *Nature*, 468 (7324), 647-652.
- Keith, D. A., Rodríguez, J. P., Rodríguez-Clark, K. M., Nicholson, E., Aapala, K.,
 Alonso, A., Asmussen, M., Bachman, S., Basset, A., Barrow, E. G., Benson,
 J. S., Bishop, M. J., Bonifacio, R., Brooks, T. M., Burgman, M. A., Comer, P.,
 Comín, F. A., Essl, F., Faber-Langendoen, D., Fairweather, P. G.,
 Holdaway, R. J., Jennings, M., Kingsford, R. T., Lester, R. E., Nally, R. M.,
 McCarthy, M. A., Moat, J., Oliveira-Miranda, M. A., Pisanu, P., Poulin, B.,
 Regan, T. J., Riecken, U., Spalding, M. D. and Zambrano-Martínez, S.,
 2013. Scientific Foundations for an IUCN Red List of Ecosystems. *PLoS ONE*, 8 (5), e62111.
- Keith, S. A., Newton, A. C., Morecroft, M. D., Bealey, C. E. and Bullock, J. M., 2009.
 Taxonomic homogenization of woodland plant communities over 70 years.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 276 (1672), 3539-3544.

- Klein, A. M., Steffan-Dewenter, I. and Tscharntke, T., 2003. Fruit set of highland coffee increases with the diversity of pollinating bees. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences*, 270 (1518), 955-961.
- Koricheva, J., Gurevitch, J. and Mengeresen, K., 2013. *Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution*. Princeton University Press.
- Lafferty, K. D. and Wood, C. L., 2013. It's a myth that protection against disease is a strong and general service of biodiversity conservation: Response to Ostfeld and Keesing. *Conserv. Biol*, 14, 722-728.
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. *Science*, 304 (5677), 1623-1627.
- Larsen, T. H., Williams, N. M. and Kremen, C., 2005. Extinction order and altered community structure rapidly disrupt ecosystem functioning. *Ecology Letters*, 8 (5), 538-547.
- Lavorel, S. and Garnier, E., 2002. Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. *Functional Ecology*, 16 (5), 545-556.
- Lavorel, S. and Grigulis, K., 2012. How fundamental plant functional trait relationships scale-up to trade-offs and synergies in ecosystem services. *Journal of Ecology*, 100 (1), 128-140.
- Lavorel, S., Grigulis, K., Lamarque, P., Colace, M.-P., Garden, D., Girel, J., Pellet,
 G. and Douzet, R., 2011. Using plant functional traits to understand the landscape distribution of multiple ecosystem services. *Journal of Ecology*, 99 (1), 135-147.
- Lindemann-Matthies, P., Junge, X. and Matthies, D., 2010. The influence of plant diversity on people's perception and aesthetic appreciation of grassland vegetation. *Biological conservation*, 143 (1), 195-202.
- Lindenmayer, D. and Likens, G. E., 2013. Benchmarking Open Access Science Against Good Science. *Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*, 94 (4), 338-340.
- Lindenmayer, D. B. and Likens, G. E., 2011. Losing the Culture of Ecology. *Bulletin* of the Ecological Society of America, 92 (3), 245-246.
- Loreau, M. and Hector, A., 2001. Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. *Nature*, 412 (6842), 72-76.
- Mace, G. M., Norris, K. and Fitter, A. H., 2012. Biodiversity and ecosystem services: a multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 27 (1), 19-26.

- McKinney, M. L. and Lockwood, J. L., 1999. Biotic homogenization: a few winners replacing many losers in the next mass extinction. *Trends in Ecology & Colution*, 14 (11), 450-453.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. *Ecosystems and human well-being*. Vol. 5. Island Press Washington, DC.
- Moreno-Mateos, D., Power, M. E., Comín, F. A. and Yockteng, R., 2012. Structural and Functional Loss in Restored Wetland Ecosystems. *PLoS Biol*, 10 (1), e1001247.
- Morse-Jones, S., Bateman, I., Kontoleon, A., Ferrini, S., Burgess, N. and Turner, R.
 K., 2010. Testing the theoretical consistency of stated preferences for tropical wildlife conservation. *CSERGE working paper Environmental Decision Making (EDM) Series: Environmental Valuation.*
- Morse-Jones, S., Bateman, I. J., Kontoleon, A., Ferrini, S., Burgess, N. D. and Turner, R. K., 2012. Stated preferences for tropical wildlife conservation amongst distant beneficiaries: Charisma, endemism, scope and substitution effects. *Ecological Economics*, 78 (0), 9-18.
- Moura, N. G., Lees, A. C., Andretti, C. B., Davis, B. J. W., Solar, R. R. C., Aleixo, A., Barlow, J., Ferreira, J. and Gardner, T. A., 2013. Avian biodiversity in multiple-use landscapes of the Brazilian Amazon. *Biological conservation*, 167, 339-348.
- Murphy, G. E. P. and Romanuk, T. N., 2014. A meta-analysis of declines in local species richness from human disturbances. *Ecology and Evolution*, 4 (1), 91-103.
- Newbold, T., Scharlemann, J. P., Butchart, S. H., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., Alkemade, R., Booth, H. and Purves, D. W., 2013. Ecological traits affect the response of tropical forest bird species to land-use intensity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1750).
- Ostfeld, R. S. and Keesing, F., 2013. Straw men don't get Lyme disease: response to Wood and Lafferty. *Trends Ecol. Evol*, 28, 502-503.
- Pacala, S. and Kinzig, A., 2002. Introduction to theory and the common ecosystem model. *In:* Kinzig, A., Pacala, S., and Tilman, D., eds. *Functional Consequences of Biodiversity:*
- *Empirical Progress and Theoretical Extensions.* Princeton, USA: Princeton University Press, 169-174.
- Peh, K. S. H., Balmford, A., Bradbury, R. B., Brown, C., Butchart, S. H. M., Hughes, F. M. R., Stattersfield, A., Thomas, D. H. L., Walpole, M., Bayliss, J.,

Gowing, D., Jones, J. P. G., Lewis, S. L., Mulligan, M., Pandeya, B., Stratford, C., Thompson, J. R., Turner, K., Vira, B., Willcock, S. and Birch, J. C., 2013. TESSA: A toolkit for rapid assessment of ecosystem services at sites of biodiversity conservation importance. *Ecosystem Services*, 5 (0), 51-57.

- Pejchar, L. and Mooney, H. A., 2009. Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24 (9), 497-504.
- Petchey, O. L. and Gaston, K. J., 2006. Functional diversity: back to basics and looking forward. *Ecology Letters*, 9 (6), 741-758.
- Petchey, O. L., O'Gorman, E. J. and Flynn, D. F. B., 2009. A functional guide to functional diversity measures. *In:* Naeem, S., Bunker, D. E., Hector, A., Loreau, M., and Perrings, C., eds. *Biodiversity, Ecosystem Functioning, and Human Wellbeing.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, 49-60.
- Pianka, E. R., 1966. Latitudinal gradients in species diversity: a review of concepts. *American Naturalist*, 33-46.
- Poorter, L., Kitajima, K., Mercado, P., Chubiña, J., Melgar, I. and Prins, H. H. T.,
 2010. Resprouting as a persistence strategy of tropical forest trees: relations with carbohydrate storage and shade tolerance. *Ecology*, 91 (9), 2613-2627.
- Redford, K. H. and Adams, W. M., 2009. Payment for Ecosystem Services and the Challenge of Saving Nature. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (4), 785-787.
- Rey Benayas, J. M., Newton, A. C., Diaz, A. and Bullock, J. M., 2009. Enhancement of biodiversity and ecosystem services by ecological restoration: a metaanalysis. *Science*, 325 (5944), 1121-1124.
- Saatchi, S. S., Harris, N. L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E. T. A., Salas, W., Zutta, B. R., Buermann, W., Lewis, S. L., Hagen, S., Petrova, S., White, L., Silman, M. and Morel, A., 2011. Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108 (24), 9899-9904.
- Salkeld, D. J., Padgett, K. A. and Jones, J. H., 2013. A meta-analysis suggesting that the relationship between biodiversity and risk of zoonotic pathogen transmission is idiosyncratic. *Ecology Letters*, 16 (5), 679-686.
- Sanders, N. J., Gotelli, N. J., Heller, N. E. and Gordon, D. M., 2003. Community disassembly by an invasive species. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 100 (5), 2474-2477.

- Sasaki, N. and Putz, F. E., 2009. Critical need for new definitions of "forest" and "forest degradation" in global climate change agreements. *Conservation Letters*, 2 (5), 226-232.
- Schläpfer, F., Pfisterer, A. B. and Schmid, B., 2005. Non-random species extinction and plant production: implications for ecosystem functioning. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42 (1), 13-24.
- Schwartz, M. W., Brigham, C. A., Hoeksema, J. D., Lyons, K. G., Mills, M. H. and Van Mantgem, P. J., 2000. Linking biodiversity to ecosystem function: implications for conservation ecology. *Oecologia*, 122 (3), 297-305.
- Slik, J. W. F., Paoli, G., McGuire, K., Amaral, I., Barroso, J., Bastian, M., Blanc, L., Bongers, F., Boundja, P., Clark, C., Collins, M., Dauby, G., Ding, Y., Doucet, J.-L., Eler, E., Ferreira, L., Forshed, O., Fredriksson, G., Gillet, J.-F., Harris, D., Leal, M., Laumonier, Y., Malhi, Y., Mansor, A., Martin, E., Miyamoto, K., Araujo-Murakami, A., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Nurtjahya, E., Oliveira, Á., Onrizal, O., Parada-Gutierrez, A., Permana, A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, J., Ramirez-Angulo, H., Reitsma, J., Rovero, F., Rozak, A., Sheil, D., Silva-Espejo, J., Silveira, M., Spironelo, W., ter Steege, H., Stevart, T., Navarro-Aguilar, G. E., Sunderland, T., Suzuki, E., Tang, J., Theilade, I., van der Heijden, G., van Valkenburg, J., Van Do, T., Vilanova, E., Vos, V., Wich, S., Wöll, H., Yoneda, T., Zang, R., Zhang, M.-G. and Zweifel, N., 2013. Large trees drive forest aboveground biomass variation in moist lowland forests across the tropics. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22 (12), 1261-1271.
- Sodhi, N. S., Koh, L. P., Brook, B. W. and Ng, P. K., 2004. Southeast Asian biodiversity: an impending disaster. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19 (12), 654-660.
- Sodhi, N. S., Koh, L. P., Peh, K. S. H., Tan, H. T., Chazdon, R. L., Corlett, R. T., Lee, T. M., Colwell, R. K., Brook, B. W. and Sekercioglu, C. H., 2008.
 Correlates of extinction proneness in tropical angiosperms. *Diversity and Distributions*, 14 (1), 1-10.

Soulé, M., 2013. The "New Conservation". Conservation Biology, 27 (5), 895-897.

- Srivastava, D. S. and Vellend, M., 2005. Biodiversity-ecosystem function research: is it relevant to conservation? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 267-294.
- Stegen, J. C., Swenson, N. G., Enquist, B. J., White, E. P., Phillips, O. L., Jørgensen, P. M., Weiser, M. D., Monteagudo Mendoza, A. and Núñez

Vargas, P., 2011. Variation in above-ground forest biomass across broad climatic gradients. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 20 (5), 744-754.

- Stork, N. E., Coddington, J. A., Colwell, R. K., Chazdon, R. L., Dick, C. W., Peres,
 C. A., Sloan, S. and Willis, K., 2009. Vulnerability and Resilience of Tropical
 Forest Species to Land-Use Change. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (6), 14381447.
- Strassburg, B. B., Kelly, A., Balmford, A., Davies, R. G., Gibbs, H. K., Lovett, A., Miles, L., Orme, C. D. L., Price, J. and Turner, R. K., 2010. Global congruence of carbon storage and biodiversity in terrestrial ecosystems. *Conservation Letters*, 3 (2), 98-105.
- Thomas, C. D., 2000. Dispersal and extinction in fragmented landscapes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 267 (1439), 139-145.
- Thomas, C. D., 2013. Local diversity stays about the same, regional diversity increases, and global diversity declines. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110 (48), 19187-19188.
- Thomas, C. D., Anderson, B. J., Moilanen, A., Eigenbrod, F., Heinemeyer, A.,
 Quaife, T., Roy, D. B., Gillings, S., Armsworth, P. R. and Gaston, K. J.,
 2013. Reconciling biodiversity and carbon conservation. *Ecology letters*, 16, 39-47.
- Thompson, R. and Starzomski, B. M., 2007. What does biodiversity actually do? A review for managers and policy makers. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 16 (5), 1359-1378.
- UK National Ecosystem Assessment, 2011. *The UK National Ecosystem* Assessment: Technical Report. Cambridge: UNEP-WCMC.
- Van Dyck, H. and Baguette, M., 2005. Dispersal behaviour in fragmented landscapes: Routine or special movements? *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 6 (6), 535-545.
- Vellend, M., Baeten, L., Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Beauséjour, R., Brown, C. D., De Frenne, P., Verheyen, K. and Wipf, S., 2013. Global metaanalysis reveals no net change in local-scale plant biodiversity over time. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.
- Venter, O., Meijaard, E., Possingham, H., Dennis, R., Sheil, D., Wich, S., Hovani, L. and Wilson, K., 2009. Carbon payments as a safeguard for threatened tropical mammals. *Conservation Letters*, 2 (3), 123-129.

- Violle, C., Navas, M.-L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I. and Garnier, E., 2007. Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos*, 116 (5), 882-892.
- Waide, R. B., Willig, M. R., Steiner, C. F., Mittelbach, G., Gough, L., Dodson, S. I., Juday, G. P. and Parmenter, R., 1999. The Relationship between Productivity and Species Richness. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 30 (ArticleType: research-article / Full publication date: 1999 / Copyright © 1999 Annual Reviews), 257-300.
- Wardle, D. A., 2002. *Communities and ecosystems: linking the aboveground and belowground components*. Vol. 34. Princeton University Press.
- Whittaker, R. J., 2011. Meta-analyses and mega-mistakes: calling time on metaanalysis of the species richness-productivity relationship. *Ecology*, 91 (9), 2522-2533.

Chapter 2

2 Positive and negative effects of plant invasions on ecosystem services and interactions with native species loss: a meta-analysis

2.1 Abstract

There are fears invasive species may affect the provision of ecosystem services on which humans depend, in addition to negatively impacting native biodiversity. However, there has been little quantitative work on this topic. To estimate the general impacts of invasive plant species on ecosystem services I carried out a random effects meta-analysis of 199 studies to determine the general impact of invasive species on aboveground carbon storage, belowground carbon storage, carbon sequestration, water quality, and water provision. Both above and belowground carbon storage increased following invasions, while water quality and water provision were reduced. Carbon sequestration showed no consistent trend. Reductions in species richness were related to increases in aboveground carbon storage, but showed no relationships with belowground carbon storage and water quality. My analysis suggests that invasive plant species have broadly positive effects on carbon storage but negative effects on water provision and quality. This is suggestive of a trade-off between carbon and water provision, possibly as a result of increased evapotranspiration from plants with higher biomass. The increase in aboveground carbon storage with reductions of species richness is likely to be as a result of increasing dominance of invasive species which tend to have higher productivity. Interestingly this work is the first study to suggest such a relationship, going against much biodiversity ecosystem functioning research which suggests that opposite relationship is generally true. However, this relationship is likely to differ depending on the characteristics of the invasive and native species with woody invaders of grasslands likely to result in a negative species richness-carbon relationship and grassy invaders of woodland a positive relationship. This analysis suggests that invasive plant species can affect ecosystem services both positively and negatively. Thus, it is important that the potential negative impacts of any invasion are weighed against the potential benefits rather than assuming nonnatives will cause environmental damage.

2.2 Introduction

Invasive species generally have a negative effect on native biodiversity by reducing local species richness (Vilà et al. 2011). Possibly as a result of changes to native communities invasions by plant species can also alter ecosystem processes and functions (Ehrenfeld 2003; Levine et al. 2003), such as primary productivity (Vilà et al. 2011), evapotranspiration (Cavaleri and Sack 2010) and nutrient cycling (Ehrenfeld 2003). Indeed, the effects of plant species invasions on ecosystem function are relatively well-studied and there have been a number of meta-analyses summarising these impacts (Morales and Traveset 2009; Cavaleri and Sack 2010; Vilà et al. 2011). These syntheses indicate that invasive plant species tend to increase ecosystem productivity (Vilà et al. 2011), have higher water use (Cavaleri and Sack 2010), and reduce pollination of native plants (Morales and Traveset 2009). Certain ecosystem functions underpin final ecosystem services, such as carbon storage and water provision, that provide benefits to humans and ultimately enable human well-being. Thus there is a fear that effects of non-native species on ecosystem functions may lead to reduced provision of ecosystem services (Pejchar and Mooney 2009; Vilà et al. 2009). Despite this fear there has been relatively little quantitative work assessing the effects of invasions on ecosystem services in general or how these interact with biodiversity losses.

It is common to frame impacts of non-natives in purely negative terms (e.g. Pyšek et al. 2012). Indeed, there has been a long and heated debate as to whether species introductions should always be perceived negatively (Shackelford et al. 2013), and such judgements are often subjective. To avoid this problem an ecosystem services framework is a useful – although not the only – approach to assessing the impact of invasions. This approach interprets ecosystem changes using objective criteria based on whether they increase or decrease the provision of particular services. Indeed, some invasive species may be beneficial to humans (Gozlan and Newton 2009; Schlaepfer et al. 2011). For example, invasive acacias in South Africa are used by many rural communities as a source of firewood (Pejchar and Mooney 2009) and there are numerous cases of invasive plant species increasing carbon storage (Dickie et al. 2011). Given that many invasive plant species have been introduced to countries specifically to enhance services such as timber production (Pimentel et al. 2005) and aesthetic appreciation (Hulme 2011), it is likely that some invasive species could have positive effects on ecosystem service provision. It is clear, however, that there are many cases in which invasive species negatively affect ecosystem services (Le Maitre et al. 2002; Le Maitre et al.

2011), such as the severe crop losses and human allergenicity caused by invasive ragweed *Ambrosia artemisiifolia* in Europe (Bullock 2012).

Though there are fears that alteration of ecological communities by nonnative invasive plant species may change ecosystem function and service provision, these relationships are poorly understood (Levine et al. 2003; Strayer 2012). However, based on ecological theory drawn from biodiversity-ecosystem function studies it is possible to produce hypotheses regarding these relationships. Firstly invasive plant species often appear to reduce species richness (Vilà et al. 2011; but see Vellend et al. 2013). Given that community productivity tends to be positively related to increases in species richness (Cardinale et al. 2011; Cardinale et al. 2012) it is possible that reductions in richness as a result of invasions lead to reductions in productivity and alteration of services linked to the carbon cycle. However, one of the explanations for the positive species richness-productivity relationship is the 'selection effect' which states that communities with more species are more likely to contain highly productive species than species poor communities (Loreau and Hector 2001). Since many non-native invasive species appear to have greater productivity than native species (Vilà et al. 2011) it is possible that communities dominated by these species may have higher biomass than more diverse ecosystems prior to invasion. Since changes in biomass linked to alteration of carbon, nutrient and water cycles it is possible that changes in these are also correlated with alteration of species richness.

To provide an assessment of the impacts of plant invasions on ecosystem services and how this relates to changes in native plant communities I carried out a systematic review and meta-analysis of published studies on non-native plant invasions to answer the questions and hypotheses:

What effect do non-native plant invasions have on aboveground carbon storage, belowground carbon storage, carbon sequestration, water quality and water provision?

- 1. Non-native species invasions do not have a consistent effect on any of these ecosystem services.
- 2. Non-native plant invasions lead to increases in aboveground and belowground carbon, and carbon sequestration.
- 3. Water quality is reduced by non-native plant invasions.
- 4. Water provision is reduced by non-native plant invasions.

How do changes in plant species richness following invasion relate to changes in ecosystem services?

- 5. Changes in species richness as a result of non-native plant invasion are not related to changes in aboveground or belowground carbon storage or changes in water quality.
- 6. Reductions in species richness lead to increases in aboveground and belowground carbon storage and reduced water quality.
- 7. Reductions in species richness lead to reductions in aboveground and belowground carbon storage and increased water quality.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Systematic review

I used a systematic review methodology to locate studies of the ecosystem impacts of invasive species following standard methodologies (Pullin and Stewart 2006). To do this I searched the online databases Web of Knowledge, Science Direct and Wiley-Blackwell as well as the internet search engine Google (last accessed 1/08/2011, see Table S1 for search terms). Following this, accounts of invasive plant species were examined at the Global Invasive Species database (www.issg.org/database) and the CABI Invasive species compendium (http://www.cabi.org/isc) and potentially relevant literature was noted. This search method ensured that both papers published in scientific journals and 'grey' literature were assessed. The reference lists of papers meeting the inclusion criteria (see below), as well as those of previous reviews (e.g. Liao et al. 2008; Cavaleri and Sack 2010; Vilà et al. 2011), were checked for additional relevant studies.

To qualify for inclusion in the meta-analysis studies had to fulfil three criteria. (i) The species studied were invasive, rather than solely non-native. As such species had to be described as non-native and invasive in the study, and/or the species was classified as invasive by the Global Invasive Species database or the CABI Invasive species compendium. (ii) Quantitative measurements were supplied of the effects of invasive plant species on ecosystem processes, functions or properties that could be considered as proxies for services (see below for more detail). (iii) Details were given of replicated measurements of ecosystem processes, functions or properties at one or more invaded site and a relevant uninvaded control. Any invaded sites which differed in management or anthropogenic disturbance from un-invaded sites were excluded since these differences could confound the effects of invasive species. Any sites that were subject to deliberate establishment of invasive species, such as plantations, were not considered since this represents a change in land use and management as well as in species composition.

2.3.2 Data extraction and analysis

For each included study the mean; standard error, standard deviation, or confidence interval; and sample size for relevant measures were extracted for invaded and un-invaded systems. Where data were presented in graphs they were extracted using the program datathief (Tummers 2006). I then used a similar methodology to previous studies (Balvanera et al. 2006; Rey Benayas et al. 2009) to relate the ecosystem properties, processes and functions measured in the selected studies to specific ecosystem services (Table 1). Those studies which had measures I considered not to be proxies for ecosystem services were excluded from further analyses. In doing this, I included only measures that were tightly related to the service and examined the context of each study to ensure the interpretation of the measure in terms of the specific service was relevant to that context. For example, while impacts of invasives on pollination has been the subject of several studies (Morales and Traveset 2009), almost all consider pollination of wild species, not of domesticated plants providing produce for human use; and so in the former cases I considered pollination not to be a proxy for an ecosystem service. Furthermore, several services were represented by too few studies to allow meaningful analysis - for example erosion control- and these were not considered further.

The following ecosystem service classes were well represented by measures in the literature, and these were used in the meta-analysis: aboveground carbon storage, belowground carbon storage, carbon sequestration, water provision and water quality (Table 1). To explore the connection between changes in plant communities and ecosystem services, data describing species richness in invaded and un-invaded ecosystems were also extracted, where available. The data were subsequently used to calculate the log response ratio of an ecosystem service measured in an invaded ecosystem compared to that in an un-invaded system, along with the standard error of the effect size (Borenstein et al. 2009). Some measures have a negative relationship with the ecosystem service – e.g. increased soil nutrient content leads to poorer water quality – while others have a positive relationship – e.g. more aboveground biomass indicates greater carbon storage. I

therefore gave each response ratio a positive or negative sign to reflect the relationship of the measure to the service (Table 2).

When calculating mean effect sizes the true magnitude of differences between invaded and un-invaded ecosystems were presumed to differ between studies and thus a random effects model was used (Borenstein et al. 2009). The weight assigned to each study was the inverse of the within-study variance plus the between-studies variance, so more precise studies were more heavily weighted. If 95% confidence intervals for changes in an ecosystem service did not overlap zero, invasion was deemed to result in a statistically significant change. To test for heterogeneity of effect sizes in each meta-analysis the Q statistic was calculated, and where p<0.05, heterogeneity was considered to be greater than would be expected to occur at random.

Table 2 –Classification of ecosystem measures as proxies for ecosystem services based on previous similar assessments (Balvanera et al. 2006; Rey Benayas et al. 2009). The sign after each measure indicates whether it has a negative (-) or positive (+) relationship with the service

Ecosystem property, process or	Ecosystem service classification
function	
Aboveground biomass (+)	Aboveground carbon storage
Belowground biomass (+), soil carbon content (+), leaf litter mass (+)	Belowground carbon storage
Soil carbon sequestration (+), carbon sequestration in biomass (+)	Carbon sequestration
Soil nutrient content (nitrogen, nitrate, phosphorus, ammonia) (-), water nutrient content (-)	Water quality
Water table depth (-), soil moisture (+), evapotranspiration rate (-)	Water provision

Meta-regression was used to examine the relationship between proportional changes in plant species richness and those of individual ecosystem services. Meta-regression is a similar to regression but differs in that it is weighted by the inverse of study variances plus between study variance (Borenstein et al. 2009). This aims to characterise between study variance, but cannot account for all sources of variability as is the case in regression used in primary studies (Borenstein et al. 2009). To determine the fit of meta-regression models the R^2 analogue was calculated as:

$$R^{2} analogue = 1 - \left(\frac{T_{residual}^{2}}{T_{total}^{2}}\right)$$

where T_{total}^2 is the total between study variance and $T_{residual}^2$ is the residual variance of the model after independent variables have been accounted for. All analyses were carried out in R 2.15.0 (R Development Core Team 2011) using the metafor package (Viechtbauer 2010). Following all analyses, effect sizes were back-transformed to present percentage change relative to un-invaded ecosystems.

2.4 Results

537 measurements of ecosystem function that could be related to ecosystem services were identified from 102 studies at 199 different sites, which included a range of ecosystem types. The ecosystems most commonly investigated were grassland, broadleaf woodland, coastal dunes and scrubland. (see Table S1). The majority of sites for which I extracted data were located in North America and Europe, with relatively few found in the Southern hemisphere or the tropics (Figure 3). The studies summarised the impact of 70 invasive plant species with a relatively equal representation of forbs, grasses, trees and shrubs.



Figure 3 – Map of sites providing data for the meta-analysis. Sites are binned to a 4 by 4 decimal degree grid for ease of interpretation. Point size represents the number of sites in each 4 by 4 grid cell.

2.4.1 Effect of invasive plants on ecosystem services

Aboveground and belowground carbon storage were both significantly (P<0.05) higher in invaded sites, while water provision and water quality were lower (Figure 4). Carbon sequestration showed no effects of invasion. The largest change was in aboveground carbon storage, which was 41% higher in invaded sites, while belowground carbon storage was 13% higher. Proxies related to water provision were 28% lower and those related to water quality 12% lower in invaded sites. All variables showed significant heterogeneity in effect sizes (p<0.001), indicating that there was large variation in the magnitude of the effects of invasions among studies.



Figure 4 – Weighted mean effect of non-native plant species invasion on ecosystem services. Points represent weighted mean for each separate analysis and bars represent the 95% confidence intervals of these estimates.

2.4.2 Relationship between changes in species richness and ecosystem services

Not all studies had paired measurements of changes in species richness and ecosystem services, and so it was not possible to investigate relationships between changes in species richness and those of carbon sequestration and water provision. Differences in aboveground carbon storage were negatively related to differences in species richness between invaded and un-invaded sites (P<0.05, Figure 5) and this variable explained approximately 22% of between-study variation. Although this model showed a reasonable fit there was still a large amount of variation among studies in the effects of invasions once the effect of changes in species richness were accounted for (Q=3983, df=24, P<0.001). However, changes in belowground carbon or water quality were not correlated with changes in species richness (Figure 5, P>0.05).



Figure 5 – Relationship between changes in species richness and those in ecosystem services. Solid line represents predictions where percentage change had a significant effect (P<0.05) effect on an ecosystem service. Note: neither belowground carbon storage or water quality showed any relationship to changes in species richness.

2.5 Discussion

My meta-analysis indicates that ecosystems around the world invaded by non-native plant species tend to exhibit improvements in some ecosystem services (higher above- and below-ground carbon storage), but deterioration in others (reduced water provision and quality) compared to paired un-invaded sites. The rate of carbon sequestration showed no consistent trend. Thus apart from the null hypothesis hypotheses 2-4 were well supported. Counter to hypotheses 5 and 7 predicted positive relationships between changes in species richness and ecosystem services, I found a negative relationship for changes in above-ground carbon and no relationship for changes in belowground carbon or water provision. As such hypothesis 6 had mixed support.

2.5.1 Effects of invasive plant species on ecosystem services

My finding that invaded ecosystems tend to have increased carbon storage both above- and below-ground is supported by the findings of previous metaanalyses of ecosystem functioning. Both Liao et al. (2008) and Vila et al (2011) indicated increases in productivity (133% and 56% respectively) following invasion. As such, the estimate of a 41% increase in aboveground carbon storage is likely to be as a result of invasive plant species having higher primary productivity. Similarly, the finding that belowground carbon pools increase by 13% are likely to be driven by the same phenomenon with increases in aboveground biomass leading to greater root biomass and increases in carbon inputs to the soil. Two mechanisms in particular may lead to general increases in carbon storage following non-native plant invasion. Firstly, non-native plant species may be able to compete more effectively for resources outside of their native range because of a lack of natural enemies (Keane and Crawley 2002). Secondly, successful invaders may possess traits, such as rapid relative growth rate, which allow local dominance (Firn et al. 2011).

The impacts of individual invasive plant species on water provision are well known, with particularly high-profile examples in the US Midwest and South Africa (Di Tomaso 1998; Le Maitre et al. 2011). The finding of decreased water provision in invaded systems is supported by Cavaleri and Sack (2010), who found that invasive species tend to have higher evapotranspiration rates than the native plants. Indeed, changes in water provision may be driven by invasive species having greater biomass, and therefore consuming more water, than co-occurring natives (Cavaleri and Sack 2010). This mechanism suggests a potential trade-off between carbon storage and provision of water as a result of invasions. This trade-off has been observed previously following establishment of plantations resulting in an increase in carbon storage, but reduced stream flow (Jackson et al. 2005). The meta-analysis suggests that this relationship may be widespread.

The negative impact of plant invasions on water quality is likely to be a result of increases in soil nutrient concentrations. Previous studies have regularly noted these increases and they are thought in part to relate to increases in carbon pools and consequent increases in carbohydrate availability to the microbial community (Ehrenfeld 2003). Thus increases in carbon stocks may be related to decreases in water quality. However, my results should be interpreted with some caution as very few studies in this meta-analysis measured changes in water quality directly, with the majority measuring changes in soil nutrients in wetland or riparian areas from which I inferred changes in water quality.

2.5.2 Relationships between changes in species richness and ecosystem services

Many species richness-productivity studies have suggested that increases in richness lead to higher community biomass, probably because communities become more likely to contain individual species with higher productivity and/or resources are more efficiently partitioned between species (Hooper et al. 2005). In the case of non-native plant invasions, this relationship appears to be reversed. My meta-analysis suggests that when invasive non-native plant species reduce plant species richness, aboveground biomass - and thus carbon - tends to increase. This study is the first to indicate such an empirical relationship between changes in plant communities and ecosystem services following invasion. I propose that the primary process driving this relationship is the ability of non-native invasive species to achieve higher productivity than native plants (Liao et al. 2008), which leads to increased dominance and a resulting loss of native species (Hillebrand et al. 2008). This supports the view that species identity (i.e. the presence of competitive nonnatives with high growth rates) is more important than species richness per se in driving ecosystem functions and services in the case of non-native species invasion (Hooper et al. 2012).

Though my study indicated a negative relationship between changes in species richness and aboveground carbon storage this may be dependent upon the type of ecosystem invaded and the traits of the invasive species. For example when the functional traits of an invasive species differ markedly from those of those of native species its effects on biodiversity and ecosystem functions is hypothesised to be more dramatic than when they are similar (Ricciardi and Atkinson 2004; Ricciardi et al. 2013). As such though there are logical reasons why the negative relationship I observed in my study is likely to be generally true a mechanistic understanding of this relationship may require the characteristics of both invader and native species and ecosystems to be accounted for. For example some studies used for this chapter showed both a reduction in species richness and a loss of aboveground carbon storage (Figure 5). In these cases it is likely that a species that stored large amounts of carbon was outcompeted by smaller invasive species. As such the shape of the species richness-carbon storage relationship may depend on the characteristics of the invasive species. Thus woody invasions of open habitats may result in a negative relationship, as has been seen in some studies (Dickie et al. 2011), with grass invasions of woodlands showing the opposite relationship.

It has previously been suggested that species richness affects a wide variety of ecosystem services (Isbell et al. 2011). However, apart from the negative correlation between changes in richness and aboveground carbon, I found no relationship with changes in belowground carbon or water quality. I hypothesise that this is because the impact of invasive plant species on these ecosystem services is more variable than the effects on above-ground carbon storage. As such, the extent of changes in these ecosystem services may depend to a much greater extent on the identity of the invasive species, rather than purely its abundance or effect on the plant community. Thus the impacts of invasive species are likely to be better predicted by analyses using the traits or characteristics of both invasive and native dominant species.

The negative relationship between changes in aboveground carbon storage and those in species richness suggests that trade-offs between achieving goals of maximising carbon storage and conservation value in the context of non-native invasions may be more widespread than previously thought. If conservation managers intend to maximise plant species richness by controlling invasives, this may be at the cost of carbon storage. This conflict between the two goals - as has happened in New Zealand (Dickie et al. 2011) – is likely to occur throughout the globe, particularly when grass or shrublands are invaded by woody non-natives (Pejchar and Mooney 2009; Eldridge et al. 2011). Management of such situations will require careful consideration about which goal is a greater priority.

2.5.3 Caveats in analysing invasion studies

One of the biggest problems in any meta-analysis of invasive species is determining how representative the sites studied are of all sites affected by invasive species. To assess this it is necessary to understand geographic patterns in invasions, the type of ecosystems likely to be affected and the taxonomy and traits of the invasive species. Both Europe and North America appear to have high numbers of invasive species, but this is possibly due to relatively high recorder effort. Similarly there is little understanding of the types of ecosystem likely to be affected or the species that are likely to be invasive (Hulme et al. 2013).

In addition my meta-analysis inherently incorporated the assumptions of the primary studies. One such assumption is that the differences between uninvaded and invaded ecosystems were driven primarily by the invasive species. I excluded studies with obvious differences in land-use history between the paired sites, but there may have been subtle differences not noted by the researchers in the included studies. Indeed, MacDougall and Turkington (2005) suggested that invasive species may be the consequence as well as the cause of changes in ecosystems. While I have suggested mechanisms by which invasions may have led to the general

45

impacts I found on ecosystem services, experiments will allow a better understanding of the processes involved.

The negative relationship between species richness and aboveground carbon storage I observed in this study is the result of comparing between studies but I caution against presuming there is necessarily a similar relationship within a given landscape. To my knowledge no study has attempted to link changes in ecosystem services and species richness at this scale. This is probably because the invasive species literature has traditionally focussed on comparisons between heavily invaded and un-invaded ecosystems, ignoring the transition between these two states. This must change if we wish to link changes in ecological communities to changes in ecosystem services. The use of environmental gradients in ecology has provided many valuable insights (Körner 2007; Kreyling et al. 2014) and I suggest that more studies of invasive plant species would benefit from viewing invasion in a similar manner.

2.6 Conclusions

It is clear from this study that invasive plant species can affect ecosystem services both positively and negatively. Thus, it is important that the potential benefits of any invasion are weighed alongside the potential negative impacts rather than assuming non-natives will cause environmental damage. I hypothesise that differing effects on the services I was able to study may be the result of fundamental trade-offs during invasions. Thus, invasive species grow faster and utilise resources more efficiently than co-occurring natives, which leads to increased carbon storage. The faster growth leads to higher water use and so decreased water provisioning, and increased soil carbon affects nutrient dynamics leading to decreased water quality. It also appears likely that there are trade-offs between carbon storage and species richness, which may have implications for conservation management. It must be noted that this meta-analysis is subject to caveats, including possible biases in which locations and species have been studied (Pyšek et al. 2008; Hulme et al. 2013) so it is not yet possible to generalize with confidence about the impacts of invasive species or possible trade-offs.

2.7 References

Balvanera, P., Pfisterer, A. B., Buchmann, N., He, J. S., Nakashizuka, T., Raffaelli,D. and Schmid, B., 2006. Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. Ecology Letters, 9 (10), 1146-1156.

Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T. and Rothstein, H. R., 2009. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. Chichester, UK: Wiley.

- Bullock, J. M., Chapman, D., Schafer, S., Roy, D., Girardello, M., Haynes, T., Beal, S., Wheeler, B., Dickie, I., Phang, Z., Tinch, R., Civi c, K., Delbaere, B., Jones-Walters, L., Hilbert, A., Schrauwen, A., Prank, M., Sofiev, M., Niemela, S., Raisanen, P., Lees, B., Skinner, M., Finch, S., Brough, C., 2012. , 2012. Assessing and controlling the spread and the effects of common ragweed in Europe. Final Report to the European Commission, DG Environment.
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G. M., Tilman, D. and Wardle, D. A., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature, 486 (7401), 59-67.
- Cardinale, B. J., Matulich, K. L., Hooper, D. U., Byrnes, J. E., Duffy, E., Gamfeldt,
 L., Balvanera, P., O'Connor, M. I. and Gonzalez, A., 2011. The functional role of producer diversity in ecosystems. American journal of botany, 98 (3), 572-592.
- Cavaleri, M. A. and Sack, L., 2010. Comparative water use of native and invasive plants at multiple scales: a global meta-analysis. Ecology, 91 (9), 2705-2715.
- Di Tomaso, J. M., 1998. Impact, biology, and ecology of saltcedar (Tamarix spp.) in the southwestern United States. Weed technology, 326-336.
- Dickie, I. A., Yeates, G. W., St. John, M. G., Stevenson, B. A., Scott, J. T., Rillig, M. C., Peltzer, D. A., Orwin, K. H., Kirschbaum, M. U. F., Hunt, J. E., Burrows, L. E., Barbour, M. M. and Aislabie, J., 2011. Ecosystem service and biodiversity trade-offs in two woody successions. Journal of Applied Ecology, 48 (4), 926-934.
- Ehrenfeld, J. G., 2003. Effects of exotic plant invasions on soil nutrient cycling processes. Ecosystems, 6 (6), 503-523.
- Eldridge, D. J., Bowker, M. A., Maestre, F. T., Roger, E., Reynolds, J. F. and Whitford, W. G., 2011. Impacts of shrub encroachment on ecosystem structure and functioning: towards a global synthesis. Ecology Letters, 14 (7), 709-722.
- Firn, J., Moore, J. L., MacDougall, A. S., Borer, E. T., Seabloom, E. W.,
 HilleRisLambers, J., Harpole, W. S., Cleland, E. E., Brown, C. S., Knops, J.
 M. H., Prober, S. M., Pyke, D. A., Farrell, K. A., Bakker, J. D., O'Halloran, L.
 R., Adler, P. B., Collins, S. L., D'Antonio, C. M., Crawley, M. J., Wolkovich,
 E. M., La Pierre, K. J., Melbourne, B. A., Hautier, Y., Morgan, J. W., Leakey,

A. D. B., Kay, A., McCulley, R., Davies, K. F., Stevens, C. J., Chu, C.-J.,
Holl, K. D., Klein, J. A., Fay, P. A., Hagenah, N., Kirkman, K. P. and Buckley,
Y. M., 2011. Abundance of introduced species at home predicts abundance away in herbaceous communities. Ecology Letters, 14 (3), 274-281.

Global Invasive Species Database, www.issg.org/database. Available from:

- Gozlan, R. E. and Newton, A., 2009. Biological Invasions: Benefits versus Risks (Letters). Science, 324 (5930), 1015.
- Hillebrand, H., Bennett, D. M. and Cadotte, M. W., 2008. Consequences of dominance: a review of evenness effects on local and regional ecosystem processes. Ecology, 89 (6), 1510-1520.
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E., Hungate, B. A., Matulich,
 K. L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J. E., Gamfeldt, L. and O'Connor, M. I., 2012. A
 global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem
 change. Nature, 486 (7401), 105-108.
- Hooper, D. U., Chapin, F. S., Ewel, J. J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S.,
 Lawton, J. H., Lodge, D. M., Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Schmid, B., Setälä, H.,
 Symstad, A. J., Vandermeer, J. and Wardle, D. A., 2005. Effects of
 biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge.
 Ecological Monographs, 75 (1), 3-35.
- Hulme, P. E., 2011. Addressing the threat to biodiversity from botanic gardens. Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition), 26 (4), 168-174.
- Hulme, P. E., Pyaek, P., Jaroaík, V. c., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U. and Vilà, M., 2013.
 Bias and error in understanding plant invasion impacts. Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition), 28 (4), 212-218.
- Invasive Species Compendium, http://www.cabi.org/isc.
- Isbell, F., Calcagno, V., Hector, A., Connolly, J., Harpole, W. S., Reich, P. B.,
 Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schmid, B., Tilman, D., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A.,
 Wilsey, B. J., Zavaleta, E. S. and Loreau, M., 2011. High plant diversity is
 needed to maintain ecosystem services. Nature, 477 (7363), 199-202.
- Jackson, R. B., Jobbágy, E. G., Avissar, R., Roy, S. B., Barrett, D. J., Cook, C. W., Farley, K. A., le Maitre, D. C., McCarl, B. A. and Murray, B. C., 2005.
 Trading Water for Carbon with Biological Carbon Sequestration. Science, 310 (5756), 1944-1947.
- Keane, R. M. and Crawley, M. J., 2002. Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 17 (4), 164-170.

- Körner, C., 2007. The use of 'altitude' in ecological research. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 22 (11), 569-574.
- Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A. and Beier, C., 2014. Beyond realism in climate change experiments: gradient approaches identify thresholds and tipping points. Ecology Letters, 17 (1), 125-e121.
- Le Maitre, D. C., Gaertner, M., Marchante, E., Ens, E.-J., Holmes, P. M., Pauchard, A., O'Farrell, P. J., Rogers, A. M., Blanchard, R., Blignaut, J. and Richardson, D. M., 2011. Impacts of invasive Australian acacias: implications for management and restoration. Diversity and Distributions, 17 (5), 1015-1029.
- Le Maitre, D. C., van Wilgen, B. W., Gelderblom, C., Bailey, C., Chapman, R. A. and Nel, J., 2002. Invasive alien trees and water resources in South Africa: case studies of the costs and benefits of management. Forest ecology and management, 160 (1), 143-159.
- Levine, J. M., Vilà, M., Antonio, C. M. D., Dukes, J. S., Grigulis, K. and Lavorel, S., 2003. Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 270 (1517), 775-781.
- Liao, C., Peng, R., Luo, Y., Zhou, X., Wu, X., Fang, C., Chen, J. and Li, B., 2008. Altered ecosystem carbon and nitrogen cycles by plant invasion: a metaanalysis. New Phytologist, 177 (3), 706-714.
- Loreau, M. and Hector, A., 2001. Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. Nature, 412 (6842), 72-76.
- MacDougall, A. S. and Turkington, R., 2005. Are invasive species the drivers or passengers of change in degraded ecosystems? Ecology, 86 (1), 42-55.
- Morales, C. L. and Traveset, A., 2009. A meta-analysis of impacts of alien vs. native plants on pollinator visitation and reproductive success of co-flowering native plants. Ecology Letters, 12 (7), 716-728.
- Pejchar, L. and Mooney, H. A., 2009. Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being. Trends in ecology & evolution, 24 (9), 497-504.
- Pimentel, D., Zuniga, R. and Morrison, D., 2005. Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien-invasive species in the United States. Ecological economics, 52 (3), 273-288.
- Pullin, A. S. and Stewart, G. B., 2006. Guidelines for systematic review in conservation and environmental management. Conservation Biology, 20 (6), 1647-1656.

- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Hulme, P. E., Pergl, J., Hejda, M., Schaffner, U. and Vilà, M., 2012. A global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species, communities and ecosystems: the interaction of impact measures, invading species' traits and environment. Global Change Biology, 18 (5), 1725-1737.
- Pyšek, P., Richardson, D. M., Pergl, J., Jarošík, V., Sixtová, Z. and Weber, E.,
 2008. Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. Trends in
 Ecology & Evolution, 23 (5), 237-244.
- R Development Core Team, 2011. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rey Benayas, J. M., Newton, A. C., Diaz, A. and Bullock, J. M., 2009. Enhancement of Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services by Ecological Restoration: A Meta-Analysis. Science, 325 (5944), 1121-1124.
- Ricciardi, A. and Atkinson, S. K., 2004. Distinctiveness magnifies the impact of biological invaders in aquatic ecosystems. Ecology Letters, 7 (9), 781-784.
- Ricciardi, A., Hoopes, M. F., Marchetti, M. P. and Lockwood, J. L., 2013. Progress toward understanding the ecological impacts of nonnative species. Ecological Monographs, 83 (3), 263-282.
- Schlaepfer, M. A., Sax, D. F. and Olden, J. D., 2011. The Potential Conservation Value of Non-Native Species. Conservation Biology, 25 (3), 428-437.
- Shackelford, N., Hobbs, R. J., Heller, N. E., Hallett, L. M. and Seastedt, T. R., 2013. Finding a middle-ground: The native/non-native debate. Biological conservation, 158 (0), 55-62.
- Strayer, D. L., 2012. Eight questions about invasions and ecosystem functioning. Ecology Letters, 15 (10), 1199-1210.
- Tummers, B., 2006. DataThief III. < http://datathief.org/>.
- Vellend, M., Baeten, L., Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Beauséjour, R., Brown, C. D., De Frenne, P., Verheyen, K. and Wipf, S., 2013. Global metaanalysis reveals no net change in local-scale plant biodiversity over time. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.
- Viechtbauer, W., 2010. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software, 36 (3), 1-48.
- Vilà, M., Basnou, C., Pyšek, P., Josefsson, M., Genovesi, P., Gollasch, S., Nentwig, W., Olenin, S., Roques, A. and Roy, D., 2009. How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 8 (3), 135-144.

Vilà, M., Espinar, J. L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P. E., Jarošík, V., Maron, J. L., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U., Sun, Y. and Pyšek, P., 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. Ecology Letters, 14 (7), 702-708.

Chapter 3

3 Can the impact of invasive plant species on ecosystem services be predicted using species and ecosystem characteristics?

3.1 Abstract

It has been a long-held goal of invasion biology to be able to predict which species are most likely to become invasive. Though there has been progress on this over the last two decades, invasiveness of plant species appears to have little to do with their ecological impacts, suggesting a need to identify correlates of this separately. To identify such correlates I used characteristics and traits of invasive and native plant species (woodiness, plant height and root depth) to predict post-invasion changes in ecosystem services. This analysis showed that invasive plant height predicts changes in aboveground carbon and water quality well but that other ecosystem service changes are poorly predicted. Rather than being suggestive of a lack of effects of traits on changes in ecosystem services this result is likely to reflect the need for greater detail on traits from uninvaded communities. However, given that prediction of impact prior to invasion is the ultimate aim of invasion biology methods that maximise the usefulness of currently available trait data, such as by phylogenetic imputation, may aid in this.

3.2 Introduction

Mechanistic models of community assembly state that in order for a species to become established in a location it must first pass through a number of environmental filters (Belyea and Lancaster 1999). Firstly, a species must have the ability to reach a site via dispersal and then overcome abiotic filters, such as climate or soil type, and biotic filters such as competition with other species (Belyea and Lancaster 1999; Lebrija-Trejos et al. 2010). The response traits of species, such as those relating to fecundity, regeneration and dispersal, determine their response to environmental pressures and thus their ability to overcome these filters (Suding et al. 2008). Following establishment the effect traits of plant species, such as leaf nutrient content or leaf toughness, are thought to determine ecosystem functioning (Lavorel and Garnier 2002). The theory surrounding community assembly has informed much of the work in invasion biology, one of the major goals of which is determining the traits and characteristics of non-native plant species that enable them to overcome environmental and biotic filters in order to become invasive (Van Kleunen et al. 2010). Previous studies of invasive plants have suggested that response traits can be used to predict the likelihood of a species becoming invasive, with species that produce large numbers of easily transportable seeds likely to be those that are transported to areas outside of their native range (Lockwood et al. 2005). Following arrival of propagules in new locations, species that show either high phenotypic plasticity (Richards et al. 2006) or rapid evolution (Buswell et al. 2011) appear to establish more successfully. Such studies have helped to determine which species are more likely to become invasive and are now being used to aid risk assessments (Keller et al. 2007), though the usefulness of such assessment is strongly debated (Thompson and Davis 2011; van Kleunen et al. 2011). In addition to predicting which species will become invasive in the future another major aim of invasion biology is predicting the impact of invasive species once they colonise new areas (Ricciardi et al. 2013). However, the invasiveness of a species seems to be largely independent of its ecological impact (Ricciardi and Cohen 2007), implying a lack of linkage in response and effect traits as previously suggested by Suding et al. (2008). Given this there is a need for analyses to identify correlates of invasive species impact.

Following establishment, the impacts of invasive species on communities are largely thought to be driven by their ability to compete against other species for resources (Van Kleunen et al. 2010). Factors that increase the competitive ability of invasive species are hypothesised to include: (i) different resource use to native species (Vitousek 1996); (ii) a lack of natural enemies from their native range (Pimm 1987); (iii) release of novel defensive chemicals (Bais et al. 2003); and (iv) differences in effect traits between native and nonnative species (Van Kleunen et al. 2010; see Ricciardi et al. 2013 for a review of current hypotheses). This increased competitive ability of invasive species can lead to reduction in native species population size, resulting in the simultaneous addition and removal of species traits (Wardle et al. 2011). These shifts in the traits present in a community may alter species interactions and thus ecosystem function and ultimately ecosystem services (Lavorel and Garnier 2002; Díaz et al. 2007).

Despite the perceived importance of attempts to generalise about mechanisms by which the impact of invasive species are governed, studies addressing the topic are rare. A recent analysis by Pyšek et al. (2012) attempted to determine characteristics of invasive species that governed impacts of invasions on biodiversity and ecosystem function. While this work was a welcome addition to the debate on the mechanisms underlying invasive species impacts it had two major limitations. Firstly, the work used statistical significance of individual studies as a measure of impact. This not only assumes that the direction of change of a variable caused by an invasive species is unimportant, it is also statistically invalid showing similarities to the widely discredited 'vote-counting' approach, which meta-

analysis has attempted to eliminate (Koricheva et al. 2013). Secondly, the study lacked hypotheses and apparently fitted approximately 40 parameters for each statistical test. Such overfitting of models increases the likelihood of achieving a false positive. Exploratory analyses of this subject are unwarranted given that there are a wide range of hypotheses regarding the impact of non-native invasive species (Ricciardi et al. 2013) and the impact of plant community change in other contexts (Díaz et al. 2007; Suding et al. 2008).

The flaws in the study of Pyšek et al. (2012) mean that we currently have little idea about how the characteristics of invasive species influence their impacts, or how this interacts with features of native ecosystems. However, much work has been done outside of the field of invasion biology investigating the relationship between species characteristics or effect traits and ecosystem function or ecosystem services (Díaz et al. 2007). The basis for much work on links between ecosystem traits and function, the mass ratio hypothesis, states that the most abundant species are those that determine ecosystem function (Grime 1998). Given that invasive species can often become dominant in ecosystems this hypothesis may have particular relevance in this context. One of the recurrent hypotheses in invasion biology is that species that have 'novel' characteristics or differ in their traits from native species are likely to be those that have strongest impacts on ecosystems (Levine et al. 2003; Ricciardi and Atkinson 2004), and similar views have been expressed by people using functional traits to predict ecosystem function change in other contexts (Lavorel and Garnier 2002). These hypotheses suggest that species identity is more important in determining changes in ecosystem function than changes in species richness. This suggests that the 'selection effect' hypothesis, which states that more species rich communities have higher productivity and resource use, may not be relevant for all types of biodiversity change. Indeed in the case of invasive species it appears likely that because invasive species often show higher productivity than native species (Vilà et al. 2011) that species poor invaded ecosystems have higher carbon storage than uninvaded, more species rich ecosystems (Chapter 2). In this chapter I aim to test the hypothesis that invasive species which differ in their characteristics from native species are those that have strongest effects on ecosystem services.

Studies have indicated the importance of effect traits in governing decomposition (Cornwell et al. 2008), soil properties (Garnier et al. 2007; Grigulis et al. 2013) and water cycles (Gross et al. 2008) in a number of contexts. In particular this work has pointed to the potential role of plant height in governing carbon, nutrient and water cycling as it is strongly related to productivity (Diaz et al. 2004), increases in which may in-turn increase soil nutrient content (Ehrenfeld 2003) and water use (Jackson et al. 2005). In addition there is evidence that root depth of species determines soil moisture and water provision (Eviner 2004; Gross

54

et al. 2008). Thus, there is evidence to suggest that both plant height and root depth may prove useful in predicting the impacts of community change on ecosystem functions and services.

While invasive species' effect traits may be related to post-invasion changes in ecosystem services, it is probable that these changes are dependent upon the traits of species in a recipient ecosystem (Wardle et al. 2011). The native species traits determine ecosystem service provision prior to invasion and as such changes in mean community trait values are likely to be driven by difference between invasive species and other species in the community. As such when the traits of an invasive species differ markedly from the traits of species in an uninvaded system the impact of invasion is likely to be large (Ricciardi et al. 2013). Thus accounting for the difference in the trait values between invaders and native species should enable a better prediction of ecosystem service impacts than merely considering invasive traits in isolation.

However, effect trait values for species are not always available (Swenson 2014) and so characteristics such as species woodiness can be used as an alternative (Castro-Diez et al. 2014). Though these classifications are not strictly functional traits they can be used as proxies where no other measurements are available. For example woody species tend to have greater leaf area, seed mass and height than non-woody species, while non-woody species tend to have thicker, tougher leaves (Diaz et al. 2004). Increases in the abundance of woody species appears likely to increase above and belowground carbon, while potentially reducing water availability, and thinner leaves may increase the speed at which nutrients can be transferred to soils (Díaz et al. 2007; Castro-Díez et al. 2014). As such invasive species which are woody or non-woody are likely to differ in how they alter ecosystem function and service provision and this may depend upon the woodiness of native species in the recipient ecosystems. However, greater detail on native ecosystem types may also aid in determining more nuanced effects of invaders by providing a more precise proxy of the trait values of native species prior to invasion.

Given the current lack of knowledge surrounding the mechanisms of invasive plant species impacts on native ecosystems and their services, use of these traits as a first step in predicting impact seems rational. Thus, in this study I use mean trait values for both dominant native and invasive species from the TRY global plant traits database (Kattge et al. 2011) along with the woodiness of native and non-native species, and ecosystem classification to test the following hypotheses:

Impacts of invasive and non-native woodiness on ecosystem services

1. Where invasions involve transition from woody to non-woody dominant species

change in aboveground and belowground carbon storage, water provision and water quality will be more pronounced than where invasion is by a species of similar woodiness.

- 2. Where there is invasion by a species with similar woodiness there will be no change in ecosystem service provision
- Where there is invasion by a species with similar woodiness some ecosystem service provision will be altered
- 4. Inclusion of detail on native ecosystem type along with that of invader woodiness result in a more parsimonious model.

Effect trait impacts on ecosystem services

- 5. Invasive plant height is positively related to change in aboveground carbon storage and belowground carbon storage, and negatively related to water provision and water quality.
- 6. Root depth of invasive plant species is negatively related to water provision changes.
- 7. Accounting for differences in effect trait values improves predictive ability of models when compared to those that only consider invasive species traits

3.3 Methods

Data on the impacts of non-native plant invasions on ecosystem services were taken from the systematic review conducted in Chapter 2. Along with this I recorded data on woodiness of invasive and native species for use in analyses of impacts. Almost all studies contained sufficient data on species woodiness resulting in 454 datapoints that could be used in analyses (36 aboveground carbon storage, 108 belowground carbon storage, 20 carbon sequestration, 39 water provision, 251 water quality). To test hypotheses 1, 2, 3 and 4 I performed sub-group meta-analyses for each ecosystem service of interest. For these analyses the effect of invasive and dominant native species woodiness and the interaction term between these was tested along with all possible additive models. Alongside this models containing ecosystem type (wetland, grassland, forest, mixed – where more than one type of ecosystem was investigated in a study, and open – consisting of coastal dune and desert) were also tested. Model selection was undertaken using an information theoretic approach (Anderson et al. 2000) which is detailed below.

I also collated data on relevant traits of invasive and native plant species from the TRY global database of plant traits (Kattge et al. 2011). This database is a collation of over 3 million trait values for more than 69,000 plant species, and is the most comprehensive database of its type (Kattge et al. 2011). I used the R package taxonstand (Cayuela et al.
2012), which matches species names to The Plant List - a standardised taxonomy for all known plant species (see http://www.theplantlist.org/ for more details). This ensured taxonomic consistency between databases. I subsequently modified trait data to ensure consistent units of measurement (e.g. conversion from inches to cm). Where more than one trait measurement for a species was available I calculated the mean. These data were then linked to data from Chapter 2 so that each species at each site was assigned the appropriate trait value where it was available. This resulted in a dataset with a total of 314 assessments of ecosystem service changes at paired invaded and uninvaded sites for which invasive trait values were available and 98 paired sites for which measures of both invasive and native traits were available. This represented approximately 60% and 20% of the dataset used in Chapter 2 respectively (for site locations see Figure 6). Although there is some evidence of within species trait plasticity (Richards et al. 2006; Funk 2008), for the purposes of this work I assumed that traits did not vary within a species, as other analyses using trait databases have done (Cornwell et al. 2008).



Figure 6 – Location of studies used for analysis of each ecosystem service that had invasive plant species for which traits were available in the TRY database (Kattge et al. 2011

To test the influence of these traits on aboveground carbon, belowground carbon, water provision and water quality I performed a meta-regression analyses in two stages. First I did meta-regressions using just invasive species traits to determine the relationship between these traits and the ecosystem services in question. Secondly, for the sub-set of studies that had data on both the invasive and native species traits I re-ran analyses to investigate changes as a function of invasive species traits and as a function of the log response ratio (Hedges et al. 1999) of differences between native and invasive species traits. For water provision the TRY database did not contain enough data on plant height or root depth values for native species and so I did only the first step of analysis. In all cases I also computed a null model. Evidence supporting each hypothesis was assessed by examining the AICc of each model and its difference from the most parsimonious model (termed \triangle AlCc - Anderson et al. 2000; Burnham et al. 2011). When models had a $\triangle AICc > 7$ they were considered to have little support (Burnham et al. 2011). All analyses were undertaken in R version 3.0.2 with meta-regression performed using the metafor package (Viechtbauer 2010) and all figures were produced using ggplot2 (Wickham 2009).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Using woodiness and ecosystem type to predict impact

The most parsimonious model for the impacts of invasive species on aboveground carbon storage was a model that included terms for both non-native invasive woodiness and native species woodiness. Invasion by woody species in ecosystems with non-woody dominant species experienced a very large increase in aboveground carbon storage that averaged 1219%, while invasions by non-woody species to systems dominated by woody species saw a drop of 70% (Figure 7). Where woodiness of invasive and native dominants did not differ there was an increase in aboveground carbon storage with 41% and 189% increases for woody and non-woody invasive and native species respectively (Figure 7). This model also showed good explanatory value with an R^2 of 0.54. The model including invasive woodiness and ecosystem type was poorly supported with a $\Delta AICc=9.58$ when compared to the most parsimonious model.





The model that best explained changes in belowground carbon storage suggested that changes were driven by whether invasive species were woody, but not by whether native species were woody or not. This model suggested that woody invaders increase belowground carbon storage by 38% while non-woody invaders cause increases of 18% but the confidence intervals for these two groups overlapped meaning that despite being the most parsimonious model the two groups could showed no statistically significant differences. The model explanatory value was low with a R² of 0.05. As with aboveground carbon storage the model including species woodiness and ecosystem type was relatively poorly supported with a Δ AICc=3.99 when compared to the most parsimonious model. When looking at models explaining carbon sequestration and water provision the null intercept

only models were considered to be the most parsimonious with all other models having a $\Delta AICc>4$.



Figure 8 – Changes in belowground carbon storage as a result of invasion by nonwoody or woody non-native species (n=108). Bars represent 95% confidence intervals for model. Dashed line represents zero difference between invaded and uninvaded systems. R^2 of model was 0.05.

Regarding changes in water quality a model including interaction terms between invasive species and native species woodiness was the most parsimonious. However, this model had relatively little explanatory power with an R^2 of 0.06. This model suggested woody invaders in systems with woody dominant species resulted in greater decreases in water quality than other transitions, but these differences were not statistically significant (Figure 9). In ecosystems dominated by non-woody native species there was little difference in the effect of woody or non-woody invasive species on water quality (Figure 9). Again inclusion of a term describing ecosystem type did not result in a more parsimonious model, with this model having a Δ AICc of 7.25.





3.4.2 Using invasive species traits to predict impact

Invasive species height was a good predictor of change in aboveground carbon storage following invasion (R^2 =0.32). This model suggested a positive relationship between invasive plant height and changes in aboveground carbon storage (Figure 10). The model had much stronger support than the null model, which had a $\Delta AICc=9.76$ (Appendix I – Table A2). Plant height was a poor predictor of changes in belowground carbon storage, with the null model having greater support (Appendix I – Table A3). However, plant height was a good predictor of changes in water quality (R^2 =0.33) and was much better supported than the null model which had a $\Delta AICc=8.84$ (Appendix I – Table A6). The model predicted a

positive relationship between invasive species height and water quality, with greatest confidence in predictions for invasive species of <5m in height, which represented the majority of the data (Figure 11).



Figure 10 - Relationship between changes in above ground carbon storage and the height of invasive non-native plant species (n=26). The solid line represents the predictions of the model with lowest AICc and the dashed lines are the 95% confidence intervals of this prediction.



Figure 11 - Relationship between changes in water quality indicator and the height of invasive non-native plant species (n=76). The solid line represents the predictions

of the model with lowest AICc and the dashed lines are the 95% confidence intervals of this prediction.

Though plots of the relationship between invasive species height and change in water provision were suggestive of a negative relationship between invasive species height and water provision (Figure 12), the null model was more highly supported (Appendix I - Table A4), possibly as a result of small sample size (n=10). In addition an influence of root depth on water provision was poorly supported (Appendix I - Table A5).



Figure 12 – Changes in water provision plotted against the height of invasive nonnative plants (n=10).

3.4.3 Predictive ability of trait differences between invasive and native species

The hypothesis that including differences between native and non-native species' traits improved model parsimony compared to including only invasive species traits had mixed support. Only the model of belowground carbon storage indicated improved parsimony while aboveground carbon storage and water quality did not (Appendix I - Tables A7-A9). Proportional change in belowground carbon appeared to show a slight negative relationship with the proportional difference in height between invasive and native species (Figure 10). This model had relatively weak explanatory power (R^2 =0.11) and had only slightly greater support than the null model (AICc 28.01 and 28.04 respectively). In the case of aboveground carbon

storage invasive species height was a better predictor (Appendix – Table 6) and for water quality the null model had greatest support (Appendix – Table 8).



Figure 13 – Relationship between changes in belowground carbon storage and the proportional difference between the height of invasive non-native plant species and native plants (n=23). The solid line represents the predictions of the model with lowest AICc and the dashed lines are the 95% confidence intervals of this prediction.

3.5 Discussion

This study indicates a variety of relationships between impacts of invasive species on the selected ecosystem services and species woodiness. Aboveground carbon showed large increases following invasion by woody plants where native dominant species were none woody, and decreases where invasive were non-woody and natives were woody. However, there were also increases when native and invasive species woodiness did not differ. While models of belowground carbon storage suggested great increases in carbon following invasion by woody plants than non-woody plants this model had little explanatory value. Similarly changes in water quality, provision and carbon sequestration were poorly predicted by the woodiness of native and non-native species. This observation supports hypothesis 1 and 3 for aboveground carbon storage since transitions from woody to non-woody dominant species resulted in more pronounced changes than where invasion was

by a species of similar woodiness; but invasion by a species with similar woodiness still resulted in ecosystem service change. Hypothesis 4, that adding details of ecosystem type to analysis would result in greater parsimony, was poorly supported and most of these models had much higher AICc values than the most parsimonious model.

Changes in aboveground carbon storage showed a positive relationship with invasive species height, while belowground carbon storage showed a negative relationship as invasive species height increased relative to native species. Water quality increased with increasing invasive species height while water provision showed little relationship. As such there was only partial support for hypothesis 4. Root depth did not predict change in water provision well and as such hypothesis 5 is not supported by this work. In addition it appears that hypothesis 6 that including data on the traits of native species improves model fit is poorly supported since it was only true in one case.

3.5.1 Relationships between invasive and native woodiness and impact

Change in aboveground carbon storage as a result of non-native plant invasion was the only ecosystem service which was well predicted by the woodiness of native and non-native species in this study. Where native species were non-woody and invasive species were woody there was a very large increase in aboveground carbon of approximately 1200%. Similarly when invasive species were non-woody and native dominant species were woody there was a large decrease in aboveground carbon storage of 70%. Both of these observations are likely to be driven by woody plants tending to be taller and having broader stems than non-woody plants and (Windham and Lathrop 1999) thus any transition between the two causes dramatic change in aboveground carbon storage (Gaertner et al. 2014). However, it is interesting to note that even when the woodiness of native and invasive species was the same aboveground carbon storage tended to increase after invasion. This may be the result of number of factors. First it is possible that a continuous trait might capture this relationship more effectively, since species of similar woodiness may still differ in important traits such as height or wood density. Secondly, it is possible that invasive species may have a competitive advantage over native species due to a lack of natural enemies allowing them to grow more quickly and achieve higher biomass.

Apart from aboveground carbon storage all other services were poorly predicted by native or invasive species woodiness and/or ecosystem type, with

R²<0.10. This is in part as a result the classification scheme used for ecosystem services in this study. For example belowground biomass and soil carbon storage were both classed as belowground carbon storage in this study, even though the processes controlling the two may differ considerably. Taking this approach inevitably added noise to the dataset making relationships harder to discern. As such future work that aims to generalise about links between changes in biodiversity, ecosystem function and ecosystem services should be careful to make sure that metrics used in different studies are as similar to each other as possible to allow more meaningful comparisons.

The addition of ecosystem type to models did not result in greater parsimony in any of the ecosystem service changes modelled. This is likely to be because the majority of variation amongst ecosystem types is due to different native species assemblages, which may be well characterised by defining native dominant species as woody or non-woody in other models. Thus in contrast to previous studies (e.g. Gaertner et al. 2014) my chapter suggests that ecosystem impacts of non-native invasion, especially on aboveground biomass, are not necessarily ecosystem specific and can be described more parsimoniously by native and non-native species woodiness.

3.5.2 Relationships between height and carbon storage

The effects of invasive species plant height on carbon stocks differed for aboveground and belowground carbon storage. Invasion of taller non-native plants was linked to greater increases in aboveground carbon. This is likely to be because taller plants tend to have higher individual plant biomass, so that when the number of taller plants in a community increases so does the biomass (Windham and Lathrop 1999). As such an ecosystem invaded by a tall species is likely to increase in community biomass, particularly when this species is highly abundant as is the case in many studies of invasive plant species (Firn et al. 2011). Plant height is positively correlated with lignin content of plant stems (Diaz et al. 2004) and as such increases in carbon are likely to occur when woody species invade areas with less woody natural vegetation (Dickie et al. 2011), as was often the case in this study.

Potential reasons for reductions in belowground carbon with increasing relative height of invasive species are less obvious. Ecosystems invaded by tall invasive species would be expected to increase in aboveground carbon and this is likely to lead to increases in leaf litter and other organic material inputs into soil (Schlesinger and Lichter 2001). Previous meta-analyses have suggested that this in turn is likely to lead to increases in belowground carbon storage (Liao et al. 2008). However, the finding that the best model in this chapter suggested a negative relationship may indicate prevalence of a 'priming effect' in the context of invasive species. Priming occurs when an increase in leaf litter stimulates microbial activity in the soil, leading to faster decomposition (Sayer et al. 2011). This can result in no net addition of carbon to the soils or in some cases loss of carbon (Sayer et al. 2011). Woody species also often possess thinner leaves that decompose more rapidly than those of smaller, tougher leaved species (Diaz et al. 2004) pointing to another mechanism that may explain this relationship. Given that woody invasive plant species can increase rates of decomposition (Ashton et al. 2005; Casas et al. 2013) this mechanism may explain some of the variation changes to belowground carbon storage. Loss of belowground carbon has been recorded previously in woody invasions, with greater losses occurring at wetter sites, suggestive of possible trait-climate interactions (Jackson et al. 2002).

In addition to plant height, specific leaf area (SLA) is important in determining changes in ecosystem carbon (Diaz et al. 2004), though there was not enough data on this trait in the TRY database to allow analyses in this study. SLA is negatively correlated with leaf thickness and toughness and positively related to leaf size (Diaz et al. 2004). Since tough, thick leaves require longer to decompose (Diaz et al. 2004; Cornwell et al. 2008) inclusion of this trait into analyses is likely to aid the study of interactions between invasive plants and soil properties. SLA is also positively correlated with growth rate of plants (Diaz et al. 2004) and as such is likely to play a role in determining changes in aboveground carbon storage following invasion. Plant height and SLA represent two of the major axes used to divide species into functional types and as such any future trait analyses should incorporate them into analyses.

3.5.3 Relationships between traits and nutrient and water cycles

As in Chapter 2 it was difficult to explain variation in the impacts of invasive plant species on water provision. Previous studies have indicated that water provision may be related to changes in community biomass (Jackson et al. 2005; Cavaleri and Sack 2010) and thus it is surprising there was no obvious relationship in this study with plant height. It is possible root depth of invasive species may influence water obscuring differences as a result of changes in plant height (Canadell et al. 1996; Eviner 2004; Gross et al. 2008), though this study found little evidence of this probably as a result of small sample sizes.

In contrast to water provision, water quality appeared to be increased by invasion of larger non-native plants. This is counter to my hypothesis and previous studies that have suggested taller species increase nitrogen pools (Castro-Díez et al. 2014) and would therefore be expected to reduce water quality. However, like belowground carbon storage there is evidence that the effect of this trait is dependent upon climate with higher changes in nitrogen occurring in hotter, wetter locations, which may warrant further investigation (Castro-Díez et al. 2014).

3.5.4 Using characteristics and traits of invasive and native species to predict impacts

A number of hypotheses state that the impacts of changes in plant community composition on ecosystem functions and services are governed by changes in the functional traits in the community (Grime 1998; Díaz et al. 2007). However, in the context of invasion of non-native plant species this study found mixed support for this general theory. Height of invasive species was the best predictor of impact on aboveground carbon and water quality, difference in height between invasive and native species was the best predictor of belowground carbon change and in the case of water provision neither variable was a good predictor. From the perspective of testing theory this study shows only weak support for the mass ratio hypothesis of Grime (1998). From a practical perspective it seems that invasive species height may be a useful predictor of impact on carbon storage, and water quality but not for water provision. Further analyses using a wider range of traits, particularly leaf traits that influence decomposition and thus nutrient flux (Diaz et al. 2004) may aid further understanding of such impacts.

3.5.5 Lack of relationships

Many studies have attempted to explain ecological patterns using data from plant trait databases, with some success (Cornwell et al. 2008). However, one difficulty of such an approach is that of missing trait data for some species (Swenson 2014). This is a problem that I also encountered with this study. Although I extracted data from a large number of studies for the meta-analyses in Chapter 2, only around 20% of these had complementary data on native species traits in the TRY database (Kattge et al. 2011). This consequently reduced the statistical power of my analyses. More worryingly if the studies that were missing data were not a random selection of the population of all studies, as often appears to be the case in ecology, parameter estimates and conclusions can biased (Nakagawa and Freckleton 2008). However, given that around 60% of the paired site comparisons from Chapter 2 had complementary trait data for invasive species, lack of relationships when just using these data is likely to be the result of other factors.

The lack of data is a common problem when using data from trait databases such as TRY (Swenson 2014). However, recent developments allowing researchers to produce phylogenies for a wide range of plant and animal species (e.g. Pearse and Purvis 2013) point to potential solutions that may prove valuable to the study of invasive species in the future. Swenson (2014) suggested one way of avoiding this problem is to impute trait values using phylogenetic relationships, given that traits often show a phylogenetic signal (Díaz et al. 2013). Techniques such as this show the great potential for increasing statistical power in analyses such as this study by reducing the number of missing cases. While imputation is not ideal, similar techniques have been shown to produce less bias than excluding records with missing data (Nakagawa and Freckleton 2008).

As well as the problems of missing data on traits very few studies gave an indication of the abundance or cover of the invasive species. The mass ratio hypothesis states that the most abundant species or those with highest biomass in a community determine ecosystem functioning to the greatest degree (Grime 1998). In the case of this chapter I used data on the species that were considered dominant in invaded and uninvaded systems by the researchers. This added another element of inaccuracy to the analysis since it was unclear whether the trait values of the most dominant species were representative of the mean values of the entire community. Examination of such relationships in the context of non-native invasive plant species has rarely been investigated, but in order to develop a more nuanced understanding of invader impacts they should be. However, given that invasion biology aims to predict the impact of species prior to their invasion use of easily available data, such as the traits of invasive species, appear to be the most feasible way of doing this. Given the mixed predictive ability of effect traits in this chapter, such predictions may be elusive.

One other approach that could prove useful is a combination of the different analyses I used in this study by using information on invasive species traits along with that on the woodiness of native species or type of ecosystem invaded. Doing this would give a more nuanced picture of how differences in invasive traits interact with those of native species to govern ecosystem level changes, particularly in the context of changes in aboveground and belowground carbon which were most effectively explained in this study. This approach would, for example, allow identification of the height of invasive species that are likely to result in increases in carbon in different ecosystems. Such an approach would allow a stronger test of the hypothesis that invader impacts depend on the characteristics of both invasive and native species, as discussed by Ricciardi et al. (2013). This method would allow the amount of data that can be used in analyses to be maximised, while using continuous effect traits that are generally favoured in such analyses (Díaz et al. 2007).

In addition there is a need for further studies of invasive species using trait based analyses. Although hypotheses of the effects of invasive species given their traits can be made based on our knowledge of community change in other contexts, there are a number of features which make invasive species in their non-native range different. For example, the relative lack of natural enemies may drive invasive species to have greater primary productivity than would be expected from a native species with similar traits (Keane and Crawley 2002). In addition, the apparently high phenotypic plasticity of some invasive species (Richards et al. 2006) may result in widespread variation in the traits that the exhibit. For example, there is evidence that invasive plant species tend to be taller outside of their native range (Blossey and Kamil 1996), suggesting that even invasive species of apparently similar height to native species may cause increases in aboveground biomass.

3.5.6 How this work informs theory

Work on species invasions has commonly states that the novelty of species characteristics and traits may drive their impacts on ecosystems (Ricciardi and Atkinson 2004). This work has found mixed support for this general hypothesis with only aboveground carbon storage well predicted by models including characteristics of both invasive and dominant native plant species. In addition most analyses using species traits suggested that inclusion of details on both native and non-native traits did not improve parsimony, apart from in the case of belowground carbon storage. However, rather than indicating that novelty of species traits or characteristics do not drive greater change in ecosystem services the results of this study indicate that it is much easier to predict changes in carbon cycling than other ecosystem changes. To predict changes in water and nutrient cycles it may be easier to disaggregate the measures used in this study so that similar ecosystem properties are analysed together rather than by ecosystem service type.

From this chapter it is clear that of all changes in ecosystem services those in aboveground carbon storage were the most easily predicted. Analyses that investigated relationships between species woodiness and changes in aboveground carbon storage revealed that even when species have similar woodiness biomass can increase, suggesting potential differences in traits or mechanisms relating to enemy release as potential drivers of change. Further research is needed to inform the mechanisms that drive differences in biomass when species are apparently similar. Analyses of species both in their native ranges and non-native ranges would allow researchers to distinguish whether which biomass is a product of inherent characteristics or lack of competitors (Firn et al. 2011).

However, the most dramatic changes in aboveground carbon storage were observed when the woodiness of invasive species and native species differed. It is unclear how common such dramatic differences between invasive and native species are but it is clear that such changes are potentially analogous to regime shifts (Gaertner et al. 2014). Regime shifts are dramatic, rapid and often unpredictable changes in ecosystems caused by can be external pressures following which ecosystems can remain in relatively stable states as a result of positive feedbacks (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003). Following a regime shift these feedback loops can make it extremely difficult to restore ecosystems to their prior state, as is often be the case in invasions (Suding et al. 2004). An example of such a feedback is the ability of many non-native invasive species to rapidly accumulate biomass (Vilà et al. 2011) and produce a large number of seeds (Holmes et al. 1987) encouraging persistence and dominance of the invasive species in the system once it has been invaded (Gaertner et al. 2014). Similarly non-native invasive plant species can alter fire regimes (Brooks et al. 2004), soil nitrogen (Vitousek et al. 1987) and leaf litter (Allison and Vitousek 2004) in a manner that can encourage the persistence of invasive species and encourage further invasions (Gaertner et al. 2014).

Despite the acknowledgement by some that invasion may result in regime shifts the topic has been the subject of relatively few empirical studies (Gaertner et al. 2014). Given that such regime shifts by their nature are extremely difficult to reverse further study of them in the context of non-native invasions is warranted (Suding et al. 2004). In particular it is important to identify the conditions which increase the probability of an ecosystem under which regime shifts are most likely to occur. Research has suggested that shifts between woody and non-woody native species are likely to occur in areas with high temperatures and intermediate rainfall on the fringes of savannah or forest ecosystems in the tropics (Hirota et al. 2011). It is possible that regime shifts that result in dominance of non-native invasive plant that differ in their woodiness when compared to species in native ecosystems may follow this same general pattern. However, given that it has been suggested that non-native invasive plants may not be the initial driver of change in many cases (MacDougall and Turkington 2005), any such analyses will likely require human disturbances prior to invasion to be taken into account.

3.5.7 Implications for invasive species management

This study has shown that height of invasive plant species appear to predict their impact on carbon stocks and water quality following invasion, even though relationships are relatively weak. However, changes in water provisioning showed little relationship to plant height. In order to gain a clearer picture of the impacts of invasive species further trait based studies are encouraged using a wider variety of traits such as leaf traits that have been linked to carbon flux and soil nutrient changes (Cornwell et al. 2008). However, given that trait data is not always available for all species of interest, imputing trait values using phylogenetic imputation may aid future predicts of impact.

3.6 References

- Allison, S. D. and Vitousek, P. M., 2004. Rapid nutrient cycling in leaf litter from invasive plants in Hawai'i. *Oecologia*, 141 (4), 612-619.
- Anderson, D. R., Burnham, K. P. and Thompson, W. L., 2000. Null Hypothesis Testing: Problems, Prevalence, and an Alternative. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 64 (4), 912-923.
- Ashton, I. W., Hyatt, L. A., Howe, K. M., Gurevitch, J. and Lerdau, M. T., 2005. Invasive species accelerate decomposition and litter nitrogen loss in a mixed deciduous forest. *Ecological Applications*, 15 (4), 1263-1272.
- Bais, H. P., Vepachedu, R., Gilroy, S., Callaway, R. M. and Vivanco, J. M., 2003. Allelopathy and exotic plant invasion: from molecules and genes to species interactions. *Science*, 301 (5638), 1377-1380.
- Belyea, L. R. and Lancaster, J., 1999. Assembly rules within a contingent ecology. *Oikos*, 402-416.
- Blossey, B. and Kamil, J., 1996. *What determines the increased competitive ability* of invasive non-indigenous plants. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the IX international symposium on the biological control of weeds. University of Cape Town, Stellenbosch.
- Brooks, M. L., D'antonio, C. M., Richardson, D. M., Grace, J. B., Keeley, J. E., DiTOMASO, J. M., Hobbs, R. J., Pellant, M. and Pyke, D., 2004. Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes. *BioScience*, 54 (7), 677-688.
- Burnham, K. P., Anderson, D. R. and Huyvaert, K. P., 2011. AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. *Behavioral ecology and sociobiology*, 65 (1), 23-35.
- Buswell, J. M., Moles, A. T. and Hartley, S., 2011. Is rapid evolution common in introduced plant species? *Journal of Ecology*, 99 (1), 214-224.

- Canadell, J., Jackson, R., Ehleringer, J., Mooney, H., Sala, O. and Schulze, E.-D., 1996. Maximum rooting depth of vegetation types at the global scale. *Oecologia*, 108 (4), 583-595.
- Casas, J. J., Larrañaga, A., Menéndez, M., Pozo, J., Basaguren, A., Martínez, A., Pérez, J., González, J. M., Mollá, S., Casado, C., Descals, E., Roblas, N., López-González, J. A. and Valenzuela, J. L., 2013. Leaf litter decomposition of native and introduced tree species of contrasting quality in headwater streams: How does the regional setting matter? *Science of The Total Environment*, 458–460 (0), 197-208.
- Castro-Díez, P., Godoy, O., Alonso, A., Gallardo, A. and Saldaña, A., 2014. What explains variation in the impacts of exotic plant invasions on the nitrogen cycle? A meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 17 (1), 1-12.
- Cavaleri, M. A. and Sack, L., 2010. Comparative water use of native and invasive plants at multiple scales: a global meta-analysis. *Ecology*, 91 (9), 2705-2715.
- Cayuela, L., Granzow-de la Cerda, Í., Albuquerque, F. S. and Golicher, D. J., 2012. taxonstand: An r package for species names standardisation in vegetation databases. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3 (6), 1078-1083.
- Cornwell, W. K., Cornelissen, J. H., Amatangelo, K., Dorrepaal, E., Eviner, V. T., Godoy, O., Hobbie, S. E., Hoorens, B., Kurokawa, H. and Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., 2008. Plant species traits are the predominant control on litter decomposition rates within biomes worldwide. *Ecology Letters*, 11 (10), 1065-1071.
- Diaz, S., Hodgson, J. G., Thompson, K., Cabido, M., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Jalili, A., Montserrat-Martí, G., Grime, J. P., Zarrinkamar, F., Asri, Y., Band, S. R., Basconcelo, S., Castro-Díez, P., Funes, G., Hamzehee, B., Khoshnevi, M., Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Pérez-Rontomé, M. C., Shirvany, F. A., Vendramini, F., Yazdani, S., Abbas-Azimi, R., Bogaard, A., Boustani, S., Charles, M., Dehghan, M., de Torres-Espuny, L., Falczuk, V., Guerrero-Campo, J., Hynd, A., Jones, G., Kowsary, E., Kazemi-Saeed, F., Maestro-Martínez, M., Romo-Díez, A., Shaw, S., Siavash, B., Villar-Salvador, P. and Zak, M. R., 2004. The plant traits that drive ecosystems: Evidence from three continents. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15 (3), 295-304.
- Diaz, S., Hodgson, J., Thompson, K., Cabido, M., Cornelissen, J., Jalili, A., Montserrat-Marti, G., Grime, J., Zarrinkamar, F. and Asri, Y., 2004. The plant traits that drive ecosystems: evidence from three continents. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 15 (3), 295-304.
- Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., De Bello, F., Quétier, F., Grigulis, K. and Robson, T. M., 2007. Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (52), 20684.
- Díaz, S., Purvis, A., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Mace, G. M., Donoghue, M. J., Ewers, R. M., Jordano, P. and Pearse, W. D., 2013. Functional traits, the phylogeny of function, and ecosystem service vulnerability. *Ecology and Evolution*, 3 (9), 2958-2975.
- Dickie, I. A., Yeates, G. W., St. John, M. G., Stevenson, B. A., Scott, J. T., Rillig, M. C., Peltzer, D. A., Orwin, K. H., Kirschbaum, M. U. F., Hunt, J. E., Burrows, L. E., Barbour, M. M. and Aislabie, J., 2011. Ecosystem service and biodiversity trade-offs in two woody successions. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48 (4), 926-934.
- Ehrenfeld, J. G., 2003. Effects of exotic plant invasions on soil nutrient cycling processes. *Ecosystems*, 6 (6), 503-523.
- Eviner, V. T., 2004. Plant traits that influence ecosystem processes vary independently among species. *Ecology*, 85 (8), 2215-2229.

- Firn, J., Moore, J. L., MacDougall, A. S., Borer, E. T., Seabloom, E. W., HilleRisLambers, J., Harpole, W. S., Cleland, E. E., Brown, C. S., Knops, J. M. H., Prober, S. M., Pyke, D. A., Farrell, K. A., Bakker, J. D., O'Halloran, L. R., Adler, P. B., Collins, S. L., D'Antonio, C. M., Crawley, M. J., Wolkovich, E. M., La Pierre, K. J., Melbourne, B. A., Hautier, Y., Morgan, J. W., Leakey, A. D. B., Kay, A., McCulley, R., Davies, K. F., Stevens, C. J., Chu, C.-J., Holl, K. D., Klein, J. A., Fay, P. A., Hagenah, N., Kirkman, K. P. and Buckley, Y. M., 2011. Abundance of introduced species at home predicts abundance away in herbaceous communities. *Ecology Letters*, 14 (3), 274-281.
- Funk, J. L., 2008. Differences in plasticity between invasive and native plants from a low resource environment. *Journal of Ecology*, 96 (6), 1162-1173.
- Gaertner, M., Biggs, R., Te Beest, M., Hui, C., Molofsky, J. and Richardson, D. M., 2014. Invasive plants as drivers of regime shifts: identifying high-priority invaders that alter feedback relationships. *Diversity and Distributions*, 20 (7), 733-744.
- Garnier, E., Lavorel, S., Ansquer, P., Castro, H., Cruz, P., Dolezal, J., Eriksson, O., Fortunel, C., Freitas, H., Golodets, C., Grigulis, K., Jouany, C., Kazakou, E., Kigel, J., Kleyer, M., Lehsten, V., Lepš, J., Meier, T., Pakeman, R., Papadimitriou, M., Papanastasis, V. P., Quested, H., Quétier, F., Robson, M., Roumet, C., Rusch, G., Skarpe, C., Sternberg, M., Theau, J.-P., Thébault, A., Vile, D. and Zarovali, M. P., 2007. Assessing the Effects of Land-use Change on Plant Traits, Communities and Ecosystem Functioning in Grasslands: A Standardized Methodology and Lessons from an Application to 11 European Sites. *Annals of Botany*, 99 (5), 967-985.
- Grigulis, K., Lavorel, S., Krainer, U., Legay, N., Baxendale, C., Dumont, M., Kastl, E., Arnoldi, C., Bardgett, R. D. and Poly, F., 2013. Relative contributions of plant traits and soil microbial properties to mountain grassland ecosystem services. *Journal of Ecology*, 101 (1), 47-57.
- Grime, J., 1998. Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology*, 86 (6), 902-910.
- Gross, N., Robson, T. M., Lavorel, S., Albert, C., Le Bagousse-Pinguet, Y. and Guillemin, R., 2008. Plant response traits mediate the effects of subalpine grasslands on soil moisture. *New Phytologist*, 180 (3), 652-662.
- Gurevitch, J., Morrow, L. L., Wallace, A. and Walsh, J. S., 1992. A meta-analysis of competition in field experiments. *American Naturalist*, 539-572.
- Hedges, L. V., Gurevitch, J. and Curtis, P. S., 1999. The meta-analysis of response ratios in experimental ecology. *Ecology*, 80 (4), 1150-1156.
- Hirota, M., Holmgren, M., Van Nes, E. H. and Scheffer, M., 2011. Global resilience of tropical forest and savanna to critical transitions. *Science*, 334 (6053), 232-235.
- Holmes, P., Macdonald, I. and Juritz, J., 1987. Effects of clearing treatment on seed banks of the alien invasive shrubs Acacia saligna and Acacia cyclops in the southern and south-western Cape, South Africa. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 1045-1051.
- Jackson, R. B., Banner, J. L., Jobbágy, E. G., Pockman, W. T. and Wall, D. H., 2002. Ecosystem carbon loss with woody plant invasion of grasslands. *Nature*, 418 (6898), 623-626.
- Kattge, J., Diaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I., Leadley, P., Bönisch, G., Garnier, E., Westoby, M., Reich, P. B. and Wright, I., 2011. TRY–a global database of plant traits. *Global Change Biology*, 17 (9), 2905-2935.
- Keane, R. M. and Crawley, M. J., 2002. Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 17 (4), 164-170.

- Keller, R. P., Lodge, D. M. and Finnoff, D. C., 2007. Risk assessment for invasive species produces net bioeconomic benefits. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (1), 203-207.
- Koricheva, J., Gurevitch, J. and Mengeresen, K., 2013. *Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution*. Princeton University Press.
- Lavorel, S. and Garnier, E., 2002. Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. *Functional Ecology*, 16 (5), 545-556.
- Lebrija-Trejos, E., Pérez-García, E. A., Meave, J. A., Bongers, F. and Poorter, L., 2010. Functional traits and environmental filtering drive community assembly in a species-rich tropical system. *Ecology*, 91 (2), 386-398.
- Levine, J. M., Vilà, M., Antonio, C. M. D., Dukes, J. S., Grigulis, K. and Lavorel, S., 2003. Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 270 (1517), 775-781.
- Liao, C., Peng, R., Luo, Y., Zhou, X., Wu, X., Fang, C., Chen, J. and Li, B., 2008. Altered ecosystem carbon and nitrogen cycles by plant invasion: a metaanalysis. *New Phytologist*, 177 (3), 706-714.
- Lockwood, J. L., Cassey, P. and Blackburn, T., 2005. The role of propagule pressure in explaining species invasions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 20 (5), 223-228.
- MacDougall, A. S. and Turkington, R., 2005. Are invasive species the drivers or passengers of change in degraded ecosystems? *Ecology*, 86 (1), 42-55.
- Nakagawa, S. and Freckleton, R. P., 2008. Missing inaction: the dangers of ignoring missing data. *Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition)*, 23 (11), 592-596.
- Pearse, W. D. and Purvis, A., 2013. phyloGenerator: an automated phylogeny generation tool for ecologists. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4 (7), 692-698.
- Pimm, S. L., 1987. Determining the effects of introduced species. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, 2 (4), 106-108.
- Pyšek, P., Jarošík, V., Hulme, P. E., Pergl, J., Hejda, M., Schaffner, U. and Vilà, M., 2012. A global assessment of invasive plant impacts on resident species, communities and ecosystems: the interaction of impact measures, invading species' traits and environment. *Global Change Biology*, n/a-n/a.
- Ricciardi, A. and Atkinson, S. K., 2004. Distinctiveness magnifies the impact of biological invaders in aquatic ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 7 (9), 781-784.
- Ricciardi, A. and Cohen, J., 2007. The invasiveness of an introduced species does not predict its impact. *Biological invasions*, 9 (3), 309-315.
- Ricciardi, A., Hoopes, M. F., Marchetti, M. P. and Lockwood, J. L., 2013. Progress toward understanding the ecological impacts of nonnative species. *Ecological Monographs*, 83 (3), 263-282.
- Richards, C. L., Bossdorf, O., Muth, N. Z., Gurevitch, J. and Pigliucci, M., 2006. Jack of all trades, master of some? On the role of phenotypic plasticity in plant invasions. *Ecology Letters*, 9 (8), 981-993.
- Sayer, E. J., Heard, M. S., Grant, H. K., Marthews, T. R. and Tanner, E. V., 2011. Soil carbon release enhanced by increased tropical forest litterfall. *Nature Climate Change*, 1 (6), 304-307.
- Scheffer, M. and Carpenter, S. R., 2003. Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 18 (12), 648-656.
- Schlesinger, W. H. and Lichter, J., 2001. Limited carbon storage in soil and litter of experimental forest plots under increased atmospheric CO2. *Nature*, 411 (6836), 466-469.

- Suding, K. N., Gross, K. L. and Houseman, G. R., 2004. Alternative states and positive feedbacks in restoration ecology. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 19 (1), 46-53.
- Suding, K. N., Lavorel, S., Chapin, F. S., Cornelissen, J. H. C., DÍAz, S., Garnier, E., Goldberg, D., Hooper, D. U., Jackson, S. T. and Navas, M.-L., 2008. Scaling environmental change through the community-level: a trait-based responseand-effect framework for plants. *Global Change Biology*, 14 (5), 1125-1140.
- Swenson, N. G., 2014. Phylogenetic imputation of plant functional trait databases. *Ecography*, 37 (2), 105-110.
- Thompson, K. and Davis, M. A., 2011. Why research on traits of invasive plants tells us very little. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26 (4), 155-156.
- van Kleunen, M., Dawson, W. and Dostal, P., 2011. Research on invasive-plant traits tells us a lot. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26 (7), 317.
- Van Kleunen, M., Weber, E. and Fischer, M., 2010. A meta-analysis of trait differences between invasive and non-invasive plant species. *Ecology Letters*, 13 (2), 235-245.
- Viechtbauer, W., 2010. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 36 (3), 1-48.
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J. L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P. E., Jarošík, V., Maron, J. L., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U., Sun, Y. and Pyšek, P., 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 14 (7), 702-708.
- Vitousek, P. M., 1996. Biological invasions and ecosystem processes: towards an integration of population biology and ecosystem studies. *In: Ecosystem Management.* Springer, 183-191.
- Vitousek, P. M., Walker, L. R., Whiteaker, L. D., Mueller-Dombois, D. and Matson, P. A., 1987. Biological Invasion by Myrica faya Alters Ecosystem Development in Hawaii. *Science*, 238 (4828), 802-804.
- Wardle, D. A., Bardgett, R. D., Callaway, R. M. and Van der Putten, W. H., 2011. Terrestrial Ecosystem Responses to Species Gains and Losses. *Science*, 332 (6035), 1273-1277.
- Wickham, H., 2009. ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer.
- Windham, L. and Lathrop, R. G., 1999. Effects of Phragmites australis (common reed) invasion on aboveground biomass and soil properties in brackish tidal marsh of the Mullica River, New Jersey. *Estuaries*, 22 (4), 927-935.

Chapter 4

4 Residual tree damage, carbon storage and species richness driven by intensity and method of selective logging in tropical forests: a meta-analysis

4.1 Introduction

Over 400 million hectares of forest have been designated as permanent logging concessions, making selective logging – the removal of selected trees from a stand – one of the most widespread human disturbances in tropical forests (Asner et al. 2009). Tropical logging currently produces approximately one eighth of global timber (ITTO 2012) and is important for many local economies. However, current logging practices can have negative impacts on biodiversity (Berry et al. 2010) and lead to increased carbon emissions (Cochrane et al. 1999; Fox et al. 2010). Current practices also endanger the long-term sustainability of timber production (Gourlet-Fleury et al. 2013) with evidence suggesting that we may be approaching so-called 'peak timber' in the tropics (Shearman et al. 2012).

The mechanisms that underlie logging impacts at the stand and ecosystem scales are ultimately driven by its effects on mortality and recruitment of trees and thus forest structure. Mortality of large trees in selectively logged forests is high compared to undisturbed forests since these trees are usually those with highest timber value and are thus likely to be harvested (Lindenmayer et al. 2013). However, mortality of smaller non-timber trees is also increased in logged forests when compared to undisturbed forests since harvesting and transportation of logs can result in damage to non-target trees (Picard et al. 2012). These increases in mortality result in a reduction in biomass (Putz et al. 2012) and leads to changes in tree community composition when species recruited are not the same as those lost or when recruitment cannot keep pace with mortality (Baraloto et al. 2012; Gourlet-Fleury et al. 2013). However as recent meta-analyses have shown the effects of selective logging in tropical forests on biomass and biodiversity is highly variable.

On average, selective logging of tropical forests leads to a 25% reduction in aboveground biomass and a 5% reduction in species richness (Putz et al. 2012).

However, biomass losses have been reported to vary between 4 and 66% while tree species richness changes can vary between -53% to +27% of that found in unlogged forests (Putz et al. 2012). This variation is likely to be partly attributable to the different methods used to extract logs (Pinard and Putz 1996). However, previous meta-analyses of the impacts of selective logging on tropical carbon and tree biodiversity did not explore potential causes of these differences (Clark and Covey 2012; Putz et al. 2012).

Though rarely explored in meta-analyses the variation in residual tree damage, aboveground biomass and tree biodiversity are likely to be strongly related to logging intensity (the volume of wood extracted per hectare). As logging intensity increases the number of trees harvested increases and a greater proportion of residual trees are damaged by harvesting (Picard et al. 2012). As such higher logging intensity is likely to lead to greater reductions in aboveground biomass, as seen in a number of field studies (Sist et al. 1998; Mazzei et al. 2010). The relationship between logging intensity and species richness appears to be more complex with the potential colonisation of generalist species leading maintenance or increases in species richness with low intensity logging and reductions of richness at higher intensities. Such relationship have been seen for birds, but changes in richness for other vertebrates tend to be linear reductions (Burivalova et al. 2014).

Differences in the methods used in logging are another important source of variation that affect logging impacts. Due to concern about unsustainable logging practices reduced impact logging (RIL) has been advocated as a means to reduce the negative consequences of logging for biodiversity and carbon (Pinard and Putz 1996). RIL involves techniques such as cutting lianas prior to logging, felling trees in directions selected to cause least impact to surrounding forest, and limiting road construction (Pinard and Putz 1996). Such techniques may reduce residual tree damage compared to conventional logging, reducing impacts on tree biomass and biodiversity (Gullison and Hardner 1993; Pinard and Putz 1996). Some studies have suggested that RIL can be carried out at similar intensities (i.e. the volume of wood removed during logging) to those of conventional logging while causing less damage to residual stands (Pinard and Putz 1996; Putz et al. 2001; but see Sist et al. 2003). If this is true, RIL may be able to achieve similar timber yields to conventional methods whilst reducing losses of biodiversity and carbon. However, this claim is supported by relatively little evidence and has never been tested by meta-analysis.

79

Previous meta-analyses on the impacts of selective logging on forest structure, biomass and biodiversity have failed to account for differences that may be driven by logging intensity or differences in logging methods (e.g. Gibson et al. 2011; Clark and Covey 2012; Putz et al. 2012; but see Burivalova et al. 2014). In this chapter I explore whether logging intensity and differences in logging methods explain the variation in impacts on residual stand damage, aboveground biomass and tree species richness using a systematic review and meta-analysis. Specifically I address the following questions and hypotheses:

1. What factors drive differences in residual stand damage following selective logging of tropical forests?

H1. Residual stand damage increases with logging intensity.

H2. Residual stand damage increases with logging intensity but begins to plateau at higher intensities

H3. Residual stand damage increases with logging intensity but when forests are logged using RIL they cause lower damage for a given intensity.

H4. Residual stand damage increases non-linearly with logging intensity but when forests are logged using RIL they cause lower damage for a given intensity.

2. What factors drive the differences in biomass loss following selective logging?

H1. Biomass loss increases with logging intensity.

H2. Biomass loss increases with logging intensity but forests logged using RIL have a less steep slope than those of conventionally logged forests.

3. What factors drive changes in tree species richness following selective logging?

4.

H0. Tree species richness change is not related to logging intensity or method.

H1. Tree species richness loss increases with logging intensity.

H2. Tree species loss increases with logging intensity but forests logged using RIL show a less steep slope.

H3. Tree species richness increases at low intensities and decreases at higher intensities.

These analyses provide robust evidence for policy interventions, such as the reducing emissions from deforestation and degradation (REDD+) initiative (Miles and Kapos 2008), which aim to mitigate the impacts of climate change by incentivising sustainable forest management to improve carbon storage and biodiversity conservation.

4.2 Methods

I defined selectively logged tropical forests as native forests between the latitudes of 40'N and 40'S (Newbold et al. 2013) that have been subjected to the selective removal of trees for timber. I undertook a systematic review using standard methods (Pullin and Stewart 2006). I used the terms ("biomass" OR "carbon" OR "basal area" OR "damage" OR "snag" OR "non-target" OR "tree" OR "growth" OR "recruitment" OR "seedlings" OR "species richness" OR biodiversity) AND (selective logg* OR felling OR timber extraction OR reduced-impact logging OR degradation) AND tropical forest to search Web of Knowledge, Wiley Blackwell and Science Direct and used appendices of Gibson et al. (2011), Putz et al. (2012a), Clark and Covey (2012) and Picard et al. (2012) to locate studies. To minimise bias arising from the lack of publication of negative results (Pullin and Stewart 2006) I used the same search terms in Google to find relevant grey literature, though I found no studies that were relevant. I also contacted researchers working on this subject directly to identify any unpublished datasets and added datasets on the recommendation of reviewers of a manuscript based on this chapter.

Once the search was undertaken I discarded irrelevant papers. My inclusion criteria were: (i) studies should present data on residual stand damage following logging or aboveground tree biomass and/or species richness of trees from at least one undisturbed forest and one logged forest site, (ii) sites should have spatially replicated measures of the metrics of interest in both logged and unlogged sites with at least three plots present in each. This rule was relaxed for the studies of residual stand damage since very few were replicated or had comparisons with unlogged sites, (iii) logged sites could not be affected by confounding multiple disturbance types, such as fire. Studies carried out outside of moist lowland forest, where most logging in the tropics occurs, were included to improve generality of the meta-analysis. From each included article which focussed on biomass or species richness changes I extracted the mean, standard deviation and sample size of metrics in both logged and unlogged forests. For studies of forest damage I extracted the mean of each metric used to assess damage. I recorded the geographic location

(latitude and longitude), region (Americas, Africa, or Asia), method of logging used (RIL or conventional selective), years since logging, number of logging cycles and volume of wood extracted (m³ha⁻¹) and/or number of trees felled per hectare. For estimates of species richness I recorded whether these were made using rarefaction or not. For details of studies used see the appendix for this chapter.

4.2.1 Statistical analyses

Prior to analyses of differences caused by logging intensity or methods it was necessary to standardise the metrics of stand damage and logging intensity I used for this study. There is no universally accepted measure of residual stand damage following logging but the metrics can be broken down into two groups, treebased measurements and area-based measurements (Picard et al. 2012). Treebased measures attempt to identify the number or proportion of trees damaged per hectare or per tree felled. Similar measurements include the basal area damaged or the proportion of total basal area damaged. Area based measurements aim to identify the area or proportion of total area of plots in which trees have been damaged. Conversion between the two types of metric is difficult since they show non-linear relationships (Picard et al. 2012) and so for this study I concentrated on studies that measured damage of trees directly.

To allow conversion for to a common metric of stand damage, in this study the proportion of residual trees damaged, linear mixed models were used to produce scaling coefficients between this metric and the number of trees damaged per tree extracted and the number of trees damaged per hectare. The continent on which studies were undertaken was included in these models since forest stem density and tree size varies considerably across the tropics (Slik et al. 2013), and thus the slopes of these relationships could be expected to vary by continent. This method was then used to predict the proportion of residual trees damaged in studies where such data was not directly available. A similar process was undertaken to convert metrics of logging intensity to the metric used in this study, m³ wood removed ha⁻¹. The number of trees harvested per hectare was the only other metric commonly used and thus a linear mixed model of the relationship between this and the volume of wood removed, accounting for continent level differences in this relationship was produced. Again where data on volume of wood removed was not available from a study this was predicted using coefficients from this model.

To determine the effect of logging intensity and different logging methods on the proportion of residual trees damaged an unweighted linear mixed model was

82

used. Prior to model fitting the response variable was logit transformed so values were constrained between 0 and 1. Random effects were used to identify data drawn from the same study since their response may be more similar than data from drawn from other studies. The hypotheses tested related to how logging volume affected the proportion of residual trees damaged, and whether logging method changed the slope of this relationship. Previous work (e.g. Picard et al. 2012) has suggested that the relationship between logging damage and intensity is non-linear and so models with quadric and log terms were also tested.

For the analysis of the impact of logging intensity and logging methods on changes in aboveground biomass and species richness a weighted approach was used. Where standard errors of the mean were missing from studies, they were estimated using imputation methods (Koricheva et al. 2013) which are likely to bias results less than excluding studies with incomplete information (Nakagawa and Freckleton 2008). To do this, the relationship between the coefficient of variation for logged and unlogged sites for tree richness or biomass and plot size at which data was collected at was estimated using linear models. The literature on human-disturbed forests suggests that smaller sampling plots result in greater between sample variation and thus higher coefficients of variation, meaning that this approach is empirically supported (Wagner et al. 2010). Unweighted linear models were then used to predict the coefficient of variation for studies missing this data and missing standard deviations calculated by multiplying this prediction by the value of richness or biomass measured at the site.

To analyse the effects of logging on carbon pools and tree species richness, the log response ratio of differences between plots was calculated and models weighted by the inverse of pooled study variance so that more precise studies had more weight (Hedges et al. 1999; Borenstein et al. 2009). I fitted a random effects mixed model to account for pseudoreplication at the level of individual studies when the same unlogged site was used as a comparator for multiple logged sites. In the analyses of richness, estimation method (rarefied or not rarefied) was included as a random effect since this has been shown to cause between study differences in the past (Cannon et al. 1998; Gotelli and Colwell 2001), but was not of interest in the analysis which aimed to investigate the mechanisms underlying any differences. In the analyses, I explored the effects of logging method and logging intensity in determining post-logging biomass. For sites that had been logged twice, I calculated logging intensity as the sum of the volume extracted over both cycles, following Edwards et al. (2013). I explored the effects of logging intensity and logging method

on species richness using the same method. In addition to the logging intensity and method it is possible that then number of years since a site was last logged and the location of study may play a role in determining impacts as an indicator of successional recovery or due to differences in forest structure respectively (Burivalova et al. 2014). As such these variables were also included in models. All possible models that had >3 data points per parameter were assessed and importance and R^2 values were calculated.

Model selection in all cases followed an information theoretic approach. To determine the relative importance of each variable in explaining differences, all models were run and their AICcs (Anderson et al. 2000; Burnham et al. 2011) calculated. AICc was subsequently used to determine the relative likelihood of a model being the 'best model' using the AICc weight. The relative importance of each model parameter, the 'importance value,' was calculated by summing the AICc weight for all models containing the parameter (Anderson et al. 2000). For the models of logging damage all models with a Δ AICc<7 were averaged to produce coefficient estimates (Burnham et al. 2011). Since this is not possible for the weighted analyses of impact on biomass and species richness the model with the lowest AICc was chosen as the most parsimonious model. All statistical analyses were performed in R 3.0.2 (R Development Core Team 2011), with weighted analysis carried out using the package metafor (Viechtbauer 2010) and all figures drawn using ggplot2 (Wickham 2009).

4.3 Results

The systematic review yielded 62 studies, from which I extracted data on residual tree damage from 24 sites, biomass differences between logged and unlogged sites at 32 paired, spatially replicated sites and species richness of trees at 9 paired, replicated sites. Median logged-site age for those sites where biomass was measured was 4.5 years (min=0, max=30) and for sites where richness was measured it was 5 years (min=0, max=50). Sites were mostly located in Asia and South America, with relatively few in Africa (Figure 14).

84



Figure 14 – Location of studies used for analyses of change in aboveground biomass and species richness.



Figure 15 – Relationship between the number of trees extracted per hectare and the volume of wood logged per hectare (n=33). Points refer to individual sites, with red points representing sites from Africa, green points sites from the Americas, and blue points sites from Asia. Solid lines represent fit of the model with lowest AICc which was much better than any other model, with all other models having a Δ AICc>7.

4.3.1 Scaling coefficients for measures of stem damage and logging intensity

The most parsimonious model for predicting the volume of wood logged per hectare was a model that consisted on the number of trees extracted per hectare and the continent where studies were undertaken. This model indicated that for each tree removed a greater volume of wood was removed in Asia than in Africa or the Americas (Figure 15), and had a very good fit with an R^2 of 0.93. The most parsimonious model for converting from the number of trees damaged per hectare to the proportion of trees damaged per hectare did not require inclusion of study location as a variable and showed a very good fit with a R^2 of 0.95 (Figure 16).



Figure 16 – Relationship between the number of trees damaged per hectare and the proportion of trees damaged per hectare (n=24). Points refer to individual sites. The solid line represent fit of the model with lowest AICc which was much better than any other model, with all other models having a Δ AICc>7.

4.3.2 Logging damage to residual trees

The model that best explained the proportion of residual tree stems that were damaged included and interaction between the logarithm of logging intensity and the logging method and this had an R² value of 0.32. Only one other models had a Δ AICc <7, which contained only logging method as an explanatory variable (R²=0.09). Predictions using model averaged coefficients suggested that damage to the residual logging stand increased as a function of the logarithm of the logging intensity. The interaction between logging method and logging intensity suggested that at low logging intensities RIL tended to cause less residual damage than conventional logging but at high intensities the two methods became more similar in the residual damage they caused (Figure 17). However, the 95% confidence intervals for predictions were very wide indicating large variation in damage on residual tree stems for both methods.



Figure 17 – Impact of logging intensity and method on the proportion of residual tree stems damaged following selective logging in tropical forests (n=24). Points represent single sites, solid lines are the predictions from the model with lowest AICc and dashed lines represent the 95% confidence intervals of these estimates. Red points and lines refer to sites where conventional harvest methods were used and blue points and lines where RIL techniques were used.

4.3.3 Impacts of logging intensity and method on biomass and species richness

For the second set of analyses, increased logging intensity led to reduced post-logging biomass with suggestions that the slope of this relationship differed between RIL and conventional methods (Figure 18). The model explaining variation in biomass effect size with greatest support (R^2 =0.88, Table S3) suggested a linear relationship between logging intensity and differences in biomass and an interaction between this and logging method. The model indicated that RIL techniques may result in lower biomass losses per m³ of wood removed per hectare, at intensities >50m³ha⁻¹ but this relationship was driven largely by a single data point at which volume logged was >100 m³ha⁻¹ (Figure 17).



Figure 18 – Impacts of logging intensity on changes in aboveground biomass (n=32). Blue symbols are those sites where RIL was carried out, red symbols correspond to conventionally logged sites. The solid lines represents the predictions from the models with lowest AICc, and the dotted lines the corresponding 95% confidence intervals. The horizontal dashed line indicates when there is no difference between logged and unlogged sites. Note that RIL sites tend to logged at a lower intensity than conventionally logged sites.

The model that explained variation in tree species richness effect size most effectively, suggested a negative positive relationship with intensity of logging (Figure 19, Table S4). All other models had a Δ AICc>7 and the most parsimonious model had an R² of 0.36. Too few studies assessed the impact of RIL on species richness to conduct an analysis of its effect relative to conventional logging.



Figure 19 – Impacts of logging intensity in tree species richness (n=9) following logging. Blue symbols are those sites where RIL was carried out, red symbols correspond to conventionally logged sites. The solid line represents the predictions from the models with lowest AICc, and the dotted lines the corresponding 95% confidence intervals. The horizontal dashed line indicates when there is no difference between logged and unlogged sites.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Effects of logging on non-target trees

This work suggests that logging intensity is the primary driver of differences in non-target tree damage in selectively logged tropical forests, as previously noted in other studies (Sist et al. 1998; Picard et al. 2012). However, my results also suggest that there is weak support for RIL techniques resulting in lower damage to residual trees than conventional logging, especially at lower intensities. Similar observations have been made at the site scale by Sist et al. (1998) who indicated that RIL reduced residual damage by around 50% when logging was carried out <8 trees ha⁻¹ in Indonesian Borneo. My work suggests that this observation may be

more generally true. Given that residual damage to trees is likely to account for the majority of carbon losses as a result of selective logging this indicates that RIL may be useful in reducing carbon losses at the stand scale. However, there is a large amount of variation in the impacts of logging intensity and methods on stem damage which suggests either that other variables that are important have not been considered in our model, or more likely that the methods used to assess stem between studies is extremely variable.

4.4.2 Effects of logging on aboveground biomass

This chapter shows that when considering the effects of logging on aboveground biomass it is vital to take account of the intensity at which harvesting is undertaken to understand results. The volume of wood removed per hectare was by far the best predictor of changes in biomass following timber harvest. Logging intensity varies by region (Figure 20 & Putz et al. 2001), and is relatively high in SE Asia & Australasia (mean 91.8 m³ ha⁻¹ in this study) compared to South America and Africa (mean 33.0 and 30.7 m³ ha⁻¹ respectively). This varying intensity is probably because SE Asian forests are often dominated by dipterocarp trees, which have high timber value (Corlett and Primack 2005), meaning there are a greater number of timber trees per hectare than in other regions.



Figure 20 – Variation in selective logging intensity by study region. Data is taken from those studies that supplied data on logging intensity included in this research.

As shown in this study besides direct biomass removal, high logging intensity leads to greater damage to non-target trees. Given that aboveground carbon storage in logged forests appears to recover primarily through growth and recruitment of these non-target trees, reducing damage to them is of paramount importance (Mazzei et al. 2010; Gourlet-Fleury et al. 2013). Biomass recovery has been reported to take 7-24 years (Gourlet-Fleury et al. 2013; West et al. 2014), and more heavily logged areas appear to show slower recovery (Mazzei et al. 2010). This observation is largely supported by individual-based modelling studies of logging disturbances, though these also point to the length of time between cutting cycles as vital, with short cycles resulting in positive feedbacks causing greater mortality and reduction in biomass (Pinard and Cropper 2000). In this chapter, the best supported model suggests a linear relationship between changes in biomass and logging intensity. While this relationship may hold when comparing forests from different regions, it may not reflect relationships between volume and biomass loss in an individual forest. Further studies that compare a range of extracted volumes in single forests are needed to determine the exact nature of this relationship and identify potential tipping points.
This study also only found weak support that the impacts of RIL and conventional selective logging on post-logging biomass differ. Any effect was extremely difficult to discern since RIL generally involves relatively low logging intensities when compared to conventional selective logging (Figure 5). The observed difference in slopes is entirely driven by a single data point from the study of Pinard and Putz (1996) in which >100m³ha⁻¹ of wood was removed, with all other RIL carried out at relatively low intensities. While it appears possible that from my study that RIL may reduce residual damage to forests, unless studies of RIL are carried out at a similar range of intensities to conventional selective logging, its carbon benefits independent of reduced logging intensity are almost impossible to assess.

4.4.3 Effects of logging on tree species richness

As for aboveground biomass, the intensity of logging best explained differences in tree species richness due to logging. However, unlike for aboveground biomass, the slope of this relationship was much less steep, with an apparent initial increase in species richness at low intensities. The most plausible explanation for this increase is an influx of generalist species from surrounding nonforest areas (Carreno-Rocabado et al. 2012) leading to an initial post-harvest increase in richness as proposed by the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (Sheil and Burslem 2003). Similar relationships have recently been observed between logging intensity and bird species richness, while other vertebrates showed a decline even at low intensities (Burivalova et al. 2014). However, more studies of the effect of logging on tree species richness are needed in order to better understand this relationship since this meta-analysis only included 9 paired logged and unlogged sites despite an extensive literature search.

This work suggested that logging has a relatively modest effect on tree species richness, and even at high intensities richness was only reduced by ~10%. Since most logged forests had been logged relatively recently (median=5 years), it is possible that they exhibit an 'extinction debt' because of reduced recruitment of new individuals as a result of logging-induced degradation (Hylander and Ehrlén 2013). Despite this, it is also possible for biodiversity to recover following logging as a result of recolonisation from surrounding unlogged forest. However, this recovery may be dependent upon logging intensity, as shown by Chapman et al. (2000) who found that primate populations recovered relatively well 28 years after low intensity logging, but that forest logged at high intensities showed few signs of recovery.

93

Understanding of the long term dynamics of logged forests is currently hindered because, once logged, a forest is much more likely to be converted for agricultural use than an undisturbed forest (Asner et al. 2006).

The results of this study suggest that species richness may be relatively insensitive to subtle changes in forest cover (Ghazoul 2002). However, changes in species richness tell us nothing about the identity and function of individual species. Community composition is likely to be impacted by selective logging, with rare forest-dependent species sensitive to disturbance, which are often of conservation concern, becoming less abundant or locally extinct (Sheil et al. 1999) and generalist species increasing in abundance (Baraloto et al. 2012; Carreno-Rocabado et al. 2012). However, analysis of logging impacts on community composition is hindered because most studies of logging are spatially pseudoreplicated leading to biased estimates of change (Ramage et al. 2013).

4.4.4 Tree biodiversity-biomass relationships in logged tropical forests

Theory derived from biodiversity-ecosystem functioning experiments suggests that losses in plant species richness can result in reduced productivity (Cardinale et al. 2011; Hooper et al. 2012). While some studies of tropical forests have suggested such a relationship (Cavanaugh et al. 2014) the results of this chapter suggest that in case of logged forest this appears not to be the case. This is because at low logging intensity tree species richness may actually increase before dropping while any intensity of logging results in a loss of biomass. As such the relationship between species richness and biomass is complex and may resemble the humped relationship some have described between productivity (Huston 2014). As such it appears that general theories about the importance of species richness for productivity and carbon storage are not particularly useful for predicting change in logged forests.

This relationship is likely to exist because in logged forests the individual trees that are most important for carbon storage are often those lost first since they also tend to be the ones with highest timber value (Lindenmayer et al. 2013; Sist et al. 2014). These species may subsequently be replaced by pioneer species specialised to more open habitats (Ouédraogo et al. 2011) resulting in a maintenance or increase in species richness at low logging intensities. As such in order to understand the relationships between tree biodiversity and aboveground biomass in tropical logged forests it is preferable to use an approach that accounts for the changes in the functional traits found in tree communities (e.g. Díaz et al. 2007) rather than species richness. However, studies at which species number and identity are experimentally manipulated such as the Sabah biodiversity experiment (Hector et al. 2011) and the TreeDivNet experiments (http://www.treedivnet.ugent.be/)will help to further disentangle these relationships.

4.4.5 Improving assessment of logging impacts

This study and those of Ramage et al. (2013) and Burivalova et al. (2014) have identified clear methodological problems with current studies of logging impacts on forest structure, biomass and biodiversity, namely that nearly all studies show signs of spatial pseudo-replication, that logging intensity has largely been ignored by authors and that methods for assessing damage are very variable. There are a number of potential means to address these problems that would improve the robustness of the assessments of logging impact in the future. Firstly, the design of studies of logging impacts should be improved. Currently, most studies of logging sample spatially distinct logged and unlogged forests, resulting in artificially inflated statistical power since it is difficult to determine how much variation in measurements between logged and unlogged areas is due to variation in space and, how much, due to the selective removal of trees (Figure 21). As Ramage et al. (2013) note, this is a particular problem for detection of changes in community composition because ecological communities decline in similarity with increasing distance (Condit et al. 2002), even with no human disturbance, and tropical forests have extremely high beta diversity.

While less of a concern for aboveground biomass estimates and species richness, pseudoreplication also results in underestimation in variation in these cases. To remedy this problem, studies should aim to have fully randomised designs. This is however difficult to achieve since experimental manipulation of tropical forests is expensive and most commercial logging is usually undertaken in large blocks as harvesting of small areas is more expensive. Where statistically robust experimental design is not possible studies, should attempt to account for spatial pseudoreplication in analyses by assessing variation between plots based on the distance between them. Such an assessment would provide more robust measures of change and could potentially be used in syntheses in the future to partition variation arising from spatial differences and that arising from differences in disturbance (see Newbold et al. 2012 for an example of a project aiming to do this)



Figure 21 – Examples of pseudoreplicated (top) and non-pseudoreplicated (bottom) study designs for assessing the impacts of logging on a forest. Dark green areas indicate those that have not been logged, light green areas those that have been logged and black squares represent sampling plots.

In addition to spatial arrangement of sampling units, when assessing changes in forest structure the size of plots is also vital. My work and that of Wagner et al. (2010) indicated that studies with smaller plots tend to have a higher coefficient of variation and, thus, reduced statistical power in detecting changes in forest structure. This is likely to occur when impacts of human disturbance on forests is patchy, as in the case with selective logging, resulting in large differences between smaller plots, while larger plots capture greater variation in forest structure at the level of the sampling unit. Wagner et al. (2010) suggest that plot sizes for tropical forests should be >2 ha, but few used in the current study achieved this. I agree with the observation of Wagner that increased plot size should be considered a priority for logging studies, to increase precision of estimates of change. Doing this would also aid the attempts to determine the mechanism underlying these changes by increasing the statistical power of any analyses.

It is also clear from this study that logging intensity is important in explaining differences in carbon and biodiversity amongst sites and landscapes. However, it is sometimes difficult to obtain statistics on the volume of wood removed from an area (P. Saner, pers comm) and, when this is available, it is often only available as a mean volume removed per hectare for the entire study area. This means that identification of the role of logging intensity between plots is extremely difficult. Since volume of wood removed is difficult to obtain, other indicators of logging intensity may be useful. Previous studies have used number of trees logged per ha or basal area logged per ha as alternative measures (Mazzei et al. 2010). Of these two possibilities, basal area of cut trees is likely to be the most useful since the height and diameter (Feldpausch et al. 2011), and consequently biomass of individual trees, varies greatly throughout the tropics (Slik et al. 2013), thus limiting comparison amongst different landscapes. Measurement of basal area of cut trees and of those remaining would allow for comparison amongst plots and landscapes, enabling a greater understanding of the interplay between logging methods and intensity in determining logging impacts.

Regarding the damage to residual trees following logging it was clear during this study as well as that of Picard et al. (2012) that there are a wide variety of different measures used to assess damage. While I used coefficients to convert between different measures to maximise the value of available data this method inevitably introduces inaccuracies in to syntheses such as this chapter. In addition it is not always easy to convert between these different measures such as when studies assess damage as the percentage of an area damaged, which are not easy to convert to the proportion of trees damaged (Picard et al. 2012). The different measures used are probably a reflection of the different aims of studies or whether studies used ground surveys or remote sensing to assess damage. However, I suggest that assessments of damage should be carried out at the tree scale rather than assessing the area affected. In addition by reporting the proportion of remaining basal area that is damaged extra information of the potential impacts on the biomass in the forest can be made. Further stratifying logging damage by tree size class would allow an assessment of its potential demographic effects and would thus aid our understanding of the recovery of logged forests.

4.4.6 Reducing the negative impacts of logging

The results from this meta-analysis suggest that the most obvious way of reducing the negative impacts of tropical logging is to reduce local logging intensity.

However, given that more than 400 million hectares of tropical forest have already been designated for logging (Asner et al. 2009), this reduction in local intensity, and thus yield, may encourage expansion into previously unlogged areas. This mirrors the situation in agricultural landscapes where the biodiversity benefits of high-yield farming over small areas as opposed low-yield, extensive farming is heavily debated (Phalan et al. 2011; Benayas and Bullock 2012). A recent study indicates that high intensity logging over a smaller area ('land sparing') has better outcomes for tropical forest species than low-intensity extensive timber extraction ('land sharing') in Borneo (Edwards et al. 2013). I suggest that this sparing/sharing framework may prove useful to assess the potential value of differing land-use strategies in landscapes used to provide provisioning ecosystem services such as food and timber (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005).

Reduced Impact Logging is widely advocated as a means of improving the long term sustainability of logging in tropical forests (Pinard and Putz 1996; Putz et al. 2008; Putz et al. 2012). My work found weak support that RIL can reduce damage to non-target trees in logged forests and potentially reduce carbon losses as a result, but any benefits of RIL compared to conventional selective logging are obscured by variation in logging intensity which is strongly linked to losses in aboveground biomass and changes in species richness. This is a classic example of a hidden treatment in an ecological experiment where an experimental manipulation has multiple components, only one of which is identified as an experimental treatment as identified by Huston (1997). This can lead to false conclusions about the cause and effect nature of such relationships because the actual cause of any observed response may be ignored in the interpretation of results (Huston 1997). This is currently the case in almost all studies that have aimed to assess the benefits of RIL when compared to conventional logging (but see West et al. 2014).

Though reductions in logging intensity may reduce impact, the high demand for timber requires novel solutions that do not drastically reduce current yields but reduce impacts on forest ecosystems. Methods such as silvicultural thinning techniques to remove pioneer species may aid recovery of floral community composition, carbon and timber stocks but further work is needed to assess their effectiveness (Ouédraogo et al. 2011; Gourlet-Fleury et al. 2013). Although RIL may also provide an appropriate solution, further evidence is required to verify this. I recommend further research to be undertaken to quantify the impacts of differing logging methods and intensities for the management of biodiversity, carbon pools and other ecosystem services. Such research is critical to inform policies to improve management of the vast area of tropical forest designated for permanent production.

4.4.7 Opportunities for further research

In addition to methodological issues in the study of logged forests, there are a number of key issues which appear to be relatively understudied; these relate to the long-term dynamics of logged forests after logging and investigation of techniques which provide an alternative to RIL in reducing the negative impacts of logging on biodiversity and carbon storage. When compared to secondary tropical forests relatively little is known about recovery of biomass and biodiversity in logged forests. This is likely to be a result of the increased risk of deforestation following logging (Asner et al. 2006), meaning that monitoring the dynamics of such sites is fraught with difficulties. The main method for monitoring post-logging dynamics has been experimental manipulation of forests under the control of research organisations. This has resulted in valuable detailed studies of dynamics of forests in French Guyana (Baraloto et al. 2012; Sist et al. 2012), the Brazilian Amazon (Mazzei et al. 2010) and the Central African Republic (Gourlet-Fleury et al. 2013). However, there seems to be a relative paucity of monitoring in SE Asian logged forests, where logging intensity is highest. Attempts to improve long term monitoring in Asian and Oceanian forests (Priyadi et al. 2005) must succeed to assess the sustainability of different logging strategies in this region.

4.5 References

- Anderson, D. R., Burnham, K. P. and Thompson, W. L., 2000. Null Hypothesis Testing: Problems, Prevalence, and an Alternative. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 64 (4), 912-923.
- Asner, G. P., Broadbent, E. N., Oliveira, P. J. C., Keller, M., Knapp, D. E. and Silva, J. N. M., 2006. Condition and fate of logged forests in the Brazilian Amazon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103 (34), 12947-12950.
- Asner, G. P., Rudel, T. K., Aide, T. M., Defries, R. and Emerson, R., 2009. A Contemporary Assessment of Change in Humid Tropical Forest. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (6), 1386-1395.
- Baraloto, C., Herault, B., Paine, C. E. T., Massot, H., Blanc, L., Bonal, D., Molino, J.-F., Nicolini, E. A. and Sabatier, D., 2012. Contrasting taxonomic and functional responses of a tropical tree community to selective logging. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 49 (4), 861-870.
- Benayas, J. M. R. and Bullock, J. M., 2012. Restoration of biodiversity and ecosystem services on agricultural land. *Ecosystems*, 15 (6), 883-899.
- Berry, N. J., Phillips, O. L., Lewis, S. L., Hill, J. K., Edwards, D. P., Tawatao, N. B., Ahmad, N., Magintan, D., Khen, C. V. and Maryati, M., 2010. The high value

of logged tropical forests: lessons from northern Borneo. *Biodiversity and conservation*, 19 (4), 985-997.

- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P. T. and Rothstein, H. R., 2009. Introduction to Meta-Analysis. Wiley Online Library.
- Burivalova, Z., Şekercioğlu, Çağan H. and Koh, Lian P., 2014. Thresholds of Logging Intensity to Maintain Tropical Forest Biodiversity. *Current Biology*, 24 (16), 1893-1898.
- Burnham, K. P., Anderson, D. R. and Huyvaert, K. P., 2011. AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. *Behavioral ecology and sociobiology*, 65 (1), 23-35.
- Cannon, C. H., Peart, D. R. and Leighton, M., 1998. Tree species diversity in commercially logged Bornean rainforest. *Science*, 281 (5381), 1366-1368.
- Cardinale, B. J., Matulich, K. L., Hooper, D. U., Byrnes, J. E., Duffy, E., Gamfeldt, L., Balvanera, P., O'Connor, M. I. and Gonzalez, A., 2011. The functional role of producer diversity in ecosystems. *American journal of botany*, 98 (3), 572-592.
- Carreno-Rocabado, G., Pena-Claros, M., Bongers, F., Alarcon, A., Licona, J.-C. and Poorter, L., 2012. Effects of disturbance intensity on species and functional diversity in a tropical forest. *Journal of Ecology*, 100 (6), 1453-1463.
- Cavanaugh, K. C., Gosnell, J. S., Davis, S. L., Ahumada, J., Boundja, P., Clark, D. B., Mugerwa, B., Jansen, P. A., O'Brien, T. G., Rovero, F., Sheil, D., Vasquez, R. and Andelman, S., 2014. Carbon storage in tropical forests correlates with taxonomic diversity and functional dominance on a global scale. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 23 (5), 563-573.
- Chapman, C. A., Balcomb, S. R., Gillespie, T. R., Skorupa, J. P. and Struhsaker, T. T., 2000. Long-Term Effects of Logging on African Primate Communities: a 28-Year Comparison From Kibale National Park, Uganda. *Conservation Biology*, 14 (1), 207-217.
- Clark, J. A. and Covey, K. R., 2012. Tree species richness and the logging of natural forests: A meta-analysis. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 276, 146-153.
- Cochrane, M. A., Alencar, A., Schulze, M. D., Souza, C. M., Nepstad, D. C., Lefebvre, P. and Davidson, E. A., 1999. Positive Feedbacks in the Fire Dynamic of Closed Canopy Tropical Forests. *Science*, 284 (5421), 1832-1835.
- Condit, R., Pitman, N., Leigh, E. G., Chave, J., Terborgh, J., Foster, R. B., Núnez, P., Aguilar, S., Valencia, R. and Villa, G., 2002. Beta-diversity in tropical forest trees. *Science*, 295 (5555), 666-669.
- Corlett, R. and Primack, R., 2005. Dipterocarps: trees that dominate the Asian rain forest. *Arnoldia*, 63 (3), 3-7.
- Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., De Bello, F., Quétier, F., Grigulis, K. and Robson, T. M., 2007. Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (52), 20684.
- Edwards, D. P., Gilroy, J. J., Woodcock, P., Edwards, F. A., Larsen, T. H., Andrews, D. J. R., Derhé, M. A., Docherty, T. D. S., Hsu, W. W., Mitchell, S. L., Ota, T., Williams, L. J., Laurance, W. F., Hamer, K. C. and Wilcove, D. S., 2013. Land-sharing versus land-sparing logging: Reconciling timber extraction with biodiversity conservation. *Global Change Biology*, n/a-n/a.
- Feldpausch, T. R., Banin, L., Phillips, O. L., Baker, T. R., Lewis, S. L., Quesada, C.
 A., Affum-Baffoe, K., Arets, E. J. M. M., Berry, N. J., Bird, M., Brondizio, E.
 S., de Camargo, P., Chave, J., Djagbletey, G., Domingues, T. F., Drescher,
 M., Fearnside, P. M., França, M. B., Fyllas, N. M., Lopez-Gonzalez, G.,

Hladik, A., Higuchi, N., Hunter, M. O., Iida, Y., Salim, K. A., Kassim, A. R., Keller, M., Kemp, J., King, D. A., Lovett, J. C., Marimon, B. S., Marimon-Junior, B. H., Lenza, E., Marshall, A. R., Metcalfe, D. J., Mitchard, E. T. A., Moran, E. F., Nelson, B. W., Nilus, R., Nogueira, E. M., Palace, M., Patiño, S., Peh, K. S. H., Raventos, M. T., Reitsma, J. M., Saiz, G., Schrodt, F., Sonké, B., Taedoumg, H. E., Tan, S., White, L., Wöll, H. and Lloyd, J., 2011. Height-diameter allometry of tropical forest trees. *Biogeosciences*, 8 (5), 1081-1106.

- Fox, J. C., Yosi, C. K., Nimiago, P., Oavika, F., Pokana, J. N., Lavong, K. and Keenan, R. J., 2010. Assessment of Aboveground Carbon in Primary and Selectively Harvested Tropical Forest in Papua New Guinea. *Biotropica*, 42 (4), 410-419.
- Ghazoul, J., 2002. Impact of logging on the richness and diversity of forest butterflies in a tropical dry forest in Thailand. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11 (3), 521-541.
- Gibson, L., Lee, T. M., Koh, L. P., Brook, B. W., Gardner, T. A., Barlow, J., Peres, C. A., Bradshaw, C. J. A., Laurance, W. F., Lovejoy, T. E. and Sodhi, N. S., 2011. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. *Nature*, 478 (7369), 378-381.
- Gotelli, N. J. and Colwell, R. K., 2001. Quantifying biodiversity: procedures and pitfalls in the measurement and comparison of species richness. *Ecology Letters*, 4 (4), 379-391.
- Gourlet-Fleury, S., Mortier, F., Fayolle, A., Baya, F., Ouédraogo, D., Bénédet, F. and Picard, N., 2013. Tropical forest recovery from logging: a 24 year silvicultural experiment from Central Africa. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368 (1625).
- Gullison, R. E. and Hardner, J. J., 1993. The effects of road design and harvest intensity on forest damage caused by selective logging: empirical results and a simulation model from the Bosque Chimanes, Bolivia. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 59 (1–2), 1-14.
- Hector, A., Philipson, C., Saner, P., Chamagne, J., Dzulkifli, D., O'Brien, M., Snaddon, J. L., Ulok, P., Weilenmann, M., Reynolds, G. and Godfray, H. C. J., 2011. The Sabah Biodiversity Experiment: a long-term test of the role of tree diversity in restoring tropical forest structure and functioning. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 366 (1582), 3303-3315.
- Hedges, L. V., Gurevitch, J. and Curtis, P. S., 1999. The meta-analysis of response ratios in experimental ecology. *Ecology*, 80 (4), 1150-1156.
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E., Hungate, B. A., Matulich, K. L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J. E., Gamfeldt, L. and O'Connor, M. I., 2012. A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature*, 486 (7401), 105-108.
- Huston, M. A., 1997. Hidden treatments in ecological experiments: re-evaluating the ecosystem function of biodiversity. *Oecologia*, 110 (4), 449-460.
- Huston, M. A., 2014. Disturbance, productivity, and species diversity: empiricism vs. logic in ecological theory. *Ecology*, 95 (9), 2382-2396.
- Hylander, K. and Ehrlén, J., 2013. The mechanisms causing extinction debts. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 28 (6), 341-346.
- International Tropical Timber Organisation, 2012. Annual review and assessment of the world timber situation.
- Koricheva, J., Gurevitch, J. and Mengeresen, K., 2013. *Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution*. Princeton University Press.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., Laurance, W. F., Franklin, J. F., Likens, G. E., Banks, S. C., Blanchard, W., Gibbons, P., Ikin, K., Blair, D., McBurney, L., Manning, A. D.

and Stein, J. A. R., 2013. New policies for old trees: averting a global crisis in a keystone ecological structure. *Conservation Letters*, n/a-n/a.

- Mazzei, L., Sist, P., Ruschel, A., Putz, F. E., Marco, P., Pena, W. and Ferreira, J. E. R., 2010. Above-ground biomass dynamics after reduced-impact logging in the Eastern Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259 (3), 367-373.
- Miles, L. and Kapos, V., 2008. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation and forest degradation: global land-use implications. *Science*, 320 (5882), 1454-1455.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. *Ecosystems and human well-being*. Vol. 5. Island Press Washington, DC.
- Nakagawa, S. and Freckleton, R. P., 2008. Missing inaction: the dangers of ignoring missing data. *Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition)*, 23 (11), 592-596.
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L., Purves, D. W., Scharlemann, J. P. W., Mace, G. and Purvis, A., 2012. call for data: PREDICTS: Projecting Responses of Ecological Diversity in Changing Terrestrial Systems. *Frontiers of Biogeography*, 4 (4).
- Newbold, T., Scharlemann, J. P. W., Butchart, S. H. M., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., Alkemade, R., Booth, H. and Purves, D. W., 2013. Ecological traits affect the response of tropical forest bird species to land-use intensity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1750).
- Ouédraogo, D.-Y., Beina, D., Picard, N., Mortier, F., Baya, F. and Gourlet-Fleury, S., 2011. Thinning after selective logging facilitates floristic composition recovery in a tropical rain forest of Central Africa. *Forest ecology and management*, 262 (12), 2176-2186.
- Phalan, B., Onial, M., Balmford, A. and Green, R. E., 2011. Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: land sharing and land sparing compared. *Science*, 333 (6047), 1289-1291.
- Picard, N., Gourlet-Fleury, S. and Forni, É., 2012. Estimating damage from selective logging and implications for tropical forest management. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 42 (3), 605-613.
- Pinard, M. and Cropper, W., 2000. Simulated effects of logging on carbon storage in dipterocarp forest. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 37 (2), 267-283.
- Pinard, M. A. and Putz, F. E., 1996. Retaining Forest Biomass by Reducing Logging Damage. *Biotropica*, 28 (3), 278-295.
- Priyadi, H., Gunarso, P. and Kanninen, M., 2005. *Proceedings of International* workshop on promoting permanent sample plots in Asia and the Pacific Region. Bogor, Indonesia: CIFOR.
- Pullin, A. S. and Stewart, G. B., 2006. Guidelines for systematic review in conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology*, 20 (6), 1647-1656.
- Putz, F. E., Blate, G. M., Redford, K. H., Fimbel, R. and Robinson, J., 2001. Tropical forest management and conservation of biodiversity: an overview. *Conservation Biology*, 7-20.
- Putz, F. E., Zuidema, P. A., Pinard, M. A., Boot, R. G. A., Sayer, J. A., Sheil, D., Sist, P., Elias and Vanclay, J. K., 2008. Improved Tropical Forest Management for Carbon Retention. *PLoS Biol*, 6 (7), e166.
- Putz, F. E., Zuidema, P. A., Synnott, T., Pena-Claros, M., Pinard, M. A., Sheil, D., Vanclay, J. K., Sist, P., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Griscom, B., Palmer, J. and Zagt, R., 2012. Sustaining conservation values in selectively logged tropical forests: the attained and the attainable. *Conservation Letters*, 5 (4), 296-303.
- R Development Core Team, 2011. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

- Ramage, B. S., Sheil, D., Salim, H. M. W., Fletcher, C., Mustafa, N.-Z. A., Luruthusamay, J. C., Harrison, R. D., Butod, E., Dzulkiply, A. D., Kassim, A. R. and Potts, M. D., 2013. Pseudoreplication in Tropical Forests and the Resulting Effects on Biodiversity Conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 27 (2), 364-372.
- Shearman, P., Bryan, J. and Laurance, W. F., 2012. Are we approaching 'peak timber' in the tropics? *Biological Conservation*, 151 (1), 17-21.
- Sheil, D. and Burslem, D. F., 2003. Disturbing hypotheses in tropical forests. *Trends* in Ecology & Evolution, 18 (1), 18-26.
- Sheil, D., Sayer, J. A. and O'Brien, T., 1999. Tree species diversity in logged rainforests. *Science*, 284 (5420), 1587-1587.
- Sist, P., Blanc, L., Mazzei, L., Baraloto, C. and Aussenac, R., 2012. Current knowledge on overall post-logging biomass dynamics in Northern Amazonian forests. *Bois Et Forets des Tropiques*, 314 (4), 43-49.
- Sist, P., Mazzei, L., Blanc, L. and Rutishauser, E., 2014. Large trees as key elements of carbon storage and dynamics after selective logging in the Eastern Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 318 (0), 103-109.
- Sist, P., Nolan, T., Bertault, J.-G. and Dykstra, D., 1998. Harvesting intensity versus sustainability in Indonesia. *Forest ecology and management*, 108 (3), 251-260.
- Sist, P., Sheil, D., Kartawinata, K. and Priyadi, H., 2003. Reduced-impact logging in Indonesian Borneo: some results confirming the need for new silvicultural prescriptions. *Forest ecology and management*, 179 (1–3), 415-427.
- Slik, J. W. F., Paoli, G., McGuire, K., Amaral, I., Barroso, J., Bastian, M., Blanc, L., Bongers, F., Boundja, P., Clark, C., Collins, M., Dauby, G., Ding, Y., Doucet, J.-L., Eler, E., Ferreira, L., Forshed, O., Fredriksson, G., Gillet, J.-F., Harris, D., Leal, M., Laumonier, Y., Malhi, Y., Mansor, A., Martin, E., Miyamoto, K., Araujo-Murakami, A., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Nurtjahya, E., Oliveira, Á., Onrizal, O., Parada-Gutierrez, A., Permana, A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, J., Ramirez-Angulo, H., Reitsma, J., Rovero, F., Rozak, A., Sheil, D., Silva-Espejo, J., Silveira, M., Spironelo, W., ter Steege, H., Stevart, T., Navarro-Aguilar, G. E., Sunderland, T., Suzuki, E., Tang, J., Theilade, I., van der Heijden, G., van Valkenburg, J., Van Do, T., Vilanova, E., Vos, V., Wich, S., Wöll, H., Yoneda, T., Zang, R., Zhang, M.-G. and Zweifel, N., 2013. Large trees drive forest aboveground biomass variation in moist lowland forests across the tropics. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22 (12), 1261-1271.
- Viechtbauer, W., 2010. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software, 36 (3), 1-48.
- Wagner, F., Rutishauser, E., Blanc, L. and Herault, B., 2010. Effects of Plot Size and Census Interval on Descriptors of Forest Structure and Dynamics. *Biotropica*, 42 (6), 664-671.
- West, T. A. P., Vidal, E. and Putz, F. E., 2014. Forest biomass recovery after conventional and reduced-impact logging in Amazonian Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 314, 59-63.
- Wickham, H., 2009. ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. New York: Springer.

Chapter 5

5 Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests

5.1 Abstract

Although increasing efforts are being made to restore tropical forests, little information is available regarding the timescales required for carbon and plant biodiversity to recover to the values associated with undisturbed forests. To address this knowledge gap, we carried out a meta-analysis comparing data from >600 secondary tropical forest sites with nearby undisturbed reference forests. Aboveground biomass approached equivalence to reference values within 80 years since last disturbance, whereas below-ground biomass took longer to recover. Soil carbon content showed little relationship with time since disturbance. Tree species richness recovered after about 50 years. In contrast, epiphyte richness did not reach equivalence to undisturbed forests. The proportion of undisturbed forest tree and epiphyte species found in secondary forests was low and changed little over time. Our results indicate that carbon pools and biodiversity show different recovery rates under passive, secondary succession, and that colonisation by undisturbed forest plant species is slow. Initiatives such as the Convention on Biological Diversity and REDD+ should therefore encourage active management to help achieve their aims of restoring both carbon and biodiversity in tropical forests.

5.2 Introduction

Tropical forests contain between half and two thirds of terrestrial global biodiversity (Gardner et al. 2010) and approximately 37% of the global terrestrial carbon pool (Dixon et al. 1994). These forests also provide vital ecosystem services at local, regional and global scales (Foley et al. 2007; Gardner et al. 2009). Despite these benefits, tropical forests are undergoing widespread loss, largely as a result of agricultural expansion (Gibbs et al. 2010). These losses have led to increased carbon emissions, species extinctions and structural alteration of the majority of tropical forests worldwide (Foley et al. 2007; Gardner et al. 2009).

To combat these on-going losses, many projects have been implemented in different countries over the past two decades with the aim of restoring millions of hectares of tropical forest (Sayer et al. 2004; Calmon et al. 2011). The need for tropical forest restoration is recognised in international policy through the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and REDD+ initiatives (CBD 2010; Alexander et al. 2011). The 2020 targets of the CBD aim to enhance biodiversity and carbon stocks, by restoring 15% of the world's degraded ecosystems (CBD 2010). In addition, REDD+ aims to enhance carbon stocks partly through forest restoration, using funding from carbon credits (Alexander et al. 2011). However, despite the perceived importance of restoring tropical forests for both carbon storage and biodiversity, information is lacking on their patterns and rates of recovery following disturbance.

To determine the relative value of recovering forests as carbon pools and for biodiversity conservation, comparison with a reference forest is required, such as a site that is relatively free of human disturbance. Previous studies of carbon accumulation in tropical secondary forests (e.g. Silver et al. 2000; Marín-Spiotta and Sharma 2012) have not undertaken comparisons against such reference systems. As such, these syntheses provide limited information about the recovery of carbon pools in tropical forests, but rather examine the factors explaining differences in biomass and soil carbon among tropical secondary forest sites, with climate emerging as a major driver (Johnson et al. 2000; Anderson et al. 2006; Marín-Spiotta and Sharma 2012).

As biomass recovers following disturbance, it is to be expected that forest ecosystems should accumulate carbon pools with time (Brown and Lugo 1990; Silver et al. 2000). In the case of secondary tropical forests, little information is available regarding the time period required for recovery of these carbon pools to the values of undisturbed forests. The most studied of these pools is that associated with aboveground biomass, for which recovery appears to become asymptotic over time (Saldarriaga et al. 1988; Hughes et al. 1999; Read and Lawrence 2003; Cifuentes-Jara 2008). However, the time required for this pool to recover completely has been hypothesised to be anywhere between 50 and 200 years (Hughes et al. 1999; Cifuentes-Jara 2008). Below-ground biomass has been studied less frequently, but may require similar periods for complete recovery, with Saldarriaga et al. (1988) suggesting an interval of over 80 years.

Changes in soil carbon in secondary forests are less well documented than biomass recovery. A transition from agricultural use to secondary forest generally results in an increase in soil carbon content (Guo and Gifford 2002b), but the evidence for soil carbon accumulation during secondary succession is conflicting. Recovery of soil carbon in secondary tropical forests to values similar to those in undisturbed forest can take 20-100 years (Rhoades et al. 2000; Neumann-Cosel et al. 2011), but some secondary forests have higher soil carbon than undisturbed forest (Saynes et al. 2005).

In contrast to studies of carbon pools, there have been a number of syntheses of biodiversity recovery in secondary tropical forests. These suggest that faunal species richness recovers relatively quickly during succession (Dunn 2004), but more than 150 years may be required for community composition to reach equivalence to undisturbed forests (Dent and Wright 2009). However, relatively little is known about changes in plant communities during secondary succession in tropical forests. The only previous synthesis – albeit of only eight locations across Central and South America – of plant biodiversity in secondary forests suggests that they may take longer to become equivalent to undisturbed forest than faunal communities, with only 40% of undisturbed forest species having colonised secondary forests after 80 years of recovery (Chazdon et al. 2009).

No integrated meta-analysis of the recovery of both carbon pools and plant biodiversity in tropical forests has been undertaken previously. Such information is urgently required to inform policy and management practice. To address this knowledge gap, we address the following questions by conducting a meta-analysis based on systematic review:

(i) At what age following forest clearance do carbon pools in secondary tropical forests reach equivalent values to those of undisturbed forest?

(ii) At what age following forest clearance do plant species richness and the proportion of undisturbed forest species in secondary tropical forests reach equivalent values to those of undisturbed forest?

(iii) How do the rates of recovery of biodiversity and carbon pools compare, and what are the consequences for tropical forest restoration policy?

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Systematic review

We defined tropical secondary forest as a previously forested area undergoing secondary succession following total or near total removal of trees (Corlett 1994), located between the latitudes 40° N and 40° S (Newbold et al. 2013). To collate relevant studies a systematic review was carried out using standard methodologies (Pullin and Stewart 2006). The online databases Web of Knowledge, Wiley Blackwell and Science Direct were searched, along with the Society for Ecological Restoration International website, and the internet search engine Google. Search terms were combinations of the keywords: tropical AND (*forest* OR wood* OR jungle*) AND (restor* OR reforest* OR recov* OR rehabilitat* OR secondary OR swidden OR slash* OR degrad*) AND (plant* OR carbon OR biomass OR litter OR rich* OR biodiversity OR function* OR service*). Records of all studies were downloaded to an Endnote database and the last date of access was 17th October 2012.

Irrelevant articles were excluded, first if titles were deemed irrelevant, and then by examining abstracts. The remaining articles were read and retained only if they met the inclusion criteria. Where there was evidence that relevant data had been collected but were not presented in the publications, data were requested from the authors. Data on aboveground biomass, belowground biomass, soil carbon, plant species richness and plant community composition were extracted from the retained studies and stored in a database.

Where data were presented in tables they were simply transferred to the database, but when data were graphical the program datathief (vIII) (Tummers 2006) was used to extract them. Where a range was given for the age of a forest the median value was recorded. Where soil carbon was given as % organic matter or % soil carbon this was converted to Mg ha⁻¹ using standard equations (Guo and Gifford 2002b; Marín-Spiotta and Sharma 2012). Where soil bulk density (required to calculate carbon stocks) was not reported we used equations from (Guo and Gifford 2002b) and multiplied organic matter content by 0.5 to estimate carbon concentrations (Marín-Spiotta and Sharma 2012).

Studies were retained if they included: (i) at least one measurement of either above-ground biomass, below-ground biomass, soil carbon content, plant species richness and / or plant species community composition in both a secondary tropical forest and a reference undisturbed forest (following Gibson et al. 2011); (ii) the time since last disturbance for secondary forests; and (iii) definition of the type of disturbance prior to secondary succession, which included conversion to pasture, cropland or small-scale shifting agriculture. In addition, we extracted data on forest type determined by Holdridge life zone (Holdridge 1967) (hereafter referred to as forest type), and geographic location. Although methodologies differed amongst studies, measurements in secondary and undisturbed forests within a study were carried out using the same methods and using the same plot sizes.

Almost all of data we collated came from chronosequence studies where secondary forest stands of different ages were used to infer successional dynamics. One of the assumptions of chronosequences is that all sites have been subject to the same environmental conditions, though in practice this condition is rarely met (Johnson and Miyanishi 2008). For the purposes of our study we also assumed that undisturbed forests had stable carbon pools and species composition. This assumption is again unlikely to be met since many undisturbed forests are known to be increasing in biomass (Baker et al. 2004) and undergoing changes in biodiversity, but we consider these changes to be less dramatic than those caused by secondary succession. As such our study is reflective of the wider secondary forest literature which tends to make similar assumptions about chronosequences.

5.3.2 Statistical analysis

We calculated secondary forest carbon pool and species richness recovery using the equation:

$$logit \frac{\left(\frac{\bar{X}_{Sec} - \bar{X}_{Ref}}{\bar{X}_{Ref}}\right) + 1}{2}$$

where \bar{X}_{Sec} is the mean of a measurement in a secondary forest and \bar{X}_{Ref} is the mean of the same measurement in the corresponding undisturbed reference site. This is a logit transformation of the proportional difference between secondary and undisturbed forests that conforms to the assumptions of linear models. Following model fitting, predicted values were converted to proportions relative to reference forests by calculating the inverse logit and multiplying by two.

Since most studies did not provide estimates of variation along with measurements of carbon pools or species richness, an unweighted analysis was used. Although this technique gives equal weight to studies that may differ in quality and accuracy, it has been used frequently in the ecological literature (Rey Benayas et al. 2009; Moreno-Mateos et al. 2012), where data reporting standards are very variable. A linear mixed model was constructed for each variable of interest using time since last disturbance, disturbance type and forest type as explanatory variables. We included quadratic or log relationships with time since disturbance where our hypotheses suggested there may be non-linear changes during succession. A random factor was included to group secondary forests which shared a undisturbed forest reference site eliminating the problems of pseudoreplication at the study scale (Bolker et al. 2009). In addition, random variables were included to account for differences in study methods, such as in measurement depth for soil carbon and whether allometric equations for calculation of biomass were locally derived or represented general multi-species allometries (e.g. Chave et al. 2005). Random variables accounting for the difference in minimum diameter at breast height (DBH) of trees included in assessments of species richness were also considered, but were found to add little explanatory value and thus were excluded from models (see Table S 15 for details of different minimum DBH used in studies). The proportion of the undisturbed forest plant species found in secondary forests was used as a metric of changes in community composition (see Barlow et al. 2007; Chazdon et al. 2009) and was analysed using a binomial generalised linear mixed model with logit link. While there are techniques which are better suited to determining whether species are undisturbed forest specialists (e.g. Chazdon et al. 2011), they require detailed data for each study to which we did not have access.

All possible additive models were computed using restricted maximum likelihood methods. Model comparison was based on AICc, excluding all models with Δ AIC_c \geq 7 (Burnham et al. 2011). We estimated the goodness of fit of each model by calculating the marginal R² using the equations developed by Nakagawa and Schielzeth (2013). Coefficients were derived from the weighted mean of all models with Δ AIC_c \leq 7. The importance of variables in explaining recovery of carbon pools and plant biodiversity was assessed by summing the weight of all models that included the variable (Burnham et al. 2011). Analyses were performed in R 2.15.3 (R Development Core Team 2011), with model averaging using the MuMIn package (Barton 2013), and all graphs produced using the ggplot2 package (Wickham 2009).

5.4 Results

The systematic review yielded data for 607 secondary forest sites from 74 studies describing aboveground biomass, belowground biomass, soil carbon, plant species richness or plant species composition, with comparable data for a reference undisturbed forest (further details in Appendix - Table 1). The majority of these sites were relatively young, with mean ages of between 20 and 30 years for each variable of interest (Appendix - Figure 1). Thus biomass and carbon recovery was measured for forests up to 85 years old. Biodiversity data was available for forests up to a little over 150 years old, although virtually all sites were under 100 years old. Most sites were in Central or South America (Figure 22), with few sites in Africa or Asia.



Figure 22 – Locations of studies from which data on aboveground biomass, belowground biomass, soil carbon, plant species richness and proportion of primary froest species were extracted. Data is summarised as the number of sites per 1 degree grid cell.

Model selection suggested that the best model describing aboveground biomass recovery in secondary forests included only a log relationship with time since disturbance. This model predicted recovery of aboveground biomass to slow over time and to be about 83% of that of undisturbed forests after 85 years (Figure 23). This model had an AICc weight of 0.57 and a marginal R² of 0.56 (Appendix III-Table A16). The relationship between relative biomass recovery and age was much more important than those of forest type and prior land use (Appendix III - Table A28).

Below-ground biomass increased more slowly than above-ground biomass as a function of forest age. As with aboveground biomass there was a log relationship with time since disturbance; after 80 years stocks in sites previously subject to shifting agriculture were still only about 50% of those in reference forests (Figure 23). Forests established on pastures appeared to recover below-ground biomass more rapidly than those following shifting agriculture, with recovery to 76% of reference levels in approximately 80 years. Forest type was not important in explaining differences between undisturbed and secondary forests (Importance value=0, Appendix III - Table A28). Models with $\Delta AIC_c \leq 7$ had marginal R² values of 0.60-0.64 (Appendix III - Table A17).



Figure 23 – Recovery of aboveground biomass (n=326), belowground biomass (n=76) and soil carbon (n=185) in secondary tropical forests, relative to undisturbed reference forests. Solid lines represent model predictions, with different colours representing different disturbance types. Parameters included in figures have AICc importance values >0.5. The horizontal dashed line represents no difference between secondary and undisturbed forests.

Soil carbon stocks showed very weak relationships with all variables; an intercept only model had the most support (AICc weight=0.43, Appendix III- Table A19). However, models predicting slight increases in soil carbon with time since disturbance were also supported, although these had extremely small marginal R^2 of ≤0.01 (Appendix III - Table A20).

Plant species richness increased with time since last disturbance – again following log relationships – with epiphyte richness showing slower recovery than tree richness (Figure 24). Tree species richness was predicted to recover after

approximately 50 years, while epiphyte richness was predicted to take longer than 100 years. Model fits of tree species richness were also much better than those for epiphytes, with marginal R² of 0.24-0.26 and 0-0.08 respectively (Appendix III - Tables 21 and 22). In contrast, a relationship between time since last disturbance and proportion of species associated with undisturbed forest was relatively poorly supported (Importance value=0.35). The proportion of species associated with undisturbed forest associated with undisturbed forest was generally low, with a mean of 26% of species also being found in secondary forest (Upper CI=67%, Lower CI=6%; Figure 25; Appendix III - Tables A21 and A27).



Figure 24 – Recovery of epiphyte (n=65) and tree (n=204) species richness in secondary tropical forests, relative to undisturbed reference forests. Solid lines represent model predictions, with different colours representing different disturbance types. Parameters included in figures have AICc importance values >0.5. The horizontal dashed line represents no difference between secondary and undisturbed forests.



Figure 25 –Recovery of species associated with undisturbed tropical forest in secondary forest (n=50). The horizontal dashed line represents no difference between secondary and undisturbed forests.

5.5 Discussion

This study is the first to assess the recovery of both carbon pools and plant biodiversity across a large number of secondary tropical forest sites. Our results indicate that the various carbon pools and measures of biodiversity recover at different rates. Above-ground biomass approaches recovery 85 years after the last disturbance. Below-ground biomass also increases over time, with former pastures recovering 75% of belowground biomass after about 80 years, while areas affected by shifting agriculture take longer to recover. Soil carbon remained largely unchanged over time. In terms of biodiversity, tree species richness reached equivalence to reference forests after approximately 50 years and epiphyte richness only approached recovery after 100 years while the recovery of undisturbed forest species in secondary forests was limited and showed little relationship with time.

5.5.1 Recovery of carbon pools

Although previous work has suggested that rates of biomass accumulation differ between dry, moist and wet tropical forests (Saatchi et al. 2011) as well as among disturbance types (Silver et al. 2000), our study indicates that these factors are largely unimportant in determining the rate of recovery towards the state of undisturbed forests. Our estimated time required for above-ground biomass to reach approximately 85% of undisturbed forest levels is similar to suggested rates for basal area recovery in the neotropics (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001). While our results and previous observations (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001) suggest that forest biomass approaches that of undisturbed forest within a century, full recovery may take substantially longer. This is because many secondary forests are often composed of relatively small stemmed trees and lack the very large trees characteristic of old-growth forest, which can have very high biomass (Lindenmayer et al. 2013). However, without more data from older secondary forests it is difficult to determine how long full recovery takes. One important caveat regarding aboveground biomass recovery is that allometric equations used for its estimation are usually derived from undisturbed forest plots (van Breugel et al. 2011). As a result of this measurements in secondary forests, which are often dominated by trees with low DBH, may overestimate their biomass (van Breugel et al. 2011) possibly because of differences in secondary forest height: diameter relationships (Montgomery and Chazdon 2001). This is a potential bias in all the individual studies we used and we suggest that further research should aim to develop and test allometries designed for use in secondary forests to characterise recovery more accurately.

Belowground biomass represents an average of 19% of total biomass in tropical forests (Cairns et al. 1997), although root:stem ratios tend to be higher in younger forests (Fearnside and Guimarães 1996; Mokany et al. 2006). Thus, we would expect belowground biomass to recover more rapidly than those of aboveground biomass and it is surprising that we found the opposite pattern. However this effect may be an artefact because those sites for which we had belowground biomass data had lower aboveground biomass than other forests of similar age (Appendix - Figures 3 and 4).

We found that secondary tropical forests have soil carbon contents similar to undisturbed forests, contradicting a recent meta-analysis (Don et al. 2011), which suggested lower soil carbon in secondary forests. The differences between our study and that of Don et al. (Don et al. 2011) result from differing definitions of secondary forest, which they considered to be forests affected by any human disturbance. That definition conflates different types of disturbance and covers human-impacted forests and plantations as well as those undergoing secondary succession. As such we believe that our study more accurately represents soil carbon content in secondary forests as more usually defined – those that are recovering from near total removal of tree cover (Corlett 1994). Our findings do however support those of Marín-Spiotta et al. (Marín-Spiotta and Sharma 2012), who also found similar soil carbon pools in secondary and undisturbed tropical forests. These results indicate either that soil carbon in tropical forests is resilient to moderate, short term land use change or that carbon is accumulated rapidly following abandonment of farmland. However, as with belowground biomass, further research is required to explain the drivers of differences in soil carbon between sites. Given that the world's soils contain two to three times the carbon stored in aboveground biomass (Marin-Spiotta et al. 2009) such research should be considered a priority.

Former land use had an inconsistent effect on recovery of carbon pools in our study: there was no effect on above-ground biomass or soil carbon, but belowground biomass recovered faster in former pastures than following shifting agriculture. The intensity and length of time under previous land-use influence factors such as soil nutrient content and undoubtedly play important roles in biomass recovery (Chazdon et al. 2007). For example, research has suggested that above-ground biomass is lower in secondary tropical forests that have experienced multiple cycles of conversion for shifting agriculture (Lawrence 2005; Eaton and Lawrence 2009). However, such detailed data were not collected for the majority of studies we analysed, and future studies should do so to aid our understanding of the factors that control carbon stocks in secondary forests.

Overall, these findings suggest that when attempting to restore carbon pools on tropical forest sites cleared for agriculture, the greatest gains are likely to be made in plant biomass as soil carbon appears to be relatively insensitive to moderate land use change. Independent of forest type, carbon pools in secondary forest sites could be expected to be 77-81% of those of undisturbed forests approximately 80 years after disturbance, given that aboveground biomass has been estimated as 5 times that of belowground biomass in tropical forests (Cairns et al. 1997).

5.5.2 Recovery of species richness and community composition

We found that tree species richness recovered within 50 years compared to >100 years for epiphyte richness. We have less confidence in the prediction of a continuing increase after 50 years, which is likely to be an artefact of the steep increase in younger forest and the relatively few data for older forests meaning that

the shape of the log-relationship was constrained. Indeed, the data suggest relatively little increase after 50 years and our model tends to over-predict tree richness in older forests. In addition to differing recovery rates, our model of tree species richness change also showed a much better fit than that of epiphyte richness. These differences in recovery and our ability to explain changes in richness are likely to be driven by contrasting dispersal traits and requirements for establishment. Secondary tropical forest tree communities are initially dominated by short lived pioneer tree species and these are sequentially replaced by longer lived species (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001). Some secondary forests may be isolated from seed sources leading to an impeded recovery of richness, but our results, and the observations of others (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001), suggest that this is relatively rare. In contrast, epiphyte dispersal is largely local and propagation is often restricted to individual trees (KÖSter et al. 2009). In addition, epiphytes seem to occur more commonly on large trees (Woods and DeWalt 2013). These factors may lead to relatively poor recovery of epiphyte species since many secondary forests are fragmented and tend to consist of smaller stemmed trees (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001). An important caveat of our analysis is that few estimates of species richness were rarefied by either number of individuals or area sampled. It is possible that since secondary forests almost always have higher stem densities that our analysis overestimates species richness recovery. However, from a conservation perspective, given that plot size was equal for the secondary and undisturbed plots in all pairwise comparisons, our estimation of species per unit area remains valid.

Although tree species richness recovers relatively well in secondary forests, there was little or no accumulation of species associated with the reference undisturbed forests. This contrasts with the more rapid colonisation rates of animal species, communities of which may attain similarity to those of undisturbed forests within 150 years (Dent and Wright 2009). The poor recovery plant community composition is likely to be the result of a number of interacting mechanisms. Firstly, small secondary forest patches are likely to be subject to greater edge effects than larger undisturbed patches, making them less likely to be colonised by species adapted to old-growth forest conditions (Benitez-Malvido 1998). Secondly, patches of secondary forest can be distant from undisturbed forests (Turner and T. Corlett 1996) and thus receive few seeds from them. Finally, the extent of degradation of the landscape surrounding secondary forests will also influence seed dispersal processes, such as the behaviour of frugivorous birds (Chazdon et al. 2007).

In addition to these ecological mechanisms that might explain differences in the responses of species richness and community composition in secondary tropical forests, our study is subject to some of the limitations of the literature we used in our analyses. The most important factor is likely to be associated with distance-decay in community similarity (Condit et al. 2002). Sites used in this study are likely to vary in their distance from undisturbed reference sites and thus the proportion of species shared with undisturbed forests would be expected to vary, even without any human disturbance (Condit et al. 2002; Ramage et al. 2012). Unfortunately, very few studies give details of distances between secondary and reference sites. We hope that future studies might record such landscape metrics. Despite this our findings suggest that natural colonisation alone may not be sufficient to restore tropical forest plant biodiversity effectively in less a century.

5.5.3 Comparative rates of carbon and biodiversity recovery

Our results indicate that carbon pools and tree species richness recover more quickly than epiphyte species richness, while undisturbed forest plant species do not accumulate over time in secondary forests. Analyses of the carbon and biodiversity benefits of avoided deforestation have often suggested synergistic relationships between these goals due to overlap of priority areas for biodiversity conservation and carbon storage (Ebeling and Yasué 2008; Venter et al. 2009). In contrast, reforestation schemes that have the primary aim of carbon sequestration have often been criticised as they may support relatively little forest biodiversity (Bekessy and Wintle 2008). Our study suggests a more nuanced relationship between biodiversity and carbon in secondary tropical forests: while both carbon storage and conservation value increase as secondary forests age, the trajectories of these increases differ. As a result of this, tropical forests recovering from agricultural conversion are likely to have greater value for carbon storage and sequestration than for biodiversity, especially during the first 100 years of development. These differing rates of recovery should be acknowledged by policies targeting the recovery of biodiversity and carbon in tropical forests.

The failure of species associated with undisturbed forest to colonise secondary forests effectively is worrying for those aiming to conserve biodiversity in tropical forest landscapes subject to human disturbance. These species are likely to be adapted to old-growth conditions and thus are likely to be sensitive to human disturbance, have small ranges and populations (Gardner et al. 2007) and as a result they are likely to face greater threats of extinction (IUCN SSC 2001). This result clearly indicates that old growth forests are vital for the conservation of some specialist species but also that if goals to conserve species in human disturbed ecosystems are to be achieved we require novel solutions and further research.

5.6 Conclusion

This study is the first integrated meta-analysis of both plant biodiversity and carbon pool recovery in tropical secondary forests. We have shown that the recovery periods for the two differ markedly. This has important implications for policies that target recovery of both carbon and biodiversity, such as the Convention on Biological Diversity and REDD+. Carbon pools may take approximately 80 years to recover following disturbance, faunal biodiversity 150 years (Dent and Wright 2009) and plant biodiversity well over 100 years. Thus, initiatives aiming to support recovery of both biodiversity and carbon should not assume that the two are closely

118

coupled. Enhancement of carbon stocks to the values associated with local undisturbed forests appears possible through passive restoration. However, in many situations active restoration involving human interventions (e.g. planting trees) or other strategies such as increasing seed dispersal across the non-forest matrix by creating woodland islets (Rey Benayas et al. 2008) may be required to enable longterm recovery of plant species community composition. In addition further research into active restoration of tropical forests is required to identify novel solutions to this problem.

5.7 References

- Alexander S., Nelson C.R., Aronson J., Lamb D., Cliquet A., Erwin K.L., Finlayson C.M., De Groot R.S., Harris J.A., Higgs E.S. 2011 Opportunities and challenges for ecological restoration within REDD+. *Restoration Ecology* **19**(6), 683-689.
- Anderson K.J., Allen A.P., Gillooly J.F., Brown J.H. 2006 Temperature-dependence of biomass accumulation rates during secondary succession. *Ecology Letters* **9**(6), 673-682. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00914.x).
- Baker T.R., Phillips O.L., Malhi Y., Almeida S., Arroyo L., Di Fiore A., Erwin T.,
 Higuchi N., Killeen T.J., Laurance S.G. 2004 Increasing biomass in
 Amazonian forest plots. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of*London Series B: Biological Sciences **359**(1443), 353-365.
- Barlow J., Gardner T.A., Araujo I.S., Ávila-Pires T.C., Bonaldo A.B., Costa J.E.,
 Esposito M.C., Ferreira L.V., Hawes J., Hernandez M.I.M., et al. 2007
 Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary, and
 plantation forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*104(47), 18555-18560. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0703333104).

Barton K. 2013 MuMIn: Multi-model inference. (1.9.5 ed.

- Bekessy S.A., Wintle B.A. 2008 Using Carbon Investment to Grow the Biodiversity Bank. *Conservation Biology* **22**(3), 510-513. (doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00943.x).
- Benayas J.M.R., Bullock J.M., Newton A.C. 2008 Creating woodland islets to reconcile ecological restoration, conservation, and agricultural land use. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 6(6), 329-336.
- Benitez-Malvido J. 1998 Impact of Forest Fragmentation on Seedling Abundance in a Tropical Rain Forest. *Conservation Biology* **12**(2), 380-389. (doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.96295.x).

- Bolker B.M., Brooks M.E., Clark C.J., Geange S.W., Poulsen J.R., Stevens M.H.H., White J.-S.S. 2009 Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & amp; Evolution* 24(3), 127-135. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2008.10.008).
- Brown S., Lugo A.E. 1990 Tropical secondary forests. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **6**(01), 1-32. (doi:doi:10.1017/S0266467400003989).
- Burnham K.P., Anderson D.R., Huyvaert K.P. 2011 AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. *Behavioral ecology and sociobiology* 65(1), 23-35.
- Cairns M.A., Brown S., Helmer E.H., Baumgardner G.A. 1997 Root biomass allocation in the world's upland forests. *Oecologia* **111**(1), 1-11.
- Calmon M., Brancalion P.H.S., Paese A., Aronson J., Castro P., da Silva S.C., Rodrigues R.R. 2011 Emerging Threats and Opportunities for Large-Scale Ecological Restoration in the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. *Restoration Ecology* **19**(2), 154-158.
- CBD. 2010 Decision adopted by the conference of the parties to the convention on biological diversity at its tenth meeting The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets.
- Chave J., Andalo C., Brown S., Cairns M.A., Chambers J.Q., Eamus D., Fölster H., Fromard F., Higuchi N., Kira T., et al. 2005 Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks and balance in tropical forests. *Oecologia* **145**(1), 87-99. (doi:10.1007/s00442-005-0100-x).
- Chazdon R.L., Chao A., Colwell R.K., Lin S.-Y., Norden N., Letcher S.G., Clark D.B., Finegan B., Arroyo J.P. 2011 A novel statistical method for classifying habitat generalists and specialists. *Ecology* **92**(6), 1332-1343. (doi:10.1890/10-1345.1).
- Chazdon R.L., Letcher S.G., van Breugel M., Martínez-Ramos M., Bongers F.,
 Finegan B. 2007 Rates of change in tree communities of secondary
 Neotropical forests following major disturbances. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 362(1478), 273-289. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2006.1990).
- Chazdon R.L., Peres C.A., Dent D., Sheil D., Lugo A.E., Lamb D., Stork N.E., Miller S.E. 2009 The Potential for Species Conservation in Tropical Secondary Forests. *Conservation Biology* 23(6), 1406-1417. (doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01338.x).

- Cifuentes-Jara M. 2008 Aboveground biomass and ecosystem carbon pools in tropical secondary forests growing in six life zones of Costa Rica, ProQuest.
- Condit R., Pitman N., Leigh E.G., Chave J., Terborgh J., Foster R.B., Núnez P., Aguilar S., Valencia R., Villa G. 2002 Beta-diversity in tropical forest trees. *Science* **295**(5555), 666-669.
- Conservación de la Diversidad de Epífitas en una Paisaje Andino Transformado por Uso de Suelo Humano. *Conservation Biology* **23**(4), 911-919. (doi:10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01164.x).
- Corlett R.T. 1994 What is secondary forest? *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **10**(03), 445-447.
- Dent D.H., Wright S.J. 2009 The future of tropical species in secondary forests: a quantitative review. *Biological Conservation* **142**(12), 2833-2843.
- Dixon R.K., Solomon A.M., Brown S., Houghton R.A., Trexier M.C., Wisniewski J. 1994 Carbon pools and flux of global forest ecosystems. *Science* **263**(5144), 185-190.
- Don A., Schumacher J., Freibauer A. 2011 Impact of tropical land-use change on soil organic carbon stocks – a meta-analysis. *Global Change Biology* **17**(4), 1658-1670. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02336.x).
- Dunn R.R. 2004 Recovery of faunal communities during tropical forest regeneration. Conservation Biology **18**(2), 302-309.
- Eaton J.M., Lawrence D. 2009 Loss of carbon sequestration potential after several decades of shifting cultivation in the Southern Yucatán. *Forest ecology and management* **258**(6), 949-958. (doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2008.10.019).
- Ebeling J., Yasué M. 2008 Generating carbon finance through avoided deforestation and its potential to create climatic, conservation and human development benefits. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 363(1498), 1917-1924. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2007.0029).
- Fearnside P.M., Guimarães W.M. 1996 Carbon uptake by secondary forests in Brazilian Amazonia. *Forest ecology and management* **80**(1), 35-46.
- Foley J.A., Asner G.P., Costa M.H., Coe M.T., DeFries R., Gibbs H.K., Howard E.A., Olson S., Patz J., Ramankutty N. 2007 Amazonia revealed: forest degradation and loss of ecosystem goods and services in the Amazon Basin. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 5(1), 25-32.
- Gardner T.A., Barlow J., Chazdon R., Ewers R.M., Harvey C.A., Peres C.A., Sodhi N.S. 2009 Prospects for tropical forest biodiversity in a human-modified

world. *Ecology Letters* **12**(6), 561-582. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01294.x).

- Gardner T.A., Barlow J., Parry L.W., Peres C.A. 2007 Predicting the Uncertain Future of Tropical Forest Species in a Data Vacuum. *Biotropica* **39**(1), 25-30. (doi:10.1111/j.1744-7429.2006.00228.x).
- Gardner T.A., Barlow J., Sodhi N.S., Peres C.A. 2010 A multi-region assessment of tropical forest biodiversity in a human-modified world. *Biological Conservation* 143(10), 2293-2300. (doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2010.05.017).
- Gibbs H.K., Ruesch A.S., Achard F., Clayton M.K., Holmgren P., Ramankutty N., Foley J.A. 2010 Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **107**(38), 16732-16737. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0910275107).
- Gibson L., Lee T.M., Koh L.P., Brook B.W., Gardner T.A., Barlow J., Peres C.A., Bradshaw C.J.A., Laurance W.F., Lovejoy T.E., et al. 2011 Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. *Nature* **478**(7369), 378-381.

(doi:<u>http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v478/n7369/abs/nature10425.html</u> #supplementary-information).

- Guariguata M.R., Ostertag R. 2001 Neotropical secondary forest succession: changes in structural and functional characteristics. *Forest ecology and management* **148**(1-3), 185-206.
- Guo L.B., Gifford R.M. 2002 Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis. *Global Change Biology* **8**(4), 345-360. (doi:10.1046/j.1354-1013.2002.00486.x).

Holdridge L.R. 1967 Life Zone Ecology. San Jose, Tropical Science Center.

- Hughes R.F., Kauffman J.B., Jaramillo V.J. 1999 Biomass, Carbon, and Nutrient Dynamics of Secondary Forests in a Humid Tropical Region of México. *Ecology* 80(6), 1892-1907.
- IUCN SSC. 2001 IUCN Red List categories and criteria: version 3.1. Prepared by the IUCN Species Survival Commission.
- Johnson C.M., Zarin D.J., Johnson A.H. 2000 Post-disturbance aboveground biomass accumulation in global secondary forests. *Ecology* **81**(5), 1395-1401. (doi:10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[1395:pdabai]2.0.co;2).
- Johnson E.A., Miyanishi K. 2008 Testing the assumptions of chronosequences in succession. *Ecology Letters* **11**(5), 419-431.

KÖSter N., Friedrich K., Nieder J., Barthlott W. 2009 Conservation of Epiphyte Diversity in an Andean Landscape Transformed by Human Land Use

- Lawrence D. 2005 Biomass accumulation after 10–200 years of shifting cultivation in Bornean rain forest. *Ecology* **86**(1), 26-33. (doi:10.1890/03-0564).
- Lindenmayer D.B., Laurance W.F., Franklin J.F., Likens G.E., Banks S.C., Blanchard W., Gibbons P., Ikin K., Blair D., McBurney L., et al. 2013 New policies for old trees: averting a global crisis in a keystone ecological structure. *Conservation Letters*, n/a-n/a. (doi:10.1111/conl.12013).
- Marín-Spiotta E., Sharma S. 2012 Carbon storage in successional and plantation forest soils: a tropical analysis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, n/a-n/a. (doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2012.00788.x).
- Marin-Spiotta E., Silver W.L., Swanston C.W., Ostertag R. 2009 Soil organic matter dynamics during 80 years of reforestation of tropical pastures. *Global Change Biology* **15**(6), 1584-1597. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01805.x).
- Mokany K., Raison R., Prokushkin A.S. 2006 Critical analysis of root: shoot ratios in terrestrial biomes. *Global Change Biology* **12**(1), 84-96.
- Montgomery R.A., Chazdon R.L. 2001 Forest structure, canopy architecture, and light transmittance in tropical wet forests. *Ecology* **82**(10), 2707-2718.
- Moreno-Mateos D., Power M.E., Comín F.A., Yockteng R. 2012 Structural and Functional Loss in Restored Wetland Ecosystems. *PLoS Biol* **10**(1), e1001247. (doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001247).
- Nakagawa S., Schielzeth H. 2013 A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* **4**(2), 133-142. (doi:10.1111/j.2041-210x.2012.00261.x).
- Neumann-Cosel L., Zimmermann B., Hall J.S., van Breugel M., Elsenbeer H. 2011 Soil carbon dynamics under young tropical secondary forests on former pastures—A case study from Panama. *Forest ecology and management* 261(10), 1625-1633. (doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2010.07.023).
- Newbold T., Scharlemann J.P.W., Butchart S.H.M., Şekercioğlu Ç.H., Alkemade R., Booth H., Purves D.W. 2013 Ecological traits affect the response of tropical forest bird species to land-use intensity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280(1750). (doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.2131).
- Pullin A.S., Stewart G.B. 2006 Guidelines for systematic review in conservation and environmental management. *Conservation Biology* **20**(6), 1647-1656.
- Putz F.E., Zuidema P.A., Synnott T., Peña-Claros M., Pinard M.A., Sheil D., Vanclay J.K., Sist P., Gourlet-Fleury S., Griscom B., et al. 2012 Sustaining

conservation values in selectively logged tropical forests: The attained and the attainable. *Conservation Letters*, no-no. (doi:10.1111/j.1755-263X.2012.00242.x).

- R Development Core Team. 2011 *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria, R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Ramage B.S., Sheil D., Salim H.M., Fletcher C., Mustafa N.Z.A., Luruthusamay
 J.C., Harrison R.D., Butod E., Dzulkiply A.D., Kassim A.R. 2012
 Pseudoreplication in tropical forests and the resulting effects on biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Biology*.
- Read L., Lawrence D. 2003 Recovery of Biomass Following Shifting Cultivation in Dry Tropical Forests of the Yucatan. *Ecological Applications* **13**(1), 85-97.
- Rey Benayas J.M., Newton A.C., Diaz A., Bullock J.M. 2009 Enhancement of biodiversity and ecosystem services by ecological restoration: a metaanalysis. *Science* **325**(5944), 1121-1124.
- Rhoades C.C., Eckert G.E., Coleman D.C. 2000 Soil Carbon Differences among Forest, Agriculture, and Secondary Vegetation in Lower Montane Ecuador. *Ecological Applications* **10**(2), 497-505.
- Saatchi S.S., Harris N.L., Brown S., Lefsky M., Mitchard E.T.A., Salas W., Zutta B.R., Buermann W., Lewis S.L., Hagen S., et al. 2011 Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **108**(24), 9899-9904. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1019576108).
- Saldarriaga J.G., West D.C., Tharp M., Uhl C. 1988 Long-term chronosequence of forest succession in the upper Rio Negro of Colombia and Venezuela. *The Journal of Ecology*, 938-958.
- Sayer J., Chokkalingam U., Poulsen J. 2004 The restoration of forest biodiversity and ecological values. *Forest ecology and management* **201**(1), 3-11.
- Saynes V., Hidalgo C., Etchevers J.D., Campo J.E. 2005 Soil C and N dynamics in primary and secondary seasonally dry tropical forests in Mexico. *Applied Soil Ecology* 29(3), 282-289. (doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2004.11.007).
- Silver W.L., Ostertag R., Lugo A.E. 2000 The Potential for Carbon Sequestration Through Reforestation of Abandoned Tropical Agricultural and Pasture Lands. *Restoration Ecology* 8(4), 394-407. (doi:10.1046/j.1526-100x.2000.80054.x).

- Turner I.M., T. Corlett R. 1996 The conservation value of small, isolated fragments of lowland tropical rain forest. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **11**(8), 330-333. (doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(96)10046-X).
- van Breugel M., Ransijn J., Craven D., Bongers F., Hall J.S. 2011 Estimating carbon stock in secondary forests: Decisions and uncertainties associated with allometric biomass models. *Forest ecology and management* 262(8), 1648-1657. (doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.07.018</u>).
- Venter O., Meijaard E., Possingham H., Dennis R., Sheil D., Wich S., Hovani L., Wilson K. 2009 Carbon payments as a safeguard for threatened tropical mammals. *Conservation Letters* 2(3), 123-129. (doi:10.1111/j.1755-263X.2009.00059.x).

Wickham H. 2009 ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. New York, Springer.

Woods C.L., DeWalt S.J. 2013 The Conservation Value of Secondary Forests for Vascular Epiphytes in Central Panama. *Biotropica* **45**(1), 119-127. (doi:10.1111/j.1744-7429.2012.00883.x).

Chapter 6

6 Identifying priority areas for tropical forest restoration: trade-offs between carbon and biodiversity

6.1 Abstract

Ecological restoration of tropical forests is seen as means of addressing the problems associated with deforestation and degradation. Both the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation (REDD+) aim in part to incentivise the restoration of biodiversity and carbon in degraded and deforested areas. However, these initiatives appear to assume that areas that maximise carbon storage and biodiversity value coincide, an assumption that is untested. Given that there have been numerous costly forest restoration failures these assumptions need to be tested to identify the potential for trade-offs and win-win situations for the two goals. To do this I produced statistical models of carbon accumulation and bird species presence using data from previous studies. Following model selection and averaging I projected these models to predict carbon accumulation and bird presence in secondary forests throughout the tropics. Each bird species was weighted by the inverse of its global range so that species with smaller distributions were considered more important. Areas that accumulated most carbon tended to be located in the wet tropics, particularly the Western Amazon and the Indonesian Archipelago. Bird biodiversity value was maximised in areas where species had small ranges, particularly around mountain ranges. My results suggested that there was no relationship between the two goals, but that areas which maximised both goals could be identified. This suggests that in the case of tropical forest restoration carbon and biodiversity do not act as proxies for each other and explicit consideration of the two is needed to maximise the returns from investment in restoration.

6.2 Introduction

Tropical forests contain between half and two-thirds of all terrestrial biodiversity (Gardner et al. 2009) and approximately one-third of terrestrial carbon (Dixon et al. 1994). In addition, these forests are a principal source of multiple ecosystem services at local, regional and global scales (Foley et al. 2007). However, despite the benefits they provide, tropical forests are rapidly being cleared for agriculture (Gibbs et al. 2010), and face widespread degradation - largely as a result of logging (Asner et al. 2009). Ecological restoration of tropical forests is seen as one way of addressing these problems (Lamb et al. 2005; Chazdon 2008) and initiatives have been set up to incentivise this (CBD 2010; Alexander et al. 2011). Both the Convention on Biological Diversity (hereafter CBD) and Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation (REDD+) initiatives aim, in part, to encourage the restoration of biodiversity and carbon in degraded and deforested areas (CBD 2010; Alexander et al. 2011). However, these initiatives implicitly assume that areas that will maximise carbon storage, will also maximise biodiversity conservation. In the case of forest restoration this assumption is untested despite good knowledge of the factors that affect recovery of both carbon and biodiversity in tropical forests.

Previous studies have shown that forest restoration can be effective in improving conservation value and ecosystem service provision of degraded areas, with some older sites resembling old-growth forest (Gilroy et al. 2014a). While this restoration can often be cost effective (Birch et al. 2010), recovery of sites varies widely (Martin et al. 2013) as does their suitability for restoration. This has led to the costly failure of many restoration programmes (Jones and Schmitz 2009), resulting in perverse outcomes for both biodiversity and ecosystem services (Bullock et al. 2011). Examples of this include China's Grain to Green project in which trees were planted in areas unsuitable for forest growth leading to increased erosion and negative biodiversity impacts (Cao et al. 2009). If such mistakes are to be avoided in the future and returns from restoration are to be maximised prioritisation of areas for forest restoration is important (Holl and Aide 2011) and, as such, it is seen as a research priority (Sutherland et al. 2009).

Spatial prioritisation aims to address how to allocate funding for conservation most effectively in space and time (Moilanen et al. 2009). Previous forest restoration prioritisation has been undertaken from local (Llewellyn et al. 1996) to global scales (Newton and Kapos 2003), and has had many different aims from restoration of habitat for individual species to increased ecosystem services provision (Birch et al. 2010). There is a much disagreement about the indicators that should be used to identify forest restoration priorities (Orsi et al. 2011) but criteria broadly fall into one of two groups: (a) those that identify the potential benefits that forest restoration may provide and (b) those that relate to the likelihood of success of a restoration project. In any forest restoration scheme it is vital these sets of criteria are addressed. Areas that are likely to benefit from forest restoration are usually determined by identifying previously forested areas that have been deforested or degraded (Humphrey et al. 2000; Newton and Kapos 2003; Twedt et al. 2006; Orsi et al. 2011). Following this the presence of rare or endemic species, or species richness in the surrounding area have often been used as criteria for further prioritisation (Newton and Kapos 2003; Newton 2011; Orsi et al. 2011). While identification of species rich areas is intuitive as a means of prioritisation, conservation planning suggests that the irreplaceability of an area, which is reflective of the number of locations at which the same species are likely to be present, is preferred in conservation prioritisation (Moilanen et al. 2005). For example, an individual area that contains only species that occur in many other sites has low irreplaceability, while a site with species that occur at a few sites has higher irreplaceability. Thus, defining priority sites by their irreplaceability favours species rich communities which consist of species with restricted ranges (Moilanen et al. 2009), since these are at highest risk of extinction (IUCN SSC 2001).

The likelihood of a restoration scheme achieving these benefits is the result of an interaction between landscape characteristics and pressures from human population. Landscapes that have a large area of remnant forest are relatively close to intact forests, and have low levels of fragmentation are considered more likely to show a positive biodiversity recovery (Newton and Kapos 2003) since these benefit colonisation by forest taxa (Cordeiro and Howe 2001; Cordeiro and Howe 2003).

While such criteria are useful for guiding restoration of forests they are usually selected by expert opinion, which can lead to misidentification of important factors (Martin et al. 2012). Thus an approach to assessing a landscapes' potential for meeting restoration targets based on empirical relationships is preferable. However, neither REDD+ nor the CBD define how sites should be prioritised or make a distinction between the criteria by which sites should be selected for restoration of carbon or biodiversity, even though the processes that drive them appear to differ.

Carbon accumulation appears to be driven by climate and it is greatest in hot, wet climates (Johnson et al. 2000; Zarin et al. 2001), with maximum forest biomass limited by precipitation (Stegen et al. 2011). Regarding biodiversity, of all taxa, birds probably have the most well understood response to forest recovery (Dent and Wright 2009). Presence of a bird species at a site is likely to be a result of interactions between landscape structure and species traits and characteristics. Landscapes that have high forest cover and low fragmentation appear likely to
retain a greater proportion of those species originally present. In addition, those species that have high dispersal ability (Şekercioğlu et al. 2002), are less dependent on forest (Newbold et al. 2013) and that are abundant throughout their range (Gaston et al. 2000) appear to be more likely to persist in disturbed forest landscapes. Thus, landscapes that have relatively intact forest and contain a high proportion of species with these characteristics are likely to show the greatest potential for the recovery of bird biodiversity. Given that different processes drive carbon accumulation and biodiversity recovery, it is potentially dangerous to assume that both co-benefits can be maximised and strategic targeting is likely to be required to meet goals.

Despite our understanding of the ecology underlying carbon accumulation and bird biodiversity responses in recovering forests, there has been little attempt to identify areas that may deliver the best results for biodiversity and carbon storage as a result of tropical forest restoration – even though these are aims of two major global conservation initiatives. Without prioritisation, it is unclear whether such a scheme would deliver win-win situations (with an overlap of priority areas for recovery of carbon and biodiversity) or whether there would be little overlap resulting in strong trade-offs. To address this issue in this chapter I (i) have produced statistical models to explain variation of aboveground biomass and bird presence in secondary tropical forests; (ii) used these to predict aboveground biomass and bird presence in secondary forests across the tropics and; (iii) in turn used these predictions to identify priority areas for achievement of REDD+ and CBD goals, examining evidence for synergies and trade-offs.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Data sources

The majority of data on aboveground biomass in recovering secondary tropical forests were obtained during a previous study in which I undertook a systematic review to collate data from all relevant sources (Martin et al. 2013). I supplemented these with additional data on aboveground biomass collected from reviews of carbon accumulation in secondary forests (Johnson et al. 2000; Zarin et al. 2001; Anderson et al. 2006). The majority of these data came from studies conducted in Central and South America, with relatively few sites in Africa or Asia (Figure 25). To explain differences in the biomass of different secondary forest sites, I used data from worldclim (www.worldclim.org; Hijmans et al. 2005) on mean monthly rainfall and mean monthly temperature. I also obtained data from the harmonized world soils database (http://webarchive.iiasa.ac.at/Research/LUC/External-World-soil-database/; Nachtergaele et al. 2012) to allow an assessment of the coarseness of soils found at each site. These variables have all previously been identified as possible drivers of biomass differences (Johnson et al. 2000; Zarin et al. 2001; Anderson et al. 2006). I also noted the age of secondary forests as well as the type of allometric equation used to calculate biomass (see Martin et al. 2013; Chapter 5 - this thesis). Data were restricted to forests <40 years old since biomass accumulation often becomes non-linear after this (Martin et al. 2013). Furthermore modelling of younger forests may be more informative for policy makers since early rapid accumulation may be of greater interest than long term storage. In addition the majority of studies are on younger sites, predicting accumulation in these forests is likely to be more accurate than over longer periods of time.



Figure 26 – Location of sites used for aboveground biomass and bird biodiversity models. Point size is relative to number of sites falling within a 2 degree grid square. Data taken from primary studies, for references see appendix.

Data on bird community composition in secondary forest sites were also taken from a previous study carried out by a master's student under my supervision (Sayer et al. 2013; for data on methods see appendix). These data had a more homogenous spread across the tropics compared to that of biomass, with a relatively even number of sites from each continent (Figure 26). To explain the differences in the likelihood of a species being present in secondary forest I collected data on forest cover, species traits and characteristics, and global range maps. I obtained percentage forest cover data from the Global Land Cover Facility (DiMiceli 2011) which I used to calculate forest cover statistics within a buffer with a radius 0.05 decimal degrees (an area of roughly 35km²) since this was the finest resolution at which analyses could be carried out. The species traits and characteristics I used were dispersal distance, forest dependency of a species (none, low, medium or high), and global range size measured as the extent of occurrence. In addition, I used global range maps of species to determine likely local species pools within a grid composed of two degree cells, (an area of roughly 50,000km² at the equator), since at higher resolutions expert opinion maps misrepresent species pools (Hurlbert and Jetz 2007). All data on traits, characteristics and range maps were supplied by Birdlife International (2008; for more details of traits and characteristics used see Newbold et al. 2013).

6.3.2 Analyses

To test hypotheses about the recovery of aboveground biomass and bird biodiversity, I constructed a series of linear mixed models and used model averaging to produce parameter estimates. The model averaging approach I used followed the recommendations of Anderson et al. (2000) with all models considered biologically meaningful run, their AICc calculated and models ranked by AICc. I then calculated the difference in model likelihood as the difference between the best model's AICc and that of all other models, termed the \triangle AICc (Burnham et al. 2011). I excluded all models with a \triangle AICc > 7 from model averaging (Burnham et al. 2011). Following this, I undertook model averaging so that models with the lowest AICc provided more weight to parameter values and calculated importance values to determine the relative importance of individual variables in explaining variation in the response variable.

For the models of biomass recovery, the explanatory variables I used were based on equations provided by Johnson et al. (2000) and Anderson et al. (2006). First, I defined the number of annual growing season hours as the sum of the average number of daylight hours in each month (using the equations of Forsythe et al. 1995) where precipitation was >100mm in areas with an average annual temperature of >18°C, and with precipitation >40mm and monthly average temperatures >0°C for areas with an average annual temperature of <18°C. I defined growing season in this way for a number of reasons: (i) photosynthesis only occurs during daylight hours which therefore limits the time available for carbon accumulation (Anderson et al. 2006); (ii) average transpiration in tropical moist forests is ca. 100mm per month (Walsh 1996) and growth would be limited when precipitation drops below this amount (Doughty et al. 2014); and (iii) in cooler forests transpiration has been recorded at around 40mm per month during growing season (Cienciala et al. 1997; Wullschleger et al. 2001). I multiplied this annual growing season hour value by the time since last disturbance to produce an estimate of total growing hours - 'accumulated growing season hours' - following Anderson et al. (2006).

I tested the relationship between accumulated growing season hours and aboveground biomass along with mean temperature during the growing season, total precipitation during the growing season and soil coarseness. In order to do so, I assessed all models using these variables and two-way interactions with accumulated growing season hours. I could not use standard means of accounting for spatial autocorrelation as many sites had the same coordinates as each other,

and so a random variable was used to identify sites drawn from the same chronosequence and study. Inclusion of this random factor eliminated problems of considering each data point to be independent. In addition, I included a random term to account for differences between the different allometric models used to calculate biomass since the selection of different allometric models can cause differences in biomass estimation (van Breugel et al. 2011).

For bird species recovery, I considered probability of presence as a function of percentage forest cover, species dispersal ability, species global range size and habitat specificity. As with biomass, I used a random term for sites drawn from the same study. I defined local species pools by whether a species was present or absent from a grid square using global range maps. I considered species to be absent if they were present in the species pool but not at the site and present if they were found at the site. Since I modelled likelihood of species presence given their presence in the species pool, any species not in the species pool was ignored. I used a random effect to identify each species so that models represented a generalised response of a bird species to the variables of interest. Thus, I used this model to estimate what determines bird species presence in secondary tropical forests, given their presence in the wider local species pool.

I used the modelled parameter values to project the accumulation of biomass and probability of species presence across the wider tropics that were considered suitable for forest growth. To do this, I modelled the biomass accumulation to be expected after 20 years since last disturbance using the gridded data on climate. I undertook a similar process for the model of bird biodiversity and predicted the probability of presence for a species in a hypothetical secondary forest in each grid square. I restricted projections to areas that were considered as suitable for forest growth under the BIOME model (Prentice et al. 1992), thereby reducing the probability of selecting areas, such as savannahs, where planting of trees may result in perverse outcomes for biodiversity and ecosystem services (Parr et al. 2014). I conducted analyses of the priority areas for bird biodiversity at a resolution of two degrees. Projections for biomass were made at the finer scale using wordclim climate data and then aggregated to a coarser resolution for comparison with the bird models.

I used the model projections as inputs for the Zonation spatial planning program (Moilanen et al. 2005). This program attempts to produce optimal planning strategies when given explicit goals. Using Zonation, I produced a map of priority areas for carbon and one of bird biodiversity priorities by summing the probability of species' occurrence, where species were weighted by the inverse of their global extent of occurrence so that species with small ranges were more heavily weighted. This method is recommended in the spatial planning literature when aiming to prevent global extinctions, though other approaches are available dependent upon explicit goals (Moilanen et al. 2005; Moilanen et al. 2009). I ranked grid cells from highest (1) to lowest (0) priority for forest restoration for the two goals separately. Following this, I ran a correlation analysis to determine the relationship between the rankings for carbon and for biodiversity. All analyses were done in R version 3.0.2 (R Development Core Team 2011), model averaging done using MuMIn (Barton 2013) and plots produced using ggplot2 (Wickham 2009).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Biomass accumulation

My analyses of biomass accumulation produced one model that was much better supported than any other, with all other models having a Δ AlCc>7. This model suggested that accumulated growing seasons hours was by far the most important variable in determining biomass accumulation and showed good fit to the data (R²=0.53). Biomass tended to increase linearly with accumulated hours of growing season, with non-linearity suggested in Figure 27 a result of Box-Cox transformation of the response variable. Variations in soil texture, growing season precipitation and growing season temperature explained little variation and were not included as explanatory variables in any well supported models.



Figure 27 – Relationship between total accumulated growing season hours and aboveground biomass of forest sites. Points represent measurements at individual forest sites. The solid line represents prediction based on model parameters. Dashed lines represent the upper and lower confidence intervals of the prediction. Non-linearity is a result of a Box-Cox transformation of the response variable.





Figure 28 – Relationship between probability of presence of bird species and percentage forest cover in a 35km² buffer around site for birds with different dependence upon forest. Solid lines represent model predictions and dashed lines are the 95% confidence intervals around these predictions.

Only two models of bird presence had a Δ AIC<7 and both included species' forest dependency, percentage forest cover, species' range size (extent of occurrence) and an interaction between forest cover and forest dependency. The only difference between the two models was that the best model, with lowest AICc, also contained an interaction between range size and forest dependency. Models showed poorer fit to the data (R²=0.22-0.19) than those for biomass. Model averaged coefficients suggested a gradient of responses to forest cover across different species dependencies with (a) non-forest species showing little response; (b) species with low and medium dependence on forest showing a negative response; and (c) species highly dependent on forest showing an increase in probability of presence with forest cover. (Figure 28) Similarly a species' extent of occurrence had little effect on presence for non-forest and species with low forest dependency, while for species with medium and high forest dependence, there was an increase in probability of presence with increasing extent of occurrence (Figure 29).



Figure 29 – Relationship between probability of presence of bird species and species' global extent of occurrence or birds with different dependence upon forest. Solid lines represent model predictions and dashed lines are the 95% confidence intervals around these predictions.

6.4.3 Identifying priority areas for forest restoration

Mapping of priority ranks over the area of the tropics suitable for forest growth showed clear differences in geographic patterns between priorities for biomass accumulation and bird biodiversity. Biomass accumulation was forecast to be highest in the wet tropical forests of Eastern Amazonia, Central Africa and the Indonesian Archipelago (Figure 30). Bird biodiversity priorities, however, were found in mountainous regions such as the Andes, Himalayas and East African mountain chains, as well as Central America and the Indonesian Archipelago (Figure 30).

There was no correlation between the ranking of areas for each goal; indeed, the rankings of the two priorities seem random with respect to each other (Figure 31). As a consequence, there were areas identified as high priority for both goals and these were largely found in the Andes and Southern Central America, and to a lesser extent in the Indonesian Archipelago, particularly New Guinea (Figure 32).



Figure 30 – Priority areas for forest restoration targeting biomass accumulation and bird biodiversity. Dark green represents areas that were ranked high, with dark grey areas those that were ranked low. Light grey areas were not considered in the analysis because they are not suitable for forest growth.



Figure 31 – Relationship between priority of area for biomass accumulation and its priority for bird biodiversity restoration, each point representing a 2x2 degree cell. The dashed line shows a 1:1 relationship between the two variables



Figure 32 – Trade-offs between goals and overlap of priority areas. In the first plot, colours represent differences between the ranking in priority for the two goals with those coloured red ranked highly for restoration targeting bird biodiversity but not biomass accumulation and those coloured blue ranked highly for biomass accumulation but not bird biodiversity. In the second plot, colours represent ranking of areas for both goals, with those in dark green indicating high ranking for both. In both plots, dark grey areas are those not considered to be suitable for forest growth so were not considered in the analysis.

6.5 Discussion

This study indicates that following restoration, biomass is expected to accumulate most rapidly in areas with longest growing seasons, namely those with high year round temperatures but low water limitation. As a result, areas in the Western Amazon and in the Indonesian archipelago have highest potential gains for forest restoration aiming to maximise carbon sequestration. Presence of bird species in secondary forest was dependent upon the extent to which they depend on forest, the proportion of forest cover found in an area and the global extent of occurrence of a species. To generate priority areas for restoration each species was weighted by the inverse of its global range size, resulting in the Andes, Central America and the Indonesian archipelago having highest priority for restoration seeking to maximise retention of bird biodiversity. There was little evidence that the goals of carbon storage and biodiversity restoration, as defined by the measures developed in this chapter, were correlated. However, there was evidence of areas where both goals could be met in the Andes, Central America and New Guinea.

6.5.1 Biomass accumulation

The overriding driver of biomass accumulation in this study was length of accumulated growing season - the number of hours of growth each forest stand had that were not limited by temperature, water supply or light (Anderson et al. 2006). However, my study did not suggest that forests with sandy soils showed reduced biomass accumulation as Johnson et al. (2000) indicated. It is possible that this disagreement is due to differences in methods of statistical analyses, since (Johnson et al. 2000) did not use random effects to group studies, which leads to falsely inflated statistical power. In addition, Johnson et al. (2000) used soil data taken directly from the individual studies, which may have resulted in more accurate characterisation of soils at the site. Previous studies have suggested that soil characteristics are likely to be important in determining the maximum biomass of mature forests (Slik et al. 2013), but my work suggests that in secondary forests, at a pan-tropical scale, they are relatively unimportant in determining young secondary forest biomass. The inclusion of older secondary forests in such an analysis along with finer scale data on soils may help to resolve this apparent disparity.

The definition of growing season in this study used a combination of the methods of Anderson et al. (2006) and Johnson et al. (2000), and though it fit the data well, it is biologically simplistic. For example, I constrained my model by considering periods of precipitation <100mm per month in areas with mean annual

temperature >18C and those with precipitation <40mm per month where mean annual temperature was <18C as being outside of the growing season, following Johnson et al. (2000). This parameterisation is based on observations in moist lowland tropical forests as well as montane forests and, while similar approaches have been used in the past (Johnson et al. 2000; Doughty et al. 2014), it is simplistic. For example, biomass change during secondary succession shows a strong non-linear pattern (Martin et al. 2013), increasing rapidly before reaching an asymptote. This maximum biomass has been suggested to be constrained by a lack of water since as a tree increases in height, and thus biomass, it requires more water (Ryan and Yoder 1997; Ryan et al. 2006). This may lead to areas with high year round rainfall and non-sandy soils being able to achieve higher maximum biomass (Stegen et al. 2011; Slik et al. 2013). As such, there is likely to be a gradient in water requirements for different forest types, depending on their age and composition. In order to more accurately parameterise such a model, greater information is needed about the water requirements of forests subject to different climatic conditions.

My projection of model values gave results that looked qualitatively realistic with highest accumulation predicted in the wet tropics, though it is interesting to note that the Congo basin showed relatively low biomass accumulation potential despite being the area of highest biomass stocks in intact forest in the tropics (Slik et al. 2013). However, it is difficult to determine whether this observation is inaccurate since no data on forests recovering from agricultural clearance are available for the area

6.5.2 Probability of bird presence

This study suggested that the probability of a bird species being present in secondary forest was dependent on its degree of forest dependency, forest cover surrounding the location and the extent of occurrence of the species. Forest dependency has previously been shown to be important in predicting species presence and abundance in degraded forest (Newbold et al. 2013) and, in my study, non-forest species and highly dependent forest species were least likely to be present, with those of low and medium dependency the most likely. This result is intuitively realistic since secondary forests often resemble an intermediate stage between forest and savannah ecosystems (Barlow et al. 2007; Barlow and Peres 2008) and, as such, both specialists of forest and open ecosystems may be absent (Newbold et al. 2013). Similarly, increasing extent of occurrence increased the

likelihood of presence of species that had high and medium forest dependency. This is likely to be in part due to species with large ranges tending to have greater local densities than species with smaller ranges (Gaston 1996; Gaston et al. 2000). It is also possible that this variable allowed further separation of highly specialist species with small ranges from those of generalist species with larger ranges, since species with larger ranges appear to be more tolerant of secondary forest than small ranged species (Dunn and Romdal 2005; Sayer et al. 2013).

All species, apart from those highly dependent on forest, showed a reduction in probability of presence with increasing forest cover in the landscape. It is unsurprising that species with different dependencies on forest differ in their response to landscape forest cover, but it is surprising that only species classed as having high forest dependency increased in probability of presence. This relationship could be the result of a lack of precision in location data for each study since they did not provide the precise location of each individual site and, as such, the statistics of forest cover were the same for all sites taken from a single study. This resulted in a reduced ability to detect effects of variation in forest cover since variation between sites appeared smaller than in reality. In addition, relatively few sites exhibited forest cover <20% meaning that this extreme of the forest cover gradient was poorly characterised. The relationship could also reveal issues relating to the lack of data on forest fragmentation, which can reduce the probability of presence and the abundance of bird species independently of landscape forest cover (Villard et al. 1999).

6.5.3 Identification of priority areas

Projections of the biomass and bird biodiversity models produced maps that highlighted different areas as priorities for forest restoration that aimed to maximise those goals. Biomass was predicted to accumulate most rapidly in the wet tropics, while restoration targeting bird biodiversity had highest priority in areas possessing species with small global ranges such as mountain regions and the Indonesian archipelago. Strikingly there was no suggestion of a relationship between the two goals. Previous work supports this observation, with Strassburg et al. (2010) showing a very weak positive relationship between richness of small ranged species, which had most weight in the analyses in this study, and carbon storage. This lack of a relationship may be because small ranged species often occur in areas with high topographic variability (Davies et al. 2007) where carbon accumulation may be restricted as a result of low temperatures at high elevations or

'rain shadow' resulting in low rainfall surrounding mountains. This suggests that selection of sites to achieve the goals of REDD+ and the CBD for forest restoration based on only one goal is unlikely to result in optimal returns for the other goal.

These patterns gave rise to trade-offs between the two goals, with strongest trade-offs in parts of the Andes, Central America and mountainous areas of the Eastern Congo, which had high biodiversity but low carbon priority, and many areas of the sub-tropics, which had high carbon but low biodiversity priority. However, my analysis also identified areas where both goals could be maximised, largely located around the fringes of the Andes and in the Indonesian archipelago. Importantly, in order to target restoration with the goals of maximising carbon and bird biodiversity benefits, information on both is needed as one does not act as a proxy for the other. Restoration of forests in the Indonesian archipelago is likely to result in greatest increase in carbon storage relative to current levels because of the widespread logging and agricultural conversion currently going on in the area (Sodhi et al. 2009). However, restoration on the fringes of the Andes is likely to lead to greater probability of forest persistence because of the relatively low human population of the areas. In order to better assess the benefits of restoration, my analysis could be improved by further consideration of how restoration may enhance current carbon stocks, for which recently produced pan-tropical carbon maps could be used as a baseline (Saatchi et al. 2011; Baccini et al. 2012). In addition this study could also be improved by consideration of the potential persistence of any forest related to human population density, land-use and roads which have all been shown to be related to forest clearance (Nelson and Hellerstein 1997; Rosa et al. 2013).

6.5.4 Caveats and priorities for future research

These results represent a first attempt to identify priority areas across the tropics for forest restoration targeting carbon storage and bird biodiversity and, as such, there are a number of caveats associated with the approach. Firstly, the models of biomass and biodiversity may be a limited reflection of reality because of lack of data. In order to improve the model of biomass, more data is required from montane forests and possibly temperate and boreal areas, to characterise relationships between climate and biomass accumulation more generally. Currently, the lack of such data mean that any predictions for accumulation in montane forests may well be inaccurate, though recent publications of accumulation in the Colombian Andes may aid future models (Gilroy et al. 2014a; Gilroy et al. 2014b). In addition, the model would benefit from better determination of the degree to which

precipitation limits growth in regions with different climates, since currently the model is overly simplistic. Similarly, the model of bird presence would benefit from more data from a wider set of sites in order to determine relationships more precisely. The inclusion of fragmentation metrics into models of bird presence would also undoubtedly improve the realism of predictions.

Model projections to locations in which variables fall outside of the range of values used to parameterise models may also have led to inaccurate predictions. For aboveground biomass accumulation there seems to be relatively little evidence for this given that all values of accumulated growing season hours fell within the range of data used to parameterise the model (Figure A7 – Appendix IV). However, given that this model is simplistic it is possible that predictions are inaccurate for locations where little data was available, such as colder, montane forests. Models of the probability of bird species presence were more problematic with suggestions of extrapolation outside of the range of data used to parameterise the models, particularly for species highly dependent upon forest and non-forest species (Figure A8 – Appendix IV). These extrapolations resulted in predictions for species that had an extent of occurrence greater than those used in model parameterisation. While this is likely to have resulted in inaccurate predictions, given that each species was weighted by the inverse of its extent of occurrence, it is unlikely to have affected prioritisation results.

As well as a lack of data that may have led to inaccurate predictions there are a number of assumptions that I made during the modelling of both biomass and bird biodiversity that may not accurately represent true ecological relationships. Firstly, I did not attempt to account for differences in age between secondary forests when modelling bird biodiversity. However, it is likely that bird assemblages change during the course of succession with a shift from communities dominated by generalist species to one with a higher number of forest specialists in late succession. I chose not to represent this because while it is obvious that there is species turnover at individual landscapes it is not clear that changes in animal diversity are well predicted by forest age, since age is purely a proxy for successional status. Despite this it is clear that a model that incorporated variables that aimed to account for the potential changes in bird communities during succession would present a more ecologically realistic picture than the model presented here.

Similarly I artificially truncated the maximum age used in my model of forest biomass to avoid modelling more complex non-linear relationships as other previous

studies have also done (Johnson et al. 2000; Anderson et al. 2006). This is clearly a simplification of the successional process in which increases in biomass have repeatedly been shown to be non-linear with a general rapid increase followed by a gradual plateauing in older stands (Martin et al. 2013). Theory suggests that the rate of initial biomass increase is likely to be highest when both annual mean temperature and precipitation are high, thus enabling photosynthesis to occur rapidly throughout the entire year (Johnson et al. 2000; Anderson et al. 2006). It has previously been suggested that during succession biomass plateaus when constrained by a lack of water since as a tree increases in height, and thus biomass, it requires more water (Ryan and Yoder 1997; Ryan et al. 2006). In order to explore this non-linearity in greater detail future models should attempt to define which factors determine the slope of the initial rapid increase and the maximum biomass of stands when biomass accumulation plateaus. Doing so would improve our ability to model the potential for carbon storage in areas that are currently deforested or degraded.

In addition to potential problems with the models used in this chapter, it is possible that the relatively coarse grain size of this analysis (2x2 decimal degree squares) meant that finer scale relationships were poorly characterised, as noted previously by Strassburg et al. (2010). This problem stems from the use of range maps produced by experts as part of the Red List process (Rodrigues et al. 2006), which previous studies have shown do not represent real communities well at resolutions finer than two decimal degrees (Hurlbert and Jetz 2007). The inability to use maps based on expert opinion at the scales generally suitable for conservation management is recognised as a major problem for identification of conservation priorities (Hurlbert and Jetz 2007), and methods of fine scale presence of species using coarse scale range data are an area of active research (Keil et al. 2013; Keil and Jetz 2013). Such models are vital in order to target conservation and restoration actions more precisely than is currently possible.

Another caveat of this study is that bird biodiversity is not necessarily a good indicator of wider biodiversity since they are highly mobile and are able to disperse long distances. Bird biodiversity generally tends to be relatively poor as an indicator of changes in species richness of other taxonomic groups but are relatively good predictors of changes in composition (Westgate et al. 2014), and similar results have been shown in tropical degraded forests (Gardner et al. 2008). However, across a recent meta-analysis of the ecological literature on indicator taxa showed that there is extremely high variability in cross-taxon congruence and that it is

relatively rare that any taxonomic group will serve as an effective surrogate for another (Westgate et al. 2014). Thus any work which attempts to address the potential biodiversity value of sites for restoration in the future should attempt to model the recovery of a wider suite of taxa than I have in this study, however this will be difficult since taxa tend to respond differently to alteration of forest ecosystems (Barton et al. 2014).

Despite these caveats, this study represents an improvement on the only previous study that aimed to prioritise areas for carbon and biodiversity recovery (Greve et al. 2013). That study did not attempt to model the degree to which restoration might benefit biodiversity as the researchers looked at the spatial overlap between current biodiversity priorities and the potential for carbon storage in sub Saharan Africa (Greve et al. 2013). Thus, this study represents an ecologically more realistic assessment of the potential benefits of tropical forest restoration for carbon and biodiversity recovery.

6.6 Conclusions

Both the Convention on Biological Diversity and REDD+ initiatives aim to increase carbon storage and conservation value of landscapes in part through forest restoration. Despite the caveats associated with this study, I have shown that these dual goals are unlikely to be achieved if restoration locations are selected using prioritisation based on one goal alone. Thus, if restoration aims to achieve multiple goals, prioritisation must model the potential impact of restoration on these goals since, in the case of carbon and bird biodiversity, they are poor proxies for each other.

6.7 References

- Alexander, S., Nelson, C. R., Aronson, J., Lamb, D., Cliquet, A., Erwin, K. L.,
 Finlayson, C. M., De Groot, R. S., Harris, J. A. and Higgs, E. S., 2011.
 Opportunities and challenges for ecological restoration within REDD+. *Restoration Ecology*, 19 (6), 683-689.
- Anderson, D. R., Burnham, K. P. and Thompson, W. L., 2000. Null Hypothesis Testing: Problems, Prevalence, and an Alternative. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 64 (4), 912-923.
- Anderson, K. J., Allen, A. P., Gillooly, J. F. and Brown, J. H., 2006. Temperaturedependence of biomass accumulation rates during secondary succession. *Ecology Letters*, 9 (6), 673-682.

- Asner, G. P., Rudel, T. K., Aide, T. M., Defries, R. and Emerson, R., 2009. A Contemporary Assessment of Change in Humid Tropical Forest. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (6), 1386-1395.
- Baccini, A., Goetz, S., Walker, W., Laporte, N., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D.,
 Hackler, J., Beck, P., Dubayah, R. and Friedl, M., 2012. Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps. *Nature Climate Change*, 2 (3), 182-185.
- Barlow, J., Gardner, T. A., Araujo, I. S., Ávila-Pires, T. C., Bonaldo, A. B., Costa, J. E., Esposito, M. C., Ferreira, L. V., Hawes, J., Hernandez, M. I. M., Hoogmoed, M. S., Leite, R. N., Lo-Man-Hung, N. F., Malcolm, J. R., Martins, M. B., Mestre, L. A. M., Miranda-Santos, R., Nunes-Gutjahr, A. L., Overal, W. L., Parry, L., Peters, S. L., Ribeiro-Junior, M. A., da Silva, M. N. F., da Silva Motta, C. and Peres, C. A., 2007. Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary, and plantation forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (47), 18555-18560.
- Barlow, J. and Peres, C. A., 2008. Fire-mediated dieback and compositional cascade in an Amazonian forest. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363 (1498), 1787-1794.
- Barton, K., 2013. MuMIn: Multi-model inference. 1.9.5.
- Birch, J. C., Newton, A. C., Aquino, C. A., Cantarello, E., Echeverría, C., Kitzberger, T., Schiappacasse, I. and Garavito, N. T., 2010. Cost-effectiveness of dryland forest restoration evaluated by spatial analysis of ecosystem services. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107 (50), 21925-21930.
- BirdLife International, 2008. *State of the world's birds: indicators for our changing world.* Cambridge, UK.: BirdLife International.
- Bullock, J. M., Aronson, J., Newton, A. C., Pywell, R. F. and Rey-Benayas, J. M., 2011. Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. *Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition)*, 26 (10), 541-549.
- Burnham, K. P., Anderson, D. R. and Huyvaert, K. P., 2011. AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology: some background, observations, and comparisons. *Behavioral ecology and sociobiology*, 65 (1), 23-35.
- Cao, S., Chen, L. and Yu, X., 2009. Impact of China's Grain for Green Project on the landscape of vulnerable arid and semi-arid agricultural regions: a case

study in northern Shaanxi Province. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46 (3), 536-543.

- CBD, 2010. Decision adopted by the conference of the parties to the convention on biological diversity at its tenth meeting The Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets.
- Chazdon, R. L., 2008. Beyond Deforestation: Restoring Forests and Ecosystem Services on Degraded Lands. *Science*, 320 (5882), 1458-1460.
- Cienciala, E., Kučera, J., Lindroth, A., Čermák, J., Grelle, A. and Halldin, S., 1997. Canopy transpiration from a boreal forest in Sweden during a dry year. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 86 (3–4), 157-167.
- Cordeiro, N. J. and Howe, H. F., 2001. Low Recruitment of Trees Dispersed by Animals in African Forest Fragments. *Conservation Biology*, 15 (6), 1733-1741.
- Cordeiro, N. J. and Howe, H. F., 2003. Forest fragmentation severs mutualism between seed dispersers and an endemic African tree. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100 (24), 14052-14056.
- Davies, R. G., Orme, C. D. L., Storch, D., Olson, V. A., Thomas, G. H., Ross, S. G., Ding, T.-S., Rasmussen, P. C., Bennett, P. M., Owens, I. P. F., Blackburn, T. M. and Gaston, K. J., 2007. Topography, energy and the global distribution of bird species richness. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274 (1614), 1189-1197.
- Dent, D. H. and Wright, S. J., 2009. The future of tropical species in secondary forests: a quantitative review. *Biological Conservation*, 142 (12), 2833-2843.
- DiMiceli, C. M., M.L. Carroll, R.A. Sohlberg, C. Huang, M.C. Hansen, and J.R.G. Townshend, 2011. Vegetation Continuous Fields MOD44B - 20011 Percent Tree Cover. In Maryland, U. O. (Ed.). College Park, Maryland.
- Dixon, R. K., Solomon, A. M., Brown, S., Houghton, R. A., Trexier, M. C. and Wisniewski, J., 1994. Carbon pools and flux of global forest ecosystems. *Science*, 263 (5144), 185-190.
- Doughty, C. E., Malhi, Y., Araujo-Murakami, A., Metcalfe, D. B., Silva-Espejo, J. E., Arroyo, L., Heredia, J. P., Pardo-Toledo, E., Mendizabal, L. M., Rojas-Landivar, V. D., Martinez, M., Valencia, M., Rivero, R. and Vare, L., 2014.
 Allocation trade-offs dominate the response of tropical forest growth to seasonal and interannual drought. *Ecology*.

- Dunn, R. R. and Romdal, T. S., 2005. Mean latitudinal range sizes of bird assemblages in six Neotropical forest chronosequences. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 14 (4), 359-366.
- Foley, J. A., Asner, G. P., Costa, M. H., Coe, M. T., DeFries, R., Gibbs, H. K.,
 Howard, E. A., Olson, S., Patz, J. and Ramankutty, N., 2007. Amazonia
 revealed: forest degradation and loss of ecosystem goods and services in
 the Amazon Basin. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 5 (1), 25-32.
- Forsythe, W. C., Rykiel Jr, E. J., Stahl, R. S., Wu, H.-i. and Schoolfield, R. M., 1995.A model comparison for daylength as a function of latitude and day of year.*Ecological Modelling*, 80 (1), 87-95.
- Gardner, T. A., Barlow, J., Chazdon, R., Ewers, R. M., Harvey, C. A., Peres, C. A. and Sodhi, N. S., 2009. Prospects for tropical forest biodiversity in a humanmodified world. *Ecology Letters*, 12 (6), 561-582.
- Gaston, K. J., 1996. Species-range-size distributions: patterns, mechanisms and implications. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 11 (5), 197-201.
- Gaston, K. J., Blackburn, T. M., Greenwood, J. J. D., Gregory, R. D., Quinn, R. M. and Lawton, J. H., 2000. Abundance–occupancy relationships. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 37, 39-59.
- Gibbs, H. K., Ruesch, A. S., Achard, F., Clayton, M. K., Holmgren, P., Ramankutty, N. and Foley, J. A., 2010. Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107 (38), 16732-16737.
- Gilroy, J. J., Woodcock, P., Edwards, F. A., Wheeler, C., Baptiste, B. L., Uribe, C. A.
 M., Haugaasen, T. and Edwards, D. P., 2014a. Cheap carbon and biodiversity co-benefits from forest regeneration in a hotspot of endemism. *Nature Climate Change*.
- Gilroy, J. J., Woodcock, P., Edwards, F. A., Wheeler, C., Medina Uribe, C. A., Haugaasen, T. and Edwards, D. P., 2014b. Optimizing carbon storage and biodiversity protection in tropical agricultural landscapes. *Global Change Biology*.
- Greve, M., Reyers, B., Mette Lykke, A. and Svenning, J.-C., 2013. Spatial optimization of carbon-stocking projects across Africa integrating stocking potential with co-benefits and feasibility. *Nat Commun*, 4.
- Hijmans, R. J., Cameron, S. E., Parra, J. L., Jones, P. G. and Jarvis, A., 2005. Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology*, 25 (15), 1965-1978.

- Holl, K. D. and Aide, T. M., 2011. When and where to actively restore ecosystems? *Forest ecology and management*, 261 (10), 1558-1563.
- Humphrey, J., Newton, A., Latham, J., Gray, H., Kirby, K., Poulsom, E. and Quine,C., 2000. *The Restoration of Wooded Landscapes*. Paper presented at theProceedings of a conference held at Heriot Watt University.
- Hurlbert, A. H. and Jetz, W., 2007. Species richness, hotspots, and the scale dependence of range maps in ecology and conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (33), 13384-13389.
- IUCN SSC, 2001. IUCN Red List categories and criteria: version 3.1. Prepared by the IUCN Species Survival Commission.
- Johnson, C. M., Zarin, D. J. and Johnson, A. H., 2000. Post-disturbance aboveground biomass accumulation in global secondary forests. *Ecology*, 81 (5), 1395-1401.
- Jones, H. P. and Schmitz, O. J., 2009. Rapid Recovery of Damaged Ecosystems. *PLoS ONE*, 4 (5), e5653.
- Keil, P., Belmaker, J., Wilson, A. M., Unitt, P. and Jetz, W., 2013. Downscaling of species distribution models: a hierarchical approach. *Methods in Ecology* and Evolution, 4 (1), 82-94.
- Keil, P. and Jetz, W., 2013. Downscaling the environmental associations and spatial patterns of species richness. *Ecological Applications*.
- Lamb, D., Erskine, P. D. and Parrotta, J. A., 2005. Restoration of Degraded Tropical Forest Landscapes. *Science*, 310 (5754), 1628-1632.
- Llewellyn, D. W., Shaffer, G. P., Craig, N. J., Creasman, L., Pashley, D., Swan, M. and Brown, C., 1996. A Decision-Support System for Prioritizing Restoration Sites on the Mississippi River Alluvial Plain. *Conservation Biology*, 10 (5), 1446-1455.
- Martin, P. A., Newton, A. C. and Bullock, J. M., 2013. Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1773).
- Martin, T. G., Burgman, M. A., Fidler, F., Kuhnert, P. M., LOW-CHOY, S., McBride,
 M. and Mengersen, K., 2012. Eliciting expert knowledge in conservation
 science. *Conservation Biology*, 26 (1), 29-38.
- Moilanen, A., Franco, A. M. A., Early, R. I., Fox, R., Wintle, B. and Thomas, C. D., 2005. Prioritizing multiple-use landscapes for conservation: methods for large multi-species planning problems. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 272 (1575), 1885-1891.

- Moilanen, A., Wilson, K. A. and Possingham, H. P., 2009. Spatial conservation prioritization: quantitative methods and computational tools. Oxford University Press Oxford, UK.
- Nachtergaele, F., van Velthuizen, H., Verelst, L. and Wiberg, D., 2012. *Harmonized World Soil Database (v 1.2)*. Rome: FAO.
- Nelson, G. C. and Hellerstein, D., 1997. Do roads cause deforestation? Using satellite images in econometric analysis of land use. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 79 (1), 80-88.
- Newbold, T., Scharlemann, J. P. W., Butchart, S. H. M., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., Alkemade, R., Booth, H. and Purves, D. W., 2013. Ecological traits affect the response of tropical forest bird species to land-use intensity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1750).
- Newton, A., 2011. Principles and practice of forest landscape restoration: case studies from the drylands of Latin America. IUCN.
- Newton, A. C. and Kapos, V., 2003. *Restoration of wooded landscapes: placing UK initiatives in a global context.* Edinburgh.: Forestry Commission.
- Orsi, F., Geneletti, D. and Newton, A. C., 2011. Towards a common set of criteria and indicators to identify forest restoration priorities: An expert panel-based approach. *Ecological indicators*, 11 (2), 337-347.
- Parr, C. L., Lehmann, C. E. R., Bond, W. J., Hoffmann, W. A. and Andersen, A. N.,
 2014. Tropical grassy biomes: misunderstood, neglected, and under threat.
 Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 29 (4), 205-213.
- Prentice, I. C., Cramer, W., Harrison, S. P., Leemans, R., Monserud, R. A. and Solomon, A. M., 1992. Special paper: a global biome model based on plant physiology and dominance, soil properties and climate. *Journal of biogeography*, 117-134.
- R Development Core Team, 2011. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rodrigues, A. S., Pilgrim, J. D., Lamoreux, J. F., Hoffmann, M. and Brooks, T. M.,
 2006. The value of the IUCN Red List for conservation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21 (2), 71-76.
- Rosa, I. M. D., Purves, D., Souza, C., Jr. and Ewers, R. M., 2013. Predictive
 Modelling of Contagious Deforestation in the Brazilian Amazon. *PLoS ONE*, 8 (10), e77231.
- Ryan, M. G., Phillips, N. and Bond, B. J., 2006. The hydraulic limitation hypothesis revisited. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 29 (3), 367-381.

Ryan, M. G. and Yoder, B. J., 1997. Hydraulic limits to tree height and tree growth.

- Saatchi, S. S., Harris, N. L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E. T. A., Salas, W., Zutta, B. R., Buermann, W., Lewis, S. L., Hagen, S., Petrova, S., White, L., Silman, M. and Morel, A., 2011. Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108 (24), 9899-9904.
- Sayer, C., Bullock, J. M., Orme, C. D. L. and Martin, P. A., 2013. Recovery of endemic and globally threatened birds species in secondary tropical forest. *In prep.*
- Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., Ehrlich, P. R., Daily, G. C., Aygen, D., Goehring, D. and Sandí, R. F., 2002. Disappearance of insectivorous birds from tropical forest fragments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99 (1), 263-267.
- Slik, J. W. F., Paoli, G., McGuire, K., Amaral, I., Barroso, J., Bastian, M., Blanc, L., Bongers, F., Boundja, P., Clark, C., Collins, M., Dauby, G., Ding, Y., Doucet, J.-L., Eler, E., Ferreira, L., Forshed, O., Fredriksson, G., Gillet, J.-F., Harris, D., Leal, M., Laumonier, Y., Malhi, Y., Mansor, A., Martin, E., Miyamoto, K., Araujo-Murakami, A., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Nurtjahya, E., Oliveira, Á., Onrizal, O., Parada-Gutierrez, A., Permana, A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, J., Ramirez-Angulo, H., Reitsma, J., Rovero, F., Rozak, A., Sheil, D., Silva-Espejo, J., Silveira, M., Spironelo, W., ter Steege, H., Stevart, T., Navarro-Aguilar, G. E., Sunderland, T., Suzuki, E., Tang, J., Theilade, I., van der Heijden, G., van Valkenburg, J., Van Do, T., Vilanova, E., Vos, V., Wich, S., Wöll, H., Yoneda, T., Zang, R., Zhang, M.-G. and Zweifel, N., 2013. Large trees drive forest aboveground biomass variation in moist lowland forests across the tropics. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22 (12), 1261-1271.
- Sodhi, N. S., Lee, T. M., Koh, L. P. and Brook, B. W., 2009. A Meta-Analysis of the Impact of Anthropogenic Forest Disturbance on Southeast Asia's Biotas. *Biotropica*, 41 (1), 103-109.
- Stegen, J. C., Swenson, N. G., Enquist, B. J., White, E. P., Phillips, O. L.,
 Jørgensen, P. M., Weiser, M. D., Monteagudo Mendoza, A. and Núñez
 Vargas, P., 2011. Variation in above-ground forest biomass across broad
 climatic gradients. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 20 (5), 744-754.
- Strassburg, B. B., Kelly, A., Balmford, A., Davies, R. G., Gibbs, H. K., Lovett, A., Miles, L., Orme, C. D. L., Price, J. and Turner, R. K., 2010. Global

congruence of carbon storage and biodiversity in terrestrial ecosystems. *Conservation Letters*, 3 (2), 98-105.

- Sutherland, W. J., Adams, W. M., Aronson, R. B., Aveling, R., Blackburn, T. M., Broad, S., Ceballos, G., CÔTÉ, I. M., Cowling, R. M., Da Fonseca, G. A. B., Dinerstein, E., Ferraro, P. J., Fleishman, E., Gascon, C., Hunter Jr, M., Hutton, J., Kareiva, P., Kuria, A., Macdonald, D. W., Mackinnon, K., Madgwick, F. J., Mascia, M. B., McNeely, J., Milner-Gulland, E. J., Moon, S., Morley, C. G., Nelson, S., Osborn, D., Pai, M., Parsons, E. C. M., Peck, L. S., Possingham, H., Prior, S. V., Pullin, A. S., Rands, M. R. W., Ranganathan, J., Redford, K. H., Rodriguez, J. P., Seymour, F., Sobel, J., Sodhi, N. S., Stott, A., Vance-Borland, K. and Watkinson, A. R., 2009. One Hundred Questions of Importance to the Conservation of Global Biological Diversity. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (3), 557-567.
- Twedt, D. J., Uihlein, W. B. and Blaine Elliott, A., 2006. A Spatially Explicit Decision Support Model for Restoration of Forest Bird Habitat. *Conservation Biology*, 20 (1), 100-110.
- van Breugel, M., Ransijn, J., Craven, D., Bongers, F. and Hall, J. S., 2011. Estimating carbon stock in secondary forests: Decisions and uncertainties associated with allometric biomass models. *Forest ecology and management*, 262 (8), 1648-1657.
- Villard, M. A., Trzcinski, M. K. and Merriam, G., 1999. Fragmentation effects on forest birds: relative influence of woodland cover and configuration on landscape occupancy. *Conservation Biology*, 13 (4), 774-783.
- Walsh, R. P. D., 1996. Climate. *In:* Richards, P., ed. *The tropical rain forest: an ecological study.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 179-205.
- Wickham, H., 2009. ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. New York: Springer.
- Wullschleger, S. D., Hanson, P. J. and Todd, D. E., 2001. Transpiration from a multi-species deciduous forest as estimated by xylem sap flow techniques. *Forest ecology and management*, 143 (1–3), 205-213.
- Zarin, D. J., Ducey, M. J., Tucker, J. M. and Salas, W. A., 2001. Potential biomass accumulation in Amazonian regrowth forests. *Ecosystems*, 4 (7), 658-668.

Chapter 7

7 Discussion

During this discussion I summarise the main findings of each chapter of the thesis before addressing the broad themes for the thesis (i) impacts of degradation on ecosystem services, (ii) biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships in degraded ecosystems and (iii) the potential mechanisms driving these relationships. Following this I discuss common themes in this thesis that I have not dealt with directly, such as the usefulness of gradients in degradation for ecological research, the need for more empirical studies of ecosystem services and the potential for improvements to research based on meta-analysis. I then discuss themes marginal to this thesis that present possible valuable research opportunities, before summarising the major contributions to knowledge this thesis has made.

7.1 Major findings of this thesis

The impacts of ecosystem degradation on biodiversity and ecosystem services are relatively poorly understood when compared to those of habitat conversion. The impacts of ecosystem degradation may be less dramatic than conversion of natural systems to agriculture, but understanding its consequences is vital given the importance of many of these systems for biodiversity conservation and ecosystem service provision in an increasingly human-dominated world (Chazdon et al. 2009). Experimental work has suggested that there are relationships between changes in plant species richness and ecosystem functions (Hector and Bagchi 2007; Cardinale et al. 2012), which may result in change to ecosystem services on which humans depend. However, the degree to which this is true in real-world systems has been questioned, as has the relevance of such research for biodiversity conservation (Srivastava and Vellend 2005). Since biodiversity that is perceived to be of conservation importance varies in its connection to ecosystem services, the two are not always related, even though they are both of societal concern (Mace et al. 2012). As such, there may be cases in which there is a trade-off between biodiversity and ecosystem service priorities (Bullock et al. 2011; Mace et al. 2012). To address this issue, I investigated biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships in the context of ecosystems degraded by non-native plant invasion, selective logging and tropical secondary forests recovering from deforestation, using meta-analyses to form generalisations.

7.1.1 Impacts of invasive non-native plant species on ecosystem services

Invasive non-native species tend to affect species richness negatively (Vilà et al. 2011), and changes in invaded communities can lead to alteration of ecosystem functions (Levine et al. 2003). Despite suggestions that invasive species pose a threat to ecosystem services (Pejchar and Mooney 2009), relatively little quantitative work has assessed this threat. In addition impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services have been presumed to be linked in the context of non-native invasions (Vilà et al. 2009) but there is relatively little proof of this (Strayer 2012). In order to address these knowledge gaps, I undertook a meta-analysis with the aims of assessing (i) the impact non-native plant invasion on ecosystem services (ii) links between these impacts and changes in plant communities.

Following a meta-analysis of the available evidence, it is clear that nonnative invasive plant species can have positive as well as negative effects of ecosystem services. On average non-native plant invasion led to increases in aboveground and belowground carbon storage and reductions in water provision and quality. While the potential positive impacts of invasive species has previously been noted (Pejchar and Mooney 2009), this is the first analysis to suggest that positive effects are common. Though this result is likely to be controversial, it is also intuitive given that some invasive plant species have been introduced specifically to enhance particular services (Hulme 2011). However, this observation should be balanced by noting that these positive changes were also accompanied by negative changes in other services. In addition, very few studies measured multiple ecosystem services and, therefore, trade-offs between services were difficult to assess. Further work must be undertaken to assess these trade-offs at the site scale.

Results from Chapter 2 also suggested that the impact of invasive plant species on aboveground carbon storage was negatively correlated with community richness change – so that communities that experienced greatest reductions in species richness showed greatest increases in aboveground biomass. This result was surprising as it suggests the opposite relationship to that seen in many biodiversity-ecosystem function experiments, where reduction in species richness results in reduced biomass (Cardinale et al. 2011). The negative relationship in my study is likely to be reflective of increased dominance of invasive plants in invaded ecosystems, rather than changes in species richness *per se*. This increased dominance is likely to cause reduced community richness and, since invasive species tend to show high productivity (Vilà et al. 2011), this results in increased aboveground carbon storage. However, the relationship between changes in species richness and aboveground carbon storage was relatively weak and no other ecosystem services showed any relationships to changes in species richness. Given that previous studies have suggested that species' effect traits can govern ecosystem services (Díaz et al. 2007), it appeared likely that this was also the case in the context of non-native plant invasions.

To investigate the hypothesis that species effect traits could be used to explain the ecosystem service impacts of non-native plant invasion, I used data collected during Chapter 2 along with trait data from the TRY plant traits database (Kattge et al. 2011). Though there were hints at the potential importance of effect traits (those traits hypothesised to have an effect on ecosystem functions) in governing the impact of invasive species on ecosystem services, attempts to predict impacts had mixed success. Invasive species height was a good predictor of changes in aboveground carbon, and a weaker predictor of changes in water quality. All other trait-impact relationships were poorly supported. These results suggest that predicting invasive plant species from their effect traits is likely to prove elusive. However, rather than suggesting that invasive species traits play no role in driving impacts on ecosystem services, it appears likely that more detailed data are needed to predict these impacts. Previous studies have suggested that in order to link community change to changes in ecosystem services, abundance of all species and their traits must be taken into account (Díaz et al. 2007). Thus, in order to predict the impact of invasive plant species identification of ecosystems likely to be invaded, the species present in them, the potential abundance of the invader following invasion and, traits of invasive and native species are needed. Given the level of detail, required it appears unlikely that such predictions will be possible in the near future.

7.1.2 Impacts of logging on carbon storage and biodiversity

Selective logging is one of the most widespread forms of forest degradation in the tropics with over 400 million hectares designated for permanent timber production (Asner et al. 2009). The only previous synthesis of the impacts of selective logging on biodiversity and carbon storage by Putz et al. (2012) identified wide-scale variation in effects, suggesting that Reduced Impact Logging (RIL) may reduce negative impacts compared to conventional logging. However, Putz et al. (2012), did not test this statistically or identify any other mechanisms for this variation. To address this I undertook a meta-analysis and systematic review to identify (i) the impact of selective logging on species richness and aboveground

carbon storage in tropical forests, and (ii) the mechanisms related to logging method that may explain differences.

Results of my study indicated that carbon storage was strongly negatively affected by logging, while species richness only showed small declines. These results suggested that logging may have greater impacts on carbon than previously thought, with a mean reduction of 43% compared to previous estimates of 25% (Putz et al. 2012). Changes in species richness were similar to those reported by Putz et al. (2012), with my study suggesting reductions of 9% compared to their estimates of 10%. Given that my study was weighted by study accuracy and accounted for study level pseudoreplication, unlike that of Putz et al. (2012), it is likely to be the most accurate estimate of the general effects of logging to date.

My study also revealed that there is large variation in logging impacts on aboveground biomass and species richness, and that these differences are most effectively explained by variation in the volume of wood removed during logging operations. Analyses suggested that as logging intensity increased, biomass loss increased while species richness tended to increase. Importantly, there was relatively little evidence that reduced impact logging (RIL) differed in its impacts on biomass or species richness when compared to conventional logging. This was because RIL tended to be carried out at lower intensities and, thus, its effect independently of logging intensity was almost impossible to characterise.

These results suggest that further work at a greater range of intensities must be done in order to characterise the potential benefits of RIL. In addition, my results were suggestive of a trade-off in which during logging carbon storage is strongly reduced but species richness declines very little. However, further work is needed to identify how logging may impact community composition, given that species richness tells us nothing about identity of species and, thus, whether apparent lack of change in species richness is as a result of an influx of generalist species. However, in order to be able to do this studies must be undertaken to reduce spatial pseudo-replication which is widely prevalent in logging studies (Ramage et al. 2013).

7.1.3 Recovery of carbon and biodiversity in tropical secondary forests

Following clearance of tropical forest for farmland and subsequent abandonment carbon appeared to recover more quickly than plant biodiversity. Aboveground biomass increased rapidly before reaching a plateau and was predicted to be approximately 80% that of mature forests after 82 years. Soil carbon in secondary forests did not differ from mature forests and belowground biomass appeared to take longer to recover than aboveground biomass, though this was likely to be attributable to relative lack of data. Tree species richness also increased rapidly and recovered after ~50 years, while epiphyte richness showed slower recovery. However, despite increases in plant species richness there appeared to be little recovery of forest specialists with the proportion of mature forest species remaining low for most secondary forests. Indeed, on average secondary forests only contained approximately 25% of those species found in mature forests.

Thus, this is suggestive of a temporal trade-off in ecosystem service and biodiversity value, in which forests <100 years old are likely to be more valuable for carbon storage than for biodiversity conservation, especially given that faunal composition is likely to take >150 years to recover (Dent and Wright 2009). The results of my study also suggest that passive restoration may be enough to achieve restoration of carbon in forests but forest specialist species may require active restoration in order for them to become established, possibly due to impeded dispersal in highly fragmented tropical forest landscapes. Measures such as the planting of tree islands throughout the wider landscape may aid dispersal between forest patches and encourage such recovery (Rey Benayas et al. 2008).

While at a local scale there are temporal trade-offs between the carbon and biodiversity value of secondary forests, my analyses suggest that there are also spatial trade-offs between areas that should be considered a priority for carbon sequestration or for biodiversity recovery (Chapter 6). Empirical models suggested that biomass accumulation should be highest in the wet tropics, particularly in the western Amazon and the Indonesian archipelago. However, models suggested that the bird biodiversity value of restoration could be maximised in areas where species had small global ranges, in mountainous regions and in areas of the Indonesian archipelago. There was a lack of relationship between the two targets and trade-offs were just as likely as win-win situations. However, analyses showed that both goals could be maximised in a number of areas. Though there were caveats related to the models used for projections in this chapter, it appears clear that restoration projects that are located to maximise carbon sequestration or bird biodiversity value are unlikely to maximise both goals. In order for this to occur, project planning requires consideration of multiple goals to target policy effectively.

7.2 Common themes across chapters

Previous studies have suggested that drivers of biodiversity loss, particularly changes in species richness, also affect ecosystem functions and ecosystem services (Hooper et al. 2012). However, many biodiversity-ecosystem service

relationships are unclear. Here I synthesise findings from a range of meta-analyses, including those undertaken as part of this thesis, to address the broad aims of this thesis, by assessing the evidence of (i) ecosystem degradation impacts on ecosystem services, focussing on carbon and water, (ii) the relationship between changes in species richness and ecosystem service provision in these degraded ecosystems and (iii) the possible mechanisms that explain differences in effects amongst different types of degradation.

7.2.1 How does ecosystem degradation affect ecosystem services?

Since drivers of degradation differ in their specific effects on ecosystems, changes in biodiversity and ecosystem service provision would be expected to differ amongst degradation types. In order to estimate the impact of different drivers of ecosystem degradation on ecosystem services, I collated data from previous metaanalyses (Gibson et al. 2011; Barlow et al. 2012; Hooper et al. 2012) along with that from Chapters 2, 4 and 5 of this thesis. Synthesis of these studies makes it obvious that the magnitude of impacts of differs markedly amongst different types of degradation (Figure 1). Invasive species and climate warming lead to increased aboveground carbon storage, with nitrogen addition on average also leading to increases though these were too variable to distinguish from no change (Figure 33). However, degradation that was associated with direct removal of biomass either directly by humans (logging or secondary forest) or as a result of dramatically increased mortality (fire or drought) led to sharp decreases in aboveground carbon storage (Figure 33). A gradient in the impacts of different disturbance types is also apparent, with more severe disturbances resulting in greater aboveground carbon losses.



Figure 33 – Effect of difference types of ecosystem degradation on aboveground carbon storage. Results from previous meta-analyses are indicated by red circles and those from this thesis by blue triangles. Bars represent 95% confidence intervals and the dashed line indicates where carbon pools in degraded and undegraded ecosystems are the same. Data for meta-analyses not undertaken as part of this thesis were taken from Barlow et al. (2012), Hooper et al. (2012) and (Putz et al. 2012).

Regarding the other ecosystem services assessed in Chapter 2, water quality and water provision, the picture is less clear since they have rarely been subject to quantitative meta-analysis. Degrading activities thought to result in reductions in water quality as a result of increased nutrient inputs into rivers include logging (Lal 1997), overgrazing (Smith et al. 2013) and nitrogen deposition (Aber et al. 1989). My work added the possibility that invasive non-native plants may also reduce water quality, since they tend to increase nutrient content of soils (Ehrenfeld 2003; Vilà et al. 2011). These different degrading activities either remove barriers to run-off (e.g. logging or overgrazing) or lead to an increase in nutrient inputs, such as nitrogen deposition (Hooper et al. 2012) and invasion by non-native plants. However, compared to other drivers of changes in water quality, it appears likely that the changes that invasive non-native plants cause may be relatively modest although this topic requires further research.

There have also been relatively few studies of the impact of ecosystem degradation on water provision, making comparison difficult. There does however, appear to be a trend showing that increases in biomass in an ecosystem result in reduced water provision. Examples of this include increased stream flow following harvesting of trees (Lal 1997) and reduced stream flow following increases in forest cover (Jackson et al. 2005). Given that invasive species tended to increase community biomass, this is likely to be the mechanism by which non-native plants cause a reduction in water provision. Indeed, conservation management in South Africa specifically targets reducing non-native species biomass to increase water provision (Van Wilgen et al. 1998). There is a widespread recognition of the trade-off between carbon storage and water provision but there appears to be relatively little work quantifying it. Further work is required to provide quantitative assessments of this trade-off.

7.2.2 How are ecosystem services and biodiversity related in degraded systems?

Given that alteration in species richness has been suggested as being related to changes in productivity and, therefore, carbon storage (Cardinale et al. 2011), where degradation negatively affects species richness a reduction in carbon storage would be expected. However, for some types of degradation this is clearly not the case. While ecosystems degraded by fire, logging and forests recovering from clearance all show reduction in both carbon and species richness when compared to undisturbed ecosystems, nitrogen addition and invasive species both appear to cause a reduction in species richness, but an increase in aboveground carbon storage (Figure 34). These differences are likely to be due to the mechanisms which govern species richness-carbon relationships in the particular contexts. For example, invasive species outcompete native species and so reduce local richness (Vilà et al. 2011), but the species that invade tend to be highly productive, leading to increases in community biomass. Nitrogen addition meanwhile enhances productivity, but leads to the loss of species that are unable to take advantage of these increased resources (Bobbink et al. 2010).

In the cases of fire, logging and forest recovering from clearance, ecosystems show much smaller reductions in species richness than in carbon storage (Figure 32). This is possible evidence for particular species being important for the provision of the service of carbon storage and that these are either lost rapidly following degradation or regained slowly. In the case of logging, larger trees may be lost because they are selectively removed for use as timber. In the case of fire, there is evidence to suggest that some large trees show disproportionately large increases in mortality (Barlow and Peres 2008). In the case of secondary forest recovery following clearance, results from this thesis, and the work of others, suggest that these forests may lack long lived, large trees resulting in reduced carbon storage (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001; Martin et al. 2013). However, despite general trends in the effects of different drivers of degradation, there is much variation among studies of each type of degradation, as I have shown in this thesis. Identification of reasons for this heterogeneity is important if we are to gain a more nuanced picture of ecosystem degradation.



Figure 34 – Relationship between reductions in aboveground biomass and plant or tree species richness for a range of different types of ecosystem degradation. Triangular points represent results from this thesis while circular points represent the results from previous meta-analyses. Bars represent 95% confidence intervals for estimates of change, and dashed lines indicate where carbon pools or species richness is the same in degraded and undegraded ecosystems.

7.2.3 What mechanisms explain these biodiversity-ecosystem service relationships?

All the types of ecosystem degradation I have investigated in this thesis seem to affect biodiversity and ecosystem services via different mechanisms. Although there appear to be relationships between ecosystem service provision and species richness in each case, it is unlikely that changes in ecosystem service provision were caused directly by changes in richness *per se*. However, the most obvious explanations for relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem services provision from this thesis relate to the traits or characteristics of the species lost and gained as a result of degradation.
In the case of invasive non-native plant species there is an apparent negative relationship between changes in species richness and those in aboveground biomass. This relationship is suggestive of a situation in which the ecosystem is losing species with low productivity and gaining species with higher productivity, possibly because of effect trait differences between native and nonnative species. However, the chapter in which I attempted to predict changes in ecosystem services using non-native invasive species' traits provided a mixed picture. Invasive height predicted changes in aboveground carbon storage and water quality but other relationships were poorly supported.

In the cases relating to tropical forest degradation explored in this thesis the fact that there was a greater loss of aboveground biomass than species richness suggests that the species that were being lost were disproportionately important for providing the service. These tree species are likely to be large, slow growing species that were either directly removed for timber in logged sites or had yet to colonise secondary forests (Guariguata and Ostertag 2001). This is suggestive of a strong link between response traits and effect traits in these cases with the species most likely to be lost from undisturbed systems also likely to be those that provide a disproportionately large carbon pool. Recent work suggests that such species may be lacking from human-disturbed forests in the Amazon, with very little recruitment of species with high wood density, which is positively associated with carbon storage (Berenguer 2013). However, further work is needed in order to be able to predict the long-term consequences of such disturbances.

7.3 Common themes across chapters that I have not dealt with directly

7.3.1 Gradients of degradation

Much of the work in this thesis has required the use of gradients of degradation to explain changes in carbon and biodiversity. The use of natural gradients has a long history in ecological research (Körner 2007) and much work has used land-use gradients that run from undisturbed ecosystems to those converted to human use (Maestas et al. 2003). However, few studies have identified how the impacts of individual drivers of degradation (e.g. logging) are affected as the intensity of degradation changes. This is surprising since it is clear from my work that the impacts of certain types of degradation on biodiversity and ecosystem services can vary massively. For example, in Chapter 2 impacts of non-native

invasion on aboveground carbon storage ranged from a 90% reduction to a 325% increase. Similarly in Chapter 4, impacts of logging on biomass ranged from a 10% increase to an 85% reduction in aboveground carbon storage. Variation in both of these cases was partially explained by the intensity of degradation, namely impact of invasive species on community species richness and intensity of logging. However, the literature on invasive species and logging has rarely considered the importance of such intensity gradients (but see Sist et al. 1998). Almost all observational work that deals with ecosystem degradation would benefit from consideration of where sites lie on the degradation spectrum study. Not only would this consideration aid synthesis, it would also help to place studies in the context of the wider literature, thus, aiding interpretation of results.

In order to identify gradients in degradation, metrics need to be identified which accurately reflect the major changes associated with specific drivers. These metrics may be specific to the degrading activity but it would be beneficial if such metrics are applicable across disturbance classes. Many indicators of ecosystem condition have been suggested but these are largely applicable to monitoring schemes (Pereira et al. 2013; Thompson et al. 2013) and are generally of little use for identification of ecological gradients. The most practically useful indicators are likely to be those related to ecosystem structure, since increasing amount of degradation tend to drive simplification of ecosystem structure (Sasaki and Putz 2009). Here I use the examples of non-native invasive species and selective logging of tropical forest to elucidate such an approach.

Much invasive species research compares uninvaded and heavily invaded ecosystems (Lowry et al. 2013). However, in invaded ecosystems it is likely that the abundance of the invasive species varies markedly between plots. As such, an obvious gradient to use in many cases is the percentage cover of the invasive plant species of interest. However, given that invasive plant species represent many different functional plant types, ranging from grasses to trees, an assessment of the biomass of the invasive species in each plot would be more informative. This would present a relatively simple way to allow comparison between invasive species of different functional forms across different studies. In addition, this would help to address the long held goal of invasion biology of identifying the 'per capita impact' of an invasive species and allow for cross study comparison of these impacts (Brooks et al. 2004). Such an approach would enable the identification of species that have a greater than expected impact, given their biomass, on biodiversity and ecosystem functions. This would also aid trait based studies given that the use of such

166

approaches depends on the relative abundances of species in plant communities (Lavorel and Garnier 2002).

In reference to identifying variation in degradation between different areas affected by selective logging, some studies have used number of trees removed and basal area cut as indicators (Mazzei et al. 2010). Of these two, the basal area cut is likely to be the most effective indicator for allowing effective synthesis since tree height and diameter and, thus, biomass are very variable across the globe (Slik et al. 2013). Using the basal area cut as a gradient would allow researchers to address applied questions, such as the potential differences in logging impact of reduced impact logging and conventional logging, which are currently unclear (Chapter 4).

Use of such gradients would undoubtedly aid in identifying nuanced effects of ecosystem degradation of which we are currently unaware. Gradient approaches could be used to identify potential non-linear regime shifts in terrestrial ecosystems that have previously been suggested in aquatic systems (Folke et al. 2004). Investigation of how well such indicators correlate with biodiversity or ecosystem service priorities could also help to determine their usefulness as proxy measures of degradation

7.3.2 Need for work investigating trade-offs in ecosystem services and biodiversity at the site scale

In this thesis I have summarised previous research on the impacts of different types of degradation on biodiversity and ecosystem services. However, the majority of ecosystem service data used in this thesis was related to carbon storage. While this storage is undoubtedly important for climate regulation, its common use in ecosystem service research is largely because of the relative ease with which it is measured when compared to less tangible services. Without the measurement of other ecosystem services at the site scale, it is impossible to determine trade-offs between ecosystem services as a result of changes in ecosystem service research (Foley et al. 2005), but currently much work that examines trade-offs uses GIS data to produce proxies of ecosystem services (e.g. Raudsepp-Hearne et al. 2010). Previous work has suggested that such proxies may poorly represent the real value of areas for ecosystem service provision (Eigenbrod et al. 2010). Thus, it is imperative that more field based studies attempt to quantify a

wider variety of ecosystem services to validate models and identify links to biodiversity.

Ecosystem services that I attempted to address in this thesis, but found little data about, were the changes in water provision and quality related to ecosystem degradation. Even where I assessed these I had to use proxies of these services as few direct measures were available. As Mace et al. (2012) note, it is perhaps unsurprising that the ecology research community has focussed less on these topics because links between these services and changes in biodiversity are likely to be less tangible. However, lack of investigation of such services runs the risk of poor estimation of such services in ecosystem service assessments, or worse still ignoring them entirely. For example, it has been claimed that selective logging can reduce water quality as a result of increased run-off and sediment entering streams but, to my knowledge, there is only one quantitative assessment of these changes (Lal 1997). Changes in water provision in the context of land-use change have been studied (Jackson et al. 2005), but there is still relatively little evidence of the changes associated with degradation. While these changes may have relatively little direct link to changes in biodiversity, water provision is arguably a more basic human need than climate regulation which has received much attention.

Another area of ecosystem service research that has been particularly neglected is cultural services. Although there is evidence to suggest that humans value and place importance on biodiversity, there is little understanding how these values may be affected by biodiversity change (Clark et al.). The most relevant evidence that we do have for linking biodiversity to cultural services suggests that habitat and plant diversity have been found to be linked positively to peoples' preferences for undertaking recreation in an area (Fuller et al. 2007). Similar relationships have been found for aesthetic appreciation (Lindemann-Matthies et al. 2010) and self-reported general well-being of individuals depending on whether they live in areas with diverse faunal communities or not (Dallimer et al. 2012). The only evidence relating to change in cultural values associated with environmental degradation suggests that it can lead to increases in depression and distress (Speldewinde et al. 2009; Stain et al. 2011). However, studies that investigated this degradation looked at responses associated with drought and flooding, and not biodiversity loss per se. Though the studies cited here provide some of the best evidence of the links between biodiversity and cultural ecosystem services they are isolated examples and may not represent general rules since cultural context is likely to be important in our perception of nature (Daniel et al. 2012; Clark et al.

2014). This lack of data is emphasised by a recent systematic review (Lovell et al. 2014) which was unable to make any strong statements about relationships between biodiversity and cultural services, highlighting the need for greater research into the linkages.

Only by quantifying these less commonly assessed services in different ecosystems can we gain a realistic picture of the trade-offs amongst services which is seen as a cornerstone of the ecosystem service approach (Mace et al. 2012). This is not an easy task and will require multidisciplinary research. However, a number of research projects have recently been funded that in part aim to cover a broader range of ecosystem services than previous studies and how changes in ecosystem degradation can affect these services (Ewers et al. 2011; Gardner et al. 2013). These studies will provide the basis of our understanding of potential tradeoffs and should result in more realistic estimation of how degradation effects service provision.

7.3.3 The value of meta-analysis and potential for improvements

Meta-analysis allows statistical analyses of entire fields of research and, as such, it is a powerful tool to assess evidence that is replacing case-study based understanding in ecology. Since they were first used in ecology in the early 1990s meta-analyses have evolved greatly and methods now exist to account for study-level pseudoreplication (Viechtbauer 2010) – though these are commonly ignored such as in the meta-analyses of Vilà et al. (2011) and Putz et al. (2012) which cover subjects similar to those covered in this thesis. While such methods accounting for study design have received much attention, there are still many ways in which meta-analysis in ecology could be improved that include methodological as well as cultural changes to how synthesis is conducted.

One of the most obvious ways in which meta-analysis in ecology could be made more meaningful is the increased investigation of sources of heterogeneity, which is still relatively rare (Koricheva et al. 2013). Given that many ecological studies are observational in nature, and that ecological experiments are much less controlled than those in the medical and physical sciences (Koricheva et al. 2013), such exploration of differences is particularly important. Exploration of this heterogeneity can largely be classified as that relating to differences in study methodology or that related to ecological processes. Explaining such variation can lead to improvement of methods in primary studies, as well as identifying important ecological reasons for differences that individual studies may have been unable to discern. Of particular importance to meta-analyses are the scale at which studies

169

were carried out (Whittaker 2011), climatic differences between sites (Castro-Díez et al. 2014) and other ecological gradients such as those identified in this thesis.

In addition to heterogeneity in effects, the selection of study sites in ecology is biased (Martin et al. 2012a) and, as such, nearly all areas of ecological research show some clustering of study sites (e.g. Pyšek et al. 2008). Using data derived from these causes problems for meta-analyses sites since sites closer to each other may be expected to have similar effect sizes, thus potentially violating statistical assumptions of independence (Dormann 2007). In this thesis I ignored this problem, as have all previous ecological meta-analyses to my knowledge since at present there is no recognised technique to deal with this problem. Accounting for such spatial auto-correlation would improve the generality of ecological meta-analyses, making their results more useful. In addition to meta-analyses conducted at the site scale, there is a growing number of meta-analyses that have used plot level data (Martin et al. 2013; Newbold et al. 2013). Given the wide scale prevalence of spatial pseudo-replication in observational ecological studies (see Ramage et al. 2012 for an example of this), the ability to partition variance caused by treatments and spatial variation would also help enormously in aiding our ability to answer both applied and basic ecological questions.

Finally, there is a need for a cultural change amongst the research community if the value of meta-analyses is to be maximised. Currently, studies that provide the data for meta-analyses tend not to be cited in articles, meaning that authors of these articles essentially receive no credit for their work. Presumably, omission of these studies from the references is to save print space but given that most journals are now accessed online their exclusion now seems unwarranted. At the very least this situation is unfair and, at worst, breeds antagonism between fieldbased researchers and those undertaking meta-analyses. This has led to metaanalysts being characterised as 'data parasites' that undertake 'bad science' by some (Lindenmayer and Likens 2011; Lindenmayer and Likens 2013). Undertaking this thesis has made me much more aware of this issue and discussions surrounding the publication resulting from Chapter 5 (Martin et al. 2013) directly led to the Royal Society altering its policy so that studies included in meta-analyses published in their journals receive credit in the same way as other citations. However, in many situations a more collaborative approach to meta-analysis may be necessary by which data providers are offered co-authorship, particularly when additional meta-data are provided as is the case for the manuscript resulting from Chapter 4. Ecology will advance more quickly if theory is based on empirical results

170

but this requires synthesis. To do this, the development of an academic culture that values data produced from experimental and field based studies is vital (Kueffer et al.).

7.4 Themes marginal to this thesis but that need more attention

This section includes thoughts on themes that I touched on when reviewing literature that require further research in some way. I briefly review the background of each subject, why they are interesting and identify potential areas for future research.

7.4.1 Loss of large trees

Like large, long lived animals, large long lived tree species appear to be particularly vulnerable to local extinction (Lindenmayer et al. 2012b). This elevated extinction can occur as a result of selective removal or because large trees possess characteristics, such as greater water requirements or slow growth (Ryan and Yoder 1997), that result in increases in mortality and decreases in recruitment following degradation. Large trees are perceived as critically important features of many ecosystems, providing multiple microhabitats for species (Lindenmayer et al. 2012a) as well as storing large amounts of carbon (Slik et al. 2013) and having great significance for some cultures (Salick et al. 2007). As such, their potential loss is of great conservation concern.

Recent reviews by Lindenmayer et al (2012; 2014) have suggested that there is a widespread loss of large old trees from many ecosystems across the globe. Though it is obvious that there is a loss of large trees as a result of human activity in some locations, it is unclear how widespread these losses are, where they are likely to occur or what drivers are most severe. The reviews of Lindenmayer et al do not attempt to quantify changes but claim to prove that these losses are a world-wide phenomenon. Such presumptions may be misguided as these reviews may be subject to cherry picking of studies to support the authors' viewpoint. As such, their claims require further scrutiny.

These losses of large trees as described by Lindenmayer et al can be the result of two basic processes, mortality of young, small trees (either seedlings or saplings) or that of large, old trees (Figure 35). Large scale mortality of young trees could potentially lead to an extinction debt in long lived trees over long time periods since their recruitment is required to maintain species populations (Fischer et al. 2009). Removal of large trees immediately changes ecosystems dramatically and potentially removes sources of seeds that would otherwise allow recruitment of

these species. Both of these processes can occur as a result of human disturbance, with potential feedbacks between the two as well as between different disturbances. Here, I briefly review the evidence for the claims of Lindermayer et al and identify priority areas for further research on the topic.



Figure 35- Conceptual model of the drivers of recruitment failure and increased loss of large trees, taken from Lindenmayer et al. (2014).

Large trees can suffer from increased mortality by two basic processes: selective removal or increased die-off as a result of changes in environmental conditions. The most obvious means by which large trees are directly removed is selective logging which is widespread throughout the tropics (Asner et al. 2009) varying from relatively low intensity in South America and Africa, to high intensity in South East Asian forests (Chapter 4; Putz et al. 2001). Selective logging removes trees of high timber value, leaving the remaining trees standing. Trees of highest timber value tend to be large and slow growing and, thus, it is clear that this practice tends to result in loss of large trees which is in turn linked to the large impact of selective logging on the biomass storage of forests. In addition, there is evidence that large trees are being lost from some urban environments because of fears for human safety (Carpaneto et al. 2010); although it is unclear how widespread this practice is.

Processes which can result in widespread increases in large tree mortality include fire, drought and fragmentation. Repeated frequent fires have been shown to result in forests resembling young secondary forests with increased mortality of large trees and recruitment of shade-intolerant pioneer species (Barlow and Peres 2008). This shift in composition has also been suggested to represent an alternative stable state with increased stem density and dryness of burnt forests promoting repeated fires (Barlow and Peres 2008; Lindenmayer et al. 2011). Similar die-off can be induced by fragmentation and drought which can both lead to changes in local environmental conditions. Fragmentation has been shown to increase mortality of large trees at forest edges, driving patches to resemble early successional states (Laurance et al. 2000). This loss of large shade-tolerant species has been shown to result in a collapse in biomass in forest fragments (Laurance et al. 2000). Drought has also been suggested to reduce large tree survival due to the greater water requirements of these trees (Nepstad et al. 2007), resulting in large potential biomass losses (Phillips et al. 2009).

Grazing effects on wooded landscapes largely involve recruitment limitation as a consequence of livestock browsing resulting in elevated seedling mortality (Fischer et al. 2009; Fischer et al. 2010). This reduction in recruitment represents a case of extinction debt since without removal of grazing pressure numerous tree species could be expected to become locally extinct. Indeed, Fischer et al. (2010) indicated that this could drastically reduce tree cover in an entire landscape if current unsustainable grazing practices are maintained. Fire has also been shown to reduce survival of shade-tolerant species, resulting in increases in pioneer species and shifts in community structure (Barlow and Peres 2008). In addition, logging and fragmentation can reduce survival of shade-tolerant species as canopy damage or edge effects can lead to rapid colonisation by shrubs which outcompete seedlings.

The most serious loss of large trees are likely to occur when there are synergistic effects between drivers of degradation. Previous research in the tropics suggests that such synergies can occur in areas where logging roads have been constructed, leading to reduction in moisture in forest edges next to roads, which increases the probability of fire (Cochrane et al. 1999; Cochrane 2001).

Though the potential for large tree loss from the drivers discussed is clear, the quantitative impacts of the drivers and where such losses are likely to be most severe is not. Given the large number of publications of the impacts of human disturbance on forests and savannah ecosystems throughout the world along with numerous international and national forest monitoring schemes, such quantification should be possible. Only by carrying out such an analysis will it be clear whether the claims of Lindenmayer et al. (2014) are an accurate reflection of reality. However, more importantly such quantification would allow differences in impacts between degrading activates to be identified as well as pinpointing areas in which policies to encourage tree regeneration should be a priority.

7.4.2 Improving generalisation in ecology

In this thesis, I have largely undertaken syntheses of disparate datasets in the form of meta-analyses. While this is useful for producing generalities, setting baselines and identifying potential new areas of research (Hillebrand and Cardinale 2010), meta-analyses can also be hampered by methodological differences between studies (Whittaker 2011), spatial pseudoreplication (Ramage et al. 2012) and missing data (Chapter 4 – This thesis). While meta-analysis can be used to explore the implications of differences in study methodologies, differences can also hamper the ultimate aim of meta-analysis, generalisation. However, recent developments in collaborative research have sought to overcome these problems and may offer a means of drawing generalisations that represents an intermediate between single site studies and meta-analyses. These collaborations can largely be divided into two groups: collaborative distributed experiments (CDEs) and collaborative observation networks (CONs).

The major features of CDEs in ecology, as identified by Fraser et al. (2012), are that (i) they represent hypothesis-driven experimental studies, (ii) they are multisite investigations, (iii) they have a standardised research design, (iv) they collect standardised data (v) have common agreements on data sharing, (vi) have synchronised data collection, (vii) have multiple investigative teams and (viii) are low cost and low maintenance. The fact that these represent multi-site investigations allows broad generalisations to be made that were previously impossible due to the limited scope and scale of studies that focussed on single sites or a group of sites in single regions. The most important advantage of CDEs over meta-analyses is that they use standardised methodologies at a wide variety of sites (Fraser et al. 2012). Standardisation of methodologies means that analyses do not need to account for methodological differences, thus, making statistical tests much more powerful. Standardised methodologies also mean that statistical analyses can be much simpler than those used by meta-analyses, often employing mixed-effect models to group measurements at individual sites (Fraser et al. 2012). While the experimental nature of CDEs perhaps presents the most effective means of inferring cause-andeffect relationships in ecology today, it is not always feasible due to economic

174

constraints associated with manipulation of certain ecosystems such as those containing woody species. In these cases, CONs play a vital role.

CONs share many of the features of CDEs but importantly are not hypothesis-driven experimental studies. These networks largely aim to monitor changes in ecosystems using standardised methodologies to allow data synthesis across sites. The most high profile CON is probably the US National Ecological Observatory Network (NEON) which is a continental scale network of 76 sites that aims to monitor changes associated with climate change, land-use change and nitrogen deposition (Kampe et al. 2010). There are many other similar networks throughout the globe from tropical forests (Lopez-Gonzalez et al. 2011), to both polar regions (Lee et al. 2010). While these networks are extremely valuable, they are also costly to run and, as such, contribution to data collection and studies is much less open to external collaboration when compared to CDEs.

These types of networks attempt to infer causality either through experimental approaches or observation. While these are both useful there are cases in which manipulation is either not possible or very costly, but studies still aim to infer causality related to local processes. Thus, an alternative approach to CBEs and CONs could use an observational approach to investigate changes over gradients or other natural experiments. Using standardised approaches across a series of gradients distributed throughout the globe would allow stronger inference than currently that acheived by single location studies currently. Specifically these networks could be used to address knowledge gaps identified by this thesis, and help answer questions such as: How does the impact of non-native invasive plant species change with their abundance? Do the impacts of Reduced Impact Logging and conventional logging differ when logging intensity is controlled for? To my knowledge no such networks currently exist but represent a potentially powerful tool in situations where CDEs are not suitable.

Probably the most difficult obstacle to increasing the number of collaborative networks is obtaining funding (Fraser et al. 2012). While much less expensive than CONs, CDEs require money to set up, to enable collation of data and help organise meetings to strengthen collaborations (Fraser et al. 2012). Currently it appears that few funding agencies support collaborative intercontinental ecological projects, though the growth of interest in the topic may increase as collaborative networks become more common. The major goal of ecology is generalisation and such networks represent the best way to improve this. Thus it is vital that more networks are created to address a broader range of questions.

7.5 Broad contribution to knowledge of this thesis

In this thesis, I aimed to (i) generalise about the impact of different types of ecosystem degradation on ecosystem services; (ii) understand how these relate to change in biodiversity and (iii) synthesise data collected in primary studies to contribute new knowledge to this broad research area. The size of the datasets used provided amongst the best syntheses of the subjects to date and helped to identify trends and gaps in current research. The most obvious research gap is the relative lack of data relevant to ecosystem services other than carbon storage. This must be filled if we are to form a clearer picture about how biodiversity change may impact ecosystem provision and how these changes trade-off against each other. Despite these limitations, I have presented the first syntheses of the effects of non-native invasive species, logging in tropical forests and tropical secondary forest recovery on ecosystem services and biodiversity.

7.6 References

- Aber, J. D., Nadelhoffer, K. J., Steudler, P. and Melillo, J. M., 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystems. *BioScience*, 39 (6), 378-286.
- Aide, T. M., Clark, M. L., Grau, H. R., López-Carr, D., Levy, M. A., Redo, D., Bonilla-Moheno, M., Riner, G., Andrade-Núñez, M. J. and Muñiz, M., 2012.
 Deforestation and Reforestation of Latin America and the Caribbean (2001–2010). *Biotropica*, n/a-n/a.
- Asner, G. P., Rudel, T. K., Aide, T. M., Defries, R. and Emerson, R., 2009. A Contemporary Assessment of Change in Humid Tropical Forest. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (6), 1386-1395.
- Barlow, J., Parry, L., Gardner, T. A., Ferreira, J., Aragão, L. E. O. C., Carmenta, R., Berenguer, E., Vieira, I. C. G., Souza, C. and Cochrane, M. A., 2012. The critical importance of considering fire in REDD+ programs. *Biological conservation*, 154 (0), 1-8.
- Barlow, J. and Peres, C. A., 2008. Fire-mediated dieback and compositional cascade in an Amazonian forest. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363 (1498), 1787-1794.
- Berenguer, E., 2013. *Estimating carbon and vegetation change along a gradient of forest degradation in Eastern Amazon.* PhD Thesis Lancaster University.

- Bobbink, R., Hicks, K., Galloway, J., Spranger, T., Alkemade, R., Ashmore, M.,
 Bustamante, M., Cinderby, S., Davidson, E. and Dentener, F., 2010. Global assessment of nitrogen deposition effects on terrestrial plant diversity: a synthesis. *Ecological Applications*, 20 (1), 30-59.
- Brooks, M. L., D'antonio, C. M., Richardson, D. M., Grace, J. B., Keeley, J. E., DiTOMASO, J. M., Hobbs, R. J., Pellant, M. and Pyke, D., 2004. Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes. *BioScience*, 54 (7), 677-688.
- Bullock, J. M., Aronson, J., Newton, A. C., Pywell, R. F. and Rey-Benayas, J. M., 2011. Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. *Trends in ecology & evolution (Personal edition)*, 26 (10), 541-549.
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G. M., Tilman, D. and Wardle, D. A., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, 486 (7401), 59-67.
- Cardinale, B. J., Matulich, K. L., Hooper, D. U., Byrnes, J. E., Duffy, E., Gamfeldt,
 L., Balvanera, P., O'Connor, M. I. and Gonzalez, A., 2011. The functional role of producer diversity in ecosystems. *American journal of botany*, 98 (3), 572-592.
- Carpaneto, G. M., Mazziotta, A., Coletti, G., Luiselli, L. and Audisio, P., 2010.
 Conflict between insect conservation and public safety: the case study of a saproxylic beetle (Osmoderma eremita) in urban parks. *Journal of insect conservation*, 14 (5), 555-565.
- Castro-Díez, P., Godoy, O., Alonso, A., Gallardo, A. and Saldaña, A., 2014. What explains variation in the impacts of exotic plant invasions on the nitrogen cycle? A meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 17 (1), 1-12.
- Chazdon, R. L., Peres, C. A., Dent, D., Sheil, D., Lugo, A. E., Lamb, D., Stork, N. E. and Miller, S. E., 2009. The potential for species conservation in tropical secondary forests. *Conservation Biology*, 23 (6), 1406-1417.
- Clark, N. E., Lovell, R., Wheeler, B. W., Higgins, S. L., Depledge, M. H. and Norris, K., 2014. Biodiversity, cultural pathways, and human health: a framework.*Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 29 (4), 198-204.
- Cochrane, M. A., 2001. Synergistic Interactions between Habitat Fragmentation and Fire in Evergreen Tropical Forests
- Interacciones Sinérgicas entre la Fragmentación del Hábitat y los Incendios en Bosques Tropicales Perennes. *Conservation Biology*, 15 (6), 1515-1521.

- Cochrane, M. A., Alencar, A., Schulze, M. D., Souza, C. M., Nepstad, D. C., Lefebvre, P. and Davidson, E. A., 1999. Positive Feedbacks in the Fire Dynamic of Closed Canopy Tropical Forests. *Science*, 284 (5421), 1832-1835.
- Dallimer, M., Irvine, K. N., Skinner, A. M. J., Davies, Z. G., Rouquette, J. R., Maltby,
 L. L., Warren, P. H., Armsworth, P. R. and Gaston, K. J., 2012. Biodiversity
 and the Feel-Good Factor: Understanding Associations between SelfReported Human Well-being and Species Richness. *BioScience*, 62 (1), 4755.
- Daniel, T. C., Muhar, A., Arnberger, A., Aznar, O., Boyd, J. W., Chan, K. M. A.,
 Costanza, R., Elmqvist, T., Flint, C. G., Gobster, P. H., Grêt-Regamey, A.,
 Lave, R., Muhar, S., Penker, M., Ribe, R. G., Schauppenlehner, T., Sikor, T.,
 Soloviy, I., Spierenburg, M., Taczanowska, K., Tam, J. and von der Dunk,
 A., 2012. Contributions of cultural services to the ecosystem services
 agenda. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.
- Dent, D. H. and Wright, S. J., 2009. The future of tropical species in secondary forests: a quantitative review. *Biological Conservation*, 142 (12), 2833-2843.
- Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., De Bello, F., Quétier, F., Grigulis, K. and Robson, T. M., 2007. Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104 (52), 20684.
- Dormann, C. F., 2007. Effects of incorporating spatial autocorrelation into the analysis of species distribution data. *Global ecology and biogeography*, 16 (2), 129-138.
- Ehrenfeld, J. G., 2003. Effects of exotic plant invasions on soil nutrient cycling processes. *Ecosystems*, 6 (6), 503-523.
- Eigenbrod, F., Armsworth, P. R., Anderson, B. J., Heinemeyer, A., Gillings, S., Roy,
 D. B., Thomas, C. D. and Gaston, K. J., 2010. The impact of proxy-based methods on mapping the distribution of ecosystem services. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 47 (2), 377-385.
- Ewers, R. M., Didham, R. K., Fahrig, L., Ferraz, G., Hector, A., Holt, R. D., Kapos, V., Reynolds, G., Sinun, W., Snaddon, J. L. and Turner, E. C., 2011. A large-scale forest fragmentation experiment: the Stability of Altered Forest Ecosystems Project. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 366 (1582), 3292-3302.

- Fischer, J., Stott, J., Zerger, A., Warren, G., Sherren, K. and Forrester, R. I., 2009.
 Reversing a tree regeneration crisis in an endangered ecoregion.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106 (25), 10386-10391.
- Fischer, J., Zerger, A., Gibbons, P., Stott, J. and Law, B. S., 2010. Tree decline and the future of Australian farmland biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107 (45), 19597-19602.
- Foley, J. A., DeFries, R., Asner, G. P., Barford, C., Bonan, G., Carpenter, S. R., Chapin, F. S., Coe, M. T., Daily, G. C. and Gibbs, H. K., 2005. Global consequences of land use. *Science*, 309 (5734), 570-574.
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Elmqvist, T., Gunderson, L. and Holling, C., 2004. Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 557-581.
- Fraser, L. H., Henry, H. A., Carlyle, C. N., White, S. R., Beierkuhnlein, C., Cahill Jr, J. F., Casper, B. B., Cleland, E., Collins, S. L. and Dukes, J. S., 2012.
 Coordinated distributed experiments: an emerging tool for testing global hypotheses in ecology and environmental science. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 11 (3), 147-155.
- Fuller, R. A., Irvine, K. N., Devine-Wright, P., Warren, P. H. and Gaston, K. J., 2007. Psychological benefits of greenspace increase with biodiversity. *Biology letters*, 3 (4), 390-394.
- Gardner, T. A., Ferreira, J., Barlow, J., Lees, A. C., Parry, L., Vieira, I. C. G., Berenguer, E., Abramovay, R., Aleixo, A., Andretti, C., Aragão, L. E. O. C., Araújo, I., de Ávila, W. S., Bardgett, R. D., Batistella, M., Begotti, R. A., Beldini, T., de Blas, D. E., Braga, R. F., Braga, D. d. L., de Brito, J. G., de Camargo, P. B., Campos dos Santos, F., de Oliveira, V. C., Cordeiro, A. C. N., Cardoso, T. M., de Carvalho, D. R., Castelani, S. A., Chaul, J. C. M., Cerri, C. E., Costa, F. d. A., da Costa, C. D. F., Coudel, E., Coutinho, A. C., Cunha, D., D'Antona, Á., Dezincourt, J., Dias-Silva, K., Durigan, M., Esquerdo, J. C. D. M., Feres, J., Ferraz, S. F. d. B., Ferreira, A. E. d. M., Fiorini, A. C., da Silva, L. V. F., Frazão, F. S., Garrett, R., Gomes, A. d. S., Gonçalves, K. d. S., Guerrero, J. B., Hamada, N., Hughes, R. M., Igliori, D. C., Jesus, E. d. C., Juen, L., Junior, M., Junior, J. M. B. d. O., Junior, R. C. d. O., Junior, C. S., Kaufmann, P., Korasaki, V., Leal, C. G., Leitão, R., Lima, N., Almeida, M. d. F. L., Lourival, R., Louzada, J., Nally, R. M., Marchand, S., Maués, M. M., Moreira, F. M. S., Morsello, C., Moura, N., Nessimian, J.,

Nunes, S., Oliveira, V. H. F., Pardini, R., Pereira, H. C., Pompeu, P. S.,
Ribas, C. R., Rossetti, F., Schmidt, F. A., da Silva, R., da Silva, R. C. V. M.,
da Silva, T. F. M. R., Silveira, J., Siqueira, J. V., de Carvalho, T. S., Solar, R.
R. C., Tancredi, N. S. H., Thomson, J. R., Torres, P. C., Vaz-de-Mello, F. Z.,
Veiga, R. C. S., Venturieri, A., Viana, C., Weinhold, D., Zanetti, R. and
Zuanon, J., 2013. A social and ecological assessment of tropical land uses
at multiple scales: the Sustainable Amazon Network. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368 (1619).

- Gibson, L., Lee, T. M., Koh, L. P., Brook, B. W., Gardner, T. A., Barlow, J., Peres,
 C. A., Bradshaw, C. J. A., Laurance, W. F., Lovejoy, T. E. and Sodhi, N. S.,
 2011. Primary forests are irreplaceable for sustaining tropical biodiversity. *Nature*, 478 (7369), 378-381.
- Guariguata, M. R. and Ostertag, R., 2001. Neotropical secondary forest succession: changes in structural and functional characteristics. *Forest ecology and management*, 148 (1-3), 185-206.
- Hector, A. and Bagchi, R., 2007. Biodiversity and ecosystem multifunctionality. *Nature*, 448 (7150), 188-190.
- Hillebrand, H. and Cardinale, B. J., 2010. A critique for meta-analyses and the productivity-diversity relationship. *Ecology*, 91 (9), 2545-2549.
- Hooper, D. U., Adair, E. C., Cardinale, B. J., Byrnes, J. E., Hungate, B. A., Matulich,
 K. L., Gonzalez, A., Duffy, J. E., Gamfeldt, L. and O'Connor, M. I., 2012. A
 global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem
 change. *Nature*, 486 (7401), 105-108.
- Hulme, P. E., 2011. Addressing the threat to biodiversity from botanic gardens. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26 (4), 168-174.
- Jackson, R. B., Jobbágy, E. G., Avissar, R., Roy, S. B., Barrett, D. J., Cook, C. W., Farley, K. A., Le Maitre, D. C., McCarl, B. A. and Murray, B. C., 2005.
 Trading water for carbon with biological carbon sequestration. *Science*, 310 (5756), 1944-1947.
- Kampe, T. U., Johnson, B. R., Kuester, M. and Keller, M., 2010. NEON: the first continental-scale ecological observatory with airborne remote sensing of vegetation canopy biochemistry and structure. *Journal of Applied Remote Sensing*, 4 (1), 043510-043510-043524.
- Kattge, J., Diaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I. C., Leadley, P., Bönisch, G., Garnier, E., Westoby, M., Reich, P. B. and Wright, I. J., 2011. TRY–a global database of plant traits. *Global Change Biology*, 17 (9), 2905-2935.

- Koricheva, J., Gurevitch, J. and Mengeresen, K., 2013. *Handbook of meta-analysis in ecology and evolution*. Princeton University Press.
- Körner, C., 2007. The use of 'altitude'in ecological research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 22 (11), 569-574.
- Kueffer, C., Niinemets, Ü., Drenovsky, R. E., Kattge, J., Milberg, P., Poorter, H., Reich, P. B., Werner, C., Westoby, M. and Wright, I. J., 2011. Fame, glory and neglect in meta-analyses. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 26 (10), 493-494.
- Lal, R., 1997. Deforestation effects on soil degradation and rehabilitation in western Nigeria. IV. Hydrology and water quality. *Land Degradation & Development*, 8 (2), 95-126.
- Laurance, W. F., Delamônica, P., Laurance, S. G., Vasconcelos, H. L. and Lovejoy, T. E., 2000. Conservation: rainforest fragmentation kills big trees. *Nature*, 404 (6780), 836-836.
- Lavorel, S. and Garnier, E., 2002. Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. *Functional Ecology*, 16 (5), 545-556.
- Lee, C., Melling, H., Eicken, H., Schlosser, P., Gascard, J.-C., Proshutinsky, A., Fahrbach, E., Mauritzen, C., Morison, J. and Polykov, I., 2010. Autonomous platforms in the arctic observing network. *Proceedings of Ocean Obs09: Sustained Ocean Observations and Information for Society*, 2.
- Levine, J. M., Vilà, M., Antonio, C. M. D., Dukes, J. S., Grigulis, K. and Lavorel, S., 2003. Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 270 (1517), 775-781.
- Lindemann-Matthies, P., Junge, X. and Matthies, D., 2010. The influence of plant diversity on people's perception and aesthetic appreciation of grassland vegetation. *Biological conservation*, 143 (1), 195-202.
- Lindenmayer, D. and Likens, G. E., 2013. Benchmarking Open Access Science Against Good Science. *Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*, 94 (4), 338-340.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., Blanchard, W., McBurney, L., Blair, D., Banks, S., Likens, G.
 E., Franklin, J. F., Laurance, W. F., Stein, J. A. and Gibbons, P., 2012a.
 Interacting factors driving a major loss of large trees with cavities in a forest ecosystem. *PLoS ONE*, 7 (10), e41864.

- Lindenmayer, D. B., Hobbs, R. J., Likens, G. E., Krebs, C. J. and Banks, S. C., 2011. Newly discovered landscape traps produce regime shifts in wet forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108 (38), 15887-15891.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., Laurance, W. F. and Franklin, J. F., 2012b. Global Decline in Large Old Trees. *Science*, 338 (6112), 1305-1306.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., Laurance, W. F., Franklin, J. F., Likens, G. E., Banks, S. C., Blanchard, W., Gibbons, P., Ikin, K., Blair, D., McBurney, L., Manning, A. D. and Stein, J. A. R., 2014. New Policies for Old Trees: Averting a Global Crisis in a Keystone Ecological Structure. *Conservation Letters*, 7 (1), 61-69.
- Lindenmayer, D. B. and Likens, G. E., 2011. Losing the Culture of Ecology. *Bulletin* of the Ecological Society of America, 92 (3), 245-246.
- Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Lewis, S. L., Burkitt, M. and Phillips, O. L., 2011. ForestPlots. net: a web application and research tool to manage and analyse tropical forest plot data. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 22 (4), 610-613.
- Lovell, R., Wheeler, B. W., Higgins, S. L., Irvine, K. N. and Depledge, M. H., 2014. A Systematic Review of the Health and Well-Being Benefits of Biodiverse Environments. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health Part B: Critical Reviews*, 17 (1), 1-20.
- Lowry, E., Rollinson, E. J., Laybourn, A. J., Scott, T. E., Aiello-Lammens, M. E., Gray, S. M., Mickley, J. and Gurevitch, J., 2013. Biological invasions: a field synopsis, systematic review, and database of the literature. *Ecology and Evolution*, 3 (1), 182-196.
- Mace, G. M., Norris, K. and Fitter, A. H., 2012. Biodiversity and ecosystem services: a multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 27 (1), 19-26.
- Maestas, J. D., Knight, R. L. and Gilgert, W. C., 2003. Biodiversity across a Rural Land-Use Gradient. *Conservation Biology*, 17 (5), 1425-1434.
- Martin, L. J., Blossey, B. and Ellis, E., 2012. Mapping where ecologists work: biases in the global distribution of terrestrial ecological observations. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 10 (4), 195-201.
- Martin, P. A., Newton, A. C. and Bullock, J. M., 2013. Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1773).
- Mazzei, L., Sist, P., Ruschel, A., Putz, F. E., Marco, P., Pena, W. and Ferreira, J. E.
 R., 2010. Above-ground biomass dynamics after reduced-impact logging in the Eastern Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259 (3), 367-373.

- Nepstad, D. C., Tohver, I. M., Ray, D., Moutinho, P. and Cardinot, G., 2007. Mortality of large trees and lianas following experimental drought in an Amazon forest. *Ecology*, 88 (9), 2259-2269.
- Newbold, T., Scharlemann, J. P. W., Butchart, S. H. M., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., Alkemade, R., Booth, H. and Purves, D. W., 2013. Ecological traits affect the response of tropical forest bird species to land-use intensity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 280 (1750).
- Pejchar, L. and Mooney, H. A., 2009. Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24 (9), 497-504.
- Pereira, H. M., Ferrier, S., Walters, M., Geller, G., Jongman, R., Scholes, R., Bruford, M., Brummitt, N., Butchart, S. and Cardoso, A., 2013. Essential biodiversity variables. *Science*, 339 (6117), 277-278.
- Phillips, O. L., Aragão, L. E., Lewis, S. L., Fisher, J. B., Lloyd, J., López-González, G., Malhi, Y., Monteagudo, A., Peacock, J. and Quesada, C. A., 2009.
 Drought sensitivity of the Amazon rainforest. *Science*, 323 (5919), 1344-1347.
- Putz, F. E., Blate, G. M., Redford, K. H., Fimbel, R. and Robinson, J., 2001. Tropical forest management and conservation of biodiversity: an overview. *Conservation Biology*, 7-20.
- Putz, F. E., Zuidema, P. A., Synnott, T., Peña-Claros, M., Pinard, M. A., Sheil, D.,
 Vanclay, J. K., Sist, P., Gourlet-Fleury, S., Griscom, B., Palmer, J. and Zagt,
 R., 2012. Sustaining conservation values in selectively logged tropical
 forests: the attained and the attainable. *Conservation Letters*, 5 (4), 296-303.
- Pyšek, P., Richardson, D. M., Pergl, J., Jarošík, V., Sixtová, Z. and Weber, E.,
 2008. Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23 (5), 237-244.
- Ramage, B. S., Sheil, D., Salim, H. M., Fletcher, C., Mustafa, N. Z. A.,
 Luruthusamay, J. C., Harrison, R. D., Butod, E., Dzulkiply, A. D. and Kassim,
 A. R., 2012. Pseudoreplication in tropical forests and the resulting effects on
 biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Biology*.
- Ramage, B. S., Sheil, D., Salim, H. M. W., Fletcher, C., Mustafa, N.-Z. A.,
 Luruthusamay, J. C., Harrison, R. D., Butod, E., Dzulkiply, A. D., Kassim, A.
 R. and Potts, M. D., 2013. Pseudoreplication in Tropical Forests and the
 Resulting Effects on Biodiversity Conservation. *Conservation Biology*, 27 (2), 364-372.

- Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Peterson, G. D. and Bennett, E., 2010. Ecosystem service bundles for analyzing tradeoffs in diverse landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107 (11), 5242-5247.
- Rey Benayas, J. M., Bullock, J. M. and Newton, A. C., 2008. Creating woodland islets to reconcile ecological restoration, conservation, and agricultural land use. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 6 (6), 329-336.

Ryan, M. G. and Yoder, B. J., 1997. Hydraulic limits to tree height and tree growth.

- Salick, J., Amend, A., Anderson, D., Hoffmeister, K., Gunn, B. and Zhendong, F.,
 2007. Tibetan sacred sites conserve old growth trees and cover in the
 eastern Himalayas. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 16 (3), 693-706.
- Sasaki, N. and Putz, F. E., 2009. Critical need for new definitions of 'forest' and 'forest degradation' in global climate change agreements. *Conservation Letters*, 2 (5), 226-232.
- Sist, P., Nolan, T., Bertault, J.-G. and Dykstra, D., 1998. Harvesting intensity versus sustainability in Indonesia. *Forest ecology and management*, 108 (3), 251-260.
- Slik, J. W. F., Paoli, G., McGuire, K., Amaral, I., Barroso, J., Bastian, M., Blanc, L., Bongers, F., Boundja, P., Clark, C., Collins, M., Dauby, G., Ding, Y., Doucet, J.-L., Eler, E., Ferreira, L., Forshed, O., Fredriksson, G., Gillet, J.-F., Harris, D., Leal, M., Laumonier, Y., Malhi, Y., Mansor, A., Martin, E., Miyamoto, K., Araujo-Murakami, A., Nagamasu, H., Nilus, R., Nurtjahya, E., Oliveira, Á., Onrizal, O., Parada-Gutierrez, A., Permana, A., Poorter, L., Poulsen, J., Ramirez-Angulo, H., Reitsma, J., Rovero, F., Rozak, A., Sheil, D., Silva-Espejo, J., Silveira, M., Spironelo, W., ter Steege, H., Stevart, T., Navarro-Aguilar, G. E., Sunderland, T., Suzuki, E., Tang, J., Theilade, I., van der Heijden, G., van Valkenburg, J., Van Do, T., Vilanova, E., Vos, V., Wich, S., Wöll, H., Yoneda, T., Zang, R., Zhang, M.-G. and Zweifel, N., 2013. Large trees drive forest aboveground biomass variation in moist lowland forests across the tropics. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22 (12), 1261-1271.
- Smith, P., Ashmore, M. R., Black, H. I. J., Burgess, P. J., Evans, C. D., Quine, T. A., Thomson, A. M., Hicks, K. and Orr, H. G., 2013. REVIEW: The role of ecosystems and their management in regulating climate, and soil, water and air quality. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50 (4), 812-829.
- Speldewinde, P. C., Cook, A., Davies, P. and Weinstein, P., 2009. A relationship between environmental degradation and mental health in rural Western Australia. *Health & place*, 15 (3), 880-887.

- Srivastava, D. S. and Vellend, M., 2005. Biodiversity-ecosystem function research: is it relevant to conservation? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 267-294.
- Stain, H. J., Kelly, B., Carr, V. J., Lewin, T. J., Fitzgerald, M. and Fragar, L., 2011. The psychological impact of chronic environmental adversity: Responding to prolonged drought. *Social Science & Medicine*, 73 (11), 1593-1599.
- Strayer, D. L., 2012. Eight questions about invasions and ecosystem functioning. *Ecology Letters*, n/a-n/a.
- Thompson, I. D., Guariguata, M. R., Okabe, K., Bahamondez, C., Nasi, R., Heymell,V. and Sabogal, C., 2013. An operational framework for defining andmonitoring forest degradation. *Ecology & Society*, 18 (2).
- Van Wilgen, B., Le Maitre, D. and Cowling, R., 1998. Ecosystem services, efficiency, sustainability and equity: South Africa's Working for Water programme.
- Viechtbauer, W., 2010. Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software, 36 (3), 1-48.
- Vilà, M., Basnou, C., Pyšek, P., Josefsson, M., Genovesi, P., Gollasch, S., Nentwig, W., Olenin, S., Roques, A. and Roy, D., 2009. How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8 (3), 135-144.
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J. L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P. E., Jarošík, V., Maron, J. L., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U., Sun, Y. and Pyšek, P., 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 14 (7), 702-708.
- Whittaker, R. J., 2011. Meta-analyses and mega-mistakes: calling time on metaanalysis of the species richness-productivity relationship. *Ecology*, 91 (9), 2522-2533.

Appendix I – Information in support of Chapters 2 and 3

Effect size calculation

The effect size we used in this study was the log response ratio which was calculated as:

$$lnR = \ln(\bar{X}_{logged}) - \ln(\bar{X}_{unlogged})$$

Where \bar{X}_{logged} represents the mean value of aboveground biomass or species richness in a logged stand and $\bar{X}_{unlogged}$ represents the equivalent value in an unlogged stand with the standard error of each paired site combination calculated as:

$$SE_{lnR} = \sqrt{V_{lnR}} = \sqrt{S_{pooled}^2 \left(\frac{1}{n_1 \left(\bar{X}_{logged}\right)^2} + \frac{1}{n_1 \left(\bar{X}_{unlogged}\right)^2}\right)}$$

Due to the inherent differences between studies in the ecological literature true effect sizes were presumed to differ between studies and to test for heterogeneity between studies the weighted sum of squares, *Q*, was calculated as:

$$Q = \sum_{i=1}^{k} W_{f} g^{2} - \frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k} W_{f} g\right)^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{k} W_{f}}$$

This statistic was subsequently used to determine the weighted means of differences between logged and unlogged sites using a random effects model. Thus the weight (W_r) assigned to each study was the inverse of the within-study variance plus the between-studies variance:

$$W_r = \frac{1}{V + T^2}$$

 T^2 was calculated as:

$$T^2 = \frac{Q - df}{C}$$

where

$$df = number of independent datasets - 1$$

$$C = \sum W_f - \frac{W_f^2}{W_f}$$

As such the weighted mean was calculated as:

$$M_r = rac{\sum_{i=l}^k W_r g}{\sum_{i=l}^k W_r}$$
 or $M_r = rac{\sum_{i=l}^k W_r LnR}{\sum_{i=l}^k W_r}$

with the standard error of the mean effect size calculated as:

$$SE_r = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^k W_r}}$$

and the upper and lower 95% confidence intervals for both effect sizes calculated as:

$$UL_{M_r} = M_r + 1.96 \times SE_r$$
$$LL_{M_r} = M_r - 1.96 \times SE_r$$

Goodness of fit was estimated by calculating the pseudo- $\ensuremath{\mathsf{R}}^2$

pseudo
$$R^2 = 1 - \left(\frac{T_{unexplained}^2}{T_{total}^2}\right)$$

Where $T_{unexplained}^2$ is the variance left unexplained after fitting a model and T_{total}^2 is the total variance when fitting an intercept only model.

Table A1 – The number of sites used in the study classified by broad ecosystem type

Ecosystem type	Number of sites used in meta-analyses
Grassland	72
Broadleaf forest	53
Coastal dune	15
Scrub	12
Mixed	8
Coastal wetland	8
Freshwater wetland	4
Cropland	3
Coniferous forest	3
Desert	1

Studies used in Chapter 2

- Aguilera, A.G., Alpert, P., Dukes, J.S. & Harrington, R. (2010) Impacts of the invasive plant Fallopia japonica (Houtt.) on plant communities and ecosystem processes. *Biological Invasions*, **12**, 1243-1252.
- Allison, S.D., Nielsen, C. & Hughes, R.F. (2006) Elevated enzyme activities in soils under the invasive nitrogen-fixing tree Falcataria moluccana. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **38**, 1537-1544.
- Angeloni, N.L., Jankowski, K.J., Tuchman, N.C. & Kelly, J.J. (2006) Effects of an invasive cattail species (Typha×glauca) on sediment nitrogen and microbial community composition in a freshwater wetland. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 263, 86-92.
- Asner, G.P. & Beatty, S.W. (1996) Effects of an African grass invasion on Hawaiian shrubland nitrogen biogeochemistry. *Plant and Soil*, **186**, 205-211.
- Baer, S.G., Church, J.M., Williard, K.W.J. & Groninger, J.W. (2006) Changes in intrasystem N cycling from N2-fixing shrub encroachment in grassland: multiple positive feedbacks. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & amp; Environment*, 115, 174-182.
- Belnap, J. & Phillips, S.L. (2001) Soil biota in an ungrazed grassland: response to annual grass (Bromus tectorum) invasion. *Ecological Applications*, **11**, 1261-1275.
- Bills, J.S., Jacinthe, P.A. & Tedesco, L.P. (2010) Soil organic carbon pools and composition in a wetland complex invaded by reed canary grass. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, **46**, 697-706.
- Blank, R.R. (2008) Biogeochemistry of Plant Invasion: A Case Study with Downy Brome (Bromus tectorum). *Invasive Plant Science and Management*, 1, 226-238.
- Booth, M.S., Stark, J.M. & Caldwell, M.M. (2003) Inorganic N Turnover and Availability in Annual- and Perennial-Dominated Soils in a Northern Utah Shrub-Steppe Ecosystem. *Biogeochemistry*, 66, 311-330.
- Bradley, B.A., Houghton, R.A., Mustard, J.F. & Hamburg, S.P. (2006) Invasive grass reduces aboveground carbon stocks in shrublands of the Western US. *Global Change Biology*, **12**, 1815-1822.
- Busch, D.E. & Smith, S.D. (1995) Mechanisms Associated With Decline of Woody Species in Riparian Ecosystems of the Southwestern U.S. *Ecological Monographs*, **65**, 347-370.

- Caldwell, B.A. (2006) Effects of invasive scotch broom on soil properties in a Pacific coastal prairie soil. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **32**, 149-152.
- Castro-Diez, P., Gonzalez-Munoz, N., Alonso, A., Gallardo, A. & Poorter, L. (2009) Effects of exotic invasive trees on nitrogen cycling: a case study in Central Spain. *Biological Invasions*, **11**, 1973-1986.
- 14. Chacon, N., Herrera, I., Flores, S., Gonzalez, J.A. & Nassar, J.M. (2009) Chemical, physical, and biochemical soil properties and plant roots as affected by native and exotic plants in Neotropical arid zones. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, **45**, 321-328.
- Chapuis-Lardy, L., Vanderhoeven, S., Dassonville, N., Koutika, L.S. & Meerts, P. (2006) Effect of the exotic invasive plant Solidago gigantea on soil phosphorus status. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, **42**, 481-489.
- Chen, B.M., Peng, S.L. & Ni, G.Y. (2009) Effects of the invasive plant Mikania micrantha HBK on soil nitrogen availability through allelopathy in South China. *Biological Invasions*, **11**, 1291-1299.
- 17. Cheng, X., Luo, Y., Chen, J., Lin, G., Chen, J. & Li, B. (2006) Short-term C4 plant Spartina alterniflora invasions change the soil carbon in C3 plant-dominated tidal wetlands on a growing estuarine Island. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **38**, 3380-3386.
- Cheng, X.L., Luo, Y.Q., Xu, Q., Lin, G.H., Zhang, Q.F., Chen, J.K. & Li, B. (2010) Seasonal variation in CH(4) emission and its (13)C-isotopic signature from Spartina alterniflora and Scirpus mariqueter soils in an estuarine wetland. *Plant and Soil*, **327**, 85-94.
- Cheng, X.L., Peng, R.H., Chen, J.Q., Luo, Y.Q., Zhang, Q.F., An, S.Q., Chen, J.K. & Li, B. (2007) CH4 and N2O emissions from Spartina alterniflora and Phragmites australis in experimental mesocosms. *Chemosphere*, 68, 420-427.
- Cleverly, J.R., Dahm, C.N., Thibault, J.R., McDonnell, D.E. & Allred Coonrod, J.E. (2006) Riparian ecohydrology: regulation of water flux from the ground to the atmosphere in the Middle Rio Grande, New Mexico. *Hydrological Processes*, **20**, 3207-3225.
- Daneshgar, P. & Jose, S. (2009) Imperata cylindrica, an alien invasive grass, maintains control over nitrogen availability in an establishing pine forest. *Plant and Soil*, **320**, 209-218.

- Dassonville, N., Vanderhoeven, S., Gruber, W. & Meerts, P. (2007) Invasion by Fallopia japonica increases topsoil mineral nutrient concentrations. *Ecoscience*, **14**, 230-240.
- Domènech, R., Vilà, M., Gesti, J. & Serrasolses, I. (2006) Neighbourhood association of Cortaderia selloana invasion, soil properties and plant community structure in Mediterranean coastal grasslands. *Acta Oecologica*, 29, 171-177.
- Douglas, M.M., Setterfield, S.A., Rossiter, N., Barratt, J. & Hutley, L.B. (2004) Effects of mission grass (Pennisetum polystachion (L) Schult) invasion on fuel loads and nitrogen availability in a northern Australia tropical savanna. (ed by, pp. 179-181.
- Drenovsky, R.E. & Batten, K.M. (2007) Invasion by Aegilops triuncialis (barb goatgrass) slows carbon and nutrient cycling in a serpentine grassland. *Biological Invasions*, **9**, 107-116.
- Ehrenfeld, J.G., Kourtev, P. & Huang, W. (2001) Changes in soil functions following invasions of exotic understory plants in deciduous forests. *Ecological Applications*, **11**, 1287-1300.
- Ellis, L.M., Crawford, C.S. & Molles, M.C. (1998) Comparison of litter dynamics in native and exotic riparian vegetation along the Middle Rio Grande of central New Mexico, USA. *Journal of Arid Environments*, **38**, 283-296.
- Enloe, S.F., DiTomaso, J.M., Orloff, S.B. & Drake, D.J. (2004) Soil water dynamics differ among rangeland plant communities dominated by yellow starthistle (Centaurea solstitialis), annual grasses, or perennial grasses. *Weed Science*, **52**, 929-935.
- Evans, R.D., Rimer, R., Sperry, L. & Belnap, J. (2001) Exotic plant invasion alters nitrogen dynamics in an arid grassland. *Ecological Applications*, **11**, 1301-1310.
- Ewe, S.M.L. & Sternberg, L.D.L. (2002) Seasonal water-use by the invasive exotic, Schinus terebinthifolius, in native and disturbed communities. *Oecologia*, **133**, 441-448.
- 31. Fan, L., Chen, Y., Yuan, J.G. & Yang, Z.Y. (2010) The effect of Lantana camara Linn. invasion on soil chemical and microbiological properties and plant biomass accumulation in southern China. *Geoderma*, **154**, 370-378.

- Fickbohm, S.S. & Zhu, W.-X. (2006) Exotic purple loosestrife invasion of native cattail freshwater wetlands: Effects on organic matter distribution and soil nitrogen cycling. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **32**, 123-131.
- 33. Fisher, J.L., Veneklaas, E.J., Lambers, H. & Loneragan, W.A. (2006) Enhanced soil and leaf nutrient status of a Western Australian Banksia woodland community invaded by Ehrharta calycina and Pelargonium capitatum. *Plant and Soil*, **284**, 253-264.
- 34. Fraser, L.H. & Carlyle, C.N. (2011) Is spotted knapweed (Centaurea stoebe L.) patch size related to the effect on soil and vegetation properties? *Plant Ecology*, **212**, 975-983.
- 35. Funk, J.L. (2005) Hedychium gardnerianum invasion into Hawaiian montane rainforest: interactions among litter quality, decomposition rate, and soil nitrogen availability. *Biogeochemistry*, **76**, 441-451.
- Goldstein, C.L., Williard, K.W.J., Schoonover, J.E., Baer, S.G., Groninger, J.W. & Snyder, J.M. (2010) Soil and Groundwater Nitrogen Response to Invasion by an Exotic Nitrogen-Fixing Shrub. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, **39**, 1077-1084.
- 37. Hacker, S.D. & Dethier, M.N. (2006) Community modification by a grass invader has differing impacts for marine habitats. *Oikos*, **113**, 279-286.
- Hall, S.J. & Asner, G.P. (2007) Biological invasion alters regional nitrogenoxide emissions from tropical rainforests. *Global Change Biology*, **13**, 2143-2160.
- Hamerlynck, E.P., Scott, R.L., Moran, M.S., Keefer, T.O. & Huxman, T.E. (2010) Growing season ecosystem and leaf-level gas exchange of an exotic and native semiarid bunchgrass. *Oecologia*, **163**, 561-570.
- Hart, C.R., White, L.D., McDonald, A. & Sheng, Z.P. (2005) Saltcedar control and water salvage on the Pecos river, Texas, 1999-2003. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **75**, 399-409.
- Hatler, W.L. & Hart, C.R. (2009) Water Loss and Salvage in Saltcedar (Tamarix spp.) Stands on the Pecos River, Texas. *Invasive Plant Science and Management*, **2**, 309-317.
- Haubensak, K.A. & Parker, I.M. (2004) Soil changes accompanying invasion of the exotic shrub Cytisus scoparius in glacial outwash prairies of western Washington [USA]. *Plant Ecology*, **175**, 71-79.
- 43. He, W., Feagin, R., Lu, J., Liu, W., Yan, Q. & Xie, Z. (2007) Impacts of introduced Spartina alterniflora along an elevation gradient at the

Jiuduansha Shoals in the Yangtze Estuary, suburban Shanghai, China. *Ecological Engineering*, **29**, 245-248.

- Henderson, D.C. & Naeth, M.A. (2005) Multi-scale impacts of crested wheatgrass invasion in mixed-grass prairie. *Biological Invasions*, 7, 639-650.
- Heneghan, L., Rauschenberg, C., Fatemi, F. & Workman, M. (2004) European buckthorn (Rhamnus cathartica) and its effects on some ecosystem properties in an urban woodland. *Ecological Restoration*, 22, 275-280.
- Heneghan, L., Fatemi, F., Umek, L., Grady, K., Fagen, K. & Workman, M. (2006) The invasive shrub European buckthorn (Rhamnus cathartica, L.) alters soil properties in Midwestern US woodlands. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **32**, 142-148.
- Herr, C., Chapuis-Lardy, L., Dassonville, N., Vanderhoeven, S. & Meerts, P. (2007) Seasonal effect of the exotic invasive plant Solidago gigantea on soil pH and P fractions. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science-Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde*, **170**, 729-738.
- Hook, P.B., Olson, B.E. & Wraith, J.M. (2004) Effects of the invasive Forb Centaurea maculosa on grassland carbon and nitrogen pools in Montana, USA. *Ecosystems*, **7**, 686-694.
- Hooker, T., Stark, J., Norton, U., Leffler, A.J., Peek, M. & Ryel, R. (2008) Distribution of ecosystem C and N within contrasting vegetation types in a semiarid rangeland in the Great Basin, USA. *Biogeochemistry*, **90**, 291-308.
- Hughes, R.F. & Denslow, J.S. (2005) Invasion by a N-2-fixing tree alters function and structure in wet lowland forests of Hawaii. *Ecological Applications*, **15**, 1615-1628.
- 51. Ignace, D.D., Huxman, T.E., Weltzin, J.F. & Williams, D.G. (2007) Leaf gas exchange and water status responses of a native and non-native grass to precipitation across contrasting soil surfaces in the Sonoran Desert. *Oecologia*, **152**, 401-413.
- Koutika, L.S., Vanderhoeven, S., Chapuis-Lardy, L., Dassonville, N. & Meerts, P. (2007) Assessment of changes in soil organic matter after invasion by exotic plant species. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, **44**, 331-341.
- 53. Kueffer, C., Klingler, G., Zirfass, K., Schumacher, E., Edwards, P.J. & Güsewell, S. (2008) Invasive trees show only weak potential to impact nutrient dynamics in phosphorus-poor tropical forests in the Seychelles. *Functional Ecology*, **22**, 359-366.

- Kurten, E.L., Snyder, C.P., Iwata, T. & Vitousek, P.M. (2008) Morella cerifera invasion and nitrogen cycling on a lowland Hawaiian lava flow. *Biological Invasions*, **10**, 19-24.
- 55. Liao, C.Z., Luo, Y.Q., Fang, C.M., Chen, J.K. & Li, B. (2008) Litter pool sizes, decomposition, and nitrogen dynamics in Spartina alterniflora-invaded and native coastal marshlands of the Yangtze Estuary. *Oecologia*, **156**, 589-600.
- Liao, C.Z., Luo, Y.Q., Jiang, L.F., Zhou, X.H., Wu, X.W., Fang, C.M., Chen, J.K. & Li, B. (2007) Invasion of Spartina alterniflora enhanced ecosystem carbon and nitrogen stocks in the Yangtze Estuary, China. *Ecosystems*, **10**, 1351-1361.
- Lindsay, E.A. & French, K. (2005) Litterfall and nitrogen cycling following invasion by Chrysanthemoides monilifera ssp. rotundata in coastal Australia. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **42**, 556-566.
- 58. Litton, C.M., Sandquist, D.R. & Cordell, S. (2006) Effects of non-native grass invasion on aboveground carbon pools and tree population structure in a tropical dry forest of Hawaii. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **231**, 105-113.
- Mack, M.C. & D'Antonio, C.M. (2003) Exotic grasses alter controls over soil nitrogen dynamics in a Hawaiian woodland. *Ecological Applications*, **13**, 154-166.
- Mack, M.C. & D'Antonio, C.M. (2003) The Effects of Exotic Grasses on Litter Decomposition in a Hawaiian Woodland: The Importance of Indirect Effects. *Ecosystems*, 6, 723-738.
- Marchante, E., Kjoller, A., Struwe, S. & Freitas, H. (2008) Short- and longterm impacts of Acacia longifolia invasion on the belowground processes of a Mediterranean coastal dune ecosystem. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **40**, 210-217.
- Martin, M.R., Tipping, P.W. & Sickman, J.O. (2009) Invasion by an exotic tree alters above and belowground ecosystem components. *Biological Invasions*, **11**, 1883-1894.
- Musil, C.F. (1993) Effect of Invasive Australian Acacias on the Regeneration, Growth and Nutrient Chemistry of South African Lowland Fynbos. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **30**, 361-372.
- 64. Nagler, P.L., Glenn, E.P. & Lewis Thompson, T. (2003) Comparison of transpiration rates among saltcedar, cottonwood and willow trees by sap

flow and canopy temperature methods. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, **116**, 73-89.

- Nagler, P.L., Scott, R.L., Westenburg, C., Cleverly, J.R., Glenn, E.P. & Huete, A.R. (2005) Evapotranspiration on western U.S. rivers estimated using the Enhanced Vegetation Index from MODIS and data from eddy covariance and Bowen ratio flux towers. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 97, 337-351.
- 66. Niu, H., Liu, W., Wan, F. & Liu, B. (2007) An invasive aster (Ageratina adenophora) invades and dominates forest understories in China: altered soil microbial communities facilitate the invader and inhibit natives. *Plant and Soil*, **294**, 73-85.
- 67. Nosshi, M.I., Butler, J. & Trlica, M.J. (2007) Soil nitrogen mineralization not affected by grass species traits. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, **39**, 1031-1039.
- Ogle, S.M., Reiners, W.A. & Gerow, K.G. (2003) Impacts of exotic annual brome grasses (Bromus spp.) on ecosystem properties of northern mixed grass prairie. *American Midland Naturalist*, **149**, 46-58.
- 69. Peng, R.H., Fang, C.M., Li, B. & Chen, J.K. (2011) Spartina alterniflora invasion increases soil inorganic nitrogen pools through interactions with tidal subsidies in the Yangtze Estuary, China. *Oecologia*, **165**, 797-807.
- 70. Petsikos, C., Dalias, P. & Troumbis, A.Y. (2007) Effects of Oxalis pes-caprae
 L. invasion in olive groves. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment*, **120**, 325-329.
- 71. Potts, D.L., Harpole, W.S., Goulden, M.L. & Suding, K.N. (2008) The impact of invasion and subsequent removal of an exotic thistle, Cynara cardunculus, on CO2 and H2O vapor exchange in a coastal California grassland. *Biological Invasions*, **10**, 1073-1084.
- 72. Prater, M.R. & DeLucia, E.H. (2006) Non-native grasses alter evapotranspiration and energy balance in Great Basin sagebrush communities. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, **139**, 154-163.
- Reed, H.E., Seastedt, T.R. & Blair, J.M. (2005) Ecological consequences of C4 grass invasion of a C4 grassland: a dilemma for management. *Ecological Applications*, **15**, 1560-1569.
- Rimer, R.L. & Evans, R.D. (2006) Invasion of downy brome (Bromus tectorum L.) causes rapid changes in the nitrogen cycle. *American Midland Naturalist*, **156**, 252-258.

- 75. Rodgers, V.L., Wolfe, B.E., Werden, L.K. & Finzi, A.C. (2008) The invasive species Alliaria petiolata (garlic mustard) increases soil nutrient availability in northern hardwood-conifer forests. *Oecologia*, **157**, 459-471.
- 76. Rossiter-Rachor, N.A., Setterfield, S.A., Douglas, M.M., Hutley, L.B., Cook, G.D. & Schmidt, S. (2009) Invasive Andropogon gayanus (gamba grass) is an ecosystem transformer of nitrogen relations in Australian savanna. *Ecological Applications*, **19**, 1546-1560.
- 77. Rothman, E. & Bouchard, V. (2007) Regulation of carbon processes by macrophyte species in a Great Lakes coastal wetland. *Wetlands*, **27**, 1134-1143.
- 78. Rout, M.E. & Chrzanowski, T.H. (2009) The invasive Sorghum halepense harbors endophytic N2-fixing bacteria and alters soil biogeochemistry. *Plant and Soil*, **315**, 163-172.
- Scharfy, D., Güsewell, S., Gessner, M.O. & Venterink, H.O. (2010) Invasion of Solidago gigantea in contrasting experimental plant communities: effects on soil microbes, nutrients and plant–soil feedbacks. *Journal of Ecology*, 98, 1379-1388.
- Scharfy, D., Eggenschwiler, H., Olde Venterink, H., Edwards, P.J. & Güsewell, S. (2009) The invasive alien plant species Solidago gigantea alters ecosystem properties across habitats with differing fertility. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **20**, 1072-1085.
- Scott, N.A., Saggar, S. & McIntosh, P.D. (2001) Biogeochemical impact of Hieracium invasion in New Zealand's grazed tussock grasslands: Sustainability implications. *Ecological Applications*, **11**, 1311-1322.
- Shaben, J. & Myers, J.H. (2010) Relationships between Scotch broom (Cytisus scoparius), soil nutrients, and plant diversity in the Garry oak savannah ecosystem. *Plant Ecology*, **207**, 81-91.
- Sharma, R. & Dakshini, K.M.M. (1998) Integration of plant and soil characteristics and the ecological success of two Prosopis species. *Plant Ecology*, **139**, 63-69.
- Sperry, L.J., Belnap, J. & Evans, R.D. (2006) Bromus tectorum invasion alters nitrogen dynamics in an undisturbed arid grassland ecosystem. *Ecology*, 87, 603-615.
- 85. Standish, R.J., Williams, P.A., Robertson, A.W., Scott, N.A. & Hedderley,D.I. (2004) Invasion by a perennial herb increases decomposition rate and

alters nutrient availability in warm temperate lowland forest remnants. *Biological Invasions*, **6**, 71-81.

- Stock, W.D., Wienand, K.T. & Baker, A.C. (1995) Impacts of Invading N₂-Fixing Acacia Species on Patterns of Nutrient Cycling in Two Cape Ecosystems: Evidence from Soil Incubation Studies and 15N Natural Abundance Values. *Oecologia*, **101**, 375-382.
- Strickland, M.S., Devore, J.L., Maerz, J.C. & Bradford, M.A. (2010) Grass invasion of a hardwood forest is associated with declines in belowground carbon pools. *Global Change Biology*, **16**, 1338-1350.
- Suding, K.N., LeJeune, K.D. & Seastedt, T.R. (2004) Competitive impacts and responses of an invasive weed: dependencies on nitrogen and phosphorus availability. *Oecologia*, **141**, 526-535.
- Thorpe, A.S. & Callaway, R.M. (2011) Biogeographic differences in the effects of Centaurea stoebe on the soil nitrogen cycle: novel weapons and soil microbes. *Biological Invasions*, **13**, 1435-1445.
- Thorpe, A.S., Archer, V. & DeLuca, T.H. (2006) The invasive forb,< i> Centaurea maculosa</i>, increases phosphorus availability in Montana grasslands. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **32**, 118-122.
- Truscott, A.M., Palmer, S.C., Soulsby, C., Westaway, S. & Hulme, P.E. (2008) Consequences of invasion by the alien plant Mimulus guttatus on thespecies composition and soil properties of riparian plant communities in Scotland. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics*, **10**, 231-240.
- 92. Vanderhoeven, S., Dassonville, N. & Meerts, P. (2005) Increased topsoil mineral nutrient concentrations under exotic invasive plants in belgium. *Plant* and Soil, **275**, 169-179.
- Vila, M., Tessier, M., Suehs, C.M., Brundu, G., Carta, L., Galanidis, A., Lambdon, P., Manca, M., Medail, F., Moragues, E., Traveset, A., Troumbis, A.Y. & Hulme, P.E. (2006) Local and regional assessments of the impacts of plant invaders on vegetation structure and soil properties of Mediterranean islands. *Journal of Biogeography*, **33**, 853-861.
- Vitousek, P.M. & Walker, L.R. (1989) Biological invasion by Myrica faya in Hawai'i: plant demography, nitrogen fixation, ecosystem effects. *Ecological Monographs*, **59**, 247-265.
- 95. Von Holle, B., Joseph, K.A., Largay, E.F. & Lohnes, R.G. (2006) Facilitations between the introduced nitrogen-fixing tree, Robinia pseudoacacia, and

nonnative plant species in the glacial outwash upland ecosystem of Cape Cod, MA. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **15**, 2197-2215.

- 96. Windham, L. & Ehrenfeld, J.G. (2003) Net impact of a plant invasion on nitrogen-cycling processes within a brackish tidal marsh. *Ecological Applications*, **13**, 883-896.
- Windham-Myers, L. (2005) Dissolved inorganic nitrogen pools and surface flux under different brackish marsh vegetation types, common reed (Phragmites australis) and salt hay (Spartina patens). *Biogeochemistry*, **75**, 289-304.
- Wolf, J.J., Beatty, S.W. & Seastedt, T.R. (2004) Soil characteristics of Rocky Mountain National Park grasslands invaded by Melilotus officinalis and Malba. *Journal of Biogeography*, **31**, 415-424.
- Wolkovich, E.M., Bolger, D.T. & Cottingham, K.L. (2009) Invasive grass litter facilitates native shrubs through abiotic effects. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, **20**, 1121-1132.
- Wolkovich, E.M., Lipson, D.A., Virginia, R.A., Cottingham, K.L. & Bolger, D.T. (2010) Grass invasion causes rapid increases in ecosystem carbon and nitrogen storage in a semiarid shrubland. *Global Change Biology*, **16**, 1351-1365.
- Yelenik, S.G., Stock, W.D. & Richardson, D.M. (2007) Functional group identity does not predict invader impacts: differential effects of nitrogen-fixing exotic plants on ecosystem function. *Biological Invasions*, 9, 117-125.
- Zhang, C.B., Wang, J., Qian, B.Y. & Li, W.H. (2009) Effects of the invader Solidago canadensis on soil properties. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 43, 163-169.

Statistical tables for Chapter 3

Table A2 - Model comparison for models of change in aboveground carbon that included only invasive height and the model intercept

Model				Relative	
variables	AICc	∆AICc	R ²	likelihood	AICc weight
Invasive trait	74.17	0	31.91	131.47	0.99
Null model	83.93	9.76	0	1	0.01

Table A3 - Model comparison for models of change in belowground carbon that included only invasive height and the model intercept

Model				Relative	
variables	AICc	∆AICc	R^2	likelihood	AICc weight
Null model	66.21	0	0	1	0.64
Invasive trait	67.37	1.16	0.01	0.56	0.36

Table A4 - Model comparison for models of change in water provision that included only invasive height and the model intercept

Model				Relative	
variables	AICc	∆AICc	R ²	likelihood	AICc weight
Null model	15.86	0	0	1	0.85
Invasive trait	19.28	3.42	0.09	0.18	0.15

Table A5 - Model comparison for models of change in water provision that included only invasive root depth and the model intercept

Model				Relative	
variables	AICc	∆AICc	R^2	likelihood	AICc weight
Null model	13.81	0	0	1	0.98
Invasive trait	21.68	7.87	39.28	0.02	0.02

Table A6 - Model comparison for models of change in water quality that included only invasive height and the model intercept

	0				
Model				Relative	AICc
variables	AICc	∆AICc	R^2	likelihood	weight
Invasive trait	190.81	0	31.43	83.22	0.99
Null model	199.66	8.84	0	1	0.01

Model			- 2	Relative	AICc
variables	AICc	∆AICc	R²	likelihood	weight
Invasive trait	32.32	0	0.17	2.26	0.55
Null model	33.95	1.63	0	1	0.24
Invasive and					
native traits	34.31	2.00	0.10	0.83	0.20

Table A7 - Model comparison for models of change in aboveground carbon that included invasive height, differences between invasive and native species and the model intercept

Table A8 - Model comparison for models of change in belowground carbon that included invasive height, differences between invasive and native species and the model intercept

Model variables	AICc	∆AICc	R^2	Relative likelihood	AICc weight
Invasive and native					
traits	28.01	0	0.11	1.01	0.44
Null model	28.04	0.03	0	1.00	0.43
Invasive trait	30.64	2.63	<0.01	0.27	0.12

Table A9 - Model comparison for models of change in water quality that included invasive height, differences between invasive and native species and the model intercept

Model variables	AICc	∆AICc	R ²	Relative liklihood	AICc weight
Null model	105.94	0	0	1	0.44
Invasive trait	106.26	0.32	0.02	0.85	0.37
Invasive and native traits	107.56	1.62	0.01	0.44	0.19





Figure A1 - Variation in the volume of logged wood in forests with differing nonlogged biomass and by region

Table A10 - Models explaining changes in aboveground biomass following selective logging with delta AICc≤7 for studies with no information on logging intensity

Model	Variables in model	AICc	AICc delta	Model weight	R ²
rank					
1	Region + logging				
	method	51.30	0	0.73	0.35
2	Region	53.93	2.64	0.19	0.30
3	Logging method	56.87	5.57	0.04	0.03
4	Null_model	57.42	6.13	0.03	0
	ony				
-------	--------------------	-------	-------	--------	-------
Model	Variables in model	AICc	AICc	weight	R^2
rank			delta		
1	Null	27.95	0	0.62	0
2	Method	29.84	1.89	0.24	0.12
3	Region	32.18	4.23	0.08	0.16
4	Method + Region	32.79	4.84	0.06	0.18

Table A11 – Models explaining changes in species richness following selective logging with delta AICc≤7 for studies with no information on logging intensity

Table A12 – Models explaining changes in aboveground biomass following selective logging with delta AICc≤7 for studies with details of logging intensity

	00 0			00	0 ,
Model	Variables in model	AICc	AICc	Model weight	R^2
rank			delta		
1	Volume+Volume ²	16.31685	0	1	0.88

Table A13 – Models explaining changes in species richness following

selective logging with	delta AICc≤7 for studies	with details o	of logging intensity
------------------------	--------------------------	----------------	----------------------

Model	Variables in model	AICc	AICc	Model weight	R^2	
rank			delta			
1	Volume	-7.00	0	0.77	0.34	
2	None (Null model)	-4.16	2.84	0.19	0	
3	Logging method	-1.25	5.75	0.04	0.12	

Table A14 – Importance values for variables assessed during modelling of changes in aboveground biomass and species richness following selective logging. Where a variable was not considered in a set of models it is labelled NC.

Variable	Biomass –	Biomass with	Richness –	Richness –
	without volume	volume	without	with volume
			volume	
Volume	NC	1	NC	0.77
Volume ²	NC	1	NC	NC
Rarefied	NC	0	0.53	NC
Region	0.92	0	0.13	0
Logging method	0.77	0	0.30	0.04
Taxonomic	NC	0		0
group			0.03	

Papers used in meta-analyses of logging

- Alongi D.M., de Carvalho N.A. (2008) The effect of small-scale logging on stand characteristics and soil biogeochemistry in mangrove forests of Timor Leste. *Forest Ecology and Management* 255, 1359-1366.
- Aubad J., Aragón P., Olalla-Tárraga M.Á., Rodríguez M.Á. (2008) Illegal logging, landscape structure and the variation of tree species richness across North Andean forest remnants. *Forest Ecology and Management* 255, 1892-1899.
- Baraloto C., Hérault B., Paine C. *et al.* (2012) Contrasting taxonomic and functional responses of a tropical tree community to selective logging. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 49, 861-870.
- Berry N.J., Phillips O.L., Lewis S.L. *et al.* (2010) The high value of logged tropical forests: lessons from northern Borneo. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 19, 985-997.
- Berry N.J., Phillips O.L., Ong R.C., Hamer K.C. (2008) Impacts of selective logging on tree diversity across a rainforest landscape: the importance of spatial scale. *Landscape ecology* 23, 915-929.
- Brown K.A., Gurevitch J. (2004) Long-term impacts of logging on forest diversity in Madagascar. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America **101**, 6045-6049.
- Bryan J., Shearman P., Ash J., Kirkpatrick J. (2010) Impact of logging on aboveground biomass stocks in lowland rain forest, Papua New Guinea. *Ecological Applications* 20, 2096-2103.
- 8. Cannon C.H., Peart D.R., Leighton M. (1998) Tree species diversity in commercially logged Bornean rainforest. *Science* **281**, 1366-1368.
- Carreño-Rocabado G., Peña-Claros M., Bongers F., Alarcón A., Licona J.C., Poorter L. (2012) Effects of disturbance intensity on species and functional diversity in a tropical forest. *Journal of Ecology* **100**, 1453-1463.
- Chambers J.Q., Higuchi N., Teixeira L.M., dos Santos J., Laurance S.G., Trumbore S.E. (2004) Response of tree biomass and wood litter to disturbance in a Central Amazon forest. *Oecologia* 141, 596-611.
- d'Oliveira M.V.N., Guarino E.d.S., Oliveira L.C., Ribas L.A., Acuña M.H.A. (2013) Can forest management be sustainable in a bamboo dominated forest? A 12-year study of forest dynamics in western Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management* **310**, 672-679.

- Felton A., Wood J., Felton A.M., Hennessey B., Lindenmayer D.B. (2008) Bird community responses to reduced-impact logging in a certified forestry concession in lowland Bolivia. *Biological Conservation* 141, 545-555.
- Foody G.M., Cutler M.E. (2003) Tree biodiversity in protected and logged Bornean tropical rain forests and its measurement by satellite remote sensing. *Journal of Biogeography* **30**, 1053-1066.
- 14. Gerwing J.J. (2002) Degradation of forests through logging and fire in the eastern Brazilian Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management* **157**, 131-141.
- Gourlet-Fleury S., Mortier F., Fayolle A. *et al.* (2013) Tropical forest recovery from logging: a 24 year silvicultural experiment from Central Africa. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 368, 20120302.
- Gradstein S.R., Kessler M., Pitopang R. (2007) Tree species diversity relative to human land uses in tropical rain forest margins in Central Sulawesi. pp. 319-332. *Stability of Tropical Rainforest Margins*. Springer.
- Huang W., Pohjonen V., Johansson S., Nashanda M., Katigula M., Luukkanen O. (2003) Species diversity, forest structure and species composition in Tanzanian tropical forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 173, 11-24.
- Kronseder K., Ballhorn U., Böhm V., Siegert F. (2012) Above ground biomass estimation across forest types at different degradation levels in Central Kalimantan using LiDAR data. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation* 18, 37-48.
- Lasco R., MacDicken K., Pulhin F.B., Guillermo I., Sales R.F., Cruz R. (2006) Carbon stocks assessment of a selectively logged dipterocarp forest and wood processing mill in the Philippines. *Journal of Tropical Forest Science* 18, 212.
- Lindner A., Sattler D. (2012) Biomass estimations in forests of different disturbance history in the Atlantic Forest of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *New Forests* 43, 287-301.
- Mazzei L., Sist P., Ruschel A. *et al.* (2010) Above-ground biomass dynamics after reduced-impact logging in the Eastern Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259, 367-373.
- Medjibe V.P., Putz F.E., Starkey M.P., Ndouna A.A., Memiaghe H.R. (2011) Impacts of selective logging on above-ground forest biomass in the Monts de Cristal in Gabon. *Forest Ecology and Management* 262, 1799-1806.

- 23. Pfeifer M. (2014) Unpublished data from SAFE project.
- 24. Pinard M.A., Putz F.E. (1996) Retaining forest biomass by reducing logging damage. *Biotropica*, 278-295.
- Presley S.J., Willig M.R., Wunderle J.M., Saldanha L.N. (2008) Effects of reduced-impact logging and forest physiognomy on bat populations of lowland Amazonian forest. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 45, 14-25.
- Rockwell C., Kainer K., Staudhammer C., Baraloto C. (2014) Logging in bamboo-dominated forests in southwestern Amazonia: Caveats and opportunities for smallholder forest management. *Forest Ecology and Management* **315**, 202-210.
- Saner P., Loh Y.Y., Ong R.C., Hector A. (2012) Carbon stocks and fluxes in tropical lowland dipterocarp rainforests in Sabah, Malaysian Borneo. *PloS* one 7, e29642.
- Sekercioglu C.H. (2002) Effects of forestry practices on vegetation structure and bird community of Kibale National Park, Uganda. *Biological Conservation* **107**, 229-240.
- Sist P., Blanc L., Mazzei L., Baraloto C., Aussenac R. (2012) Current knowledge on overall post-logging biomass dynamics in Northern Amazonian forests. *Bois Et Forets des Tropiques* **314**, 43-49.
- Tangki H., Chappell N.A. (2008) Biomass variation across selectively logged forest within a 225-km2 region of Borneo and its prediction by Landsat TM. *Forest Ecology and Management* 256, 1960-1970.
- Thiollay J.-M. (1997) Disturbance, selective logging and bird diversity: a Neotropical forest study. *Biodiversity & Conservation* 6, 1155-1173.
- 32. Villela D.M., Nascimento M.T., Aragão L.E.O., Da Gama D.M. (2006) Effect of selective logging on forest structure and nutrient cycling in a seasonally dry Brazilian Atlantic forest. *Journal of Biogeography* **33**, 506-516.
- 33. Webb E.L., Peralta R. (1998) Tree community diversity of lowland swamp forest in Northeast Costa Rica, and changes associated with controlled selective logging. *Biodiversity & Conservation* 7, 565-583.
- Whitman A.A., Hagan J.M., Brokaw N.V. (1998) Effects of Selection Logging on Birds in Northern Belize1. *Biotropica* 30, 449-457.
- Willott S., Lim D., Compton S., Sutton S. (2000) Effects of selective logging on the butterflies of a Bornean rainforest. *Conservation Biology* 14, 1055-1065.

- Woodcock P., Edwards D.P., Fayle T.M. *et al.* (2011) The conservation value of South East Asia's highly degraded forests: evidence from leaf-litter ants. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 366, 3256-3264.
- 37. Wunderle J.M., Henriques L.M.P., Willig M.R. (2006) Short-Term Responses of Birds to Forest Gaps and Understory: An Assessment of Reduced-Impact Logging in a Lowland Amazon Forest1. *Biotropica* 38, 235-255.
- 38. Yap C.A., Sodhi N.S., Peh K.S., Vega Rivera J. (2007) Phenology of tropical birds in Peninsular Malaysia: effects of selective logging and food resources. *The Auk* **124**, 945-961.

Appendix III – Information in support of Chapter 5

Peer-reviewed studies from which data were collated for the metaanalysis of recovery of carbon pools and plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests

- Álvarez-Yépiz J.C., Martínez-Yrízar A., Búrquez A., Lindquist C. 2008 Variation in vegetation structure and soil properties related to land use history of old-growth and secondary tropical dry forests in northwestern Mexico. Forest Ecology and Management 256(3), 355-366. (doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.04.049).
- Alves D., Soares J.V., Amaral S., Mello E., Almeida S., Da Silva O.F., Silveira A. 1997 Biomass of primary and secondary vegetation in Rondônia, Western Brazilian Amazon. Global Change Biology 3(5), 451-461. (doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.1997.00081.x).
- Aweto A.O. 1981 Secondary succession and soil fertility restoration in south-western Nigeria: I. Succession. The Journal of Ecology, 601-607.
- Bautista-Cruz A., del Castillo R.F. 2005 Soil changes during secondary succession in a tropical montane cloud forest area. Soil Science Society of America Journal 69(3), 906-914.
- 5. Becknell J.M. 2012 Carbon cycling in secondary tropical dry forest from species to global scales, PhD Thesis University of Minnesota.
- Benavides A.-M., Wolf J.H., Duivenvoorden J.F. 2006 Recovery and succession of epiphytes in upper Amazonian fallows. Journal of Tropical Ecology 22(6), 705-717.
- Bobo K.S., Waltert M., Fermon H., Njokagbor J., Mühlenberg M. 2006
 From Forest to Farmland: Butterfly Diversity and Habitat Associations
 Along a Gradient of Forest Conversion in Southwestern Cameroon.
 Journal of Insect Conservation 10(1), 29-42.
- Brearley F.Q., Prajadinata S., Kidd P.S., Proctor J. 2004 Structure and floristics of an old secondary rain forest in Central Kalimantan, Indonesia, and a comparison with adjacent primary forest. Forest Ecology and Management 195(3), 385-397.
- Buschbacher R., Uhl C., Serrao E. 1988 Abandoned pastures in eastern Amazonia. II. Nutrient stocks in the soil and vegetation. The Journal of Ecology, 682-699.

- Cascante-Marín A., Wolf J.H., Oostermeijer J.G.B., Den Nijs J., Sanahuja O., Durán-Apuy A. 2006 Epiphytic bromeliad communities in secondary and mature forest in a tropical premontane area. Basic and Applied Ecology 7(6), 520-532.
- Castillo-Campos G., Halffter G., Moreno C.E. 2008 Primary and secondary vegetation patches as contributors to floristic diversity in a tropical deciduous forest landscape. Biodiversity and Conservation 17(7), 1701-1714.
- Chazdon R.L., Peres C.A., Dent D., Sheil D., Lugo A.E., Lamb D., Stork N.E., Miller S.E. 2009 The potential for species conservation in tropical secondary forests. Conservation Biology 23(6), 1406-1417.
- Cifuentes-Jara M. 2008 Aboveground biomass and ecosystem carbon pools in tropical secondary forests growing in six life zones of Costa Rica, PhD thesis - Oregon State University.
- Cristina Peñuela M., Drew A.P. 2004 A model to assess restoration of abandoned pasture in Costa Rica based on soil hydrologic features and forest structure. Restoration Ecology 12(4), 516-524.
- De Camargo P.B., Trumbore S.E., Martinelli L., Davidson E., Nepstad D.C., Victoria R.L. 1999 Soil carbon dynamics in regrowing forest of eastern Amazonia. Global Change Biology 5(6), 693-702.
- DeWalt S.J., Maliakal S.K., Denslow J.S. 2003 Changes in vegetation structure and composition along a tropical forest chronosequence: implications for wildlife. Forest Ecology and Management 182(1), 139-151.
- Dewalt S.J., Schnitzer S.A., Denslow J.S. 2000 Density and diversity of lianas along a chronosequence in a central Panamanian lowland forest. Journal of Tropical Ecology 16(1), 1-19.
- Diekmann L.O., Lawrence D., Okin G.S. 2007 Changes in the spatial variation of soil properties following shifting cultivation in a Mexican tropical dry forest. Biogeochemistry 84(1), 99-113.
- Ding Y., Zang R., Liu S., He F., Letcher S.G. 2012 Recovery of woody plant diversity in tropical rain forests in southern China after logging and shifting cultivation. Biological Conservation 145(1), 225-233.
- Eaton J.M., Lawrence D. 2006 Woody debris stocks and fluxes during succession in a dry tropical forest. Forest Ecology and Management 232(1), 46-55.

- Eaton J.M., Lawrence D. 2009 Loss of carbon sequestration potential after several decades of shifting cultivation in the Southern Yucatán. Forest Ecology and Management 258(6), 949-958.
- Fernandes D.N., Sanford R.L. 1995 Effects of recent land-use practices on soil nutrients and succession under tropical wet forest in Costa Rica. Conservation Biology 9(4), 915-922.
- Ferreira L.V., Prance G.T. 1999 Ecosystem recovery in terra firme forests after cutting and burning: a comparison on species richness, floristic composition and forest structure in the Jaú National Park, Amazonia. Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society 130(2), 97-110.
- 24. Fujisaka S., Escobar G., Veneklaas E. 1997 Plant community diversity relative to human land uses in an Amazon forest colony. Biodiversity and Conservation 7(1), 41-57.
- Gehring C., Denich M., Vlek P.L. 2005 Resilience of secondary forest regrowth after slash-and-burn agriculture in central Amazonia. Journal of Tropical Ecology 21(05), 519-527.
- Grau H., Arturi M., Brown A., AceƱolaza P. 1997 Floristic and structural patterns along a chronosequence of secondary forest succession in Argentinean subtropical montane forests. Forest Ecology and Management 95(2), 161-171.
- Guariguata M.R., Chazdon R.L., Denslow J.S., Dupuy J.M., Anderson L.
 1997 Structure and floristics of secondary and old-growth forest stands in lowland Costa Rica. Plant ecology 132(1), 107-120.
- Guggenberger G., Zech W. 1999 Soil organic matter composition under primary forest, pasture, and secondary forest succession, Region Huetar Norte, Costa Rica. Forest Ecology and Management 124(1), 93-104.
- Günter S., Weber M., Erreis R., Aguirre N. 2007 Influence of distance to forest edges on natural regeneration of abandoned pastures: a case study in the tropical mountain rain forest of Southern Ecuador. European Journal of Forest Research 126(1), 67-75.
- Howorth R.T., Pendry C.A. 2006 Post-cultivation secondary succession in a Venezuelan lower montane rain forest. Biodiversity and Conservation 15(2), 693-715.
- Hughes R.F., Kauffman J.B., Jaramillo V.J. 1999 Biomass, carbon, and nutrient dynamics of secondary forests in a humid tropical region of Mexico. Ecology 80(6), 1892-1907.

- 32. Jaramillo V.J., Ahedo-Hernández R., Kauffman J.B. 2003 Root biomass and carbon in a tropical evergreen forest of Mexico: changes with secondary succession and forest conversion to pasture. Journal of Tropical Ecology 19(04), 457-464.
- Johnson C.M., Vieira I.C., Zarin D.J., Frizano J., Johnson A.H. 2001
 Carbon and nutrient storage in primary and secondary forests in eastern Amazonia. Forest Ecology and Management 147(2), 245-252.
- 34. Kammesheidt L. 1998 The role of tree sprouts in the restoration of stand structure and species diversity in tropical moist forest after slash-andburn agriculture in Eastern Paraguay. Plant ecology 139(2), 155-165.
- 35. Kappelle M. 1993 Recovery following clearing of an upper montane Quercus forest in Costa Rica. Revista de biología tropical 41, 47-47.
- Kappelle M., Kennis P.A., de Vries R.A. 1995 Changes in diversity along a successional gradient in a Costa Rican upper montane Quercus forest. Biodiversity and Conservation 4(1), 10-34.
- Kauffman J.B., Sanford Jr R.L., Cummings D.L., Salcedo I., Sampaio E.
 1993 Biomass and nutrient dynamics associated with slash fires in neotropical dry forests. Ecology, 140-151.
- Kennard D.K. 2002 Secondary forest succession in a tropical dry forest: patterns of development across a 50-year chronosequence in lowland Bolivia. Journal of Tropical Ecology 18(1), 53-66.
- Klanderud K., Mbolatiana H.Z.H., Vololomboahangy M.N., Radimbison M.A., Roger E., Totland Ø., Rajeriarison C. 2010 Recovery of plant species richness and composition after slash-and-burn agriculture in a tropical rainforest in Madagascar. Biodiversity and Conservation 19(1), 187-204.
- Knight D.H. 1975 A phytosociological analysis of species-rich tropical forest on Barro Colorado Island, Panama. Ecological Monographs, 259-284.
- KÖSTER N., Friedrich K., NIEDER J., Barthlott W. 2009 Conservation of epiphyte diversity in an Andean landscape transformed by human land use. Conservation Biology 23(4), 911-919.
- 42. Kotto-Same J., Woomer P.L., Appolinaire M., Louis Z. 1997 Carbon dynamics in slash-and-burn agriculture and land use alternatives of the humid forest zone in Cameroon. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 65(3), 245-256.

- Laska M.S. 1997 Structure of Understory Shrub Assemblages in Adjacent Secondary and Old Growth Tropical Wet Forests, Costa Rica1. Biotropica 29(1), 29-37.
- Lebrija-Trejos E., Bongers F., Pérez-García E.A., Meave J.A. 2008 Successional change and resilience of a very dry tropical deciduous forest following shifting agriculture. Biotropica 40(4), 422-431.
- 45. Letcher S.G., Chazdon R.L. 2009 Rapid recovery of biomass, species richness, and species composition in a forest chronosequence in northeastern Costa Rica. Biotropica 41(5), 608-617.
- Liebsch D., Marques M., Goldenberg R. 2008 How long does the Atlantic Rain Forest take to recover after a disturbance? Changes in species composition and ecological features during secondary succession. Biological Conservation 141(6), 1717-1725.
- Long W., Yang X., Li D. 2012 Patterns of species diversity and soil nutrients along a chronosequence of vegetation recovery in Hainan Island, South China. Ecological research 27(3), 561-568.
- Lorenz K., Lal R., Jiménez J.J. 2009 Soil organic carbon stabilization in dry tropical forests of Costa Rica. Geoderma 152(1), 95-103.
- Madeira B.G., Espírito-Santo M.M., Neto S.D.Â., Nunes Y.R., Azofeifa G.A.S., Fernandes G.W., Quesada M. 2009 Changes in tree and liana communities along a successional gradient in a tropical dry forest in south-eastern Brazil. In Forest Ecology (pp. 291-304, Springer.
- 50. Marin-Spiotta E., Silver W., Ostertag R. 2007 Long-term patterns in tropical reforestation: plant community composition and aboveground biomass accumulation. Ecological Applications 17(3), 828-839.
- Martin P.H., Sherman R.E., Fahey T.J. 2004 Forty Years of Tropical Forest Recovery from Agriculture: Structure and Floristics of Secondary and Old-growth Riparian Forests in the Dominican Republic. Biotropica 36(3), 297-317.
- McDonald M., Healey J. 2000 Nutrient cycling in secondary forests in the Blue Mountains of Jamaica. Forest Ecology and Management 139(1), 257-278.
- Muñiz-Castro M.A., Williams-Linera G., Martínez-Ramos M. 2012 Dispersal mode, shade tolerance, and phytogeographical affinity of tree species during secondary succession in tropical montane cloud forest. Plant ecology 213(2), 339-353.

- 54. Nadkarni N.M., Schaefer D., Matelson T.J., Solano R. 2004 Biomass and nutrient pools of canopy and terrestrial components in a primary and a secondary montane cloud forest, Costa Rica. Forest Ecology and Management 198(1), 223-236.
- Neumann-Cosel L., Zimmermann B., Hall J.S., van Breugel M., Elsenbeer H. 2011 Soil carbon dynamics under young tropical secondary forests on former pastures—a case study from Panama. Forest Ecology and Management 261(10), 1625-1633.
- Peña-Claros M. 2003 Changes in Forest Structure and Species Composition during Secondary Forest Succession in the Bolivian Amazon. Biotropica 35(4), 450-461.
- 57. Piotto D., Montagnini F., Thomas W., Ashton M., Oliver C. 2009 Forest recovery after swidden cultivation across a 40-year chronosequence in the Atlantic forest of southern Bahia, Brazil. Plant ecology 205(2), 261-272.
- 58. Raich J.W. 1983 Effects of forest conversion on the carbon budget of a tropical soil. Biotropica, 177-184.
- Read L., Lawrence D. 2003 Recovery of biomass following shifting cultivation in dry tropical forests of the Yucatan. Ecological Applications 13(1), 85-97.
- Reiners W., Bouwman A., Parsons W., Keller M. 1994 Tropical rain forest conversion to pasture: changes in vegetation and soil properties. Ecological Applications 4(2), 363-377.
- Rhoades C.C., Eckert G.E., Coleman D.C. 2000 Soil carbon differences among forest, agriculture, and secondary vegetation in lower montane Ecuador. Ecological Applications 10(2), 497-505.
- Rico-Gray V., García-Franco J.G. 1992 Vegetation and soil seed bank of successional stages in tropical lowland deciduous forest. Journal of Vegetation Science 3(5), 617-624.
- Saldarriaga J.G., West D.C., Tharp M., Uhl C. 1988 Long-term chronosequence of forest succession in the upper Rio Negro of Colombia and Venezuela. The Journal of Ecology, 938-958.
- Salimon C., Davidson E., Victoria R., Melo A. 2004 CO2 flux from soil in pastures and forests in southwestern Amazonia. Global Change Biology 10(5), 833-843.

- Saynes V., Hidalgo C., Etchevers J.D., Campo J.E. 2005 Soil C and N dynamics in primary and secondary seasonally dry tropical forests in Mexico. Applied Soil Ecology 29(3), 282-289.
- Sierra C.A., del Valle J.I., Orrego S.A., Moreno F.H., Harmon M.E.,
 Zapata M., Colorado G.J., Herrera M.A., Lara W., Restrepo D.E. 2007
 Total carbon stocks in a tropical forest landscape of the Porce region,
 Colombia. Forest Ecology and Management 243(2), 299-309.
- 67. Sommer R., Denich M., Vlek P.L. 2000 Carbon storage and root penetration in deep soils under small-farmer land-use systems in the Eastern Amazon region, Brazil. Plant and soil 219(1-2), 231-241.
- 68. Templer P.H., Groffman P.M., Flecker A.S., Power A.G. 2005 Land use change and soil nutrient transformations in the Los Haitises region of the Dominican Republic. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37(2), 215-225.
- 69. Turner I., Wong Y., Chew P., bin Ibrahim A. 1997 Tree species richness in primary and old secondary tropical forest in Singapore. Biodiversity and Conservation 6(4), 537-543.
- van Andel T. 2001 Floristic composition and diversity of mixed primary and secondary forests in northwest Guyana. Biodiversity and Conservation 10(10), 1645-1682. (doi:10.1023/a:1012069717077).
- 71. Werner P. 1984 Changes in soil properties during tropical wet forest succession in Costa Rica. Biotropica, 43-50.
- 72. Werner P. 1984 Changes in soil properties during tropical wet forest succession in Costa Rica. Biotropica, 43-50.
- Williams-Linera G., Alvarez-Aquino C., Hernández-Ascención E., Toledo M. 2011 Early successional sites and the recovery of vegetation structure and tree species of the tropical dry forest in Veracruz, Mexico. New Forests 42(2), 131-148.
- Woods C.L., DeWalt S.J. 2013 The Conservation Value of Secondary Forests for Vascular Epiphytes in Central Panama. Biotropica 45(1), 119-127.



Figure A3 –Distribution of forest ages by metric for the 678 sites represented in the meta-analysis. Vertical dashed lines represent mean ages for each metric type.



Figure A4 – Relationship between relative above and relative belowground biomass in locations where both measures were available.



Figure A5 – Change of aboveground biomass over time since disturbance showing relative difference between studies that had information on belowground biomass and those that did not

	Aboveground	Belowground	Soil carbon	Species	Shared					
	biomass	biomass		richness	species					
Aboveground	326									
biomass										
Belowground	73	76								
biomass										
Soil carbon	104	54	185							
Species	111	19	0	283						
richness										
Shared	5	0	0	23	50					
species										

Table A15 – Number of sites for each metric used in this study including the number of sites shared between different metrics

Table A16 – Variables included in models of aboveground biomass recovery with Δ AICc <7, models are ranked by AICc with weight representing the likelihood that individual models are the most parsimonious

Variables included in model	df	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight	Marginal R ²
Intercept+log(Age)	7	654.32	0	0.57	0.56
Intercept+log(Age)+Disturbance	9	655.34	1.01	0.35	0.56
Intercept+log(Age)*Disturbance	11	659.11	4.78	0.05	0.56
Intercept+log(Age)+Forest type	10	660.29	5.97	0.03	0.56

Table A17 – Variables included in models of belowground biomass recovery with \triangle AICc <7, models are ranked by AICc with weight representing the likelihood that individual models are the most parsimonious

Variables included in model	df	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight	Marginal R ²
Intercept+log(Age)	6	125.66	0	0.47	0.64
Intercept+log(Age)	7				
+Disturbance	7	125.83	0.17	0.43	0.61
Intercept+log(Age)*Disturbance	8	128.8	3.14	0.1	0.61

Variables included in model	df	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight	Marginal R ²
Intercept only (null model)	6	334.23	0	0.43	0
Intercept+Age+Age ²	8	335.85	1.62	0.19	0.01
Intercept+Age	7	336.18	1.95	0.16	<0.01
Intercept+ Disturbance	8	337.28	3.05	0.09	0.01
Intercept+Age+Age ²					
+Disturbance	10	337.84	3.62	0.07	0.03
Intercept+Age*Disturbance	9	338.64	4.41	0.05	0.02
Intercept+Age+Disturbance	6	334.23	0	0.43	<0.01

Table A18 – Variables included in models of soil carbon recovery with \triangle AICc <7, models are ranked by AICc with weight representing the likelihood that individual models are the most parsimonious

Table A19 – Variables included in models of tree species richness recovery with Δ AICc <7, models are ranked by AICc with weight representing the likelihood that individual models are the most parsimonious

Variables included in model	df	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight	Marginal R ²
Intercept+log(Age)	6	499.1	0	0.7	0.25
Intercept +log(Age+Disturbance	8	501.61	2.51	0.2	0.26
Intercept+log(Age)+log(Age)^2	7	503.83	4.73	0.07	0.23
Intercept+log(Age)+log(Age)^2+					
Disturbance	9	505.57	6.47	0.03	0.26

Table A20 – Variables included in models of epiphyte species richness recovery with Δ AICc <7, models are ranked by AICc with weight representing the likelihood that individual models are the most parsimonious.

representing the interneed that manuadal models are the most parsimonious								
Variables included in model	df	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight	Marginal R ²			
Intercept+log(Age)	6	150.75	0	0.56	0.07			
Intercept only (null mode)	5	152.31	1.56	0.26	0			
Intercept+log(Age)+log(Age)^2	7	152.96	2.22	0.18	0.09			

Variables included in model	df	AICc	Δ AICc	Weight	Marginal R ²	
Intercept only (Null model)	2	13.52	0	0.42	0	
Intercept+Age	3	14.6	1.08	0.24	0.13	
Intercept+Disturbance	3	15.77	2.25	0.14	0.03	
Intercept+Age+Disturbance	4	16.95	3.43	0.08	0.15	
Intercept+Type	4	17.07	3.55	0.07	0.02	
Intercept+Age+Type	5	18.78	5.26	0.03	0.17	
Intercept+Disturbance+Type	5	19.56	6.04	0.02	0.04	

Table A21 – Variables included in models of primary forest species recovery with \triangle AICc <7, models are ranked by AICc with weight representing the likelihood that individual models are the most parsimonious

Table A22- Parameter estimates for models of aboveground biomass with delta<7 calculated by multiplying the estimates for individual models which contain parameters by their weights. Note that units represent the transformation used for model fitting

		Standard	Lower	Linner confidence	
Deremeter	Estimate	error of	confidence	inton/ol	
Falameter		estimate	interval	interval	
Intercept	-4.08	0.29	-4.65	-3.52	
Log(Age)	0.85	0.07	0.7	0.99	
Disturbance - Pasture	-0.01	0.24	-0.49	0.46	
Disturbance - Shifting					
agriculture	0.19	0.28	-0.36	0.74	
Disturbance –					
Pasture*logAge	0.07	0.2	-0.31	0.46	
Disturbance - Shifting					
agriculture*logAge	0.16	0.22	-0.28	0.6	
Type - Moist	0.06	0.19	-0.31	0.43	
Type - Montane	-0.11	0.75	-1.58	1.36	
Type - Wet	-0.04	0.16	-0.35	0.26	

Table A23- Parameter estimates for models of belowground biomass with with delta≤7 calculated by multiplying the estimates for individual models which contain parameters by their weights. Note that units represent the transformation used for model fitting

Parameter	Estimate	Standard error of estimate	Lower confidence interval	Upper confidenc e interval
(Intercept)	-3.48	0.23	-3.93	-3.02
Disturbance - Shifting				
agriculture	-0.65	0.64	-1.91	0.6
log(Age)	0.68	0.06	0.56	0.8
Disturbance - Shifting				
agriculture*log(Age)	0.11	0.34	-0.55	0.76

Table A24- Parameter estimates for models of soil carbon with delta≤7 calculated by multiplying the estimates for individual models which contain parameters by their weights. Note that units represent the transformation used for model fitting

Parameter	Estimate	Standard error of estimate	Lower confidence interval	Upper confidence interval
(Intercept)	-0.2	0.2	-0.6	0.2
Age	0.01	0.01	-0.01	0.02
Age^2	0	0	0	0
DisturbancePasture	0.18	0.21	-0.23	0.58
DisturbanceShifting				
agriculture	0.34	0.25	-0.15	0.82

Table A25- Parameter estimates for models of tree species richness with delta≤7 calculated by multiplying the estimates for individual models which contain parameters by their weights. Note that units represent the transformation used for model fitting

Parameter	Estimate	Standard error of estimate	Lower confidence interval	Upper confidenc e interval
(Intercept)	-3.41	0.34	-4.08	-2.73
log(Age)	0.88	0.12	0.65	1.11
Disturbance -				
Pasture	0.17	0.21	-0.24	0.59
Disturbance -				
Shifting				
agriculture	-0.2	0.23	-0.65	0.26
log(Age)^2				
	-0.06	0.04	-0.15	0.02

Table A25- Parameter estimates for models of epiphyte species richness with delta≤7 calculated by multiplying the estimates for individual models which contain parameters by their weights. Note that units represent the transformation used for model fitting

Parameter	Estimate	Standard error of Lower confidence		Upper	
		estimate	interval	confidence interval	
(Intercept)	-1.91	1.04	-3.94	0.13	
log(Age)	0.39	0.31	-0.22	0.99	
Log(Age)^2	0.06	0.1	-0.13	0.25	

		, mang			
Paramotor	Estimato	Standard error of	Lower confidence	Upper	
i arameter	Lotinate	estimate	interval	confidence interval	
(Intercept)	-1.01	0.88	-2.73	0.7	
Age	0.01	0.01	-0.01	0.04	
Disturbance -					
Shifting					
agriculture	-0.02	0.69	-1.37	1.33	
Type - Tropical					
moist forest	-0.1	2.15	-4.32	4.12	
Type - Tropical					
rainforest	-0.85	2.07	-4.9	3.2	

Table A27- Parameter estimates for models of primary forest species with delta≤7 calculated by multiplying the estimates for individual models which contain parameters by their weights. Note that units represent the transformation used for model fitting

Table A28– Importance values for explanatory variables in corresponding models. These values are the sum of the AICc weight for different models with Δ AICc <7

	Model name					
Explanatory	Aboveground	Belowground	Soil	Tree	Epiphyte	Proportion
variable	biomass	biomass	Carbon	species	species	of
				richness	richness	undisturbed
						forest
						species
Age – linear	0	0	0.47	0	0	0.35
Age –	0	0	0.26	0	0	0
quadratic						
log(Age)	1	1	0	1	0.74	0
log(Age) -	0	0	0	0.093	0.18	0
quadratic						
Disturbance	0.40	0.52	0.21	0.22	0	0.23
type						
Forest type	0.02	0	0	0	0	0.12

Appendix IV – Information in support of Chapter 6



Figure A6 –Data used in aboveground biomass model, showing the range and frequency of data used to parameterise the model. Dashed lines represent minimum and maximum values for which model projections were made, with the solid line representing the median value for which projections were made



Figure A7 – Data used in model of species presence, with each panel representing species with differing species dependence on forest. Solid lines represent the convex hulls of the variable values used to parameterise the model and coloured polygons the convex hulls of values over which models were projected. The figure shows some signs of extrapolation of models that may lead to inaccurate predictions of probability of species presence, particularly for highly forest dependant species and for non-forest species.

Methods used to collate bird data from primary studies

A systematic review of the literature in was conducted in May 2013 by searching Thomas Reuters Web of Knowledge with the terms bird* AND (secondary or disturb*) AND forest AND tropic*. Additional studies were found in the references of reviews (Barlow et al., 2007; Bowen et al., 2007; Chazdon et al., 2009; Dent and Wright, 2009; Gardner et al., 2007).

Studies were selected if they included details of avian community composition in (at least) one secondary forest site and a reference undisturbed primary forest site. Secondary forest was defined as a naturally forested area where there had been discontinuity in forest cover (Corlett, 1994). Following Newbold et al. (2013), studies from the tropics and sub-tropics between the latitudes of 40°N and 40°S were included. Forests that had previously been selectively logged were excluded, as selectively logged sites recover differently to those converted for agriculture (Corlett, 1994; Dunn, 2004).

Data on bird species present in forest sites were extracted from the articles, in addition to species abundance data where provided. Authors were contacted to request this data when articles suggested that it had been collected but it was not presented. Additionally for each secondary forest site, the age, whether the site was continuous or discontinuous with primary forest and whether the site's disturbance history prior to secondary succession left remnants of the original forest vegetation (e.g. slash-and-burn agriculture, pasture) or not (e.g. arable agriculture, plantation) were noted. Where age and disturbance history were not presented, authors were contacted to request the information. The median age of secondary forest was recorded when a range of values was given. Methodologies used to sample bird communities was consistent within studies but differed between them. However, sampling method does not affect the reported response of birds to disturbance in tropical forests (Hill and Hamer, 2004) so these differences are unlikely to bias results.

Studies from which data were on bird biodiversity were collected

 Andrade, G.I., Rubio-Torgler, H., 1994. Sustainable Use of the Tropical Rain Forest Evidence from the Avifauna in a Shifting Cultivation Habitat Mosaic in the Colombian Amazon. Conservation Biology 8, 545–554.

- Antongiovanni, M., Metzger, J.P., 2005. Influence of matrix habitats on the occurrence of insectivorous bird species in Amazonian forest fragments. Biological Conservation 122, 441–451.
- Banks-Leite, C., Ewers, R.M., Metzger, J.P., 2012. Unravelling the drivers of community dissimilarity and species extinction in fragmented landscapes. Ecology 93, 2560–2569.
- Barlow, J., Mestre, L.A.M., Gardner, T.A., Peres, C.A., 2007. The value of primary, secondary and plantation forests for Amazonian birds. Biological Conservation 136, 212–231.
- Becker, C., Agreda, A., 2005. Bird community differences in mature and second growth Garua forest in Machalilla National Park, Ecuador. Ornitología neotropical 16, 297–319.
- Becker, C.D., Loughin, T.M., Santander, T., 2008. Identifying forest-obligate birds in tropical moist cloud forest of Andean Ecuador. Journal of Field Ornithology 79, 229–244.
- Blake, J., Loiselle, B., 2001. Bird assemblages in second-growth and oldgrowth forests, Costa Rica: Perspectives from mist nets and point counts. The Auk 118, 304–326.
- Borges, S.H., 2007. Bird assemblages in secondary forests developing after slash-and-burn agriculture in the Brazilian Amazon. Journal of Tropical Ecology 23, 469–477.
- 9. Cotton, P., 1998. The hummingbird community of a lowland Amazonian rainforest. Ibis 140, 512–521.
- Dallimer, M., Parnell, M., Bicknell, J.E., Melo, M., 2012. The importance of novel and agricultural habitats for the avifauna of an oceanic island. Journal for Nature Conservation 20, 191–199.
- Dawson, J., Turner, C., Pileng, O., Farmer, A., McGary, C., Walsh, C., Tamblyn, A., Yosi, C., 2011. Bird communities of the lower Waria Valley, Morobe Province, Papua New Guinea: a comparison between habitat types. Tropical Conservation Science 4, 317–348.
- 12. De Lima, R.F., Dallimer, M., Atkinson, P.W., Barlow, J., 2013. Biodiversity and land-use change: understanding the complex responses of an endemicrich bird assemblage. Diversity and Distributions 19, 411–422.
- Hutto, R., 1989. The Effect of Habitat Alteration on Migratory Land Birds in a West Mexican Tropical Deciduous Forest: A Conservation Perspective. Conservation Biology 3, 138–148.

- Johns, A.D., 1991. Responses of Amazonian Rain Forest Birds to Habitat Modification. Journal of Tropical Ecology 7, 417–437.
- Loures-Ribeiro, A., Manhaes, M.A., Dias, M.M., 2011. Sensitivity of understorey bird species in two different successional stages of the lowland Atlantic Forest, Brazil. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências 83, 973– 980.
- Maas, B., Putra, D.D., Waltert, M., Clough, Y., Tscharntke, T., Schulze, C.H., 2009. Six years of habitat modification in a tropical rainforest margin of Indonesia do not affect bird diversity but endemic forest species. Biological Conservation 142, 2665 – 2671.
- Mallari, N.A.D., Collar, N.J., Lee, D.C., McGowan, P.J.K., Wilkinson, R., Marsden, S.J., 2011. Population densities of understorey birds across a habitat gradient in Palawan, Philippines: implications for conservation. Oryx 45, 234–242.
- Marsden, S.J., Symes, C.T., Mack, A.L., 2006. The response of a New Guinean avifauna to conversion of forest to small-scale agriculture. Ibis 148, 629–640.
- Mulwa, R.K., Böhning-Gaese, K., Schleuning, M., 2012. High Bird Species Diversity in Structurally Heterogeneous Farmland in Western Kenya. Biotropica 44, 801–809.
- Naidoo, R., 2004. Species richness and community composition of songbirds in a tropical forest-agricultural landscape. Animal Conservation 7, 93–105.
- Neuschulz, E.L., Botzat, A., Farwig, N., 2011. Effects of forest modification on bird community composition and seed removal in a heterogeneous landscape in South Africa. Oikos 120, 1371–1379.
- O'Dea, N., Whittaker, R.J., 2007. How resilient are Andean montane forest bird communities to habitat degradation? Biodiversity & Conservation 16, 1131–1159.
- Parry, L., Barlow, J., Peres, C.A., 2007. Large-vertebrate assemblages of primary and secondary forests in the Brazilian Amazon. Journal of Tropical Ecology 23, 653–662.
- Raman, T.R.S., Rawat, G.S., Johnsingh, A.J.T., 1998. Recovery of Tropical Rainforest Avifauna in Relation to Vegetation Succession Following Shifting Cultivation in Mizoram, North-East India. Journal of Applied Ecology 35, 214–231.

- Raman, T.R.S., Sukumar, R., 2002. Responses of tropical rainforest birds to abandoned plantations, edges and logged forest in the Western Ghats, India. Animal Conservation 5, 201–216.
- Reid, J.L., Harris, J.B.C., Zahawi, R.A., 2012. Avian Habitat Preference in Tropical Forest Restoration in Southern Costa Rica. Biotropica 44, 350–359.
- Renner, S., Waltert, M., Mühlenberg, M., 2006. Comparison of Bird Communities in Primary vs. Young Secondary Tropical Montane Cloud Forest in Guatemala. Biodiversity & Conservation 15, 1545–1575.
- Sberze, M., Cohn-Haft, M., Ferraz, G., 2010. Old growth and secondary forest site occupancy by nocturnal birds in a neotropical landscape. Animal Conservation 13, 3–11.
- Slik, J.W.F., van Balen, S., 2006. Bird Community Changes in Response to Single and Repeated Fires in a Lowland Tropical Rainforest of Eastern Borneo. Biodiversity & Conservation 15, 4425–4451.
- Sodhi, N.S., Koh, L.P., Prawiradilaga, D.M., Darjono, Tinulele, I., Putra,
 D.D., Tan, T.H.T., 2005. Land use and conservation value for forest birds in Central Sulawesi (Indonesia). Biological Conservation 122, 547 – 558.
- Terborgh, J., Weske, J.S., 1969. Colonization of Secondary Habitats by Peruvian Birds. Ecology 50, 765–782.
- Tvardikova, K., 2010. Bird abundances in primary and secondary growths in Papua New Guinea: a preliminary assessment. Tropical Conservation Science 3, 373–388.
- 33. Wijesinghe, M.R., de L. Brooke, M., 2005. Impact of habitat disturbance on the distribution of endemic species of small mammals and birds in a tropical rain forest in Sri Lanka. Journal of Tropical Ecology 21, 661–668.